

Trinity College Dublin Coláiste na Tríonóide, Baile Átha Cliath The University of Dublin

Examining the role of lymphocytes in health and in neonatal encephalopathy and the influence of mucosal associated T cells on B cell functions

Dr. Nawal Abdullah B. Taher

MBBS, PG Dip, MSc

Student No. 15301711

This project was funded by:



A thesis submitted to Trinity College Dublin, in fulfilment of the Degree of Doctorate of Philosophy

2022

Thesis Supervisors: Prof. Derek Doherty (Primary Supervisor), Prof. Eleanor Molloy (Secondary supervisor)

Declaration

I declare that this thesis has not been submitted as an exercise for a degree at this or any other university and it is entirely my own work.

I agree to deposit this thesis in the University's open access institutional repository or allow the library to do so on my behalf, subject to Irish Copyright Legislation and Trinity College Library conditions of use and acknowledgement.

I consent to the examiner retaining a copy of the thesis beyond the examining period, should they so wish (EU GDPR May 2018).

Nav 0

Date: August 23rd, 2022

Nawal Abdullah B Taher

For My husbund Abduladheem

Acknowledgement

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Professor **Derek Doherty** for his brilliance, energy, guidance, tolerance and support in the last couple of years. I'm grateful for his time and expertise vital to completing this thesis, Thanks for trusting me and saying yes when I asked to be part of your lab five years ago. I wish to thank my co-supervisor, Professor **Eleanor Molloy**, for all the support and guidance in my PhD journey. Having you as my supervisors was the best combination I could have ever wished for.

I would also like to express my profound thanks and sincere gratitude to my country *Libya and Aljabel Alghari University*, who financially supported my PhD scholarship.

Thanks to my paediatrics colleagues who recruited my study subjects - Zunera, Mary, Emer, Marwan, and Liam - this project would not have been possible without you. Above all, I thank the patients and their families for their trust and partnership.

I also want to acknowledge the support from Dr Lynne Kelly, Dr Margaret Dunne for the discussion and brilliant ideas. Grainne, Clara and Izzy, for all the cakes and chats in the office, I will miss you and I wish you all the best of luck in your future.

I want to thank Miss **Margaret Rooney** for her help in the final stages of formatting the thesis and helping with the endnote. Thank you very much.

Alhanouf I miss you so much. Your friendship is precious and I hope all the success you dream of is coming through. **Karima**, thanks so much for all the long chat and support hours. You are my sister, and I wish you the best in your Ph.D. **Fawza** thanks you for the lovely cracks and chats over the last year, and good luck in your Ph.D.

In particular, I need to thank my mum **Zohra** for the support and love and belief in me when I said I wanted to be a doctor. My mother loves education and hard work in equal measure, *my dad*, the most powerful educated man who inspired me, wishes you were here "May Allah rest your soul in peace". so I dedicate this work to them.

A special thank you to my husband **Abduladheem**, who understands the stress and dedication that comes with earning a PhD and who has always been there to support me. Thank you for everything - for your patience, your endless encouragement, for believing in me and for taking care of the children so carefully

I want thank my family for their endless support of my educational achievements and, in general, in my life. My sisters **Nadia** and **Najla** for their usual solid advice and encouragement to finish my Ph.D. My academic successes are theirs. Thanks to my **mother and father in law** for all the support over the last few years.

Last but not least, For my kids, **Manar, Jenan**, and **Luqman**, you have been my source of strength, motivation, and happiness. Being your Mom give me the power to continue this journey despite all the difficulties, and when you try to put a smile on my face when I am stressed and when you say calm down, mum, you will be fine. I love you guys.

Thanks so much for all of you; this work could not have been done without you.

List of abbreviations used

α-GalCer	α-galactosylceramide
ASC	Antibody-secreting cells
5-A-RU	5 5-amino-6-D-ribitylaminouracil
APC	Antigen-presenting cell
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BBB	Blood Brain Barrier
BDFACS	BD Biosciences Flexible Flow Cytometry System
CBA	Cytometric Bead Array
СР	Cerebral palsy
CNS	Central Nervous System
Con	Control
DAMPS	Damage-Associated Molecular Patterns
dNK	Decidual NK
EB/AO	Ethidium bromide / acridine orange
EGA	Estimated gestational age
ELISA	Enzyme Linked Immunoassay
FSc	Forward scatter
GC	Germinal centre
GFI-1	Growth factor independent-1
HIE	Hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy
HMB-PP	(E)-4-Hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate
Ι ΓΝγ	Interferon-gamma
ICU	Intensive care unit
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor-1
IL- 1β	Interleukin-1β
IL-2	Interleukin-2
IL-4	Interleukin-4
IL-5	Interleukin-5
IL-6	Interleukin-6
IL-7	Interleukin-7
IL-8	Interleukin-8
IL-9	Interleukin-9
IL-10	Interleukin-10
IL-12	Interleukin-12
IL-15	Interleukin-15
IL-17A	Interleukin-17A
IL-18	Interleukin18
IL-21	Interleukin-21
IL-22	Interleukin-22
IL-23	Interleukin-23
iNKT	Innate natural killer T cells
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase

IRI	Ischaemia-reperfusion injury
KIR	killer immunoglobulin-like receptors
LLPC	Long-lived plasma cells
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
M-CSF	Macrophage colony stimulating factor
MAC	Terminal membrane attack complex
MG	Microglia
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MS	Multiple scelerosis
MR1	MHC-related molecule 1
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
MSD	Meso Scale Discovery
MAIT	Mucosal associated invariant T
Nab	Natural antibodies
NE	Neonatal encephalopathy
NETs	Neutrophil extracellular traps
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa beta
NICE	National Institute for Clinical Excellence
NK	Natural Killer
NO	Nitric Oxide
PAMPS	Pathogen-associated molecular patterns
PBMCs	Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
PBA	Phosphate buffer acetate
PBS	Phosphate buffer saline
DC	Plasmacytoid dendritic cell
PRR	Pattern recognition receptors
PFA	Paraformaldehyde 4%
PMA/I	Phorbol myristate acetate with ionomycin
RORa	RAR-related orphan receptor alpha
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SD	Standard deviation
SEM	Standard error of the mean
SLO	Secondary lymphoid organs
SSC	Side scatter
TCR	T cell receptor
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor beta
TSLP	Thymic stromal lymphopoietin
Th	T helper
TH	Therapeutic hypothermia
TNF-α	Tumour Necrosis Factor-α
T regs	Regulatory T cells
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

Publications:

 Taher NAB, Kelly LA, Al-Harbi AI, O'Dea MI, Zareen Z, Ryan E, Molloy EJ, Doherty DG.
 Altered distributions and functions of natural killer T cells and γδ T cells in neonates with neonatal encephalopathy, in school-age children at follow-up, and in children with cerebral palsy.
 Journal of Neuroimmunology 2021; 356: 577597.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577597.

2. Melo AM, Taher NA, Doherty DG, Molloy EJ.
The role of lymphocytes in neonatal encephalopathy. *Brain Behavior Immunology Health* 2021; 18: 100380.
DOI: 10.1016/j.bbih.2021.100380.

3. Taher NAB, Isaza-Correa J, Melo AM, Kelly LA, Al-Harbi AI, O'Dea MI, Zareen Z, Ryan E, Omer M, Townsend L, Molloy EJ, Doherty DG.Dynamics of peripheral lymphocyte subsets from birth until old age.Manuscript in preparation.

Poster presentations:

1. Alteration in the phenotype of circulating lymphocyte in School-AgeChildren who had Neonatal Encephalopathy requiring Therapeutic Hypothermia. **-Taher N,** Zareen Z, McEneaney V, Molloy E, Doherty DG.

Academic Paediatrics Association Annual Conference (APA) 2017 at Trinity Biomedical Sciences Institute, Dublin, March 9-10, 2017. Awarded prize for best poster presentation.

2. Altered circulating Innate T Cell Phenotypes in School-Age Children who had Neonatal Encephalopathy requiring Therapeutic Hypothermia. **-Nawal Abdullah Taher**, Zunera Zareen, Eleanor Molloy, Derek G. Doherty. **American Pediatric Societies (PAS) 2017 Meeting, May 6 - 9, in San Francisco, Canada**

3. Altered Frequencies of Cell subpopulation in Neonates and School-Age Children with Neonatal Encephalopathy requiring Therapeutic Hypothermi.- Nawal Abdullah Taher, Zunera Zareen, Mary O'Dea, Victoria McEneaney, Lynne Kelly, Murwan Omer, Eleanor J. Molloy, Derek G. Doherty.

(7th OLCHC RESEARCH & AUDIT DAY), Our Lady's Children's Hospital, Crumlin, Dublin, Ireland, 19th May, 2017)

4. Increased frequencies of circulating $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells in infants and children with neonatal encephalopathy"

Nawal Abdullah Taher, Zunera Zareen, Mary O'Dea, Tammy Strickland, Eleanor J. Molloy, Derek G. Doherty "8th International gamma-delta Conference". Boredeaux, France, June 2018

5. Persistent alterations in circulating innate and adaptive lymphocytes in infants and school-age children with Neonatal Encephalopathy

Nawal Abdullah Taher, Alhanouf Alharbi, Ana Moreno, Mary O'Dea, Tammy Strickland, Zunera Zareen, Eleanor J Molloy, Derek G. Doherty.

Joint meeting of Irish Society of immunology and Microbiology Society. TBSI, Dublin, Ireland. August 2018 6. Increased innate T cells in infants and school-age children with neonatal encephalopathy. - Nawal Abdullah Taher, Alhanouf Alharbi, Mary O'Dea, Tammy Strickland, Zunera Zareen, Eleanor J Molloy, Derek G. Doherty.
7th Congress of the European Academy of Paediatric Societies conference. (EAPS 2018), Paris, France, November 2018.

Oral Presentations:

1. Immunology Meetings at TTMI

2. Persistent alteration in circulating innate and adaptive lymphocytes in infants
And school-age children with neonatal encephalopathy
The 9th Irish Neonatal Research Symposium, Friday 16 November 2018 –
Alexander Hotel, Dublin 2

T cell changes in newborn persist into childhood in Neonatal
 Encephalopathy Nawal Abdullah Taher, Alhanouf Alharbi, Mary O'Dea, Tammy
 Strickland, Zunera Zareen, Eleanor J Molloy, Derek G. Doherty.
 Joint Irish Paediatric Association/Welsh Paediatric Society Meeting 2018
 Friday 7th and Saturday 8th December 2018 Galway, Ireland.

4. Increased innate T cells in infants and school-age children with neonatal encephalopathy

Nawal abdullah Taher, Alhanouf Alharbi, Mary O'Dea, Tammy Strickland, Zunera Zareen, Eleanor J Molloy, Derek G. Doherty. (NCRC Annual Symposium 2018, national chidren research canter. December 12th 2018, poster presentation).

5. Altered numbers and function of circulating v delta T cells in neonatal encephalopathy in new-borns and at follow-up in childhood
Nawal abdullah Taher, Alhanouf Alharbi, Mary O'Dea, Tammy Strickland, Zunera Zareen, Eleanor J Molloy, Derek G. Doherty. Irish Paediatric Annual Meeting – Friday 4th December 2020
Virtual Conference

Courses:

- 1. Cytometry Society of Ireland Meeting. TBSI, November 2016.
- CRDI course Techniques & Strategies in Molecular Medicine (1-2 December 2016) at TTMI, (12 h lectures).
- 3. Thesis writing TCD, 2017
- 4. Planning thesis and production (2.5 ECTS) June, 2017, TTMI.
- 5. Data Processing Using Excel (2.5 ECTS) June 2017, TTMI
- 6. Intro to Endnote, PhD school, TCD September 2019
- 7. Thesis writing TCD 2017

Postgraduate Diploma in Innovation & Entrepreneurship (30 ECTS)- Level 8-2018,2019, Innovation academy, Trinity College Dublin:

- 1. Creative thinking & Innovation (10 ECTS).
- 2. Opportunity Generation And Recognition.
- 3. Planning Your New Venture (5 ECTS).
- 4. Protecting Your Intellectual Property (5 ECTS).
- 5. Leadership management module (5 ECTS).

Table of Contents

Examining the role of lymphocytes in health and i influence of mucosal associated T cells on B cell f	in neonatal encephalopathy and the functions i
Declaration	<i>II</i>
Acknowledgement	<i>IV</i>
Publications:	VIII
List of tables	XVII
List of figures	XVIII
Abstract	Error! Bookmark not defined.
CHAPTER 1	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,
General Introduction	1
1.1 Neonatal encephalopathy 1.1.1 Clinical features of NE 1.1.2 Epidemiology of NE 1.1.3 Pathogenesis of NE 1.1.4 Treatment of NE	2 2 4 4 8
1.2 Inflammation in NE 1.2.1 Neuroinflammation 1.2.2 The innate immune system 1.2.3 Innate immunity in NE	9 9 10 14
1.3 The role of lymphocytes in NE	16 17 18 25 28 30 31 34 35 36 37
1.4 Hypothesis and aims 1.4.1 Hypothesis 1.4.2 Aims	40 40 40 40
CHAPTER 2	42
Materials and Methods	42
2.1 Study Groups 2.1.1 Newborn infants with NE 2.1.2 School-age children with NE and CP	43 43 44
2.2 Control subjects 2.2.1 Healthy term Neonates 2.2.2 Cord Blood Samples 2.2.3 Healthy school age children 2.2.4 Healthy adults 2.2.5 Healthy older adulta	44 44 44 45 45 45
2.2.3 Healthy older adults	45

2.3 Ethical Approval	45
2.2 Materials	46
2.2.3 Preparation of Solutions and Media	56
2.2.3.8 Cell freezing Mixture.	57
Cells were cryopreserved in a mixture of 90% FCS and 10% dimethyl sulphoxide (DSMO)	$\frac{57}{57}$
0.1 g of saponin powder were dissolved in 50 ml PBA to give a concentration of 0.2% used to)
permeabilise cells.	57
2.3.1 Sterile Technique 2.3.2 Preparation of Human Perinheral Blood Mononuclear Cells) / 58
2.3.3 Enumeration of Cells	58
2.3.4 Cryopreservation and Recovery of Cells	59
2.4 Flow Cytometry	59
2.4.1 Principles of Flow Cytometry	59
2.4.2 CS&T Beads	61
2.4.3 Parameters	61
2.4.4 Compensation	-61
	02
2.5 Cell Enrichment and Sorting	_ 65
2.5.1 Magnetic Isolation of B cells	65 65
	0
2.6 In vitro Expansion of MAII Cells	69
2.7 Activation of B cells	72
2.8 Measurement of Cell Activation	73
2.9 Analysis of Cell Death	77
2.10 Toxicity of MAIT cells Against B cells	78
2.12 Statistical Analysis	79
CHAPTER 3	81
Comparison of the lymphoid cell compartments in cord blood and in peripheral b	lood
from healthy neonates, children, young adults and older adults	_ 81
3.1 Introduction	82
3.2 Aims and hypothesis	85
3.3 Specific methods	85
3.3.1 Patient specimens	85
3.3.2 Antibodies and flow cytometry	
3.3.3 Measurement of serum cytokine levels	88 88
	00
3.4 Results	<u> </u>
3.4.1 Lymphocyte frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age	89
3.4.3 Innate T cells frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to a	1gc 91 93
3.4.4 Phenotype of Circulating MAIT Cells in Healthy Subjects	95
3.4.5 MAIT cells from young adults display higher expression of CD69	95
3.4.6 Serum cytokine levels in healthy subjects	98
3.5 Discussion	_ 104
3.6 Conclusion	_ 108
CHAPTER 4	_ 111

Characterisation of the lymphoid cell compartments in blood from NE and healthy subjects _______ 111

4 1 Introduction	112
4.2 Hypothesis and aims	116
4.3 Specific methods	117
4.5 Specific methods	117
4.3.1 Editical Approval	117
4.3.3 Blood sample processing	118
4.3.4 I vmphocyte subset enumeration and phenotyping	118
4.3.5 Measurement of serum cytokine levels	119
4.3.6 Analysis of intracellular cytokine production	119
4.3.7 Statistical analysis	119
4.4 Results	120
4.4.1 Patient demographics	120
4.4.2 Distribution of circulating lymphocyte populations in neonates and school-age children with	:h 122
NE	123
4.4.4 I umphoeytes from NE patients display higher expression of CD69	133
4.4.4 Lymphocytes from NE patients display higher expression of the transcription factors T-bet	140
Forn3 and RORyt than lymphocytes from age-matched control subjects	, 142
4 4 6 Serum cytokine levels in peopates and school-age children with NF	147
4.4.7 Ex vivo cytokine and granzyme B production by T cells from healthy neonates and neonate	es
with NE	152
4.4.8 Ex vivo cytokine and granzyme B production by NK cells from healthy neonates and neona	ates
with NE	154
4.4.9 Activation of V δ 2 T cells from patients with NE and healthy controls	156
4.5 Discussion1	159
4.6 Conclusions1	163
CHAPTER 51	164
An investigation into the reciprocal interactions between B cells and mucosal associated invariant T cells1	164
5.1 Introduction	165
5.2 Hypothesis, aims & objectives	169
5.2.1 Hypothesis	169
5.2.2 Aims	169
5 3 Mathada	177
5.3 Methods	172
5.3.1 Analysis of MAIT cells by flow cytometry	172
5.3.3 Generation of B cell cultures	172
5.3.4 Activation of B cells	172
5.3.5 Activation of MAIT cells	172
5.3.6 Analysis the expression of markers of antigen presentation by B cells	173
5.3.7 Analysis of cytokine production	173
5.3.8 Analysis of cytokine release By ELISA	173
5.3.9 Analysis of MAIT cell degranulation	174
5.3.10 Measurement of antibody production by B cells	174
5.3.11 Examination of immunoglobulin class switching after treatment with various stimuli	174
5.3.12 Analysis of cell death	174
5.3.13 Statistical analysis	175
5.4 Results	176

5.5 Discussion	219
Chapter 6	226
General summary and conclusions	226
7. Bibliography	238
8. Appendix 1	292

List of tables

Table 1-1 Sarnat scoring system [8]	3
Table 2-1 Equipment used in this investigation	47
Table 2-2 General reagents used in this investigation	49
Table 2-3 Disposable plasticware used in this investigation	51
Table 2-4 Antibodies used for cell surface phenotyping by flow cytome	etry
	52
Table 2-5 Antibodies used for intracellular phenotypic analysis by flow	V
cytometry	55
Table 3-1 Demographic characteristics of older adults cohort	86
Table 3-2 Demographics of neonatal Control	87
Table 3.3 Summary of circulating lymphocyte numbers fluctuate with age	.112
Table 4-1 Demographics of neonatal NE patients	121
Table 4-2Demographics of school age children with NE and their age	
control	122

List of figures

- *Figure 1.1 Diagram depicting the various pathogenic stages of brain damage following cerebral HI.*
- Figure 2.1 Gating strategy for the detection of T cells, B cells, NK cells, CD4+ T cells,
 CD8+ T cells, CD4-CD8- T cells, CD4+CD8+ T cells, iNKT cells, MAIT cells,
 Vδ1 T cells and Vδ2 T cells by flow cytometry

Figure 2.2 In vitro expansion of MAIT cells

72

66

Figure 2.3 Diagram depicting the methodology which used for results chapter

82

- Figure 3.1 Lymphocyte frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age 92
- *Figure 3.2 Conventional and unconventional T cell frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age*

94

9

- Figure 3.3 Innate lymphocyte frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age 96
- Figure 3.4 Frequencies of CD8⁺ and double negative MAIT cells in cord blood (n=10) and in peripheral blood of neonates (n=17), school-age children (n=23), young adults (n=25)

98

Figure 3.5 Activation status of MAIT cells in cord blood and peripheral blood of neonates, children and

adults___

___99

Figure 3.6 Serum Th1 cytokines levels in in healthy donors grouped according to age___101

Figure 5.7 Serum 1n2 cylokine levels in healthy abouts grouped according to
ag102
Figure 3.8 Serum Th17 cytokines levels in in healthy donors grouped according to
age103
Figure 3.9 Serum Proinflammatory cytokines levels in healthy donors grouped
according to

Finne 2.7 Server Th 2 and 1 in the later the demonstration of a server dimension of

age___

__104

Figure 3.10 Serum T and NK cell growth factors levels in healthy donors grouped according to age

105

Figure 4.1 Enumeration of circulating T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control

*subjects*_____128

Figure 4.2 Enumeration of circulating B cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control

subjects_____129

Figure 4.3 Enumeration of circulating NK cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control

subjects_____130

- Figure 4.4 Enumeration of circulating CD4⁺CD8⁻ T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects______131
- Figure 4.5 Enumeration of circulating CD8⁺CD4⁻ cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects 132
- Figure 4.6 Enumeration of circulating double positive T cells (CD4⁺CD8⁺) subsets in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects____133
- Figure 4.7 Enumeration of circulating double negative (CD4⁻CD8⁻) T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects 134

Figure 4.8 Ent	imeration o	of circulating	g Vδ1 T cel	ls in neonate	al and school-a	ge children
with	NE	and	СР	and	healthy	control
subjects_				13	8	
Figure 4.9 Enu	meration of	of circulating	$V\delta 2 \ T \ cells$	s in neonatal	l and school-age	e children
with NE	and CP and	d healthy con	ntrol			
subjects_				139		
Figure 4.10 En	umeration	of circulatir	ng MAIT cei	lls in neonat	al and school-a	ge children
with	NE	and	СР	and	healthy	control
subjects_				14	0	
Figure 4.11 En	numeration	of circulatin	ng iNKT cel	ls in neonat	al and school-a	ge children
with	NE	and	СР	and	healthy	control
subjects_				14	1	
Figure 4.12 Ex	pression oj	factivation i	marker CD	59 by T cells	, NK cells, MAI	T cells and
<i>Vδ2 T c</i>	ells in neor	natal and so	chool-age c	hildren with	n NE and CP a	ind healthy
control						
subjects_						
143						
Figure 4.13 Flo	ow cytomet	ric analysis	of T-bet trai	nscription fa	ctor production	<i>by CD4</i> ⁺ <i>T</i>
cells in w	hole blood	1				146
Figure 4.14 Fle	ow cytomet	tric analysis	of Foxp3+ t	ranscription	factor product	ion by
$CD4^+ T c$	cells in who	ole				
blood					14	17
Figure 4.15 Flo	ow cytomet	tric analysis	of RORyt +	transcription	n factor produci	tion by
$CD4^+ T c$	cells in who	ole				
blood					14	18
Figure 4.16 Se	rum Th1-as	ssociated cy	tokine levels	s in neonates	and school-age	e children
with NE	and CP and	d in aged-ma	atched healt	hy		
donors			1.	50		
Figure 4.17 Se	rum Th2 cy	vtokine levels	s in neonat	es and schoo	ol-age children 1	with NE
and CP a	and in aged	-matched he	ealthy			
donors				1	51	
Figure 4.18 Se	rum Th17 c	cytokine leve	els in neonai	tes and scho	ol-age children	with NE
and CP a	and in aged	-matched he	ealthy			
donors				1	52	

Figure 4.19 Proinflammatory cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP and in aged-matched healthy donors 153 *Figure 4.20 Cytokine and granzyme B production by T cells from patients with neonatal* encephalopathy (NE) 155 Figure 4.21 Cytokine and granzyme B production by NK cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy _____ 157 (NE) *Figure 4.22 Mean (* \pm *SEM) percentages of V* δ *2 T cells from healthy neonates (*n=7*) and* neonates with NE (n=10) that express CD69 upon stimulation ex *vivo* 159 Figure 4.23 Cytokine and granzyme B production by $V\delta^2$ T cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE) 160 Figure 5.1. Schematic representation of MR1-dependent and MR1-independent MAIT cell activation and their possible influence on B activation . 173 *Figure 5.2. Summary of investigations carried out in the present chapter* 177 Figure 0.3 Activation of MAIT cells within PBMC 179 Figure 5.4 Induction of IFN-y production by MAIT cells within PBMC 181 Figure 5.5 Induction of IL-17 production by MAIT cells within *PBMC* 183 Figure 5.6 In vitro expansion of MAIT cells. MAIT cell lines were generated by stimulating PBMC with 5-ARU and culturing them with IL-2 185 Figure 5.7 Induction of IFN-y production by expanded MAIT cells 188 Figure 5.8 Induction of IL-17A production by expanded MAIT cells_____ 189

Figure 5.9 Cytokine production by expanded MAIT cell lines

191 Figure 5.10 Cytokine production by expanded MAIT cell lines induce distinct cytokine 192 Figure 5.11 Isolation of B cells_____ 195 Figure 5.12 Activation of sorted B cells in vitro 195 *Figure 5.13 Activation of sorted B cells in* vitro 197 Figure 5.14 Induction of HLA-DR on B cells by MAIT cells 200 Figure 5.15 Induction of CD86 on B cells by MAIT cells 201 Figure 5.16 Induction of CD40 on B cells by MAIT *cells*_____202 Figure 5.17 Induction of IFN-y production by B cells by MAIT *cells_____ 204* Figure 5.18 Induction of IL-4 production by B cells by MAIT *cells_____ 205* Figure 5.19 Induction of antibody isotype switching in B cells by MAIT cells 207 Figure 5.20 Induction of IgM, IgG and IgA release from B cells by MAIT cells 209 Figure 5.21 MAIT cells degranulate in the presence of autologous B cells 211 Figure 5.22 B cells induce granzyme B expression by MAIT *cells*_____214

Figure 5.23 B cells induce perforin expression by MAIT

*cells*_____215

Figure 5.24 MAIT cells induce apoptosis in autologous Bcells217

Figure 5.25 Total PBMC do not induce apoptosis in autologous Bcells218

Figure 5.26 MAIT cells kill autologous B

*cells*_____220

Figure 5.27 Diagram depicting the summary of this chapter ______. *227*

CHAPTER 1 General Introduction

1.1 Neonatal encephalopathy

1.1.1 Clinical features of NE

Neonatal encephalopathy (NE) is a complex syndrome defined clinically by a disturbance in neurological functions, in the earliest days of life in a term infant. An altered degree of consciousness, convulsions, difficulties in initiating, sustaining breathing and diminished tone and reflexes, are common symptoms of this condition [1]. NE can be a consequence of a wide variety of causes and is a clinical term that does not specify aetiology. The terms NE and hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy (HIE) are frequently used interchangeably in the literature [2-4]. NE has several aetiologies, but hypoxic ischemia is the most common factor. Others include perinatal infections, placental abnormalities, inborn errors of metabolism, coagulopathies and neonatal vascular stroke. However, in almost half of NE cases, the exact underlying reason is not identified and is usually a mixture of multiple factors [5]. The brain is not the only organ affected following the hypoxic-ischemic insult. Infants can also exhibit co-existing multi-organ dysfunction affecting the immune, respiratory, endocrine, renal, hepatic, and cardiac systems, which can result in severe mortality and morbidity [6, 7]. Neonatal neurological examinations rely on a standardized scoring method that has been associated with clinical outcomes in order to make a clinical diagnosis of NE. In 1976, Sarnat and Sarnat divided the phases of encephalopathy into mild, moderate, and severe to define the clinical signs of NE. Sarnat came to the conclusion that mild encephalopathy that persisted for more than 7 days was linked to poor neurologic prognosis or mortality (Table 1) [8].

 Table 1-1 Sarnat scoring system [8]

Sarnat Stage	Stage 1	Stage 2 Stage 3		
Level Of Consciousness	Hyperalert Lethargic	Obtunded Stupor	Coma	
Activity	Normal	Decreased	Absent	
Neuromuscular Control -Muscle Tone	Normal	Mild Hypotonia	Flaccid	
Posture	Mild Distal Flexion	Strong Distal Flexion	Intermittent decerebration(extension)	
Stretch Reflexes	Overactive	Overactive	Decreased or absent	
Primitive Reflexes Suck	Weak	Weak or Absent	Absent	
Moro	Moro Strong, low threshold	Weak/Incomplete, High Threshold	Absent	
Atonic Neck Reflex	Slight	Strong	Absent	
Autonomic Function- Pupils	Mydriasis	Miosis Variable	unequal, poor light reflex, fixed dilated	
Heart Rate	Tachycardia	Bradycardia	Variable	
Seizures	None	Common	Uncommon, excluding decerebration	

1.1.2 Epidemiology of NE

In children under the age of five, it is estimated that NE is one of the top ten contributing factors for deaths, according to the WHO [9]. NE affects 1.15 million babies every year worldwide with 96% of NE cases born in the developing world. Its incidence varies from 1 to 3 per 1,000 live births in high-income countries and up to 20 per 1000 live births in low-resource settings [10-12].

1.1.3 Pathogenesis of NE

A reduction in cerebral perfusion is caused by intermittent anoxia or acute hypoxia leads to initial drop in cerebral blood flow causes a primary energy failure [13]. Reduced cerebral blood flow leads to low oxygen and glucose levels, resulting in significantly less energy (adenosine triphosphate (ATP)) and increased lactate production [14]. Low ATP levels lead to disruption of many of the cell's defence mechanisms, especially the sodium/potassium (Na/K) pumps and mechanisms that keep intracellular calcium low [15]. When the Na/K pumps fail, an excess of positively charged sodium ions floods the neurons, causing massive depolarization. This causes glutamate, an excitatory amino acid, to be released. The glutamate binds to glutamate receptors, allowing more calcium and sodium to enter the cell [15]. Elevated intracellular calcium has serious consequences, causing cerebral oedema, ischemia, and microvascular damage, as well as necrosis and/or apoptosis [16]. Primary energy failure causes cellular necrosis by disrupting the cytoskeleton and cell membrane [15, 17]. As a result, cells swell and rupture, resulting in cellular death. When a cell ruptures, the contents of the cell are released, leading to inflammation [18]. Inflammatory mediators can damage white matter and cause scar tissue [19]. The cells may recover or progress to apoptosis [15]. Apoptosis results in cell shrinkage and the preservation of cellular membranes in the absence of inflammation. Apoptosis will occur days after the initial infection [18].

After the primary energy failure phase, there is a short period of recovery once blood flow has been restored [13]. Normal cerebral metabolism characterizes this short recovery, known as the latent period. The length of the latent period is believed to be related to the severity of the hypoxic-ischemic insult, with more severe insults shortening the latent time [20]. The precise start and end times of the primary energy failure phase, latent period, and secondary energy failure phase are unknown at this time [21]. Thus, the typical time for therapeutic intervention is during the latent period [17] (Figure 1).

Between 6 and 48 hours after the initial damage, secondary energy failure stage occurs. The pathophysiology of secondary energy failure is unknown [17]. Generally, it seems to link to oxidative stress, excitotoxicity, and inflammation. Free radicals generated by oxidative stress damage neuronal cell membranes, resulting in necrosis or apoptosis. The neonatal brain is extremely vulnerable to oxidative stress due to low antioxidant concentrations [22] and high oxygen consumption during the transition from foetal to neonatal life [23]. Neonates have high concentrations of unsaturated fatty acids, which makes more oxygen free radicals. During a hypoxic-ischemic state, iron bound to proteins is released, allowing free iron (Fe²⁺) to react with peroxides and form free radicals [13]. The ability of the neonatal brain to remove free radicals is reduced [22].

Excitotoxicity develops when excitatory receptors are overstimulated by high amounts of extracellular neurotransmitters, particularly glutamate. High influx of sodium and calcium to neuronal cells occurs as a result of overstimulation. Several neuronal pathways use glutamate, involving hearing, vision, somatosensory function, learning, and memory, suggesting why HIE has such a detrimental impact on neonates' future growth [24]. Inflammation has a role in the evolution of HIE-related brain injury morbidities, but its exact role is unidentified [23]. In animal models, accumulation of neutrophils into the brain parenchyma during the early stages of damage (4–8 hours) has been reported to

cause cerebral oedema [25]. The role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of NE is a major subject of this thesis and will be discussed in detail below.



Figure 1.1Diagram depicting the various pathogenic stages of brain damage following cerebral HI. Acute hypoxic insult (HI) is the major phase, followed by latent, secondary energy failure, secondary brain damage, and tertiary brain injury phases. Figure created with BioRender.com

1.1.4 Treatment of NE

The only standard of care available for NE is therapeutic hypothermia (TH), the maintenance of the infant at 33.5-34.5°C for 72 hours. TH lowers temperature of the brain's most critical structures, the basal ganglia. For neonatal HIE, there are two key methods of TH: whole-body cooling and selective head cooling with mild systemic hypothermia. Since the brain generates more than two-thirds of total body heat, selective head cooling is advantageous to whole-body cooling. To prevent the harmful effects of systemic cooling, cooling the brain rather than the rest of the body is highly recommended [26]. Theoretical modelling of cooling, on the other hand, examines the temperature distribution within the neonatal head. The only situation that resulted in a major reduction in deep brain temperature was when the body temperature was reduced to 34°C, suggesting that systemic temperature must be reduced to achieve deep brain cooling [27]. The core body and deep brain temperatures must be identical for whole-body cooling to work.

The neuroprotective effect of TH can be due to a number of mechanisms. Hypothermia can protect cells against apoptosis. After resuscitation, twelve hours of mild hypothermia in neonatal piglets considerably reduced the numbers of apoptotic cells but not the number of necrotic cells [11]. TH may also protect neurons by lowering the metabolic rate in the brain, lowering toxic nitric oxide (NO) and free radical production, mitigating the release of excitatory amino acids (glutamate, dopamine) and ameliorating the ischaemia-impaired uptake of glutamate [28].

The key benefits for neuroprotection are that hypothermia be initiated as early as possible in the latent phase, within the first six hours, before secondary deterioration, and that it is continued for a sufficient period, typically around 72 h [29, 30]. These studies show that, as currently applied, ~15% of infants will have better neurological outcome

after cooling compared to standard care. Despite impressive neuroprotective effects, questions remain on how to optimize TH for neonatal HIE. Although mortality and significant neurologic disability rates have decreased since the pre-TH era, they remain unacceptably high at 40 per cent to 55 per cent [31, 32].

In 2010, the National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) recommended that TH is the treatment for NE. TH reduces the infants' body temperature to 33.5°C for 72 hours. It must commence within a six-hour window after delivery [33, 34]. TH reduces the co-morbidities in the long term, such as death and significant neuro-developmental impairment by 18 months [35], lowers the risk of developing CP [36] and prolongs the maintenance of an IQ of >85 [37]. Conversely, recent evidence has demonstrated that school-age children aged between six to eight years of age, who were cooled at birth for NE and did not develop CP, had lower motor and cognitive test outcomes than healthy subjects [38, 39]. In addition, they struggle with concentration, have slower response times, and have low visuospatial processing skills [40]. 18-month developmental scores do not predict these motor and cognitive delays [33, 39].

1.2 Inflammation in NE

1.2.1 Neuroinflammation

Local inflammation in the brain contributes to damage initiated by hypoxia-ischemia and contributes to the development of neurodegenerative diseases including schizophrenic behaviour and memory and attention deficits in animal models [41, 42]. In humans, perinatal inflammation is also linked to several neuropsychological disorders and it is suggested that inflammation has long term sequelae on the brain functions during childhood (Hagberg et al., 2012).

Neuroinflammation is characterized by the induction of an immediate and robust activation of brain-resident glial cells, microglia and astrocytes. In humans, microglia are central to the initiation and resolution of inflammation in the brain [43]. Proinflammatory mediators released by microglia and astrocytes such as interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) and tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- α) [44] lead to recruitment of neutrophils into the central nervous system (CNS) and the further impairment of the blood-brain barrier permeability (BBB) [45, 46]. The presence of TNF- α in the cerebral endothelium interrupts blood flow to the brain leading to the exaggeration of brain injury after ischemic-hypoxic attacks [47].

The hippocampus, responsible for memory and cognitive brain functions, responds specifically to inflammatory signalling through cytokine receptors. [48, 49]. Cerebral infection is linked to irreversible morphological changes in brain structures in the hippocampus. [50]. A growing group of evidence from experimental studies suggests that intrauterine infection and systemic inflammation are involved in the development of brain white matter injury and subsequent cerebral palsy [51].

1.2.2 The innate immune system

1.2.2.1 Introduction

The innate immune system provides an early first line of defence against invading microorganisms. It has the capacity to act rapidly in a nonspecific way every time the body is exposed to a pathogen. Furthermore, it lacks the ability to build and generate lifelong immunological memory to help prevent reinfection, although recent studies are challenging this notion [52].

The innate immune system is activated by the binding of pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMP) to a variety of pattern recognition receptors (PRR) found in

cell membranes, endosomes and the cytoplasm. In addition to PAMPs, PRRs can also recognise molecules produced by damaged or injured cells – these are termed damage-associated molecular pattern (DAMPs). Innate immunity is the first line of defence against invading microorganisms and cellular stress or damage [53, 54].

The body has several barriers - physical, chemical and microbiological - in order to prevent pathogen entry. Physical barriers include the skin, epithelial layers of the digestive tract, respiratory system and nasopharynx, cilia, eyelashes, and other body hair. Secretions include mucus, bile, gastric acid, saliva, tears, and sweat. The complement cascade is composed of several soluble and membrane-bound proteins released mostly by the liver but also by leukocytes, adipocytes, and cells in the central nervous system (such as neurons, astrocytes, and microglia [55, 56]. Complement is activated by the classical, lectin, and alternative pathways, all of which are triggered by various stimuli. Complement activation contributes to pathogen removal in 3 ways. Pathogen-bound complement components, such as C3b and C4b, can opsonise pathogens by binding to cells that express complement receptors (such as complement receptor type 1, CR1) to facilitate their removal by phagocytosis. Anaphylatoxin proteins, such as C3a and C5a are proinflammatory peptides that communicate with and activate immune cells by binding to their receptors (C3a receptor, C3aR, and C5a receptor, C5aR). The terminal membrane attack complex (MAC) damages lipid bilayers in bacterial cell membranes leading to their lysis [56, 57].

1.2.2.2 Cells of innate immune system

The cells of the innate immune system include neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells, eosinophils, mast cells as well as epithelial cells, endothelial cells and tissue parenchymal cells. In addition, natural killer (NK) cells and innate, unconventional T cells demonstrate primary effector functions upon pathogen exposure. Phagocytes such as macrophages and neutrophils eliminate microbes and secrete inflammatory mediators. Neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages and dendritic cells develop and mature during foetal life, but at different times, and the activities of all components of innate immunity are weak in newborns compared to those in later life. There is a steep rise in the number of mature neutrophils from around 12 weeks of gestation until shortly before birth [58].

Neutrophils

The most frequent type of white blood cell is neutrophils. The neutrophil has a central function of clearance of extracellular pathogens, by phagocytosing pathogens and/or releasing antimicrobial factors present in cytoplasmic granules. By degranulation and the extrusion of nucleic acids, neutrophils release neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which capture and destroy extracellular pathogens [59]. Neutrophils can be present in the vascular endothelium surrounding the peri-injury area in the brain as soon as 2 hours after the injury and subsequently invade the brain parenchyma. Tissue-resident microglia interact with infiltrating neutrophils, which polarize microglia into classical (M1) versus alternatively activated (M2) pathway subtypes [60].

Dendritic cells

Dendritic cells (DCs) are unique subsets of immune cells that bridge innate and adaptive immunity through antigen presentation. DCs are responsible for capturing, processing, and presenting antigens to naïve T cells, as well as mediating their differentiation into effector cells [61]. Based on differences in expression of pattern recognition receptors (PRR), such as toll-like receptors, C-type lectins, and intracellular nucleic acid sensors, and function, there are two distinct types of human blood DCs: plasmacytoid (pDC) and myeloid (mDC) DCs, which originate from separate progenitors [62]. In response to bacterial and viral infections, mDCs promote and regulate proinflammatory responses by activating T-helper 1 and cytotoxic T lymphocyte responses
[63]. In response to viral infection pDCs produce type I interferons (IFNs) which stimulate the expression of proteins that block viral replication [64]. It is thought that the rise in the frequency of severe influenza infections in term babies may be explained in part by reduced pDCs numbers [65].

Macrophages

Macrophages are differentiated cells of the mononuclear phagocytic lineage that have a role in the detection, phagocytosis and destruction of harmful microorganisms. They also can also present antigens to T lymphocytes. Macrophages can be stimulated by PAMPs, such as bacterial lipopolysaccharide or cytokines, such as interferon- γ (IFN- γ) and TNF- α , and regulated by interleukin IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10. Macrophages can be divided into M1 and M2 macrophages [66, 67]. TNF- α , IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, IL-18, and IL-23 are cytokines secreted by M1 macrophages giving them proinflammatory and anticancer functions [68, 69]. M2 macrophages have anti-inflammatory properties that can be triggered by cytokines such as IL-4, IL-13, glucocorticoids, macrophage colony stimulating factor 1 (M-CSF/CSF1), IL-10, IL-33, IL-21, and TGF- β , [70, 71]. Meanwhile, tissue damage caused by intense M1 macrophage-mediated responses is the primary factor of atherosclerosis and other chronic inflammation [69, 72, 73].

Microglia

Microglia (MG) constitute about 10-15% of all cells in the brain and are known to reside permanently in the CNS [74] They are cells of the myeloid cell linage and arise from yolk sack (YS) primitive macrophages and possibly also progenitor cells derived from hematopoietic cells [75]. MG have two main functions: (1) innate immune defence and (2) development and homeostasis. The former role includes responses to invading pathogens and removal of debris from wounds, while the latter concerns maintaining

cortical lamination, oligodendrocyte maturation, and phagocytosis-mediated learning and memory acquisition [76, 77]. MG populations vary in different regions of the brain with regard to gene expression, frequency [78] and shape [79]. The cortex and hippocampus have two-fold higher frequencies of MGs than the thalamus and midbrain [79, 80].

The weak immune system in neonates

There is a steep rise in the number of mature neutrophils from around 12 weeks of gestation until shortly before birth [58]. Then their frequencies return to a stable level after a few days of the postnatal period. However, they have weak bactericidal functions. These weak functions are evident as inadequate responses to inflammatory stimuli, reduced adhesion to endothelial cells and diminished chemotaxis [81]. The inadequate innate immune response in preterm infants also reflects an immaturity of monocytes and macrophages. Macrophages in preterm infants have lower TLR4 expression lower than term babies. Preterm infants also have lower serum IgG and complement compared to term infants. Impaired innate immunity in neonates, contributes significantly to the high risk of life-threatening infections in premature and newborn infants [58, 82].

1.2.3 Innate immunity in NE

1.2.3.1 The role of neutrophils and monocytes in NE

Several studies have highlighted roles for neutrophils and monocytes in the pathogenesis of NE. O'Hare et al reported a link between poor outcomes in neonatal NE and circulating immune cell activation [83]. There is higher expression of CD11b and toll-like receptor (TLR)-4 on neutrophils and monocytes of infants who need supportive resuscitation in comparison with neonatal controls [83]. Antenatal infections, such as urinary tract infections, can lead to higher concentrations of IL-1, IL-6 and TNF- α released by astrocytes in brain and is related to preterm delivery [84]. Neonates with

NE have elevated serum cytokine levels, including granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor (GM-CSF), interleukin (IL)-8, IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-10, TNF- α and VEGF, which are associated with high mortality and morbidity and poor neurodevelopmental consequences such as cerebral palsy [83, 85]. Dysregulation of GM-CSF, IL-18, IL-2, IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- β production by neutrophils in response to LPS persists into childhood following NE [86].

Neutrophils are the first cells to migrate to the infarction area following brain ischemia, where they contribute to brain injury [87]. Antibody depletion of neutrophils leads to a reduction of brain injury following hypoxia ischemia (HI) in mice [88-90]. Morkos et al. reported a link between poor neurological consequences after NE and the higher neutrophil counts on the first day of life [91]. Hudome et al. found a reduction in HI brain swelling when the neutrophils were depleted. They recognised that neutrophils were recruited to the brain as early as 8 hours in brain injury [92, 93], suggesting that neutrophils have a crucial role in developing brain swelling after ischemic injury. Several findings have shown that neutrophils play a negative role in the human adult ischemic brain [94, 95]. The neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio in peripheral blood, for example, has been found to predict stroke outcomes, with high neutrophil-lymphocyte ratio values attributed to poor neurological recovery [96].

Brain injury can be due to neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs), which, once released by neutrophils, inhibit thrombolysis following ischemia [97]. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) production and interactions with endothelial and glial cells are among suggested effector mechanisms of brain injury. New studies on neutrophil heterogeneity in stroke, however, have challenged this long-held belief. The concept of N1/N2 neutrophils was first presented in adult stroke pathophysiology [98-101].

Previous reports showing that neonatal neutrophil extravasation into the brain parenchyma following HI is rare [93, 102] led to the possibility that neutrophils are clinically irrelevant. However, a more recent study by Smith et al., found that many neutrophils accumulate outside the vasculature [103] which show that the majority of neutrophils are present in the parenchyma 24 hours after HI. An early peripheral neutrophilia preceded the infiltration of these cells to the brain. These findings are also consistent with clinical observations of an increased number of peripheral neutrophils, which correlated with poor neurodevelopmental outcomes in hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy in term infants [104]. This early increase in the blood followed by a rapid decline after 24 hours, when neutrophil numbers peaked in the brain, implies that blood neutrophils migrated to the brain. The cause of the increased number of circulating neutrophils is unknown, but may result from increased release from or production in the bone marrow, as seen in adult stroke models [105]. This is in line with a recent study by Mülling et al., 2021, who found that neonatal neutrophils are rapidly activated in the hypoxic-ischemic brain, which is linked to a significant increase in ROS production and a high frequency of over-activated neutrophils. Experimental depletion of neonatal neutrophils 12 hours after HI suppressed acute neurodegeneration, as well as micro-and astrogliosis [106].

1.3 The role of lymphocytes in NE

While monocytes and neutrophils clearly contribute to brain injury in NE, less is known about the roles of lymphocytes, which have a central role in tissue homeostasis and innate and adaptive immune responses in all tissues in the body. However, their influence on CNS functioning has been largely ignored, owing to T cells' sporadic presence in the brain parenchyma in healthy people and the concept that the CNS is an "immune privileged" site. On the other hand, the CNS is no longer regarded as an organ with only sporadic interactions with the peripheral immune system.

1.3.1 Lymphocyte ontogeny

The foetal immune system is ontogenetically regulated to allow the development of the foetus and avoid foetal tissue rejection by the mother's immune system. It also needs to remain tolerant of maternal alloantigen. After birth, the sudden change in antigen exposure, many of them related to the gut microbiota, leads to the induction of the host immune system [58]. There are two arms of the body's defence; the innate and adaptive immune systems, which interact to defend against harmful pathogens.

Human foetal T cell maturation occurs between 8 and 12 weeks estimated gestational age (EGA). Indeed, double-positive CD4⁺CD8⁺ thymocytes expressing $\alpha\beta$ or $\gamma\delta$ T cell receptors (TCR) and single-positive CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ thymocytes can be detected at 12.5 weeks EGA [107]. Foetal T cells then begin to migrate to the peripheral tissues, with T cell zones appearing in the spleen from 18 weeks EGA [108]. NK cells develop by nine weeks EGA. Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), $\gamma\delta$ T cells and mucosa-associated invariant T cells (MAIT cells) develop at 18 weeks post gestation and B cells detected by 8 weeks gestation in fetal liver [109, 110].

The adaptive immune system relies on B and T lymphocytes, which express clonotypic antigen-specific receptors generated by genetic rearrangements and somatic recombination of germline gene segments, generating a massive diversity. These receptors enable B cells and T cells mount appropriate antigen-specific responses, which are enhanced upon subsequent detection of the same pathogen and they persist enabling immunological memory. This process is exclusive to T cells and B cells of the adaptive immune system and allows for the generation of a diverse repertoire of antigen-specific receptors. B cells can further undergo somatic mutation to increase affinity for antigen binding. It estimated that as many as 10^{12} antigen specificities of B cells and T cells might be generated in this manner (Tonegawa, 1983).

1.3.2 Conventional T cells

Coordination of adaptive immunity is the function of conventional T lymphocytes. Conventional T cells express TCRs consisting of an α and a β polypeptide associated with a number of membrane-bound polypeptides, which are collectively termed CD3 and mediate signal transduction upon antigen binding to the TCR. The $\alpha\beta$ TCR recognises peptide fragments of protein antigens bound to major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I or class II molecules [111]. These molecules activate cluster of differentiation 8 (CD8⁺) T lymphocytes and CD4⁺ T lymphocytes respectively [112, 113]. The MHC class I and class II molecules are highly polymorphic and have the ability to bind and interact with a wide range of peptides derived from pathogens [114-116]. TCR diversity is achieved through variable (V), diversity (D), and joining (J) recombination in the gene segments encoding for the TCR α and TCR β proteins which occurs in the thymus during T cell development in the thymus. Further diversity is achieved through random addition and removal of nucleotides from the junctions between these gene segments and random pairing of TCR α -chain and TCR β -chains. These processes are responsible for producing a large repertoire of antigen receptors encoding a wide array of specificities [115, 117]. After thymic selection, whereby potentially autoreactive and potentially useless T cells are removed, there are approximately $2x10^7$ TCRs present in a human [115]. This diversity and complexity is fundamental to the normal functioning of the immune system [117]. However, with this level of diversity, each antigen specificity is present on a very small number of cells, therefore, a period of several days is required to generate sufficient numbers of antigen-specific effector cells to mediate immunity against the antigenexpressing pathogen. This means the adaptive immune system does not provide rapid and immediate protection to the host. Rather, once bound to the antigen, clonal expansion of T cells will occur to create a large population of effector T cells, which can take between 7-10 days [118]. Following activation, CD8⁺ T cells have key roles in eradication of pathogens by killing pathogen-infected and tumour cells. CD4⁺ T cells function as helper cells, producing cognate and cytokine signals to enhance the responses of CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, phagocytes and other cytotoxic cells, such as eosinophils and mast cells. This is known as adaptive immunity and this time-lapse may leave the host vulnerable to infection in the early stages [112, 114-116]. Following activation, a proportion of the effector T cells persist as memory T cells and upon subsequent encounter with the same pathogen, can be rapidly re-activated allowing a much faster secondary adaptive immune response [119].

CD4 T helper cells orchestrate immune responses against a broad range of pathogens by activating other effector cells of the immune system. They also regulate/suppress immune responses to control both the amplitude and duration of immune responses to limit autoimmunity. CD4 T cells carry out their roles primarily in peripheral tissues and secondary lymphoid organs [120].

CD4 T helper (Th) cells are divided into five primary subclasses based on the expression of hallmark cytokines and lineage-specific master transcription factors in the cells. Th1 (IFN- γ and T-bet), Th2 (IL-4/IL-5/IL-13 and GATA3), Th17 (IL-17/IL-22 and ROR γ t), Tfh (IL-21 and Bcl6) and Treg (T regulatory) (IL-10/TGF- β /IL-35 and Foxp3) [121]. Some groups have also described some other subsets, such as Th3 (TGF- β) [122], Tr1 (IL-10) [123], Th9 (IL-9) [124, 125] and Th22 (IL-22) [126].

1.3.2.1 Th1 cells

TCR activation in a cytokine milieu containing IL-12 and IFN- γ induces naive T cells differentiation into Th1 cells. NK cells or other T cells may be the initial providers of IFN- γ , while DCs and macrophages produce IL-12 during T cell priming [127, 128]. IFN- γ stimulates signalling through the STAT1 pathway, resulting in T-bet production [129-131], a master regulator that enhances IFN- γ -expression, and downregulates IL-4, a cytokine, which promotes Th2 differentiation. The STAT4 pathway is activated when IL-12 binds to the IL-12 receptor heterodimer, boosting Th1 responses and increasing IFN- γ production by responding Th1 cells [132, 133].

CXCR3 is an essential chemokine receptor expressed by Th1 cells and is commonly utilised to identify human Th1 cells as they migrate toward inflammatory areas following pathogen invasion [134].

Th1 cytokines include IFN- γ , TNF- α , lymphotoxin, and IL-2, all of which are involved in the host immune response to intracellular infections, including all viruses, intracellular bacteria such as *Salmonella typhimurium* and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* [135] and intracellular protozoa, such as *Leishmania major*, *T. gondii* and many others [136, 137].

A feature of Th1 cells is their expression of the transcription factor T-bet [138]. Together with another transcription factor, H2.0 like homeobox (Hlx), T-bet promotes the synthesis of IFN- γ and expression of IL-12 receptor- β 2 chain. T-bet additionally reduces the expression of other master transcription factors, including GATA3 and ROR γ t [121, 139] leading to to suppression of Th2 and Th17 cell development [140].

Th1 cells promote the activation of CD8 cytotoxic T cells and NK cells, making them crucial for the antiviral immunity [136].

A variety of human disorders have been linked to Th1 cell pathogenesis. Hashimoto's thyroiditis, multiple sclerosis, type-1 diabetes mellitus, rheumatoid arthritis, sarcoidosis,

atherosclerosis, *Helicobacter pylori*-induced and autoimmune chronic gastritis, transplant rejection, Crohn's disease, and contact dermatitis are all associated with increased numbers and activities of Th1 cells [141].

Through cell interaction and localized IFN- γ secretion, Th1 cells activate infected macrophages. This triggers a cascade of metabolic reactions that transform the macrophage into a powerful antibacterial effector cell. IFN- γ activates resting macrophages to produce NO, ROS, and lysosomal enzymes, which kill ingested microorganisms. This is the classical pathway of activation by Th1 cell. This synergism is also caused by the attachment of macrophage molecules CD80/CD86 and CD40 to T cell molecules CD28 and CD40L which resulted in different effector functions of macrophages [142].

1.3.2.2 Th2 cells

Another distinct subgroup of CD4⁺ effector T cells is Th2 cells. Th2 cells secrete IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13 as well as amphiregulin and IL-17E/IL-25. These cells have a crucial role in humoral immunity and contribute significantly to the orchestration of the immune response to multicellular parasites and worms [143]. ST2/IL-1 R4, CXCR4, CCR3, CCR4, and CCR8 are some of the cell surface receptors displayed by Th2 cells and the production of cytokines, which enable these cells to be distinguished from other types of T cells [144].

Upon receiving signals from DCs, naive CD4 T cells undergo expansion into Th2 cells [143], under the effect of IL-4, which triggers the release of GATA-3 and growth factor independent-1 (GFI-1) in a STAT6-dependent manner [145]. IL-4 and IL-2, IL-7, or thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP) play an essential role in Th2 expansion [146]. GATA-3 is a crucial gene that promotes Th2 cell differentiation and proliferation. Differentiation of other T cell subpopulations is inhibited by GATA-3, [147]. IL-13,

induces antibody class switching and IgE production by B cells as well as alternative macrophage activation throughout the body. Th2 cell-produced cytokines, also boost eosinophil activation and survival, whereas IL-5, and IL-9 play a vital role in activating mast cells [146].

Th2 cell responses are sometimes imbalanced, resulting in pathologies including [143, 148] persistent allergic inflammation, asthma, atopic dermatitis, rhinitis, food allergies [149], and eczema [150]. There are a variety of nonmicrobial stimuli that trigger Th2 cells, such as food allergens [151], venoms [152], house dust mite [153], pollen [154] and vaccination adjuvants can also cause pathological Th2 responses (Alum, MF59) [155].

1.3.2.3 Th17 cells

The Th17 cell lineage is a more recently-described subpopulation of CD4⁺ effector lymphocytes. They are distinct from Th1 and Th2 lineages and characterised by the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17 (A and F), IL-21, and IL-22 [156, 157], expression of master transcription regulator RORyt [158, 159] and cell-surface expression of CD161, CCR4 and CCR6 [160, 161]. Th17 cells are widely regarded as essential for mounting immune responses against extracellular fungi and bacteria. Th17 cells are required for protective immunity against *Bacillus anthracis* [162] *Staphylococcus aureus* [163] and *Candida albicans* [164].

Differentiation and expansion of naive CD4⁺ T cells into Th17 cells involves initial priming by TGF- β and IL-6, expansion by IL-21, and stabilisation by IL-23 [165]. Mucosal and epithelial tissues are enriched with Th17 cells. Increased expression of chemokine receptors such as CCR4 and CCR6 assists in the recruitment of Th17 cells to mucosal inflammatory areas such as the intestines, lungs, and skin. In order to eliminate extracellular infections, Th17 cytokines recruit and activate neutrophils which internalise and destroy bacteria and fungi by phagocytosis. Th17 cells also stimulate immune and non-immune cells to release matrix metallopeptidases, nitric oxide, mediators, and proteins that contribute to immunity against these pathogens [165-168].

Th17 cells are also implicated in the pathogenesis of several chronic inflammatory disorders, such as rheumatoid arthritis, inflammatory bowel disease, psoriasis [169, 170], Graves' disease [171], ankylosing spondylitis [172], ANCA vasculitis [173], and Crohn's disease [174]. In addition to these disorders, several neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders, including schizophrenia [175] and multiple sclerosis [176] have been associated with Th17 pathogenesis. In numerous inflammatory and autoimmune conditions, targeting Th17 cells or their effector mediators promises to treat these conditions. Targeting IL-12p40 is inhibiting Th1 responses. Antibodies specific for IL-17A/F, anti-IL-17RA, and RORγt inhibitors are being employed to treat various inflammatory conditions [177].

1.3.2.4 T-Regulatory Cells

Regulatory T cells (Tregs) are unique subsets of effector CD4 characterized by their ability to control the immune system, and they are crucial in the maintenance of immunological homeostasis [178-180]. The thymic-derived Treg (tTreg) cells are generated from the thymus during negative selection [181] and inducible Treg cells originate from the peripheral circulation [182, 183]. tTreg cells maintain immunological tolerance by regulating self-reactive effector T cells that have eluded thymic selection. Differentiation and maintenance of Treg cells is controlled by the master transcription factor Foxp3 [184].

23

There are several non-specific surface markers for Treg cells such as CD25 (IL-2 α chain receptor) and CD127 (IL-7 α -chain receptor). However, *FOXP3* is the "universal standard" for detecting a Treg cell [185]. According to studies in murine and human, lethal autoimmunity is mediated by genetic mutations in FOXP3 [186, 187].

In autoimmune diseases and graft-versus-host disease or graft rejection. Tregs hold a therapeutic promise because of their immune response regulation. Efficacy has been proven in several proof-of-principle pre-clinical investigations, which have been published [188-190]. The safety and tolerability of these drugs have been proven in various phase I/II studies [191] and a large number of clinical trials are now underway.

1.3.2.5 Follicular helper T (Tfh) cells

Tfh are a unique subtype of CD4⁺ T cells found in the germinal centres of secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs), which include the tonsil, spleen, and lymph nodes, among other places. Germinal centres (GCs) are the structural and functional lymphoid units within B cell follicles in SLOs and are composed of T and B cell zones. Tfh cells are unique in that they are concentrated in the B cell zone and interact with B cells. In addition to SLOs, Tfh can also be detected in the bloodstream and circulation [192].

Tfh cells play a critical function in the development of germinal centres in the body. They promote the establishment of long-lasting serological memory where B cells go through affinity maturation and class-switch recombination to generate high-affinity antibodies [9, 193-195]. This is mediated in part by interaction of the co-stimulatory molecule CD40 with the CD40-ligand (CD40-L) on the B cell and by the production of IL-21 which leads to B cells proliferation.

The formation of Tfh cells occurs in the T cell zone of SLOs [9, 193, 194]. The interaction of naive CD4⁺ T cells with antigen-presenting dendritic cells (DCs) within T

cell follicles is the very first step of the process leading to Tfh cell development [196]. This stage of Th cell formation, known as pre-Tfh, is characterised by upregulation of CXC chemokine receptor 5 (CXCR5) expression as well as B-cell lymphoma 6 protein (Bcl-6), Achaete-scute homolog 2 (Ascl2), the inducible T cell co-stimulator (ICOS), programmed cell death-1 (PD-1), and Batf, and downregulation of CCR7. These modifications direct the pre-Tfh cells to the T/B cell border, where signals received from B cells cause a further rise in the Tfh-associated gene expression (Bcl6, PD-1, ICOS, and CXCR5), commitment to the functional GC Tfh cell programme, and subsequent GC development. Tfh formation is dependent on TGF- β , IL-12, IL-23, and activin A signalling in humans, whereas in mice, IL-6, IL-21, and Bcl6 signalling are required for the formation of Tfh cells [197-201].

1.3.3 B cells

B cells play a critical function in humoral immunity by producing antibodies. They can directly identify antigens via their cell-surface antigen receptors. They express MHC class II molecules enabling them to activate CD4⁺ Tfh cells which reciprocally promote B cell maturation into plasma cells, antibody isotype class switching and antibody release . B cells are generated from lymphoid progenitor cells in the bone marrow, where they undergo differentiation into mature lymphocytes. They subsequently move to the spleen and secondary lymphoid organs, where they develop and differentiate into distinct cell types [202]. Naive B cells, germinal centre (GC) B cells, memory B (BM) cells, and antibody-secreting cells (ASC) make up the human mature B compartment [203] All human B cell subsets seen in lymphoid organs, except GC cells, can also be found in the peripheral circulation.

Activation of naive B cells is dependent on antigen identification by the Ig receptor and the presence of additional signals, which can originate from a CD4⁺ T cell (thymusdependent) or, in certain situations, directly from microbial components (thymusindependent). In order for B cells to respond, both B cells and T cells must recognize the same antigen. B cells detect and internalise protein antigens that enter the lymph nodes via the lymphatic system. They do this by presenting Tfh cells with antigenic peptides bound to MHC class II proteins. As mentioned above, Tfh cells are distinguished by the expression of the Bcl-6 transcription factor, CD40 ligand, ICOS, the chemokine receptors CXCR4 and CXCR5, the inhibitory receptor PD-1 and the signalling lymphocytic activation molecule-associated protein (SAP) [204, 205]. The Tfh cells then provide signals that reciprocally induce B cell differentiation into memory cells and antibody secreting plasma cells.

Antibodies provide protection against invading pathogens and are the foundation of successful immune responses [206]. One of the hallmarks of humoral immunity is the progressive increase in the affinity of antibodies for antigen over time, a process that occurs in germinal centres (GCs) within B cell follicles of secondary lymphoid organs [207, 208]. As a result of pathogenic infection, B cells mature in the GCs into memory B cells and long-lived plasma cells (LLPCs). LLPCs produce long-lived, high affinity antibodies. Memory B cells rapidly mature into plasmablasts, which produce protective antibodies, but do not undergo affinity maturation and are short-lived [9]. Within the GC, B cells undergo proliferation and somatic hypermutation of Ig genes, followed by a process in which the "fittest" B cells, those best able to capture antigen via surface Ig and present it on MHC class II molecules, are selected by Tfh cells The strength of interaction between Tfh cells and GC B cells, which is proportional to the amount of antigen presented by GC B cells, determines the cell cycle speed and number of divisions of GC B cell clones [209-211].

In both humans and mice, B cells are divided into three main categories. B-1 cells, B-2 cells, and regulatory B cells. Their classification is based on ontogeny and anatomical localisation. B1 B cells stem from B1 progenitors present in the foetal liver and continue as a self-renewing population even after the neonatal period. B-1 B cells are mainly localized in the intraperitoneal cavity, and some are present in the spleen. B-1 B cells, which include B-1a and B-1b cells, have a role in the innate immunity by secreting natural antibody, which can bind to self-antigens with low specificity, without the need for T cells help [212-214].

Natural antibodies (NAb) are low-affinity immunoglobulins that identify both external and self-antigens [215, 216]. Most NAbs are IgM and IgG antibodies, but IgA NAbs have also been described. [217]. NAb play a role in inducing apoptosis [218], activating complement [219, 220], opsonizing antigen [221], enhancing antigenicity [222], directing antigen to lymph nodes [223], and participating in FcR-mediated phagocytosis [220]. They also support dendritic cell growth and maturation by acting as general neutralizing mediators [218] and endogenous adjuvants for CD8⁺ T-cell responses [224].

B-2 cells systemically circulate through the bloodstream, and some reside in follicles of the spleen. Follicular (FO) B cells and marginal zone (MZ) B cells of lymph node both fall under the B2 classification [214]. There is a major contribution of B-2 cells to adaptive immunity by secreting antigen-specific antibodies. Upon stimulation by T cells, they differentiate into plasma cells; in order to produce high specific antibodies. A subset of plasma cells differentiates into memory B cells to react with rapid immune responses. A large body of evidence, has documented that B-2 cells are implicated in the pathophysiology of autoimmune conditions by secreting autoantibodies [225].

Regulatory B cells have immunosuppressive activity by secreting IL-10, IL-35, and transforming growth factor (TGF)- β . While regulatory B cells numbers are low, they have

powerful immunosuppressive activity. Regulatory B cells are present in the spleen, lymph nodes, and blood [226]. Recent studies demonstrate that regulatory B cells are implicated in the pathophysiology of autoimmune diseases.

1.3.4 B cells and T cells in neuroinflammation

Lymphocytes have an essential role in the support of CNS homeostasis. A growing body of evidence has implicated lymphocytes in various neuro-physiological functions. T cells and B cells are found in the meningeal space and choroid plexus of mice and humans, [227, 228]. Recombination-activating gene (RAG)-deficient mice, which lack T and B lymphocytes, have poor social recognition and memory [229]. IFN-γ-producing T cells control neuronal communication as well as behavioural patterns [230]. Using IL-4deficient mice and bone marrow transplantation, researchers have shown that cognitive tasks expand the number of T cells in the meningeal space and that IL-4-producing T cells control learning and memory [231]. Adult neurogenesis is impaired in nude mice, which lack T cells but have normal B cell numbers [232].

According to these studies, T cells in the meningeal space and choroid plexus are thought to be responsible for social and cognitive activities. However, it is unknown if the brain dysfunctions caused by T-cell deficiency are developmental in nature. T cells are implicated in many CNS pathologies due to their roles in controlling innate and adaptive immune responses [233]. The peripheral lymphocytic response plays a significant role in facilitating post-ischemic injury [234] and can aggravate brain damage [235, 236]. Neonates and infants with NE caused by acute ischaemic insults are 25 times more likely to have higher lymphocyte counts in blood in the first 12 hours of life, than aged-matched controls, regardless of the type of intrapartum asphyxia, [237, 238]. The fact that adult lymphocyte-deficient mice are preserved from ischaemic damage adds to

the evidence that T cells play a significant role in ischaemic brain injury [239]. Stroke studies in chimeric mice have shown that brain injury is attributable to T cells rather than B cells. CD4⁺ IL-17⁺ Th17 cells enter the damaged brain in inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic newborn brain damage and enhance neuroinflammation through microglia activation [240]. Interestingly, the blocker of the sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P) receptor, fingolimod (FTY720), which sequesters lymphocytes in lymph nodes, preventing them from contributing to autoimmune reactions, suppressed Th17 cell infiltration and motor impairments in the brain. $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes, according to another study, have a role in brain injury in preterm infants caused by hypoxia ischemia [241]. Hypoxic-ischemic brain injury does not cause white matter injury or neuronal death in TCR-deficient mice. In the white matter layer, $\gamma\delta$ T cells were present in human preterm newborns with periventricular leuomalacia and neonatal mice with HIE [241].

Several lines of evidence indicate how crucial lymphocytes are in the progression of secondary brain damage [242, 243]. There was a significant neuroprotective effect of spleen removal in newborn rats before HI [244], suggesting that lymphocytes from the spleen can promote the progression of brain damage. Furthermore, previous research by the same group using splenic irradiation to kill splenic cells without splenectomy reported substantial advantages in minimizing the brain's immune cell infiltration after cerebral ischemia [245].

The roles of the various sub-groups of lymphocytes has not yet been clarified. Recent work by Nazmi and his co-workers using RAG1^{-/-} mice, which are deficient in B cells and T cells, revealed a significant decrease in HI brain injury compared to control wildtype mice [246]. However, the relative contributions of T or B cells to the development of brain lesions was uncertain. Albertsson and co-workers, by targeting gamma delta ($\gamma\delta$) T lymphocytes demonstrated that the depletion of these innate T lymphocytes provided neuroprotection in mice on the fourth day after birth [241]. Yilmaz and co-workers, confirmed the above findings and reported that RAG1^{-/-} mice, had significantly less severe cerebral infarction and neurologic sequalae compared to WT mice when they were subjected to middle cerebral artery occlusion. After cerebral ischemia, Yilmaz et al. discovered that RAG1-deficient animals had a significantly smaller infarct size and a better neurological prognosis than wild type (WT) mice [236, 247].

Several studies support the hypothesis, that T lymphocytes play a pivotal role in maintaining the chronic immuno-inflammatory activation after perinatal HI. Some studies suggest, that an adequate adaptive immune response is initiated after 7 days in mouse models, while others show a very early T cell response, however, all studies were able to show the presence and the activation of T lymphocytes in damaged areas for at least a month after the initial injury [248, 249]. Effector T cells were able to exert neurotoxicity via several mechanisms such as the production of perforin and granzyme B, the release of free radicals, the triggering of apoptotic pathways within neurons, and most importantly, the production of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines [250, 251].

1.3.5 NK cells

NK cells are a distinct lineage of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), lacking CD3, but expressing CD56 and NKp46 and mediate innate immunity against viruses and tumours. Although, both NK cells and type 1 ILCs are IFN- γ and TNF producers, NK cells are distinguished from ILCs by having a cytolytic role. NK cells lack antigen-specific receptors. Their activities are controlled by signals through a variety of stimulatory, costimulatory and inhibitory receptors. Once activated NK cells kill target cells by perforin and granzyme-mediated or death receptor-induced apoptosis [118]. Activating receptors include NKG2D, CD94-NKG2C heterodimers and natural cytotoxicity receptors, whereas inhibitory receptors include killer immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) and CD94-NKG2A heterodimers. NK cells also express a number of costimulatory receptors [252, 253].

NK cells are rigorously controlled and hypo-responsive to target cells during pregnancy to protect the foetus during antenatal development [254-256]. NK cell numbers and cytolytic activities increase throughout gestation. At birth, neonatal NK cells are present in high numbers but display lower cytotoxic activity compared to those in the initial stages of pregnancy. Following the neonatal period there is a decrease in circulating NK cell frequencies up to 5 years of age [252, 255]. However, they possess a lower level of activation than term infants which make the infant vulnerable to viral infection.

Decidual NK (dNK) cells are a distinct subpopulation of NK cells, that are tissueresident at the maternal-foetal placental side during early gestation. They constitute about 70–90% of the immune cells in the uterus and are the most frequent maternal leukocyte population during the first 3 months of gestation in humans [257, 258]. dNK cells are thought to have multiple roles in human pregnancy [258, 259]. They have a strong relationship with trophoblast cells and release cytokines that stimulate trophoblast growth while also mediating trophoblast differentiation, invasion, and spiral artery remodelling [259, 260]. dNK cells are also involved in maintaining angiogenic balance by secreting VEGF and placental growth factor (PIGF) and maintaining maternal-foetal tolerance throughout pregnancy [261-263].

1.3.6 γδ T cells

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells are T cells characterised by the expression of a heterodimeric TCR composed of γ and δ chains and are primarily activated in an MHC-independent manner [264, 265]. The $\gamma\delta$ TCR can recognise and respond to various compounds, including non-peptide metabolites of isoprenoid biosynthesis, lipids, stress molecules (MICA and MICB), heatshock proteins, and others [266].

Based on the arrangement of TCR δ genes, human $\gamma\delta$ T cells are classified into three predominant populations based on their $\gamma\delta$ TCRs chain usage. V δ 1 and V δ 2 are the most abundant subsets, while lower numbers of V δ 3, V δ 4, V δ 5 and V δ 6 T cells have been described [267, 268]. Both V δ 1 and V δ 2 subsets have been studied extensively in humans, whereas research is still lacking on the other subsets, despite their presence in the peripheral circulation.

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells develop in the thymus during gestation. [269-272]. The V γ 9 and V δ 2 V gene segments can be detected in foetal liver between 5th and 6th weeks of gestation, and in the foetal thymus after eight weeks [273]. The V γ 9V δ 2⁺ lymphocytes are among the first T-cells to develop in the human foetus and are the predominant peripheral blood $\gamma\delta$ T-cell population in most adults [274]. At term, around 40-week gestation, there is a significant expansion of V δ 1 T cells, which represent the majority of $\gamma\delta$ cells in cord blood. At the same time, the V γ 9⁺V δ 2⁺ and V δ 3 T cells comprise a minor proportion of total $\gamma\delta$ T cells in cord blood [275].

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells, account for 1-10% of mature circulating CD3⁺ cells in healthy human adults, and are often abundant as resident cells within solid organs and mucosal tissues, [276, 277]. $\gamma\delta$ T cells are rich at mucosal sites such as the skin, gut, lung, and reproductive genital tract. The $\gamma\delta$ TCRs in the human colonic mucosa make up approximately 20% of intraepithelial lymphocytes [278]. In contrast to $\alpha\beta$ T cells, more than 70% of $\gamma\delta$ T cells are double-negative for CD4 and CD8, with a third of them expressing CD8, but CD4⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cells comprise less than 1% [279].

32

V δ 1 T cells make up approximately 10% of total $\gamma\delta$ T cells in adults. They sustain epithelial tissue integrity by expressing rearranged receptors that are selected in the thymus. They function in part by recognizing the stress-inducible ligands MICA and MICB expressed by virus-infected and transformed cells, as well as self-glycolipids presented by CD1c/d molecules [280].

In humans, most V δ 2 T cells co-express the V γ 9 chain, forming V γ 9V δ 2 heterodimers [281]. This TCR chain combination can either be configured before birth or by antigen presentation [282] and accounts for 50-95% of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in peripheral blood [283, 284]. The V γ 9V δ 2 TCR recognises non-peptide antigens associated with the MHC-like antigen presenting molecule butrophilin 3A1. These antigens include (*E*)-4-Hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl pyrophosphate (HMB-PP), an intermediate of the non-mevalonate pathway of isoprenoid biosynthesis, generated by some bacteria and protists [285], but not expressed in human cells. V δ 2 T cells expand to up to 50% of all peripheral T cells, in some infectious states [286]. Upon activation, they rapidly kill target cells and secrete cytokines, including IFN- γ , TNF- α , GM-CSF, IL-4, IL-10, and IL-17, thereby providing early signals that activate and polarise innate and adaptive immune responses of other cells. Furthermore, they have a crucial role in bridging innate and adaptive immunity by accelerating differentiation of several subgroups of antigen-presenting cells (APCs) [287].

V δ 3 T cells, the third most abundant T cell type, make up about ~0.6 per cent of peripheral blood $\gamma\delta$ T lymphocytes and can also be identified in the liver and gut [288, 289]. Activation of V δ 3 T cells has been shown to occur through cognate engagements with MHC-class I as well as CD1d [264], an MHC-like protein effective at presenting lipid moieties, despite the fact that no specific antigens have been identified as ligands for the V δ 3 TCR. In renal and stem cell transplant recipients with CMV reactivation

[290], as well as those with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia [291], the frequency of V δ 3 T cells is frequently increased in the peripheral circulation. V δ 3 T cells, like V δ 2 T cells, may act as a link between the innate and adaptive branches of immunity by modulating B cell and dendritic cell (DC) function [292, 293].

1.3.7 γδ T cells in NE

 $\gamma\delta$ T cells are the most common innate T cell which has been examined in NE. Albertsson and his co-workers found higher numbers of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the brains of animal models of ischemia and in the post-mortem preterm infants brain with periventricular leukomalacia [294]. $\gamma\delta$ T cells are found in mouse brains as early as six hours and up to 1 week after HI [295]. Despite higher mRNA expression levels of IL-17 and IL-22 in a mouse model of preterm brain damage, the production of these cytokines by $\gamma\delta$ T cells did not appear to contribute to brain injury. Furthermore, there were no neuroprotective effects of reducing IL-17 or IL-22 levels in these mice models, suggesting that these cells do not play a role in the brain damage that leads to premature brain injury [294].

IL-17 is implicated in the inflammatory process following ischemic brain injury. Shichita et al. reported that IL-17-producing $\gamma\delta$ T cells play a critical role in the delayed phase of brain damage after ischemia. They are the primary producers of IL-17, rather than Th17 cells [296]. Higher serum concentrations of IL-17 are found in stroke patients than in healthy subjects. IL-23 is an essential regulator of IL-17 production by $\gamma\delta$ T cells. Following stroke, macrophages or monocytes secrete IL-23 during the delayed phase of encephalopathic ischemia. IL-23-deficient mice showed a reduction in the infarction volume at 24 hours following HI, whereas, IL-17 depletion led to a decrease in infarction size by the 4th day [297]. Targeting $\gamma\delta$ T cells might be a novel therapeutic potential in neonatal brain injury, because they have shown promising results in the immunotherapy of other inflammatory diseases and cancer.

1.3.8 MAIT cells

Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells are a unique subset of innate-like unconventional T cell. They express the semi-invariant TCR α -chain V α 7.2, which recognises the MHC-related molecule 1 (MR1), presenting transitory intermediates of the riboflavin synthesis pathway [298, 299]. MR1 is a non-polymorphic MHC class 1-like protein which regulates the development and function of MAIT cells. In humans, MAIT cells comprise 1-10% of peripheral T cells [112, 114-116, 300]. MAIT cells primarily reside at mucosal tissues, and they make up to 40% of T cells in liver, and up to 10% of T cells in the lamina propria of the intestine and the respiratory and digestive systems [114, 299, 301-303].

MAIT cells respond faster than conventional T cells. They can be activated either via TCR recognition of MR-1 presenting antigen or in the absence of antigen recognition through a host of innate inflammatory and antiviral cytokines such as interleukin-12 (IL-12), IL-18 and IL-15 and interferon (IFN) α/β produced in response to infections [304, 305]. Thus, MAIT cells play crucial roles in the initiation of immune responses. Interestingly, MR1 is the most conserved antigen-presentation molecule, showing up to 80% amino acid sequence homology of the antigen-binding, $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$, domains in mammals, implying MAIT cells play an essential physiological role in the immune response [114, 306, 307]. Their TCR α chain is invariant and composed of V α 7.2-J α 33 and V α 19-J α 33 in humans and mice respectively, which combine with the TCR β chain [298, 305].

5-amino-6-D-ribitylaminouracil (5-A-RU) is a metabolite in the riboflavin synthesis pathway which binds non-enzymatically with endogenous compounds such as methylglyoxal to produce a profoundly unstable adduct known as 5-(2-oxopropylideneamino)-6-d-ribitylaminouracil (5-OP-RU) or 5-(2-oxoethylideneamino)-

6-d-ribitylaminouracil (5-OE-RU) [304, 308]. 5-OP-RU and 5-OE-RU can be captured by a lysine residue on MR1 resulting in formation of a second Schiff base, covalently attaching the molecule to the MR1 protein. These complexes act as antigens which potently activate MAIT cells through the TCR [304]. The riboflavin synthesis pathway is mainly present in bacteria and fungi and is absent in humans, making it an essential indicator of pathogen invasion to the host immune system [116, 299, 304, 308]. Following MR1-mediated activation, MAIT cells rapidly produce an array of cytokines conforming with a T helper 1 (Th1) type, Th17-type or mixed profile including IFN- γ , TNFs, IL-17 and IL-22 which sequentially promote cytolysis of the infectious agent [301, 304]. MAIT cells also produce granzymes such as granzyme A (GzmA), granzyme K (GzmK) and granzyme B (GzmB) and perforin enlisting them with the ability to lyse infected cells via granular exocytosis [299]. Microbes that make use of the riboflavin synthesis pathway are capable of activating MAIT cells. Some of these include *Escherichia coli*, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis and Staphylococcus aureus* [309, 310].

1.3.9 MAIT cells in NE

The role of MAIT cells in neonatal brain injury has not yet been elucidated. A study done by Ben Youssef *and* his co-workers found that in neonates, the frequencies of MAIT cells are 30 times lower than in adults, and this population expands thoughout childhood and peaks in adolescence. However, Chen *et al.* reported that MAIT cells from children are capable of producing more IFN- γ than MAIT cells from young adults (20-40 years old), whereas TNF- α and granzyme B production levels are similar [311, 312].

Despite the large numbers of MAIT cells in human circulation and tissues, there remains a paucity of evidence on their roles in the pathogenesis of CNS disease especially brain injury. In multiple sclerosis (MS) patients, CD8⁺ MAIT cells are recruited to the CNS [313], leading to reduced CD8⁺ MAIT-cell frequencies in the blood. Therefore,

CD8⁺ MAIT cells seem to play a role in the innate arm of immunopathology in MS. However, MAIT cell functions were found to be impaired in patients with MS, with reduced IFN- γ and TNF- α production [314]. Mexhitaj and his group used MR1-tetramers to detect MAIT cells in blood of children with MS. They reported an abnormal increase in circulating MAIT frequencies, with a greater tendency of these MAIT cells to release IL-17 and IFN- γ compared to MAIT cells of both children with (monophasic) acquired demyelinating syndrome and healthy controls [315]. Circulating MAIT cells are reduced in patients with alcoholic or non-alcoholic fatty liver disease-related cirrhosis while they accumulate in liver fibrotic septa [316]. More studies are required to understand the role of MAIT cells, if any, in the brain.

1.3.10 NKT cells

NKT cells are a heterogeneous group of innate-like T cells whose TCRs recognise glycolipid antigens presented by CD1d [317, 318]. They are characterized by the expression of TCRs and NK cell receptors, such as CD161 in humans and NK1.1 in mice [319] and contribute to the activation and regulation of other immune cells and have roles in tumour immunity, autoimmunity and infectious diseases [320]. Based on TCR expression, NKT cells are categorized into two types. Invariant NKT (iNKT) cells, also known as type I NKT cells, express a semi-invariant TCR α -chain (V α 24J α 18 in humans and V α 14J α 18 in mice), while, type II NKT cells have more variable TCR- α and - β chain repertoires [321, 322]. Only 0.1% of human peripheral blood T cells are iNKT cells [323]. iNKT cells recognise a number of autologous and microbial glycolipids, but α galactosylceramide (α -GalCer) is the most widely studied antigen recognised by iNKT cells. α -GalCer is not found in mammalian systems but is found in marine sponges [114]. Upon activation by α -GalCer, iNKT cells respond rapidly by killing tumour cells and producing Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg cytokines. iNKT cells initiate the immune response by regulating other immune cells such as DCs, T cells and B cells [320] by contactdependent mechanisms and by the rapid secretion of a diverse array of Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg cytokines [319].

Type II NKT cells thought to be more prevalent than iNKT cells in humans. They recognize lipid antigens presented by CD1d, but this subset of NKT cells does not recognize α -GalCer. Instead, they can recognize the mammalian glycolipids sulfatides and lysophosphatidylcholine [324]. Both types of NKT cells can secrete a range of cytokines that modulate NK, T and B cell responses [324]. Glycosphingolipids are abundant in brain. An understanding of the role of NKT cells in brain injury is required [325].

Evidence from previous research suggests that NKT cells have several roles in CNS disorders including neurodegenerative diseases: MS, Alzheimer's disease (AD), Parkinson's disease (PD), Huntington's disease (HD), and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) and CNS viral infection, and in ischemic stroke [326]. In MS, NKT cell frequencies and cytokine profiles vary between the various stages of the disease. For example, in relapsing-remitting patients, IL-4 production was found to be higher than in the progressive stages of MS and control subjects. However, NKT cells express proinflammatory cytokines in secondary progressive MS patients [327, 328]. Finkelstein et al. and his coworkers reported that in an ALS mouse model, an analogue of α -GalCer prevented death of motor neurons and induced T cell recruitment to the spinal cord the life span of the animals [329].

Little about the role of NKT cells in NE. A study done in mice after HI insults found that there was a steady recruitment of iNKT cells to the ischemic brain parenchma suggesting that they play a role. iNKT cell recruitment appears as early as 48 h postinfarction but only after major injury to the blood brain barrier. TNF- α and IFN- γ concentrations produced by iNKT cells gradually increased and peaked at 48 h after persistent cerebral ischemia. In addition, an elevation of TNF- α and IFN- γ protein expression in the infarction region were detected by immunohistochemical analyses [330].

In a study of renal injury after ischaemia-reperfusion injury (IRI), Yang and coworkers [331] found that sulfatide-induced activation of type II NKT cells protected the kidneys from IRI, by mechanisms that involved hypoxia-inducible factor (HIF)-1α and IL-10 [331]. These findings suggest that type 2 NKT cells may be targeted to treat ischaemic injury. Another study done by Wong et al. [332] found a strong link between stroke severity, peripheral iNKT cell activation, IL-10 production, and immunosuppression in stroke patients. They showed that stroke patients had increased CD69 expression by circulating iNKT cells compared to healthy and hospital controls. Indeed, in patients with stroke, iNKT cell activation was positively connected with IL-10 production, and peripheral IL-10 levels were closely correlated with poor outcome. These findings suggest that iNKT cells trigger an immunosuppressive response by releasing IL-10, making the patient more susceptible to infection [333]. This suggests that the manipulation of NKT cells could have treatment potential in NE, however, further investigation of these cells should be carried out in patients with NE.

As motioned above, innate T cells play important role in the activation and polarization of adaptive immune responses and are likely to influence the susceptibility and outcome of NE. In particular, innate T cells can control conventional T cells activation via effects on antigen presentation by DCs and others APCs. Furthermore, iNKT cells and some $\gamma\delta$ T cells can promote antibody production by B cells. At the outset of this project, it was not known if MAIT cells could similarly influence antibody responses. A possible role of MAIT cells in B cell maturation, cytokine production, antigen presentation, antibody isotype switching, and antibody release could have important influence on the development and outcomes of NE.

1.4 Hypothesis and aims

1.4.1 Hypothesis

Although most studies to date on the immunology of NE in humans have focussed on the possible role of neutrophils in the responses to cerebral ischemia, there is evidence that lymphocytes also accumulate in the postischemic brain within the first 24 hours after reperfusion. However, the contribution of specific lymphocyte subpopulations and their products to the pathogenesis of neonatal encephalopathy has not been systematically addressed. We hypothesise that lymphocytes control the inflammatory responses that contribute to NE and that immunological interventions which target these cells will serve as adjunct therapies to TH. We also hypothesize that inflammatory response in NE may involve crosstalk between adaptive and innate lymphocytes. Crosstalk between B cells and either iNKT cells or $\gamma\delta$ T cells promotes B cell differentiation and antibody responses, but at the outset of this project, it was not known if MAIT cells can similarly contribute to B cell functions.

1.4.2 Aims

The overall aim of the present research was to perform an in-depth phenotypic and functional characterization of the circulating lymphoid cell compartment and serum cytokine profiles from healthy donors grouped according to age, from pregnancy to adulthood and to compare these to those in in neonates with NE, school-age children post-NE, and children with cerebral palsy. A second aim was to investigate if one innate T cell population, MAIT cells, can influence the function of B cells. The specific objectives are as follows:

1. To compare circulating innate and conventional lymphocyte numbers and phenotypes and cytokine levels in cord blood and in blood from healthy neonates, school-age children and young and older adults.

2. To enumerate and phenotypically characterize circulating innate and conventional lymphocyte numbers, phenotypes and functions and serum cytokine levels in neonates with NE, school-age children post NE, school-age children with CP and in age-matched healthy control subjects.

3. To investigate functional interactions between MAIT cells and B cells from healthy donors.

CHAPTER 2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Groups

The study focused on infants and children with neonatal encephalopathy and children with cerebral palsy. Additionally, we investigated the following control groups: healthy term infants, school age-children, adults and elderly subjects. Blood samples were also obtained from consenting adults and from used buffy coat packs obtained from the Irish Blood Transfusion Service. Standard operating techniques were practiced using healthy adult donations of blood to ensure optimisation of experiments prior to their use on neonatal blood.

To identify the innate and adaptive immune cells across the human life span, we recruited five human cohorts: Cord blood CB (n = 10, through the Coombe Women and Infants University Hospital, Dublin), neonates (n = 17, through the Coombe Women and Infants University Hospital, Dublin), school-age children (n = 23; aged 1–16; median age = 7; through Tallaght Children's Hospital; Dublin), young adults (n = 25; age range 23–45, median age 30 through The Trinity Translation Medicine Institute, Dublin), and older people (age range 71-92; median 78 they were recruited from St. James's hospital. All donors were healthy and had non-complicated term births.

2.1.1 Newborn infants with NE

Newborns with NE were recruited from the Coombe Women and Infants University Hospital, the National Maternity Hospital, Holles Street Hospital, the National Children's, Hospital Tallaght and the Rotunda Hospital. The inclusion criteria of Huang et al for the diagnosis of NE were applied [334]. These criteria require the presence of unusual neurological symptoms in the immediate postnatal period, such as hypotonia or seizures, or the presence of other organ problems (kidneys, liver, lung, heart, haematological) as well as at least two of the three requirements listed below: (i) evidence or suspicion of hypoxic-ischaemic injury based on a history of foetal distress, i.e. abnormal basal heart rate within 10 minutes window as measured by cardiotocography (CTG), loss of beat-to-beat variability on the cardiotocograph, and/or abnormal scalp pH; (ii) need for resuscitation after birth, i.e. bag and mask ventilation; and (iii) base deficit >15 mmol/l or pH <7.2 in cord blood or in a peripheral arterial sample. Infants with serious congenital defects and mothers who use illicit drugs are among those who are excluded from participating. Table 4.1 in chapter 4 of this thesis, shows demographic data for neonatal NE & school-age children with NE, who were included in this study.

2.1.2 School-age children with NE and CP

Ten school-age children with a history of NE, all of whom were clinically stable, were studied. Additionally, 10 children with CP were recruited from Tallaght Hospital. Apgar scores of the CP patients and school-aged healthy children were not available. All control subjects had no significant medical history and there was no recent history of fever or infection at the time of blood sampling. Table 4.2 in chapter 4 of this thesis, shows demographic data for school-age children with NE, who were included in this study.

2.2 Control subjects

2.2.1 Healthy term Neonates

Blood samples from 17 normal term infant healthy controls were taken following normal spontaneous vaginal delivery. All infants had an uncomplicated postnatal course after birth with normal neurological examination at birth and normal Apgar scores, used to summarize the health of newborn children against infant mortality.

2.2.2 Cord Blood Samples

Umbilical cord blood samples from 10 normal term infants were taken following normal spontaneous vaginal delivery, or after non-complicated Caesarean section. All infants had an uncomplicated postnatal course with Apgar scores of 9 at 5 minutes after birth.

2.2.3 Healthy school age children

The paediatric control group consisted of 23 children aged 15 years or less, admitted to the surgical day ward for minor elective surgical procedures. None of the children had significant medical conditions. Samples were taken in theatre during cannula insertion by the anaesthetic team. The age range of the school-age paediatric controls was 7-16 years (median = 10).

2.2.4 Healthy adults

25 healthy adult volunteers were recruited from consenting students and laboratory staff at Trinity Translational Medicine Institute. The age range of the donors was age range between 23–45, the median 30 [n = 25].

2.2.5 Healthy older adults

We studied 10 older adults subjects aged 7-92 years (median 83 years) who were recruited from St. James's Hospital. Their clinical states were stable at time of phlebotomy, with no signs of infection, and their white blood cell counts were within normal range. They were at the hospital because of fall and fracture, others for intracranial haemorrhage, gastritis, abdominal pain, depression and pneumonia, none of them on immunotherapy. Importantly, many of the older adults were not illness-free they have co-morbidities as it shown in table in chapter 3.

2.3 Ethical Approval

Approval to conduct this study was obtained from the Ethics Committees of four tertiary referral, university-affiliated children's and maternity hospitals in Dublin, Ireland the Coombe Women & Infants University Hospital; National Maternity Hospital;
Children's Health Ireland at Tallaght and the Rotunda Hospital - and from St. James's Hospital. All participants were informed of the nature of the study and informed written consent was obtained from the parents of all infants and children prior to recruitment.
Ethical approval for the use of adult and elderly controls was obtained from the Research Ethics Committee of Trinity College Dublin School of Medicine.

2.2 Materials

Equipment used in this investigation and their sources are listed in Table 2.1. General reagents are listed in Table 2.2. Consumable plasticware is listed in Table 2.3. Antibodies used for cell surface phenotypic analysis by flow cytometry are listed in Table 2.4. Antibodies used for intracellular phenotypic analysis by flow cytometry are listed in Table 2.4.

Equipment	Model	Company
Balance	Adventure Pro	Ohaus, NJ, USA
Blood packs	MSE 6500L	macopharma
Centrifuge	Eppendorf 5415	Eppendorf, Hamburg,
	D	Germany
Haemocytometer	Neubaur	Germany
slides.	improved	
CO2 incubator	180i	Thermo Fisher scientific,
		MA, USA
Flow cytometer	FACS Canto II	Becton Dickinson,
		Oxford
Laminar air flow class	Clean Air MSC	Thermo Fisher scientific,
	BSS6-2	MA, USA
Laminar air flow class	MSC 1 2	Thermo Electron LED
II safety cabinet	MSC 1.2	Gmbh, Germany
Magnet	LS Magnet	Miltenyi Biotech,
		Germany
		Miltenyi Biotech,
Magnet stand	MACS Multi	Bergisch Gladbach,
	stand	Germany
Magnet	The big Easy	Stemcell technologies,
	EasySep	France
Microscope	Inverted; NAO	Olympus Corporation,
	30	Japan
Multichannel pipette	Finn pipette F2	Thermo Fisher Scientific,
		MA, USA

Table 0-1 Equipment used in this investigation

PH meter	Benchtop PH20-	Hanna instruments, RI,
	01	USA
Pipettors p20, p100, p200,	Eppendorf	Thermo Fisher Scientific,
p1000	Research plus	MA, USA
Pipette filler	Motorised, Fisher	Thermo Fisher Scientific,
	brand	MA, USA
UV microscope	E200 Eclipse	Nikon, USA
Vortex	Vortex Genie	Scientific industries, NY,
		USA
Water Bath	YCW-010E	Germany Industries corp; Taiwan
Reagents	Company	Location
---------------------------	--------------	------------------
1M HEPES	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
100 mM sodium pyruvate	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
100x MEM non-essential	Gibco	Paisley IIK
amino acids (NEAA)	Invitrogen	Tubley, OK
	mvnrogen	
200 mM (100x) l-glutamine	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
30% bovine serum albumin	Sigma-Adrich	Poole, UK
4% paraformaldehyde	Santa Cruz	Santa Cruz, CA,
		USA
50 mM ß-mercaptoethanol	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
50x MEM amino acids	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
Rapamycin	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
Anti-CD14 microbeads	Miltenyi	Bergisch-
	Biotech	Gladbach,Germany
Brefeldin A	Sigma-Adrich	Poole, UK
Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)	Sigma-Adrich	Poole, UK
Ethidium bromide	Sigma-Adrich	Poole, UK

 Table 0-2 General reagents used in this investigation

Ethylenediaminetetraaceteic acid (EDTA)	Sigma-Adrich	Poole, UK
Hyclone fetal bovine serum	Thermo- scientific	Logan, UT, USA
Ionomycin	Sigma-Aldrich	Poole, UK
LIVE/DEAD Fixable Dead	Gibco	Paisley, UK
Cell Stain	Invitrogen	
Lymphoprep	Nycomed	Oslo, Norway
	Pharma AS	
Monensin	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
		USA
Penicillin-streptomycin	Gibco	Paisley, UK
	Invitrogen	
Phorbol-12-myristate-13	Sigma-Adrich	Poole, UK
acetate (PMA)		

Item	Source	Company
10 ml plastic pipettes		
5 ml plastic pipettes		
3.5 ml transfer piptettes	Sarstedt, Nümbrecht	, Germany
25ml plastic pipettes		
6 -well flat bottom tissue culture plates	Corning Life	MA, USA
	sciences	
Stavilin Stavila Craduated ninette (10	ThermoFisher	Waltham,
	Scientific	MA.USA.
·····		
Costar Stripette Sterile Graduated	Sigma- Aldrich	Poole, UK
96 -well flat bottom tissue culture	Corning life	MA, USA
plates	sciences	
96 -well round bottom tissue culture	Corning life	MA, USA
plates	sciences	
	Thermo-scientific	Roskilde,
	Nunc	Denmark
FACS tubes	BD Biosciences	Oxford, UK

 Table 0-3 Disposable plasticware used in this investigation

Specificity				
(mouse	Conjugate	Clone	Company	location
anti-				
human)				
CD3	APC-CY7	UCHT1	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
CD3	Pacific blue	HIT3a	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
CD4	PECY7/APC	OKT4	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
CD8	PerCP-CY5.5	SKI	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
CD8	APC Cy7	6B11	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
Vα24/Jα18	APC	6B11	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
CD19	APC/CY7	HIB19	Biolegend	San Diego, CA,
				USA
				Biotec GmbH,
CD19	PE Cy7	HIB19	Miltenyi Biotec	Bergisch
			Diotee	Germany
CD19	Allophycocyanin	HIB19		San Diego, CA,
	(APC)	ind i)	Biolegend	USA

Table 2-4 Antibodies used for cell surface phenotyping by flow cytometry

CD20	APC	2H7	Miltenyi	Biotec GmbH, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany.
CD69	FITC	FN50	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD56	PECY7	HCD56	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD161	PerCP-CY5.5	CHP3G10	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD161	FITC/APC	HP-3G10	Miltenyi	Biotec GmbH,Bergisch Gladbach, Germany.
Vα7.2	APC/PerCeP		Miltenyi	Biotec GmbH, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany.
Vα7.2	PE	B6	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD40	PE	HB-7	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
Vδ1	FITC	REA173	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
Vð2	PE/FITC/BV510	B6	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD38	PE-CY7	HB-7	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD86	FITC/APC	-	Immunotools	

HLA-DR	PerCP-CY5.5	L243	Biolegend	San Diego, CA, USA
CD3	No fluorochrome	OKT3	BD Biosciences	Oxford, UK
CD28	No fluorochrome		BD Biosciences	Oxford, UK
anti-Vα7.2 anti-CD19 anti-PE,	Anti-PE	Miltenyi , Biotec, Germany		
anti-CD3 anti-PE, anti-CD8				

Specificity	fluorochrome	Source
IFN-γ	APC	BD Bioscience
IFN-γ	PE	
IFN-γ	FITC	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
IFN-γ	PercP/Cy5.5	
TNF- α	PE Cy7	
IL-2	PE	BD Bioscience
IL-4	PE	
IL-10	FITC	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
IL-17	APC	
GzmB	Amcyan	BD Bioscience
IgD	PE	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
DCS	eFluor506	Invitrogen, ThermoFisher Scientific
anti-human Foxp3	PE	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
anti-human RORγt	PECy7	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
anti-human T-bet	FITC	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
anti-human GATA-3	APC	Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA
CBA assays Kit		BD Bioscience
MSD ELISA kits		MSD Diagnostics, USA

2.2.3 Preparation of Solutions and Media

2.2.3.1 Foetal calf serum (FCS).

Small quantities of 20 different batches of FCS were obtained from Hyclone and tested before bulk buying of two batches that optimally supported the growth and differentiation of dendritic cells and innate T cells in the laboratory. These were stored at -80°C for future use. Before use, the FCS was and heated at 56°C for 30 minutes in water bath to inactivate complement and filtered through a 0.2 μ m sterile nylon filter to remove large particles of proteins and fibrin aggregates.

2.2.3.2 Complete RPMI (cRPMI).

cRPMI consisted of RPMI 1640 medium containing 50 μ M L-Glutamine, supplemented with 25 mM HEPES, 50 U/ml penicillin, 50 mg/ml streptomycin, 2 μ g/ml Fungizone and 10% FCS. cRPMI was stored at 4°C and warmed to 37°C before each use.

2.2.3.3 MAIT cell medium.

MAIT cell medium consisted of cRPMI, prepared as above, and supplemented with 50 μ M 2-mercaptoethanol, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 1% non-essential amino acids mixture and 1% essential amino acids mixture. MAIT cell medium was stored at 4°C and warmed to 37°C before each use.

2.2.3.4 Complete DMEM (cDMEM).

cDMEM consisted of DMEM medium containing high glucose and Glutamine supplemented with 10% FCS, 25 mM HEPES, 50 U/ml penicillin, 50 mg/ml streptomycin, and 2 μ g/ml Fungizone. cDMEM was stored at 4°C and warmed to 37°C warmed before use.

2.2.3.5 Miltenyi Buffer.

Miltenyi buffer (500 ml) was used for magnetic bead sorting of cells and was made up fresh for every use. Miltenyi buffer consisted of PBS containing 0.5% bovine serum

albumin and 2 mM EDTA. It was prepared by adding, 8.3 ml of 30% BSA and 2 ml of 500 mM EDTA to 500 ml PBS buffer. BSA was previously made by dissolving 30 g BSA powder in 100 ml PBS and filtering it through a 0.2 μ m filter. Miltenyi buffer was stored at 4°C

2.2.3.6 Ethidium bromide / acridine orange (EB/AO) viability stain.

A stock solution of EB (3 mg/ml) and AO (5 mg/ml) in PBS was made. A working solution of EB/AO was made up by diluting each stock 1:100 in PBS. The working solution was stored at RT in the dark and used at 1:20 dilution for cell counting in haemocytometer.

2.2.3.7 PBA (PBS with BSA and azide) buffer.

PBA buffer was used for staining cells for flow cytometry. PBA buffer consists of PBS containing 1% bovine serum albumin and 0.02% sodium azide. 25.86 ml of 30% BSA and 1.035 ml of 10% sodium azide were added to 500 ml PBS and the solution was stored at 4°C.

2.2.3.8 Cell freezing Mixture.

Cells were cryopreserved in a mixture of 90% FCS and 10% dimethyl sulphoxide (DSMO).

2.2.3.9 Saponin solution.

0.1 g of saponin powder were dissolved in 50 ml PBA to give a concentration of 0.2% used to permeabilise cells.

2.3.1 Sterile Technique

Cell culture is the process by which cells are grown under controlled conditions and is an essential laboratory technique necessary for the maintenance of viable cells for later use in experiments. Sterile technique is a key factor in all cell culture procedures. All cell culture work was performed inside a biocontainment level 2 cell culture hood to prevent contamination, and the hood was thoroughly decontaminated prior to use. All materials were sterile before use and any materials that were not sterile either were autoclaved or filtered. 70% ethanol in distilled water (dH₂O) was used to wipe down all surfaces and materials before and after cell culture procedures. All cell cultures were incubated in a 5% CO₂ incubator set at 37°C. Liquid waste was decontaminated using suitable dose of Virkon, then discarded down in the sink.

2.3.2 Preparation of Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cells

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from blood of healthy subjects and from buffy coat packs provided by the Irish Blood Transfusion Service (St. James's Hospital, Dublin 8). PBMCs were prepared by density gradient centrifugation over Lymphoprep. 15 ml of Lymphoprep was added to a 50 ml Falcon tube. 35 ml of blood diluted 1:1 with PBS containing 1% FCS was carefully layered onto the Lymphoprep and centrifuged for 30 minutes at 400xg with the brake off (acceleration and deceleration set to zero). The buffy coat layer was then carefully harvested and washed twice with PBS and centrifuged for 10 minutes at 450xg to remove any remaining Lymphoprep. The final PBMC pellets were resuspended in complete RPMI 1640.

2.3.3 Enumeration of Cells

Cells were stained with EB/AO and enumerated by fluorescence microscopy using a haemocytometer slide. When viewed under ultraviolet light, live cells fluoresce green while dead cells appear orange. 10 μ l of the cell suspension was added to 190 μ l of EBAO solution (working solution prepared as described in section 2.2.3.6 and 10 μ l of this mixture placed into the well of a haemocytometer slide. Live cells were counted in two large squares (1 mm x 1 mm sections). Each of these squares accommodates 0.1 mm of liquid so the number of cells per 1 ml in the original suspension can be calculated.

2.3.4 Cryopreservation and Recovery of Cells

Cells were pelleted by centrifugation for 7 minutes at 450 xg with brake and acceleration at maximum. Fresh freezing mixture, consisting of 90% FCS and 10% dimethyl sulphoxide (DMSO) was made, cooled on ice, and the cell pellet was resuspended in 2 ml of freezing mixture. This cell mixture was rapidly transferred to labelled cryovials and placed in a Mr Frosty container in an -80°C freezer. For long-term storage, cells were then transferred to liquid nitrogen after 24 hours. Cells were recovered from cryopreservation by rapid thawing under running water. The vial was removed from the hot water before the contents completely thawed and transferred to a universal tube. Complete RPMI was added dropwise, while shaking the tube to mix continuously. This was then topped up with RPMI to 20 ml. Tubes were centrifuged for 7 minutes at 450 xg with brake and acceleration at maximum. Then supernatants were discarded and cells were resuspended in an appropriate amount of medium.

2.4 Flow Cytometry

2.4.1 Principles of Flow Cytometry

Flow cytometry is a widely used technique which allows for the analysis of many different parameters of single particles via fluorescent tagging. The name flow cytometry is derived from the words 'flow', 'cyto' and 'metry' which correspond to the fluidics, cells and measurements respectively. This technique had a wide variety of applications in the present project, including intracellular and surface staining with fluorochrome-labelled antibodies and other ligands, and CBA immunoglobulin assays. All standard flow cytometry was carried out on a Becton Dickinson FACS Canto II flow cytometer. Flow cytometric cell sorting was carried out on a Becton Dickinson FACSMelody flow cytometer.

Flow cytometry exploits a laser based, analytic technique which makes it possible to examine a variety of cell characteristics within a heterogeneous population such as whole blood. The flow cytometer can assess and detect a wide range of cells and particles ranging from 0.5-100 µm. The fluidic mechanism involves hydrodynamic focusing of cells into the middle of a stream, in single file, and passing them by multiple lasers, thousands of cells per second. As the cells pass by the lasers, they absorb the light and fluorescence is emitted from each cell. The way in which the cells scatter light in different directions can be exploited to obtain information about the physical shape of the cells. Large objects will scatter more light in the forward direction which is detected by the forward scatter (FSC) detector. Light scattered at 90° to the laser will be detected by the side scatter (SSC) detector. The more irregular, rough and granular a cell is, the more light it will scatter to the side. This measurement can be used to determine the granularity or internal complexity of the cell. Flow cytometry is useful for obtaining other information such as phenotype, viability of a cell and cell signaling patterns. These characteristics are determined using fluorochromes, such as fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC), allophycocyanin (APC) or phycoerythrin (PE) that are conjugated to antibodies specific for cell-surface or intracellular antigens. The fluorescence intensity is relative to the concentration of fluorochrome, which is determined by the relative abundance of the detected proteins. These data are read as the mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) value. The flow cytometer translates this optical information into graphical data for further interpretation and analysis.

The FACS Canto II works by operating three different systems. The fluidics system is responsible for sample acquisition, where the cells are pressurized into single file by way of hydrodynamic focusing through the injection tube, where laser light intercepts the cell. The optics system encompasses three lasers; blue, violet and red, as well as dichroic mirrors which reflects scatter light into filters, which further directs the light into the detectors. Lastly, the electronics system is comprised of detectors responsible for converting light signals into electrical signals. The FACSDiva software can transform these electrical signals into graphical data.

2.4.2 CS&T Beads

On a weekly basis BD Cytometer Setup and Tracking (CS&T) Research Beads were run after fluidics was started up in order to monitor and enhance the FACS Cantos II's performance. One drop of CS&T beads was diluted in 350 ml PBA and 'run' in the CST performance test. The CS&T beads enhance the cytometers set up as well as automatically characterize, track and report measurements of BD digital flow cytometers. CS&T beads also define a baseline for the fluorescence detectors and optical configuration.

2.4.3 Parameters

Parameters were set to ensure that the flow cytometer could distinguish between cells positive and negative for each fluorochrome. Fluorochromes which were not used in the experiment were unselected. The voltages for FSC area and SSC area were set to 350 and 450, respectively. In order to remove debris from the analyses, the threshold was set to 40,000.

2.4.4 Compensation

Fluorescence cross over can occur between two fluorochromes, that are both expressed on a single cell. This is a product of an overlap of emission spectra of fluorochromes which are detected by the same detector, which may result in a false positive 'spill over'. Compensation controls were run, made up of OneComp beads stained with a single fluorochrome, to allow the computer to calculate any spectra overlap and generate compensation.

2.4.5 Cell Surface Staining of Cells for Phenotypic Analysis

Phenotypic analysis of lymphocytes within whole blood from patients with NE and control subjects was carried out by flow cytometry within 24 hours of blood sample collection. 50 µl of whole blood were pipetted into flow cytometry tubes. Cells were stained for 15 minutes in dark at 4°C at room temperature with a live/dead cell stain (Flexible viability dye diluted 1/1000 with PBS). Cells were then washed with PBA buffer, pelleted by centrifugation and incubated with fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies (mAb) specific for, CD3, CD4, CD8, CD161, TCR-Va7.2, CD56, TCR-Vô1, TCR-Vô2, TCR-Vô3, CD19, CD69 and TCR-Va24/Ja18 in PBA buffer for 15 minutes at room temperature. A fluorochrome-conjugated antibody specific for glycophorin A was included in all tubes where cord blood or neonatal blood was being analysed, to stain immature red blood cells. This amounted to 3 flow cytometry tubes per subject and an unstained sample and fluorescence-minus-one (FMO) controls where required. 1 ml of FACS lysis buffer was then added to lyse red blood cells, then the cells were washed with PBA buffer. Finally, the cells were fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBA buffer for 20 minutes and then washed with PBA buffer and acquired by flow cytometry on a Becton Dickinson FACSCanto II flow cytometer.

2.4.6 Intracellular Staining

Once surface staining was complete, cells requiring intracellular staining were washed and pelleted by adding approximately 2 ml of PBA, vortexing and centrifuging at 450xg for 7 minutes. The supernatant was discarded. Cells were fixed using ~0.5 ml/tube of 4% PFA and vortexed. Tubes were incubated in the dark for 10 minutes to allow fixation to occur. Cells were washed and pelleted again. Cells were permeabilized with 1 ml of 0.2% saponin in PBA buffer, freshly made as described in section 2.2.3.9 and incubated in the dark for a further 10 minutes. Following this incubation period, cells were washed and pelleted. Tubes were then stained with a cocktail of intracellular staining mAbs in saponin to bring the total volume to be added to each tube to 50 μ l. Tubes were vortexed and left in the dark for 30 minutes. Cells were then washed and pelleted and resuspended in ~0.5 ml PBA. The tubes were covered with aluminum foil and kept in the fridge until used for flow cytometry analysis.

2.2.7 Sample Acquisition & Gating Strategy

FACS tubes containing stained cell samples were vortexed, loaded, run through the machine and their data were recorded. FlowJo 10 software was used for analyses of these FCS files. Polygon gates were used to gate on the lymphocyte population, then the live cells and single cells (Figure 2.1).

Data were analysed with Flow Jo software. The gating strategy employed is shown in Figure 2.1. T cells were defined as CD3⁺ cells. NK cells were defined as CD3⁻ CD56⁺ cells. B cells were defined as CD3⁻ CD19⁺ cells and V δ 1, V δ 2 and V δ 3 T cells were defined as CD3⁺ V δ 1⁺, CD3⁺ V δ 2⁺, and CD3⁺ V δ 3⁺ cells, respectively. MAIT cells were defined as CD3⁺ V α 7.2⁺ CD161⁺ cells and iNKT cells were defined as CD3⁺ V α 24/J α 18⁺ cells.



Figure 2.1 Gating strategy for the detection of T cells, B cells, NK cells, CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, CD4-CD8- T cells, CD4+CD8+ T cells, iNKT cells, MAIT cells, V\delta1 T cells and $V\delta 2$ T cells by flow cytometry. Whole blood was stained with a dead cell stain (DCS) and monoclonal antibodies specific for glycophorin A, CD3, CD4, CD8, CD19, CD56, CD161 and the V α 7.2, V α 24J α 18, V δ 1 and V δ 2 T cell receptors and analysed by flow cytometry. Upper panels, left to right: flow cytometry dot plots showing forward scatter area (FSC-A) plotted against side scatter area (SSC-A) with an electronic gate drawn around the lymphocytes; Dot plot showing CD3 plotted against glycophorin A with a gate drawn around the glycophorin-negative cells to exclude erythrocytes; Dot plot showing FSC-A plotted against FSC-height (FSC-H) for gated lymphocytes with a gate drawn around the single cells; Dot plot showing FSC-A plotted against the dead cell stain for gated single cells with a gate drawn around the live cells. Centre panels: Five dot plots showing expression of CD3 and either CD19, CD56, Va24Ja18, V δ 1 or V δ 2 by gated live singlet lymphocytes with gates drawn around the B cells, T cells, NK cells, iNKT cells, Vol and Vo2 T cells. Lower panels, left and right: Dot plot showing expression of CD4 and CD8 by gated T cells with gates drawn around the CD4⁺ T cells, $CD8^+$ T cells, double negative (DN) $CD4^-CD8^-$ T cells and double positive (DP) $CD4^+CD8^+$ T cells; Dot plot showing expression of CD161 and Va7.2 by gated T cells with a gate drawn around the MAIT cells.

2.5 Cell Enrichment and Sorting

2.5.1 Magnetic isolation of B cells

B cells were isolated from PBMCs. The cell number was determined as outlined in section 2.3.3. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 400 xg for 10 minutes and the supernatant discarded. The cell pellet was resuspended in 320 μ l of Miltenyi buffer per 10⁷ total cells. 80 μ l of CD19 Microbeads per 10⁷ total cells was added. Cells were incubated for 15 minutes in the rotator in the fridge (4–8°C). After incubation the cells were washed with 1 ml Miltenyi buffer and pellet was resuspended in 500 μ l Miltenyi buffer for up to 10⁸ cells.

An LS column was set up in a magnet and washed 3 times with 500 µl of Miltenyi buffer, allowing the buffer to completely flow through the column each time. The magnetic bead-labelled cells were then applied to the column and the liquid was allowed to completely flow through the column. The B cells expressing CD19 were retained in the column due to the magnetic field. The column was then removed from the magnet. 1 ml of Miltenyi buffer was added and the CD19⁺ B cells were eluted from the column using a syringe plunger. The cells were then washed and centrifuged at 400 xg for 10 minutes and the cell number was determined as described in section 2.3.3. The cells were either used immediately for co-culture or incubated in cRPMI in the 5% CO₂ incubator, or cryopreserved until required.

2.5.2 Magnetic Bead Isolation of MAIT Cells from PBMCs

2.5.2.1 Magnetic bead isolation of MAIT cells. MAIT cells were isolated from PBMC by magnetic bead sorting of the V α 7.2⁺ cells followed by flow cytometric cell sorting of the CD161⁺ cells. PBMCs were isolated and the cell number was determined as described in section 2.3.2 and 2.3.3 respectively. The cell suspension was centrifuged at 300 xg for 10 minutes and the supernatant was discarded. The cell pellet was resuspended in 100 µl

of Miltenyi buffer, per 10^7 total cells. The cells were stained with 40 µL of anti-V α 7.2 antibody PE and incubated for 15 minutes in a rotator at 4 °C, in the fridge. Cells were then washed by adding 1-2 ml of Miltenyi buffer and centrifuging at 400 xg for 10 minutes and the supernatant was discarded. The cell pellet was resuspended in 240 µl of Miltenyi buffer for up to 10^8 cells. 60 µl of magnetic beads coated with anti-PE mAb per 10^7 total cells was then added to the cells. Once again cells were incubated for 15 minutes in the rotator in the fridge 4°C. Cells were then washed again as above.

The magnetically labelled $V\alpha 7.2^+$ cells were separated from the other cells using the LS column. The LS column was placed in the magnetic field, with a collection tube placed underneath and a pre-separation filter was placed on top of the column. The LS column was washed three times with 3 ml of Miltenyi buffer prior to the addition of the cell suspension. Once completed, the cell suspension was added to the filter followed by a further 5 ml of Miltenyi buffer to ensure all the suspension had run through the column. The V α 7.2 labelled cells were then retained in the column as they bound to the anti-PE coated magnetic bead. The column was then removed from the field and the magnetically labelled V α 7.2⁺ MAIT cells were eluted from the column in 5 ml Miltenyi buffer using a plunger. Cells were then washed and centrifuged at 400 xg for 10 minutes. In some cases, cells were further stained for CD161 in order to further purify MAIT cells via sorting using FACS Melody by gating on the Va7.2 and CD161 double positive population. After sorting, cells were either used immediately or resuspended in 2 ml cRPMI and stored in the CO₂ incubator until needed. The V α 7.2 negative cells that were collected in the collection tube were washed and pelleted and used to obtain B cells via another round of magnetic separation using CD19 magnetic beads (see section 2.2.8.2).

2.5.2.2 Magnetic isolation of CD3⁺ cells.

PBMCs were isolated and counted as outlined in section 2.3.2 and 2.3.3. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in 80 μ l of Miltenyi buffer per 10⁷ total cells. 20 μ l of CD3 Microbeads was added per 10⁷ total cells and incubated in the rotator in the fridge for 15 minutes (4–8°C). The cells were then washed and pelleted. The cells were then resuspended in 500 μ l of Miltenyi buffer per 10⁸ cells.

The LS column was set up and run as described above for B cells. All T cells expressing CD3 were retained in the column due to the magnetic field. $CD3^+$ T cells were eluted from the column by removing it from the magnet, adding 1 ml of Miltenyi buffer and pushing it out of the column using the plunger. The cells were then washed and centrifuged at 400 xg for 10 minutes and the cell number was determined as described in section 2.3.3. In some instances, the CD3 T cells were further sorted using the FACS Melody as described in section 2.5.2.3. The cells were either used immediately for co-culture or incubated in cRPMI in the 5% CO₂ incubator until required.

2.5.2.3 Magnetic isolation of CD8⁺ T Cells.

PBMCs were isolated and counted as outlined in section 2.3.2 and 2.3.3 respectively. The cells were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended in 40 µl of Miltenyi buffer per 10^7 total cells. 10 µl of biotin-labelled antibody specific for CD4, CD15, CD16, CD19, CD34, CD36, CD56, CD123, TCR γ/δ , and CD235a (Glycophorin A) was added per 10^7 cells and incubated in the rotator in the fridge for 5 minutes (4–8°C). This allows magnetic bead labelling of all non-CD8 T cells. After incubation, 30 µl of Miltenyi buffer per 10^7 cells were added. This was followed by the addition of 20 µl of CD8⁺ T Cell Microbead Cocktail, containing antibodies specific for biotin, was added and the cells were incubated in the rotator in the fridge for 10 minutes (4–8°C). The cells were then washed and pelleted. The cells were then resuspended in 500 µl of Miltenyi buffer per 10^8 cells.

The LS column was set up and run as described above. All non-CD8 T cells were retained in the column due to the magnetic field. $CD8^+$ T cells passed through the column. The cells were then washed and centrifuged at 400 xg for 10 minutes and the cell number was determined as described in section 2.3.3.

2.5.2.4 Flow cytometric cell sorting

Flow cytometric cell sorting on a MoFlo XDP cell sorter (Beckman Coulter) was used to sort highly purified MAIT from PBMC. In this method, the cell sample was labelled with mAbs specific for CD3, CD161 and V α 7.2 and acquired on the cell sorter. Cells were passed through a column of pressurised sheath fluid and as they are ejected from the nozzle on the cell sorter, they passed through the analysis point consisting of laser beams which provide scattered light and fluorescence signals, which are then compared to preset sort criteria for the cells of interest. There is time delay between the analysis point and where the droplets break off at the end of the stream and it is referred to as the drop delay. Once the drop delay is calculated, an electric charge is applied to the stream at the precise moment the first drop forms, allowing individual drops to be independently charged. Once the charged droplets reach the end of the stream, they are passed through highvoltage charged deflection plates which cause the charged droplets to be deflected towards the oppositely charged plate and into collection tubes, while uncharged droplets are aspirated to waste (Davies, 2007).

PBMC were enriched for MAIT cells by positive magnetic bead separation of Va7.2+ cells (Miltenyi Biotec) as described previously. The Va7.2-enriched cells were stained with mAb specific for CD3 and Va7.2 in PBS for 15 min. The cells were washed in PBS and the pellets were re-suspended in 0.5 ml PBS per 1 x 10^7 cells and sorted using a MoFlo XDP cell sorter (Beckman Coulter) which allowed retrieval of pure (>97%)

populations of V α 7.2⁺ CD161⁺ cells. The cells were either used immediately for coculture or incubated in cRPMI in the 5% CO₂ incubator until required.

2.6 In Vitro Expansion of MAIT Cells

2.6.1 Expansion of MAIT cells from PBMCs using 5 ARU

Protocols developed by Dr Andrew Hogan and colleagues at Maynooth University were used to enrich MAIT cells from PBMCs of healthy donors. PBMCs were isolated as described in section 2.3.2. counted and resuspended in 1 ml of MAIT cell medium at a density of 1.5×10^6 PBMCs/ml. The MAIT cell antigen 5-amino-6-(D-ribitylamino)uracil (5-A-RU) was added at a concentration of 4 µg/ml along with 100 µM of 9 µl methylglyoxyl was added to 5 ml sterile water. 100 µl of this was added to 890 µl of MAIT cell Then 10 µl of 5-ARU was added to this to make a total of 1,000 µl. 100 µl was added to each ml of cells. 2 ml of PBMC were transferred (containing 3 x 10⁶ cells) to the wells of a 6-well plate and incubated at room temperature and 5% CO₂. After 48 hours, 25 U/ml IL-2 was added to the 5-ARU-treated monocytes. After 5 days, 250 U/ml IL-2 was added. Cells were fed and split as needed (media turns yellow very quickly). On day 10, the MAIT cell purity was between 60 – 90% as assessed by flow cytometry (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.2 In vitro expansion of MAIT cells. MAIT cell lines were generated by stimulating PBMC with 5-ARU and culturing them with IL-2 as described in section 2.6.1. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing Va7.2 and CD161 expression by gated CD3+ cells within PBMC after stimulation with 5-ARU for 5, 10, 13 and 16 days. B and C, Bar graphs showing percentage frequencies (A) and absolute numbers (B) of MAIT cells generated after 5, 10, 13 and 15 days post stimulation of PBMC. Data are expressed as means (±SEM) of 12 MAIT cell expansions. * $p \le 0.05$, **** $p \le 0.0001$ using the Wilcoxon signed rank test

2.6.2 Validating the purity of MAIT cells

 0.5×10^6 cells from MAIT cell expansions transferred to a flow cytometry tube. Cells were stained with mAbs specific for CD3 (labelled with Pacific Blue), CD161 (labelled with FITC), and Va7.2 (labelled with PE) and analyzed by flow cytometry. MAIT cells are positive for CD3, CD161 and Va7.2 figure 2.2.

2.6.3 Activation of MAIT cells using other modes of stimulation

Sorted MAIT cells or MAIT cells within PBMCs were stimulated with medium alone (unstimulated), IL-12 with IL-18 (IL-12/IL-18), anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAbs (anti-CD3 & CD28), 5-A-RU or phorbol myristate acetate with ionomycin (PMA/Ionomycin), as described below.

2.6.3.1 Stimulation of cells with IL-12/IL-18

PBMCs or MAIT cells were transferred to the wells of microtiter plate in cRPMI. 50 ng/ml each of IL-12 and IL-18 was added to each well. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.6.3.2 Stimulation of cells using anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 antibodies

Anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAbs were pre-bound to the wells of a microtiter plate 1 day prior to the experiment. PBS containing 3 μ g/ml of anti-CD3 functional mAb and 3 μ g/ml of anti-CD28 mAb was added to each well. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂. The PBS containing the antibodies was then removed and the wells were washed with PBS before adding cells.

2.6.3.3 Stimulation of cells using 5-A-RU

PBMC or MAIT cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. 1 μ l of methylglyoxal (100 μ M) was added to 0.5 ml sterile water. 10 μ l of this solution was

added to 89 μ l of MAIT cell medium. 1 μ l of 5-A-RU 4 μ g/ml was added to this solution to bring the final volume to 100 μ l. 10 μ l of this was added to each well containing 1.5x10⁶ cells/ml then the cells were incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.6.3.4 Stimulation of PBMCs with PMA/ionomycin.

Cells were plated in microtitre plates in cRPMI. 10 ng/ml of PMA and 1 μ g/ml of ionomycin was added to each well. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37 °C and 5% CO₂.

2.7 Activation of B cells

2.7.1 Stimulation of B cells with LPS.

PBMCs or sorted B cells were transferred to wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI at a density of 0.5×10^6 cells/ml. LPS was added to a final concentration of 20 ng/ml and the cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.7.2 Stimulation of B cells with BAFF.

PBMCs or sorted B cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. BAFF was added to a final concentration of 50 ng/ml and the cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.7.3 Stimulation of B cells with Pam3Cysk.

PBMCs or sorted B cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. Pam3Cysk4 was added to a final concentration of 1 μ g/ml and the cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.7.4 Stimulation of B cells with Pam3Cysk/PolyIC.

PBMCs or sorted B cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. 1 μ g/ml of Pam3Cysk4 and 25 μ g/ml of PolyIC was added to each well. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.7.5 Stimulation of B cells with CD40/IL-4/IL-21.

PBMCs or sorted B cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. 10 μ g/ml of anti-CD40 mAb, 100 ng/ml of IL-4 and 20 ng/ml of IL-21 were added to each well. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.7.6 Stimulation of B cells with resting MAIT cells.

Sorted B cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. Varying numbers of sorted MAIT cells were added to the wells. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.7.7 Stimulation of B cells with activated MAIT cells.

Sorted B cells were transferred to the wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI. Sorted MAIT cells were added at various ratios to the wells. 50 ng/ml of both IL-12 and IL-18 were also added to each well. The cells were then incubated for 24 hours at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.8 Measurement of Cell Activation

2.8.1 Analysis of intracellular cytokine production. See section 2.4.6.

2.8.2 Analysis of cytotoxicity (CD107a assay)

CD107a is a lysosomal membrane protein that becomes expressed on the cell surface as a result of cytolytic degranulation by T cells and natural killer cells [335, 336]. The presence of CD107a on the cell surface is connected to cell lysis capacity and therefore, CD107a can be used as a marker for cells that have undergone cytolytic

degranulation and cell activation. Cells were stimulated as described in section 2.6.2 then 2.5 μ l of PerCP Cy5.5-labeled anti-CD107a mAb was added to the stimulated and unstimulated wells in the co-cultures. The cells were then incubated for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂, before adding the 10 μ g/ml brefeldin A. The cells were then incubated for a further 4 hours. CD107a expression was analyzed by flow cytometry.

2.8.3 Cytometric Bead Array (CBA) Immunoglobulin Assay (IgM, IgA, IgG)

The BD CBA Human Immunoglobulin Master Buffer Kit assay was used to measure antibody production and immunoglobulin class switching by B cells. This assay uses capture beads, with a known size and fluorescence, to capture soluble immunoglobulin which can then be detected and analysed by flow cytometry. Supernatants from B cell cultures were transferred to 96 well plates and stored at -80°C. These supernatants were later thawed and 25 μ l was used for the assay. The vial of the cytokine standard was reconstituted by adding 1 ml of assay diluent swirled gently to mix and diluted to obtain the following dilutions: 1:1, 1:2, 1:4, 1:8, 1:16, 1:32, 1:64, 1:128, 1:256, 0, 1:32, 1:64, 1:128, 1:256, 0. The capture antibody was bound to the wells of 96-well plates for 1h followed by either the sample or the standard, and incubated for 1 hour at room temperature. After that, the plate was rinsed and covered with PE detection reagent before being incubated at room temperature for 2 hours, protected from light. The samples were fixed in 4% PFA and then re-suspended in wash buffer. The instrument setup beads, which contained unstained beads and single stained beads for each APC, APC-Cy7, and PE, were used to set up the flow cytometry.

2.8.4 Measurement of cytokine release by MSD technology

The principles of the multiplex ELISA assay involved examining cytokines via a sandwich immunoassay format, where capture antibodies were coated in a patterned array

on the bottom of the wells of a plate to which the serum sample was added. The multispot array allowed simultaneous measurement of multiple analytes in the same well, therefore conserving sample volume. The plate was then analysed on the SECTOR Imager, via electrochemiluminescence detection technology.

This multiplex ELISA technique allows for the simultaneous detection of several cytokines by coating several particular capture antibodies on matching spots on a microplate that has been electrified. A proprietary tag (MSD Gold[™] Sulfo-tag) is attached to the detecting antibody, and when the tag is activated, it produces a signal [337] which is proportionate to the amount of analyte in the sample.

The following Serum cytokines levels were measured using the U Plex biomarker group 1 multiplex assay for human interferon- γ (IFN- γ), tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-2 (IL-2), IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23, Mesoscale created a unique MSD®MULTI-SPOT assay plate for this study kit (catalogue number K15067L-1), which was used for analysis (MSD Diagnostics, USA). Following the extraction of peripheral blood serum, it was transferred to a 96-well MSD plate and the cytokines were measured according to the manufacturer's instructions. After that, the plate was analysed and verified using the SECTOR Imager (Meso Scale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA; www.meso-scale.com). All of the assays had limits of detection within the predicted ranges for their respective tests.

The U-plex plate was prepared through the use of the U-plex Coupled Antibody Solutions that were created. The linker self-assembles to unique spots on the multiplex plate.. This combination was vortexed and allowed to incubate at room temperature for 30 minutes before using. Following this incubation step, 200 μ l of Stop Solution was added, vortexed, and allowed to incubate at room temperature for another 30 minutes. To produce the multi

plex coating solution, 600 μ l of each U-Plex linked antibody solution was added to a single tube and vortexed. A total of up to ten antibodies were pooled and made up to 6ml with stop solution. Each well received 50 μ l of multiplex coating solution, the plate was sealed with an adhesive plate seal and left to incubate at room temperature for one hour with shaking. During this time the calibator solution was prepared. Using the product certification information, the calibrators were chosen which were specific to the antibodies of interest. These were reconstituted with diluent and combined to form a calibrator master mix to a final volume of 500 μ l. Using serial dilutions, a 7-point calibrator curve was generated for use on the plate. Following plate incubation with coating solution, a total of three washes were performed with 150 μ l/well of 1X PBS/0.05% Tween-20. The plate was now ready to be used.

Diluent 43 was used to produce the test, and 25 μ l of it was applied to each well. Gentle taps were given to the plate on both sides. It was necessary to fill each calibration well in duplicate with 25 μ l of the previously produced Calibrator solution plus two extra wells of diluent as the blank reading, and to fill each serum well with a corresponding amount of serum samples (25 μ l/well). An adhesive seal was used to secure the plate, which was then incubated at room temperature with shaking for 1 hour. During this time, the detection antibody was made as follows; 60 μ l of each detection antibody to a final volume of 6 ml with sample diluent. The plate was washed three times with 1X PBS/0.05% Tween-20. Each well received 50 μ l of detection antibody solution, which was added to each well. An adhesive seal was used to secure the plate, which was the nincubated at room temperature with shaking for 1 hour. After three more wash steps, 150 μ l of Read Buffer was added to each well. The plate was subjected to an MSD instrument for examination. With the use of GraphPad prism software, the data were presented in picograms per millilite of fluid and analysed (www.graphpad.com).

2.9 Analysis of Cell Death

Direct killing of B cells by MAIT cells was measured using a Total Cytotoxicity and Apoptosis Detection Kit from Immunochemistry Technologies (MN, USA) and flow cytometry. MAIT cells were activated with IL-12 with IL-18 for 30 minutes at 37°C. 2x10⁶ cells/ml target cells (B cells) were labeled with carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidyl ester (CFSE, signal in FL-1) as described in the kit instructions. The number of stained target cells per well was adjusted to 1.5×10^6 cells per ml. 100 µl of MAIT cells were added to obtain four MAIT cell:B cell ratios 1:1, 0.5:1, 0.2:1 and 0.05:1). The cells were co-cultured for 5 hours. Apoptotic cells were identified using Annexin V, while dead cells were detected using 7-aminoactinomycin D (7-AAD). 7-AAD is a dye that attaches to DNA and intercalates between cytosine and guanine nucleotides, giving fluorescence that can be detected by flow cytometry [338]. Apoptotic cells externalise phosphatidylserine to the surface of the extracellular membrane. Annexin V binds to phosphatidylserine [339]. For 10 minutes in the dark, 3 µl of Annexin V was applied to 1×10^5 cells. The cells were then washed with binding buffer and 2 µl of 7AA-D was added, and cells were immediately analysed by flow cytometry. An apoptosis-positive control was created by incubating cells with 4 g/ml camptothecin for 5 hours. Target cells were treated at 56°C for 6 minutes to generate necrotic positive controls. CFSE was used to mark target cells, and flow cytometry was used to quantify apoptosis and cell death, detected using 7-AAD and annexin V. The following formula was used to calculate the percent specific lysis [338].

% of specific lysis =
$$\frac{\% (dead)target cells - \% spontaneous (dead)target cells}{100 - \% spontaneous (dead)target cells} X 100\%$$

2.10 Toxicity of MAIT cells Against B cells

Annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) were used to measure apoptosis and necrosis respectively by flow cytometry. MAIT cells, co-cultured with B cells were plated at a density of 0.1 x10⁶ cells per well and starved overnight with serum depleted medium. Cells were treated for 24 h, 48 h and 72 h with different concentrations of MAIT cells After treatment cells were stained for Annexin V and PI to measure apoptosis and necrosis respectively. Cells were centrifugated at 1500 rpm for 7 min. Cells were washed with 1 ml of 1X of binding buffer (10 mM HEPES, 150 mM NaCl, 2.5 mM calcium chloride, pH 7.4. 3 µl of Annexin V was added to each sample and incubated for 15 min in the dark. Cell were then washed with 1X of binding buffer. The pellets were resuspended in 250 µl of binding buffer. Immediately before flow cytometry acquisition, 1 mg/ml of PI was diluted 1:4000 in binding buffer and 250 µl was added to the appropriate tubes. Cells were incubated at 56°C for 6 min to generate the necrosis positive controls.

2.11 power calculations

To compare cell numbers and phenotypes in NE chapter for subject groups, sample sizes were calculated from data obtained in our previous studies using R software. Using the results of an unpublished study comparing V δ 1 T cell frequencies in uninfected and HIV-infected children from Uganda, a power calculation (n=(((Z α +Z β)^2)*(2*(σ ^2)))/(δ ^2)) with 0.95 power and P<0.05 (δ =4.1; SD=4.6) gave a sample size of 34 subjects in each group (2-tailed test). But because of a study limitation we only got 30 NE subjects in the neonatal period.

A pilot study of intracellular IL-17 expression by Vo1 T cells within PBMC from patients with HIV infection and control subjects stimulated with phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) and ionomycin has given preliminary data allowing calculation of sample size requirements for comparing cytokine expression between NE patients and control subjects. Using a conservative estimate of the magnitudes of the differences in IL-17⁺ V δ 1 T cells between patients and controls, we found that 8 subjects in each group will be adequate (α =0.05; β =0.1; power = 90%).

2.12 Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was done using GraphPad Prism Version 9.0 (GraphPad Prism, San Diego, California). All data is expressed as mean \pm SEM. Statistical tests used are indicated in the relevant figure legend. Statistical significance was considered at *p*<0.05. Kruskal-Wallis testing (non-parametric 1 way ANOVA) with Dunn's multiple comparison testing analysis was used when multiple groups were compared based on the variance of the dataset for control chapter. The Mann Whitney U test was used to compare NE patients and controls.



Figure 2.3 Diagram depicting the methodology which used for results chapter. Peripheral blood was collected and stained for surface and intracellular markers expression, then analysed by flowcytometry, the rest of serum was tested for different cytokines assay by multiplex ELISA assay. Figure created with BioRender.com

CHAPTER 3

Comparison of the lymphoid cell compartments in cord blood and in peripheral blood from healthy neonates, children, young adults and older adults

3.1 Introduction

Development of the immune system commences during pregnancy and continues into adulthood. The foetus lives in a semi-allogeneic, protected environment, whereas neonates are subjected to a sudden onslaught of colonisation by the microbiota and infection by pathogens. Each year, infections are linked to around 40% of the 3 million neonatal global deaths [38, 340].

The functioning of both innate and adaptive immunity in humans is influenced by a variety of elements. Environmental factors, infectious disease exposure, diet, pharmaceutical therapies, psychological stress, sleep quality, and chronological age are among the most researched topics [58, 341-345]. Several studies have found that the changes in immune responses are defined by three major stages of life: childhood, adulthood, and old age [58, 346-349]. The immune system is considered inexperienced at birth, with a predisposition to be more tolerogenic and driven by the innate immune response, while the adaptive immune system is still developing. When faced with several external stressors during development, the adaptive immune system develops to produce a more pathogen-specific response. A significant change occurs at later ages, characterized by an augmented pro-inflammatory milieu, T-cell senescence, and a decrease in T and B cell diversity [350-353].

Because exposure to foreign antigens is confined to maternal alloantigens, foetal and neonatal T cell activity has been primarily described as tolerogenic. Therefore, naive $CD4^+$ T cells tend to develop into Foxp3⁺ CD25⁺ regulatory T cells (Treg) [354, 355]. The numbers of circulating mature CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells increases just before birth, most likely as a response to a change in exposure to environmental antigens [356, 357]. Other subpopulations of T cells such as $\gamma\delta$ T cells and iNKT have been reported to have a higher presence in neonates compared to adults [358-360]. Their capacity to rapidly induce production of interferons (IFNs) may serve as a compensatory mechanism for the poorly developed adaptive T cell response at that age.

B cell function in neonates has been described to be reduced due to low expression of antigen receptors on the cells, impaired somatic hyper-mutation and long-term plasmablast survival and differentiation, and predominance of low-affinity IgM producing cells [361-364].

As a child grows, the immune response tends to move toward T and B cell reactive repertoires as well as a more established immunological memory, which is primarily characterized by infection and vaccination over the course of the child's lifespan [365, 366]. The induction of effector responses and regulatory mechanisms, as well as epigenetic reprogramming of T and B cells, have been connected to exposure to various antigens and microbiota in the gut, respiratory tract, and skin [367, 368]. It has been documented that numbers of circulating Treg cells decrease, whereas numbers of naive T cells and memory Th1, Th17, and Th2 cells increase during childhood [9, 58, 369]. Antigen presentation, class switching, and somatic hypermutation in B cells, enhance the generation of antibodies, with improved capability for neutralizing invading pathogenic organisms. An individual's memory T and B cell repertoire will evolve throughout childhood and adulthood to recall previous infections and immunizations [367]. Migration of antibody-producing plasma cells to the bone marrow is required for memory cell maintenance throughout life and appears to be assisted by asymptomatic viral infections such as influenza, cytomegalovirus (CMV), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), and others [58, 370, 371]. This growth of the adaptive immune response will last throughout adulthood.

83

The immunological response deteriorates as people get older. Some of the age-related factors involved in the decline of the immune response appear to be related to poor regulation of damaged cells, increased gut permeability, changes in microbiota, cellular senescence, immune cell dysregulation, dysfunctional inflammasome activation or oxidative stress, chronic infections, and genetic susceptibility [350, 352]. Long-term immunological memory diminishes along with other adaptive immune mechanisms, limiting the response to infections. Inflammageing, now recognized as chronic morbidity, disability, and frailty, has been linked to a predominant proinflammatory environment due to persistent inflammation, [350, 352, 372]. As a result of a decreased production of naive T cells in a shrinking thymus and accumulation of highly differentiated senescent T cells, T cell diversity in the elderly is significantly reduced [353, 373]. In vitro studies have also revealed that the NF-kB signalling pathway of CD4⁺ T cells from elderly people is altered, resulting in an increase in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines as compared to younger people [374, 375]. In addition, IFN-y production and cytotoxicity by NK and NKT cells has been reported to decline at this stage of life [376]. The peripheral B cell pool, like the T cell pool, accumulates antigen-experienced memory cells while drastically reducing the number of naive B cells, resulting in reduced clonal diversity and, as a result, higher frequencies of non-specific antibodies [351].

Although there are several reviews that compare adaptive immune cell types at various ages, few research studies specifically examine how they develop over time. We compared lymphocyte frequencies in cohorts of healthy donors from different age groups to see how the innate and adaptive immune systems behave in healthy conditions over the ages. Changes in B cells, NK cells, and distinct subpopulations of T cells, as well as pro and anti-inflammatory cytokines levels in serum, were measured in cord blood, neonates, school-aged children, young adults, and the older adults.
3.2 Aims and hypothesis

The overall aim of this chapter was to characterise the lymphoid cell compartments in cord blood and in peripheral blood from healthy term neonates, school age children, young adults and older adults.

The specific aims were:

- 1. To enumerate and phenotypically characterize circulating T cells, B cells, NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets, MAIT cells, and iNKT cells in healthy subjects grouped according to age.
- 2. To measure serum cytokine levels in the five subject groups.

3.3 Specific methods

3.3.1 Patient specimens

Cord blood samples were obtained from 10 term neonates and peripheral blood and serum samples were obtained from 17 neonates, 23 school-age children, 25 young adults and 10 elderly subjects aged 7-92 years (median 83 years) who were recruited from St. James's Hospital. Blood from neonates was taken immediately after normal vaginal delivery. All neonates had normal neurological examination at birth and normal Apgar scores. Newborn babies with congenital anomalies or evidence of maternal substance abuse were excluded. Blood and serum samples were also obtained from 23 healthy school-age children (aged 1-16 years) coming for day case surgeries or undergoing phlebotomy, from 25 young adults (aged 23-45 years) working at St. James's Hospital, and from 10 older subjects (aged 71-92) attending St. James's Hospital. All subjects had no history of chronic infection or immune-mediated illnesses. The clinical state of the older adults was stable at time of phlebotomy, with no signs of infection, and their white blood counts were within normal range. They were attending hospital because of fall and fracture, for intracranial haemorrhage, gastritis, abdominal pain, depression or pneumonia. None of these patients were on any form of immunotherapy. The demographics of the older adults studied are shown in Table 3.1. The demographics of the neonates studied are shown in Table 3.2.

Category	Parameter		
Age, years; median (IQR)	83 (71-92)		
Sex	N=5 male, N=5 female		
Co-morbidity count, n; median (IQ)	4 (2-7)		
Co-medication count, n; median (IQ)	6.5 (3-10)		
WBC count (average ±SD)	6.8 (1.36±)		
Lymphocyte count (average ±SD)	1.45 (±0.37)		
Cause of admission	4= fall 1= intracranial haemorrhage 1= heart failure 1= abdominal pain 1= worsening 1= confusion 1= depression 1= cognitive decline		

 Table 3-1 Demographic characteristics of older adults cohort

Table 3-2 Demographics of neonatal Control

Variables		Control (n=17)		
GA (wks) ^a		38.56 ± 1.03		
BW (kg)		3.52 ± 313		
Gender, male, n (%) ^b		56%		
Mode of delivery (%)	LSCS	5 (29.4)		
	SVD	11(64)		
	inst	1 (6)		
Apgar @1 min ^a		9		
Apgar @5 min ^a		10		
Apgar @10 min ^a		N/A		
TH, n (%) ^b		N/A		
Seizures, n (%) ^b		N/A		
MRI-Abnormal, n (%) ^b		N/A		
Cord Arterial PH ^a		N/A		
Cord Arterial BE ^a		N/A		
CPR, yes (%) ^b		N/A		
Intubated, yes (%) ^b		N/A		

GA = Gestational Age; BW = Birth Weight; LSCS = Lower Section Caesarean Section; SVD = Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery; Inst = Instrumental delivery

3.3.2 Antibodies and flow cytometry

Whole blood was stained with a dead cell stain followed by fluorochrome-conjugated monoclonal antibodies (mAb) specific for glycophorin A to exclude immature erythrocytes, human CD3, CD4 and CD8 to detect T cells, CD19 to detect B cells, CD3 and CD56 to detect NK cells, CD3, CD161 and V α 7.2 to detect MAIT cells, CD3 and V α 24J α 18 to detect iNKT cells, and CD3 with V δ 1 or V δ 2 to detect V δ 1 T cells and V δ 2 T cells, respectively (Table 2.4 in methods chapter). The gating strategy used for the enumeration of total, CD4⁺, CD8⁺, CD4⁻CD8⁻ and CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells, B cells, NK cells, MAIT cells, V δ 1 T cells, V δ 2 T cells and iNKT cells is shown in Figure 2.1.

3.3.3 Measurement of serum cytokine levels

Serum cytokine levels were measured using the U Plex biomarker group 1 multiplex assay for IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2), IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23, purchased from Mesoscale Discovery (Rockville, USA), according to the manufacturers' instructions. This method employs a 96-well sandwich immunoassay which can quantify up to 10 analytes in 25 μ l samples. As described in section 2.8.4 in methods chapter.

3.3.4 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism Version 9 (GraphPad software, San Diego, CA) was used to perform statistical analyses. Kruskal-Wallis testing (non-parametric 1 way ANOVA) with Dunn's multiple comparison testing analysis was used when multiple groups were compared based on the variance of the dataset. Statistical significance is described as *p<0.05, **p<0.01, and ***p<0.001.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Lymphocyte frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age

The frequencies of T cells, B cells and NK cells, as percentages of lymphocytes, in cord blood and peripheral blood from different age groups were analysed by flow cytometry. The frequencies of T cells were lower in cord blood samples compared to blood samples taken from all subject groups and this decrease was significant when compared with T cell frequencies in all subjects (Figure. 3.1.A, p < 0.05). The frequencies B cells were significantly higher in CB compared to neonatal blood (Figure. 3.1 B; p < 0.05) but they increased significantly during childhood at (p < 0.001) and then decreased again during adulthood and in older adults (Figure. 3.1 B; p < 0.01). We also observed expansions of NK cells in blood, starting at the neonatal stage, when they comprise up to 15% of peripheral lymphocytes and peaking in young adults when they represented up to 30% of total lymphocytes (Figure. 3.1C; p<0.001). These results show that T, B and NK cell frequencies fluctuate with age, and are likely to lead to age-related changes in immunocompetence.



Figure 3.1 Lymphocyte frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age. T cell, B cell and NK cell frequencies in cord blood (n=10) and in peripheral blood of neonates (n=17), school-age children (n=23), young adults (n=25) and older adults (n=10). Whole blood was stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD19 and CD56 and analysed by flow cytometry. Scatter plot show frequencies of CD3⁺ T cells (A), B cells (B) and NK cells (C) as percentages of total lymphocytes. Dots represent individual patients, bars represent median; Data between groups are compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.

3.4.2 Conventional T lymphocyte subset frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age

Umbilical cord blood samples were collected from 10 term infants and venous blood was obtained from 17 healthy term babies, 23 school-age children, 25 adults and 10 older people. T cells were further examined on the basis of CD4 and CD8 positivity to assess whether there were variations in helper (CD4⁺), cytotoxic (CD8⁺) and unconventional (CD4⁺CD8⁺ and CD4⁻CD8⁻) between different age groups. Samples of whole blood were stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD4 and CD8 and analysed by flow cytometry. After gating on singlet, live, CD3⁺ lymphocytes, the frequencies of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺, CD4⁺CD8⁺ and CD4⁻CD8⁻, as percentages of total CD3⁺ cells, were determined (Figure 3.2). We observed that the frequencies of CD8⁺ were similar at all stages of life (Figure. 3.2B). Figure 3.2 A shows that CD4⁺ T cells, account for 60 - 80% of T cells in CB, but were lower in neonates, and significantly lower in school age children (p < 0.001). CD4+ T cells then remained at ~60% in adults and older adults. There was a significant increase in the frequencies of T cells with CD4⁻ CD8⁻ phenotypes from cord blood to adulthood and from neonatal life to school age children and adulthood, However, CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cell frequencies were higher among older adults when it compared with school-age children (Figure. 3.2C and 3.2D).



Figure 3.2 Conventional and unconventional T cell frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age. Frequencies of $CD4^+$, $CD8^+$, $CD4^+CD8^+$ (double positive or DP) and $CD4^-CD8^-$ (double negative or DN) T cells in cord blood (n=10) and in peripheral blood of neonates (n=17), school-age children (n=23), young adults (n=25) and older adults (n=10). Cells were stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD4 and CD8 and analysed by flow cytometry. Scatter plot show frequencies of CD4⁺ T cells (A), CD8⁺ T cells (B), DN T cells (C) and (D) DP T cells as percentages of total lymphocytes. Dots represent individual patients, bars represent median; Data are compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.

3.4.3 Innate T cells frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age

Cord blood was obtained from 10 healthy term infants and venous blood was taken from 17 neonates, 23 children at a school-age, 25 adults, 10 older subjects for analysis of innate T cell frequencies. Whole blood was stained with a dead cell stain followed by mAb specific for CD3, CD161 and Va7.2 to detect MAIT cells, CD3 and Va24Ja18 to detect iNKT cells, and CD3 with V\delta1 or V\delta2 to detect V\delta1 T cells and V\delta2 T cells, respectively. Cells were analysed by flow cytometry. Figures 3.3A shows that Vo1 T cells are present at very low frequencies (typically <0.1% of T cells) in cord blood and in peripheral blood from neonates, but their numbers increased throughout life significantly among all groups, accounting for up to 3% of T cells at school age and adulthood (P<0.01) and reaching highest levels in the older adults (P<0.0001). A similar pattern was seen for V δ 2 T cells, except that their frequencies were highest in young adults (P<0.0001) and then they declined slightly into old age (Figure 3.3B). iNKT cells also exhibited a similar dynamic, being undetectable or present at very low frequencies (<0.1% of T cells) in cord blood and peripheral blood from neonates but they expanded to a mean of 0.3% of T cells in young adults (Figure 3.3C). iNKT cell frequencies were not determined in the elderly subjects. Similar to iNKT cells, MAIT cells were undetectable or present at very low frequencies on cord blood and peripheral blood from neonates, but they expanded to up to 8% of total T cells in school-aged children and young adults (P<0.01; Figure 3.3D). MAIT cells were not studied in older adults. Thus, all of the unconventional T cells enumerated in the present investigation, are extremely rare in cord blood and in neonates, but they expand after birth, presumably in response to environmental antigens.



Figure 3.3 Innate lymphocyte frequencies in healthy donors grouped according to age. Cord blood samples were obtained from 10 term babies and venous blood samples were obtained from 17 neonates, 23 school age children and young adults (n=25) and older adults (n=10). Cells were stained with mAb specific for CD3 and TCR V δ 1 to detect V δ 1 Tcells, CD3 and TCR V δ 2 for V δ 2 T cells, CD3, CD161 and V α 7.2⁺ for MAIT cells, and CD3 and V α 24J α 18 TCR for iNKT cells, then analysed by flow cytometry. Scatter plot show frequencies of V δ 1 T cells (A), V δ 2 T cells (B), MAIT cells (C), and iNKT cells (D). Dots represent individual patients, bars represent median; Data are compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.

3.4.4 Phenotype of Circulating MAIT Cells in Healthy Subjects

As mentioned above, we defined human circulating MAIT cells as $CD3^+$ TCRV α 7.2⁺ CD161^{hi} cells by flow cytometry (Figure 3.3 D) as indicated in a previous report [377]. We also subdivided MAIT cells into CD4⁺, CD8⁺ and double negative (DN) subsets [31, 51, 240, 302, 359, 377-380]. We also investigated CD4 and CD8 expression by MAIT cells in the different subject groups. CD4+ MAIT cells were extremely rare (data not shown), whereas most MAIT cells were found to express CD8 or neither CD4 nor CD8. Interestingly, the frequencies of CD8+ MAIT cells as percentages of total MAIT cells, were higher in the circulation of neonates compared to cord blood (P<0.001) and they increased significantly into school age and adulthood (P<0.001; Figure 3.4A). A corresponding decrease in the frequencies of CD4- CD8- MAIT cells with age was observed (P<0.001; Figure 3.4B).

3.4.5 MAIT cells from young adults display higher expression of CD69

Analysis of activation status of MAIT cells, by measurement of CD69 expression, revealed that <8% of MAIT cells from cord or neonatal blood exhibited activated phenotypes, but these frequencies rose to means of 12% in school-age children and 18% of young adults (P<0.001; Figure 3.5). These data suggest that CD8+ MAIT cells are selected and activated in response to environmental antigens, starting at birth. Of note, there is a considerable variation for each subset of MAIT cells among individuals across all the age groups. Notably also, we did not detect CD4⁺ MAIT cells.



Figure 3.4 Frequencies of CD8⁺ and double negative MAIT cells in cord blood (n=10) and in peripheral blood of neonates (n=17), school-age children (n=23), young adults (n=25). Cells were stained with a dead cell stain and mAb specific for CD3, CD4, CD8, CD161, Va7.2 and analysed by flow cytometry. Scatter plot show frequencies of CD8 MAIT cells (A), CD4⁻CD8⁻ MAIT cells (B), as percentages of MAIT cells. Dots represent individual patients, bars represent median; Data are compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.



Figure 3.5 Activation status of MAIT cells in cord blood and peripheral blood of neonates, children and adults. Cord blood (n=10) and peripheral blood of neonates (n=17), school-age children (n=23) and young adults (n=15) was stained with a dead cell stain and mAb specific for CD3, CD161, Va72 and CD69 and analysed by flow cytometry. Scatter plot shows frequencies of CD69 MAIT cells as percentages of total MAIT cells. Dots represent individual patients, bars represent median; Data are compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.

3.4.6 Serum cytokine levels in healthy subjects

The levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-12, IL-4, IL-6, IL-15, IL-9, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 in serum samples from all subjects were measured by multiplex immunoassay. Figure 3.6 shows that the serum levels of the Th1-associated cytokines IFN- γ and TNF- α were significantly higher in school-age children and adults compared to neonates and CB samples (p <0.0001).

The levels of the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 were similar in all subject groups, but the levels of IL-9 level fluctuated, being significantly lower in neonatal blood compared to CB (p < 0.05) and the levels dropped significantly in the school children (p < 0.001) and increased in adult life (p < 0.05; Figure 3.7).

No differences in the serum levels of the Th17-associated cytokines, IL-17a and IL-21 were found in the different age groups. Serum levels of IL-22 were significantly higher in neonates and children compared to cord blood, while IL-23 levels were significantly lower in all the cohorts compared to cord blood at (p < 0.001 and p < 0.05 respectively; Figure 3.8).

The levels of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-6 were considerably higher in adults compared to CB, neonates and children (p < 0.0001, p < 0.01 and p < 0.01, respectively). The same pattern was observed with IL-8 (p < 0.0001, p < 0.0001 and p < 0.0001). Similarly, IL-10 showed a raising trend with significantly higher levels in adults compared to CB samples and neonates respectively (p < 0.0001; Figure 3.9).

The levels of the growth factor for T and NK cells IL-2 were slightly elevated in neonates and adults compared to CB control subjects but this was not significant. Lastly IL-15 levels were significantly higher in neonates compared to the CB and higher in school-age children compared to adults (p<001 and p<0.0001, respectively; Figure 3.10).



Figure 3.6 Serum Th1 cytokines levels in in healthy donors grouped according to age. Concentrations of IFN- γ and TNF- α were measured in 10 cord blood samples and peripheral blood from 10 neonates, 10 school age children and 10 adults using multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean \pm SEM levels of IFN- γ (A) and TNF- α (B) in the subject groups. Bars represent median, and whiskers represent the range; Data were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.



Figure 3.7 Serum Th2 cytokine levels in healthy donors grouped according to age. Concentrations of IL-4, IL-5, and IL-9 were measured in 10 cord blood samples and peripheral blood from 10 neonates, 10 school age children and 10 adults using multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean \pm SEM levels of IL-4 (A), IL-5 (B), and IL-9 (C), in the subject groups. Bars represent median, and whiskers represent the range; Data were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.



Figure 3.8 Serum Th17 cytokines levels in in healthy donors grouped according to age. Concentrations of Interleukin-17a (IL-17a), Interleukin-21 (IL-21), Interleukin-22 (IL-22), Interleukin-22 (IL-23) were measured in 10 cord blood samples and peripheral blood from 10 neonates, 10 school age children and 10 adults using multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean \pm SEM levels of IL-17a (A), IL-21 (B), IL-22 (C), and IL-23 (D), in the subject groups. Bars represent median, and whiskers represent the range; Data were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.



Figure 3.9 Serum Proinflammatory cytokines levels in healthy donors grouped according to age. Concentrations of Interleukin-6 (IL-6), Interleukin-8 (IL-8), and Interleukin-10 (IL-10) were measured in 10 cord blood samples and peripheral blood from 10 neonates, 10 school age children and 10 adults using multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean \pm SEM levels of IL-6 (A), IL-8 (B), and IL-10 (C), in the subject groups. Bars represent median, and whiskers represent the range; Data were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.



Figure 3.10 Serum T and NK cell growth factors levels in healthy donors grouped according to age. Concentrations of interleukin-2 (IL-2), and interleukin-15 (IL-15) were measured in 10 cord blood samples and peripheral blood from 10 neonates, 10 school age children and 10 adults using multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean \pm SEM levels of IL-2 (A), and IL-15 (B) in the subject groups. Data were compared using the Kruskal-Wallis test with post hoc Dunn's test.

3.5 Discussion

Formation of the adaptive immune system begins early in fetal life. B cells are present in the blood and spleen by 12 weeks of gestation and T cells start to depart from the thymus from about 14 weeks. In the fetus, responsiveness to infection is low and is frequently associated with spontaneous abortion [381-383]. Consequently, the immune system is inexperienced at birth, with a tendency to be tolerogenic, rather than immunogenic. During the neonatal period, the infection response is skewed towards a pro-inflammatory response and the immune system acquires adaptive features as a result of exposure to microbes [384]. As old age progresses, major components of the immune system are impaired and persistent inflammation can lead to chronic morbidity, disability and frailty [346, 352, 372-374].

We compared the potential functional effectiveness of the innate and adaptive immune systems in cohorts of healthy donors from different age groups. Flow cytometry was employed to profile the frequencies of conventional T cells, B cells and NK cells, and subpopulations of innate T cells in cord blood samples and peripheral blood samples from neonates, school-aged children, young adults and elderly people. The results are summarised in Table 3.3. We found that the frequencies of T cells were lower in cord blood compared to peripheral blood at all age groups. T cell frequencies remained relatively constant throughout life, and we did not observe any significant changes in their expression of CD4 and CD8 from the neonatal to older adult stages. Similar findings have been reported by Santagostino and co-workers (2003), but other workers have reported reductions in the numbers of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells with age [385, 386]. Similar to previous reports [387-390]. we found that B cell frequencies increased after birth, reaching highest levels at school age and then declining gradually throughout adulthood. On the other hand, NK cell numbers were low in cord blood and in neonatal

blood, but they gradually increased throughout adulthood. This increase in NK cells with age has also been reported by others [391-394]. Previous studies have demonstrated that the expansions in the frequencies of NK cells seen in older adults patients are mostly attributable to expansions of the CD56^{dim} subset and reductions of the CD56^{bright} subset [391, 395-397].

The four innate T cell populations investigated in the present study - V δ 1 T cells, V δ 2 T cells, iNKT cells and MAIT cells all showed similar dynamics across the age groups. All four T cell populations were undetectable or present at very low numbers in cord blood and in peripheral blood of neonates, but they expanded after birth reaching highest levels in adulthood. Using next-generation sequencing of $\gamma\delta$ TCRs in cord blood and in infants, Davey and co-workers (2017) and Ravens et al (2020) demonstrated that V\delta1 T cells express naïve phenotypes at birth and differentiate into memory cells in response to antigenic exposure, typically becoming strongly focused on a few high-frequency clonotypes by adulthood. In contrast, V δ 2 T cells are the predominant population of $\gamma\delta$ T cells in the fetus and in adults. Unlike CD4 T cells, they are poised for rapid Th1-like responses even before birth, which allows them to play a key role in the first line of defense against pathogens in early life [275]. The majority of V δ 2 T cells express V γ 9V δ 2 T cell receptors that recognise the phosphoantigen (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate, an intermediate in the 2-C-methyl-d-erythritol 4-phosphate pathway of isoprenoid synthesis found in some bacteria and protists and postnatal expansion of $V\gamma 9V\delta 2$ T cells is thought to reflect exposure to phosphoantigen-containing bacteria [398, 399]. Although fetal $\gamma\delta$ T cells are distinct from most adult $\gamma\delta$ T cells in terms of TCR specificity and function [400-402], phosphoantigen-responsive Vy9V82 T cells are also present in the fetus before postnatal microbial exposure occurs [275]. Shortly after birth, V82 T cells acquire more potent proliferative and cytotoxic activity, which is

associated with downregulation of programmed death-1 (PD-1) and upregulation of NKG2A [403].

Confirming a previous report by Prabhu and co-workers (2016), we found that iNKT numbers are very low in cord blood and in neonates but they expand after birth, reaching highest levels in adulthood. iNKT cells have important influences on adaptive immune responses via their ability to rapidly release Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg cytokines and to mediate contact-dependent maturation and activation of dendritic cells, macrophages and B cells. For this reason, iNKT cells play multiple roles in the pathology of and protection against multiple diseases and are activated and expanded in neonates with preterm birth and neonatal encephalopathy [404, 405]. In germ-free mice, iNKT cells colonise the intestinal and pulmonary mucosa and contribute to inflammatory bowel disease and asthma, but colonisation of these organs with a conventional microbiota at birth, but not in adulthood, protected the mice against these inflammatory disorders [406].

Another innate T cell subset that expanded from very low numbers after birth is MAIT cells. Similar to the findings of Walker and co-workers (2012) and Chen et al (2019), we found that MAIT cell frequencies increase from birth to adulthood and other studies have demonstrated that their numbers decline in elderly subjects, in part due to an increased susceptibility to apoptosis [380, 407]. Interestingly, we found that the proportions of MAIT cells that expressed CD8 increased from the neonatal stage up to adulthood and CD8⁺ MAIT cells constituted the majority of MAIT cells in adults. Conversely, the proportions of MAIT cells that expressed double negative CD4⁻ CD8⁻ phenotypes decreased with age. CD4⁺ MAIT cells were found to be very rare at all stages of development. Consistent with previous reports [407], we found that the expression of the T cell activation marker CD69 on MAIT cells increased progressively from cord blood to elderly populations, suggesting that they are selected and activated by exposure to

microorganisms during development. Circulating MAIT cells can produce multiple cytokines that were differentially regulated with age, showing the lowest expression IFN- γ in the young, compared with older children [407]. Thus, the numbers, phenotypes and functions of MAIT cells appear to depend on age and vary in different clinical settings such as human immunodeficiency virus and *Helicobacter pylori* infection.

In addition to measuring lymphocyte subset frequencies, we measured the levels of serum cytokines, which may be produced by these and other cells. Using a multiplex ELISA assay, we found that levels of Th1 associated cytokines, including IFN- γ and TNF- α , were high in adults and school children but low in cord blood and in neonates. The low IFN- γ and TNF- α levels in neonates were quantitatively comparable to those reported previously [408-410] and may explain why neonates have greater susceptibility to intracellular infections [411, 412]. Similar levels of the Th2 cytokines IL-4 and IL-5 were observed at all ages, but the levels of IL-9 were high in cord blood but low in serum from neonates and decreased in school children before increasing in adults. A study conducted by Kleiner and colleagues (2013) in healthy donors ranging in age from one year to more than eighteen years old discovered that children aged 7 to 17 years had higher levels of the Th2 cytokine IL-4 than adults in the same study.

In the present study, levels of the Th17 associated cytokines, IL-17A and IL-21 did not change significantly from the neonatal stage to adulthood, but levels of IL-22 were found to be lower and levels of IL-23 were higher in cord blood compared to peripheral blood of neonates, school-age children and adults. Kleiner and co-workers (2013) reported that IL-17 levels rise with age, and we found a non-significant increase in IL-17 levels in adults compared to children. Finally, the levels of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 were high in adults compared to other cohorts. These data are in line with other publications reporting an enhancement of Th1 and proinflammatory cytokines activity with age [413, 414].

Our data show that specific lymphocyte populations and cytokine levels vary according to age from the fetal stage to adulthood and into older stages of life. These changes are likely to affect immunocompetence, which will vary according to the type of infection or danger. A thorough understanding of these dynamics is critical, as this may be a major component of disease initiation and progression. There is a level of similarity in the immune system between aged people and newborns, with decreases in antimicrobial activities of neutrophils and macrophages, a decline in antigen presentation by dendritic cells, reduced NK cell killing, and impaired adaptive lymphocyte responses. Therefore, both young and old age people could be considered to have compromised immune systems which may make them susceptible to certain infections [58]. In older adults, a particularly striking feature of the immunosenescence process is the development of a low-grade pro-inflammatory state, characterised by an increase in serum inflammatory mediators such as IL-6, IL-1Ra, TNF, IL-1, and C-reactive protein [372, 415] As a result of these impairments, older people are more prone to cancers, autoimmune diseases and poor outcomes of infectious diseases, such as SARS-CoV-2 [372, 416-418]. Although we did not test inflammatory cytokine levels in our older adult cohort, we did note a tendency for inflammatory cytokine levels to increase over the age ranges of our cohorts.

3.6 Conclusion

Table 3.3 shows that, compared to young adults, neonates have lower levels of circulating innate T cells and lower levels of inflammatory and Th1 cytokines. Thus, the neonatal immune system appears to be impaired, leaving infants susceptible to infectious

disease. At later stages of life, there are expansions of innate lymphocytes and increased levels of inflammatory cytokines. These data suggest that innate T cells do not represent a significant component of the foetal immune system but that they emerge rapidly after birth, presumably in response to microbial colonisation. It is possible that innate T cells play pivotal roles in the changing immune system from birth to old age. Innate T cells, respond rapidly to conserved antigens and can influence the activities of T cells, B cells, NK cells, neutrophils, macrophages and dendritic cells. Their paucity in infants may underlie the frequent failure of the innate and adaptive systems to respond to antigenic challenge, whereas the high numbers of these cells in older individuals may result in overstimulation of innate immune responses leading to inflammatory disease. Future studies are required to determine if iNKT cells, subsets of $\gamma\delta$ T cells or MAIT cells can most be most appropriately targeted. Our data suggest that distinct cell types may optimally control homeostatic and disease-associated immunity at different stages of life and support the view that age is an important determinant of susceptibility to disease.

Table 3.3 Summary of circulating lymphocyte numbers fluctuate with age

	Cord blood	Neonates	Children	Adults (18- 64)	Adults > 65 years
T cells	Ļ			60-80%	
B cells		Ļ		5-15%	
NK cells		Ļ		5-30%	
Innate T Cells	Ļ	Ļ		<10%	
Th 1 cytokines	Ļ	Ļ			Not tested
Th2 cytokines					Not tested
Th17 cytokines					Not tested
Proinflammatory cytokines	Ļ	Ļ	Ļ		Not tested

Arrows indicate significantly higher or lower frequencies of cells populations and cytokines levels compared with those in the young adults with % being included in the table for Adults.

CHAPTER 4 Characterisation of the lymphoid cell compartments in blood from NE and healthy subjects

4.1 Introduction

Neonatal encephalopathy (NE), is the primary cause of neonatal mortality and long-term neuro-impairment such as cerebral palsy [378, 419]. NE is a syndrome characterized clinically by a disruption in neurological function, including an alteration in the level of consciousness, abnormal neurological signs such as seizures, weak reflexes, inadequate feeding and difficulty in maintaining adequate respiration [420]. The incidence of NE varies according to geographical location and socioeconomic status. It occurs at approximately 1 to 3.5 per 1000 live term newborns in developed nations and up to 26 per 1000 live term newborns in less developed countries [23, 421, 422].

NE has multiple aetiologies but perinatal hypoxia-ischemia is responsible for the most cases leading to HIE. Other causes include infections, metabolic conditions, coagulopathies, and neonatal stroke [423]. In half of NE cases, the primary reason is unidentified and is likely to be a combination of many factors [424].

There is an association between multiorgan failure and the severity of asphyxia. About 50% of infants with moderate to severe NE develop prolonged-term morbidity and mortality [29]. Survivors of NE are at risk of several long-term neurodevelopmental impairments, including cerebral palsy, intellectual disability, impairment of language skills or working memory, and problematic behaviour [425]. The only gold standard evidence-based therapy available for these new-borns is therapeutic hypothermia [11]. Until now, no single biomarker has proved to be sufficiently sensitive and specific to help in the prediction of NE occurrence and severity of brain injury in infants both with and at risk of NE [85, 425]. Therefore, there is an urgent need to develop new biomarkers and therapeutics for NE.

Emerging evidence has suggested that the inflammatory responses that occur due to hypoxia-ischemia are a crucial contributor in the pathophysiology of NE in both term and preterm neonates. Hypoxia ischemia elicits immediate and robust activation of brain resident cells, followed by peripheral leukocyte recruitment. This results in secondary neuronal damage that can persist for several months or even years, and subsequently, the anti-inflammatory response is initiated in order to control the inflammation [426-429]. There is a positive correlation between the severity of brain injury in infants with NE and the magnitude of the inflammatory response in the first seven days of life [430]. There is ample evidence that inflammation in preterm new-borns may contribute to detrimental neurodevelopmental outcomes [83].

An understanding of the causes and mechanisms of inflammation in NE may accelerate the discovery of adjunctive therapies and preventative strategies. Elimination of inflammation may lead to boosted neuroprotection and has potential for NE treatment [431].

Neutrophils are the first immune cells to be recruited to the area of infarction following brain ischemia, contributing to brain injury [87]. Morkos and co-workers reported that elevated peripheral neutrophil counts on the first day of life in asphyxiated neonates are a risk factor for neurological disabilities [91]. Hudome and co-authors reported that neutrophils are recruited to the brains of neonatal rats subjected to hypoxic-ischemic brain injury as early as 8 hours and that depletion of neutrophils led to a reduction in brain swelling [92, 93]. This suggests that neutrophils play a crucial role in brain swelling after ischemic injury. A large body of evidence from clinical studies and preclinical models of hypoxia have documented that neutrophils aggregate in the brain's blood vessels after hypoxic ischemic

encephalopathy (HIE), causing impairment in the ability of erythrocytes to carry oxygenated blood [25, 102, 432].

In addition to neutrophils, monocytes and other immune cells are recruited to the brain during neonatal hypoxic-ischemic attacks and can cross the blood-brain barrier (BBB) through parenchymal blood vessels [432, 433]. During hypoxia-ischemia, the immature brain expresses several chemoattractant molecules, involving CCL2, CCL3 and CCL7 that recruit monocytes from the circulation to infiltrate and accumulating in the brain, where they mediate inflammation [434, 435].

Lymphocytes are also central to the maintenance of the inflammatory response. The repertoire of lymphocytes includes B cells and conventional T cells of the adaptive immune system and NK cells, NKT cells, MAIT cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells of the innate immune system. These lymphocyte subsets play crucial roles in the inflammatory process by activating other immune cells through contact-dependent or cytokine-mediated interactions. Cellular therapies with lymphocytes are currently being tested to treat several inflammatory and autoimmune disorders [112, 287, 436]. Nonetheless, there is paucity of information about the relative roles lymphocyte subsets in inflammation associated with NE.

Under normal physiological conditions, the BBB is not permeable to T lymphocytes, however, high levels of CD4⁺ T cells in the brain are characteristic of the immune response after ischemia in mice [102]. In one week after HIE, CD4⁺ T cells reached their peak amount and remained within the brain for up to 35 days. This led to the recruitment of more immune cells, particularly CD8⁺ T cells, as observed in an HIE rat model. Notably, these cells stayed in the CNS for up to 3-months after the initial insults [248]. Albertsson and his workers supported this by showing that a biphasic influx of CD4⁺

occurred on day 1 day and a week after hypoxic-ischemic insult in the experimental mouse model [437].

Cytokines play fundamental roles in regulating the immune system, by promoting the proliferation, differentiation, activation and regulation of most types of leukocytes [438]. Many cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, IFN- γ , and TNF- α , are involved in inflammatory responses in vivo [439]. These cytokines can activate inflammatory cells such as neutrophils and monocytes/macrophages. These cytokine-activated cells may release toxic substances, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) and toxic granules including proteolytic enzymes and [440]. Thus, various cytokines are associated with the pathophysiology of ischemia-reperfusion-associated injury [441].

Several studies have demonstrated that cytokines and chemokines mediate neuroinflammation in NE [442-445]. Cytokines are released in animal models of brain injury due to infection, trauma, excitotoxicity, and hypoxia-ischemia [442]. Animal and human studies have also demonstrated specific cytokine trajectories after a hypoxic-ischemic insult. Typically, cytokine levels peak within 12–24 hours post-insult, but some cytokines have shown a biphasic pattern [443]. Given the implicated role of cytokines in the evolution of neonatal brain injury and the dynamic nature of cytokine release after a hypoxic-ischemic insult, investigation of serial cytokine levels offers a promising avenue for identifying biomarkers of ongoing brain injury in newborns with HIE.

Dammann and co-workers (2011) have observed that in humans and experimental animal models of NE that there is an increase in the expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and TNF- α , within the brain, following perinatal brain damage by pathogens or hypoxic injury [4]. O'Hare and co-workers confirmed a significant alteration in serum cytokine profiles in neonates who need resuscitation during delivery. They also showed that these neonates had raised GM-CSF levels during the first 24 hours [83], while Jenkins and co-workers demonstrated that serum levels of IL-8, IL-6 and IL-10 were higher in the first two days of life during treatment with TH in comparison to non-cooling NE babies. In these babies, TNF and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) levels were lower than control group at 72-96 hour [443]. Cytokine and chemokine actions may play speific roles in each phase of injury and recovery.

Understanding the responses of pro-and anti-inflammatory cytokines in NE may facilitate strategies to modulate the inflammatory response and decrease brain injury. Further research is needed to develop diagnostic, predictive, and prognostic serum biomarkers of brain injury in high-risk groups of neonates that are sensitive, specific, reliable, accurate and reflect the degree of brain injury and the injury's timing. These biomarkers may be used to predict the response to treatment and prediction of long-term outcomes.

4.2 Hypothesis and aims

4.2.1 Hypothesis

Lymphocytes control the inflammatory responses that contribute to NE and immunological interventions which target these cells will serve as an adjunct therapy to hypothermia.

4.2.2 Aims

The overall aim is to perform an in-depth phenotypic and functional characterization of the lymphoid cell compartment in blood and to analyse serum cytokine profiles in neonates with NE, school-age children post-NE and children with cerebral palsy and to compare them with those in age matched control subjects. The specific objectives are as follows: 1. To enumerate and phenotypically characterize circulating T cells, B cells, NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets, MAIT cells, and iNKT cells in healthy neonates, neonates with NE, healthy school-age children, school-age children with a history of NE but who are clinically stable, and school-age children with cerebral palsy.

2. To measure serum cytokine levels in the five subject groups.

3. To compare the abilities of selected lymphocyte populations, form neonatal group to produce cytokines and cytotoxic mediators in response to stimulation *in vitro*.

4. To compare the expression of transcription factors that polarise adaptive immune responses by selected populations of lymphocytes in the patient and control groups.

4.3 Specific methods

4.3.1 Ethical Approval

Ethical committee approval for this study was granted from four tertiary referral, university-affiliated maternity hospitals in Dublin, Ireland – the Coombe Women and Infants University Hospital, the National Maternity Hospital, Holles Street Hospital, the National Children's Hospital Tallaght and the Rotunda Hospital. All parents of children who participated in the current study gave were informed written consent.

4.3.2 Patient specimens

Venous blood samples were obtained from 30 term neonates with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 school age-children with a history of NE but who were clinically stable, 10 children with cerebral palsy, and 23 healthy school age children. The neonates with NE included 2 infants at stage I, 25 at stage II and 3 for stage III. Since subject numbers in some stages were low, we combined the patients in stages I, II and III. Blood from neonates was taken after normal vaginal delivery. Blood from healthy school-age children was taken on the day of surgical procedures for example, tonsillectomy, adenoidectomy.

4.3.3 Blood sample processing

Blood samples were obtained in sodium citrate anticoagulated blood tubes and processed within 2 h of sample acquisition. Serum samples were collected and were centrifugated at 450g for 5 min and the supernatants were stored at -80°C until batch cytokine analysis was carried out.

4.3.4 Lymphocyte subset enumeration and phenotyping

50-100 µl of whole blood was stained for 15 minutes in the dark at room temperature with a live/dead cell stain (Fixable Viability Dye eFlour 506) diluted 1/1000 with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Cells were then stained for 15 min at room temperature with monoclonal antibodies (mAb) specific for CD3 (clones UCHT1 or BW264/56), CD4 (OKT4), CD8 (SK1), CD19 (HIB19), CD56 (HCD56), CD69 (FN50), CD161 (HP-3G10), and the Va7.2 (clone REA179), Va24Ja18 (6B11), Vo1 (B1), and Vo2 (B6), T cell receptors (TCR) found on MAIT cells, invariant NKT (iNKT) cells and the two most common subsets of human $\gamma\delta$ cells, respectively. MAbs were diluted to pre-determined concentrations in PBA buffer (PBS containing 2% fetal calf serum and 0.02% sodium azide). After staining, cells were washed twice in PBA buffer and red cells were lysed in 1 ml FACS lysis buffer Finally, the cells were washed with PBA buffer, fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde and analysed on a BD FACS Canto II flow cytometer. Gate limits were determined using unstained and fluorescence-minus-one controls and analysed with FlowJo software. T cells were defined as CD3⁺ cells. NK cells were defined as CD3⁻ CD56⁺ cells, B cells were defined as CD3⁻ CD19⁺ cells. MAIT cells were defined as CD3⁺ V α 7.2⁺ CD161⁺ cells and iNKT cells were defined as CD3⁺ V α 24J α 18⁺ cells. Vδ1 and Vδ2 T cells were defined as cells expressing CD3 and the Vδ1 or Vδ2 TCRs, respectively. Circulating cell frequencies (%) were determined by flow cytometry and absolute numbers (per litre of blood) were calculated from viable cell counts as

determined by fluorescence microscopy. The flow cytometric gating strategy used to detect these cells is shown in Figure 2.1.

4.3.5 Measurement of serum cytokine levels

Serum cytokine levels were analysed using the U Plex biomarker group 1 multiplex assay for human IFN- γ ,TNF- α IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-12, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23, purchased from Mesoscale Discovery (Rockville, USA), according to the manufacturers' instructions. This method employs a 96-well sandwich immunoassay which can quantify up to 10 analytes in 25 µl samples. As described in section 2.8.4.

4.3.6 Analysis of intracellular cytokine production

Whole blood (50 µl) was plated in wells of a 96-well flat bottom microtiter plates and stimulated for 18 hours at 37°C, 5% CO₂ with either medium alone, 50 ng/ml phorbol myristate acetate with 1 µg/ml ionomycin (PMA/I), recombinant human IL-12 (50 ng/ml) with IL-18 (50 ng/ml), IL-12 (30 ng/ml) with IL-15 (100 ng/ml) or the ligand recognised by the V δ 2 TCR (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate (HMB-PP; 10 nM). Brefeldin A was added for the last 4 hours to prevent cytokine secretion from the cells. Full details are described in section 2.4.6.

4.3.7 Statistical analysis

GraphPad Prism Version 9 was used to perform statistical analyses. Mann–Whitney and Student t tests were used where appropriate for comparison between two groups, as indicated. ANOVA or Kruskal–Wallis analysis was used when multiple groups were compared based on the variance of the dataset. Statistical significance was described as *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, and ***p < 0.001.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Patient demographics

Thirty neonates with NE and 17 healthy neonates were recruited. The mean (\pm SD) gestational ages of the neonates with NE was 39.4 \pm 1.5 weeks and the mean birth weight was 3.5 \pm 0.5 kg. The mean gestational age of the healthy neonates was 38.5 \pm 1 weeks and the mean birth weight was 3.5 \pm 3.0 kg. Patient demographics, including sex, Apgar scores at 1, 5 and 10 minutes after birth, and history of seizures, are shown in Table 4.1 Ten school-age children with a history of NE, all of whom were were clinically stable, 10 children with CP, and 23 age-matched healthy children were also recruited. Patient demographics, including sex, Apgar scores at 1, 5 and 10 minutes after birth, and no significant medical healthy children were not available. All control subjects had no significant medical history and there was no recent history of fever or infection at the time of blood sampling.
Variables		NE-I	NE-II	NE-III
		(n=2)	(n=23)	(n=3)
GA (wks) ^a		39.48 ± 1.47	39.44 ± 1.45	39.87± 1.54
BW (kg)		3.55 ± 519	3.55 ± 519	3.72 ± 46
Gender, male, n (%) ^b		1 (50)	56%	1 (33)
Mode of delivery (%)	LSCS	0 (0)	9 (39)	0 (0)
	SVD	2 (100)	10 (43)	3 (100)
	Inst	0 (0)	4 (18)	0 (0)
Apgar @1 min ^a		3.25 ± 2.29	3.4 ±2.42	3.28 ± 2.58
Apgar @5 min ^a		4.74 ± 2.53	4.89 ± 2.61	4.14 ± 2.74
Apgar @10 min ^a		5.74 ± -2.58	5.87 ± 2.60	5.21 ± 2.93
TH, n (%) ^b		2 (100)	23 (100)	3 (100)
Seizures, n (%) ^b		N/A	13 (57)	3 (100)
MRI-Abnormal, n (%) ^b		1 (50)	17 (74)	3 (100)
Cord Arterial PH ^a		6.962 ± 0.05	7.14+/- 0.22	7.47+/- 0.12
Cord Arterial BE ^a		-14.55 ± 2.5	-10.94+/- 10.86	-11.34+/- 9.4
CPR, yes (%) ^b		0 (0)	13 (57)	3 (100)
Intubated, yes (%) ^b		0 (0)	19 (83)	3 (100)

Table 0-1 Demographics of neonatal NE patients

Mild NE = Grade NE-1, Moderate to severe NE = NEII/III, GA = Gestational Age; BW = Birth Weight; LSCS = Lower Section Caesarean Section; SVD = Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery; Inst = Instrumental delivery

•

Variables		Control	NE I-II	NE II -III	СР
		(n=23)	(n=4)	(n=6)	(n= 10)
GA (wks) ^a		40 ± 0.6	39.7 ± 1.4	40.5±1.21	39.7 ± 1.5
BW (kg)		3.5 ± 0.5	3.46 ± 0.58	3.62 ± 0.61	3.69 ± 0.09
Gender, male, n (%) ^b		18 (78)	4(100)	3(50)	7 (70)
Mode of delivery (%)	LSCS	20 (87)	2 (50)	4 (67)	6 (60)
	SVD	2 (100)	1 (25)	1 (25)	2 (20)
	Inst	1 (4)	1 (25)	1 (25)	1 (10)
Mean age at examination, year		10	N/A	4.5 ± 0.5	7 ± 3.4
Apgar @1 min ^a		9	5	2±3	N/A
Apgar @5 min ^a		9	7 ± 1.61	4 ± 2.74	N/A
Apgar @10 min ^a		N/A	7.5 ± 1.80	5 ± 2.4	N/A
TH, n (%) ^b		N/A	1 (25)	5 (83)	N/A
Seizures, n (%) ^b		N/A	0(0)	4 (67)	N/A
MRI-Abnormal, n (%) ^b		N/A	1 (25)	3 (50)	

Table 4-2Demographics of school age children with NE and their age control

Mild NE = Grade NE-1, Moderate to severe NE = NEII/III, GA = Gestational Age; BW = Birth Weight; LSCS = Lower Section Caesarean Section; SVD = Spontaneous Vaginal Delivery; Inst = Instrumental delivery

4.4.2 Distribution of circulating lymphocyte populations in neonates and schoolage children with NE

4.2.2.1 T cell numbers and frequencies are raised in children with CP, but normal in neonates and children with NE

Samples of whole blood obtained from 30 term infants with NE, 17 healthy neonates, 10 school-age children with NE, 10 patients with CP and 23 healthy school-age children were stained with mAb specific for CD3 and CD19 (Figure. 4.1A). After gating on lymphocytes and exclusion of doublets and dead cells, the percentage frequencies of lymphocytes that expressed CD3 in the absence of CD19 were determined by flow cytometry (Figure. 4.1B) and absolute numbers of T cells were calculated from viable cell counts as determined by fluorescence microscopy (Figure. 4.1C). There was no significant variation between percentages or numbers of T cells in NE patients compared with age-matched controls. However, both T cell frequencies and absolute counts were significantly higher in the CP group compared to age matched controls (P<0.05).

4.2.2.2 B cell frequencies are higher in NE samples from neonatal patients and school age-children patients but lower in the CP group

Samples of whole blood obtained from 30 term infants with NE, 17 healthy neonates, 10 school-age children with NE, 10 patients with CP and 23 healthy school-age children were stained with mAbs specific for CD3 and CD19. After gating on lymphocytes, doublets and exclusion of dead cells, B cell frequencies were determined from the percentages of lymphocytes that expressed CD19 in the absence of CD3 (Figure 4.2A and B) and absolute numbers were calculated from the viable cell counts (Figure. 4.2C).

Figure 4.2B shows that the frequencies of B cells were significantly higher both in neonatal and school-age children with NE compared to their healthy counterparts (p < 0.05). However, a statistically significant difference in the absolute cell numbers was

only observed in school-age children (Figure 4.2C). Interestingly, B cell frequencies were significantly lower in children with CP compared to age matched healthy children (Figure 4.2B),

4.2.2.3 NK cells frequencies are significantly lower in neonatal NE compared to agematched healthy neonates

Samples of whole blood collected from 30 term neonates with NE, 17 healthy term babies, 10 school-age children with NE, 10 patients with CP and 23 healthy school-age children were stained with mAbs specific for CD3 and CD56. After gating on lymphocytes and exclusion of doublets and dead cells, NK cell frequencies were determined from the percentages of live lymphocytes that expressed CD56 in the absence of CD3 using flow cytometry (Figure 4.4A) The percentages but not absolute numbers of NK cells, were significantly lower in neonates with NE compared to healthy neonates (Figure 3 B and C). NK cell numbers and frequencies were similar in the other subject groups.

4.2.2.4 T cell expression of CD4 and CD8 in the subject groups

T cells were further examined on the basis of CD4 and CD8 positivity to assess whether there were any variations between NE and CP patients and age-matched controls. Samples of whole blood were stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD4 and CD8 and analysed by flow cytometry. After gating on singlet, live, CD3⁺ lymphocytes, the frequencies and absolute numbers of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺, CD4⁺CD8⁺ and CD4⁻CD8⁻ were determined (Figure 4.4 - 4.7). The absolute numbers of CD4⁺ T cells were similar in healthy neonates and neonates with NE but higher in school-aged children who had NE and children with CP compared to healthy age-matched children (Figure 4.4C). However, the frequencies of the CD4⁺ T cells as percentages of total T cells were similar in all subject groups (Figure 4.4B). The frequencies and absolute numbers of CD8⁺ T cells were similar in all subject groups, except for the children with CP who had higher numbers of these cells compared to healthy school-age children (Figure. 4.5). The frequencies of double-negative CD4⁻ CD8⁻ and double-positive CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells were elevated in school-age children post NE compared to healthy subjects (Figure 4.6 and 4.7). Double negative (DN) CD4⁻ CD8⁻ T cell frequencies were also elevated in the CP group; however, these increases were not significant when absolute numbers of DN cells were compared. In contrast, the absolute numbers of double positive CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells were significantly higher in the school age children who had a history of NE and in those with CP.



Figure 4.1 Enumeration of circulating T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3 and CD19, and a dead cell stain and the frequency of T cells (CD3⁺CD19⁻) were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of T cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.2 Enumeration of circulating B cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3 and CD19 and a dead cell stain (A). The frequency of B cells (CD19⁺CD3⁻) were analysed by flow cytometry. B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of B cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.3 Enumeration of circulating NK cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD56 and a dead cell stain and analysed by flow cytometry. The frequencies of NK cells (CD56⁺CD3⁻) were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of NK cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.4 Enumeration of circulating CD4⁺CD8⁻ T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD4, CD8 and a dead cell stain. The frequency of CD4 cells (CD4⁺CD8⁻CD3⁺) were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of CD4 T cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.5 Enumeration of circulating CD8⁺CD4⁻ cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD4 and CD8 and a dead cell stain. The frequency of CD8 T cells (CD8⁺CD3⁺) were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of CD8 cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.6 Enumeration of circulating double positive T cells ($CD4^+CD8^+$) subsets in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy schoolage children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD4 and CD8 and a dead cell stain. The frequency of double positive T cells ($CD4^+CD8^+CD3^+$) were analysed by flowcytometry (A). A and B, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of double positive T cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.7 Enumeration of circulating double negative (CD4⁻CD8⁻) T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE, children with CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD4 and CD8 and a dead cell stain. The frequencies of DN T cells (CD4⁻CD8⁻CD3⁺) were analysed by flowcytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of DN T cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.

4.4.3 Innate T cells in neonates and school-age children with NE

4.4.3.1 Vδ1 T cell frequencies are depleted in children with CP compared to age matched healthy children

Whole blood from the neonates with NE, healthy neonates, school-age children with NE and CP and healthy school-age children was phenotyped to assess any variations in circulating V δ 1 T cells in patients compared to healthy controls. Cells were stained with anti-V δ 1 and anti-CD3 mAbs and analysed by flow cytometry after gating on lymphocytes and exclusion of doublets and dead cells (Figure. 4.8A). Figure 4.8 B and C show that the frequencies and absolute numbers of circulating V δ 1 T cells were significantly decreased in the CP patients compared to healthy controls. The frequencies and numbers of V δ 1 T cells were similar in neonates and school-age children with NE compared to age-matched controls.

4.4.3.2 The frequencies and absolute numbers of V δ 2 T cells were significantly higher in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP compared to agematched controls

Whole blood from the neonates with NE, healthy neonates, school-age children with NE and CP and healthy school-age children was stained with mAbs specific for CD3 and the TCR V δ 2-chain and analysed by flow cytometry after gating on lymphocytes and exclusion of doublets and dead cells. V δ 2 T cell frequencies were determined from the percentages of T cells that expressed V δ 2 and CD3 (Figure. 4.9A).

Strikingly, the Mann-Whitney U test revealed that the frequencies and absolute numbers of V δ 2 T cells were significantly higher in neonates and school-age children with NE compared to age-matched controls (p<0.05 in all cases) (Figure 4.9 B and C).

Vδ2 T cell frequencies and absolute numbers were also significantly higher in the schoolage children with CP compared to healthy children, (Figure 4.9 B and C).

4.4.3.3 Circulating MAIT cell frequencies are similar in NE patients and healthy controls

Whole blood from the neonates with NE, healthy neonates, school-age children with NE and CP and healthy school-age children was phenotyped to assess any variations in circulating MAIT cells. Cells were stained with antibodies specific for CD161, CD3 and the V α 7.2 TCR, and analysed by flow cytometry. After gating on lymphocytes and exclusion of doublets and dead cells MAIT cells were defined as cells positive for CD3, CD161 and V α 7.2 (Figure. 4.10A and B). Figure 4.10 C shows that MAIT cells frequencies were very low numbers in healthy neonates and neonates with NE. These cells expanded to up to 9% of circulating T cells in healthy school-age children. MAIT cells were found at slightly lower frequencies and numbers in school-age children with NE. However, MAIT cell frequencies were significantly lower in children with CP compared to healthy age matched children (p<0.05). Absolute numbers of MAIT cells showed the same trend in the different groups, as shown in (Figure 4.10 D), but the differences did not reach statistical significance.

4.4.3.4 Circulating iNKT cell frequencies and numbers are higher in neonates and children with NE

Whole blood samples from patients with NE, CP and healthy donors were stained with anti- V α 24J α 18 and anti-CD3 mAb and analysed by flow cytometry. After gating on lymphocytes, dead cells and doublets were excluded and iNKT cells were defined as CD3⁺ V α 24J α 18⁺ cells (Figure 4.11A). Figure 4.11B shows that iNKT cell frequencies were significantly higher in neonates and school age children with NE and CP when

compared with age-matched healthy controls (p<0.05, 0.05 and 0.001, respectively). Figure 4.11C shows that the absolute numbers of circulating iNKT cells in NE and CP patients were also significantly higher than in age-matched control subjects. Collectively, these data suggest that V δ 2 T cells and iNKT cells may have roles in the inflammatory processes that lead to NE and CP.



Figure 4.8 Enumeration of circulating V δ 1 T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE and CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, TCR V δ 1 and a dead cell stain. The frequencies of V δ 1 T cells were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of V δ 1 T cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test



Figure 4.9 Enumeration of circulating V δ 2 T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE and CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, V δ 2 and a dead cell stain. The frequencies of V δ 2 T cells were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of V δ 2 T cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.10 Enumeration of circulating MAIT cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE and CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD161, Va7.2 and a dead cell stain. The frequencies of MAIT cells (CD3⁺ CD161⁺ Va7.2⁺) were analysed by flow cytometry (A and B). C and D, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (C) and absolute numbers (D) of MAIT cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.11 Enumeration of circulating iNKT cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE and CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, Va24Ja18 TCR and a dead cell stain. The frequency of iNKT cells (CD3+ Va24Ja18⁺) were analysed by flow cytometry (A). B and C, Scatter plots showing percentages frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of iNKT cells in each subject group. Error bars show means \pm SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.

4.4.4 Lymphocytes from NE patients display higher expression of CD69

To investigate if T cells, NK cells, MAIT cells, and V δ 2 T cells are activated, or primed for activation in vivo during NE, cell-surface expression of CD69 by these cells was measured in whole blood by flow cytometry (Fig. 4.12A). CD69 expression on freshly isolated T cells was found significantly more frequently in neonatal and school-aged NE patients compared to T cells from age-matched healthy controls (p<0.0001 in all cases, Figure. 4.12B). NK cells from NE patients with NE and healthy subjects upregulated CD69 expression significantly in all groups compared to their healthy counterparts (p<0.05-0.0001 in all cases; Figure 4.12C). Similarly, with MAIT and V δ 2 T cells, CD69 expression was significantly more frequent in all groups when compared to healthy controls (p< 0.0001), (Figure 4.12 D and E).



Figure 4.12 Expression of activation marker CD69 by T cells, NK cells, MAIT cells and V δ 2 T cells in neonatal and school-age children with NE and CP and healthy control subjects. Blood samples were obtained from 30 neonatal NE patients, 10 school-age children with NE, 17 healthy term neonates, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age children. Whole blood was stained with antibodies specific for CD3, CD56, CD161, Va7.2, TCR V δ 2, CD69 and a dead cell stain. The frequencies of T cells, NK cells, V δ 2 and MAIT cells were analysed by flowcytometry (A). B-E, Scatter plots showing percentages of T cells (B), NK cells (C), MAIT cells (D), and V δ 2 T cells (E) in each subject group that expressed CD69. Error bars show means ± SEM. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test

4.4.5 Lymphocytes from NE patients display higher expression of the transcription factors T-bet, Foxp3 and RORyt than lymphocytes from age-matched control subjects

Selective activation of transcription factors plays a fundamental role in the development of neurodevelopmental diseases, including epilepsy, intellectual impairment, autism spectrum disorders and CP [446]. We examined the expression of key transcription factors associated with CD4 T cell activation in whole blood taken from 7 healthy neonates and 10 neonates with NE following activation *ex vivo*. We examined the production of T-bet, Foxp3 and ROR γ t, which drive Th1,Tregs and Th17 cells respectively [10–12].

Whole blood from 7 healthy neonates and 10 neonates was stimulated with medium alone, PMA/I, or IL-12 + IL-18 in the presence of brefeldin A. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface CD3, CD4 and intracellular T-bet, GATA3, Foxp3 and RORγt and analysed by flow cytometry

Figure 4.13 shows that CD4⁺ T cells from neonates with NE, frequently expressed Tbet in response to stimulation with PMA/I or IL-12 with IL-18 compared to CD4 T cells from their age matched healthy controls (Figure. 4.1B; p<0.0001). Thus, although the numbers of T cells are similar in babies with NE and healthy neonates, the babies with NE patients had significantly higher numbers of effector T cells capable of inducing Th1 responses. These data suggest that T-bet may also play a significant role in the development of inflammation of NE.

As seen in Figure 4.14, CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ T cells from neonates with NE more frequently expressed Foxp3 in response to stimulation with PMA/I, but not IL-12 and IL-18, when compared to CD4 T cells from their age matched healthy controls (p<0.0001).

ROR γ t was also expressed by higher proportions of CD4⁺ and CD4⁻ T cells from neonates with NE than from their counterparts from healthy neonates after stimulation with PMA/I. Stimulation with IL-12 with IL-18 also resulted in slightly higher frequencies of ROR γ t production by CD4⁺ T- cells from babies with NE compared to unstimulated CD4⁺ T cells (Figure 4.14).

Taken together, these results provide evidence for increased production of t-bet, RORγt, and Foxp3, key promoters of Th1, Th17 cell and Treg differentiation respectively, in newborn babies with NE.



Figure 4.13 Flow cytometric analysis of T-bet transcription factor production by $CD4^+$ T cells in whole blood. A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD4 and T-bet⁺ expression by gated CD4 T cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium, PMA/I, or IL-12 + IL-18 for 18 h. B, Mean (± SEM) percentages of CD4 T cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that expressed T-bet upon stimulation ex vivo. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.14 Flow cytometric analysis of Foxp3 transcription factor production by $CD4^+ T$ cells in whole blood. A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD4 and Foxp3⁺ expression by gated CD3⁺ T cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium PMA/I, or IL-12 + IL-18 for 18 h. B and C, Mean (± SEM) percentages of CD4⁺ T cells (B) and CD4⁻ T cells (C) from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that express FoxP3 upon stimulation ex vivo. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.15 Flow cytometric analysis of ROR γ t transcription factor production by CD4⁺ T cells in whole blood. A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD4 and ROR γ t⁺ expression by gated CD4 T cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium PMA/I, or IL-12 + IL-18 for 18 h. B and C, Mean (± SEM) percentages of CD4⁺ T cells (B) and CD4⁻ T cells (C) from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that express ROR γ t upon stimulation ex vivo. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.

4.4.6 Serum cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE

The levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-12p70, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 in serum samples from healthy neonates, neonates with NE, healthy school-age children and school-age children with NE and CP (n=10 in each group) were measured by multiplex immunoassay. Figure 4.16 shows that the serum levels of the Th1-associated cytokines, IFN- γ , TNF- α and IL-12p70, were similar in all subject groups. However, the levels of IL-2 were significantly lower in neonates with NE compared to healthy neonates (P<0.001) and were elevated in school-age children with NE and CP compared to age-matched control subjects (P<0.001).

Analysis of serum levels of Th2 cytokines (Figure 4.17) indicated that the levels of IL-4, IL-5 and IL-10 were similar in all subject groups, but the levels of IL-9 were higher in the school-age children with NE compared to age-matched control subjects. A similar elevation in IL-9 levels was detected in the CP children but this difference did not reach statistical significance.

No differences in the serum levels of the Th17-associated cytokines, IL-17, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 were found in any of the subject groups (Figure 4.18). Analysis of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 (Figure 4.19) revealed that IL-6 levels were slightly higher in the neonates with NE compared to healthy term infants and IL-8 levels were significantly higher in neonates and school children compare to the age-matched control groups (P<001 and P<0.01 respectively). However, IL-8 levels were normal in the children with CP.



Figure 4.16 Serum Th1-associated cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP and in aged-matched healthy donors. Serum from healthy neonates, neonates with NE, healthy school-age children and school-age children with NE and CP (n=10 in each group) were assayed for levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-12p70 and IL-2 using multiplex ELISA. Bars show the mean (\pm SEM) cytokine levels. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.



Figure 4.17 Serum Th2 cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP and in aged-matched healthy donors. Serum from healthy neonates, neonates with NE, healthy school-age children and school-age children with NE and CP (n=10 in each group) were assayed for levels of IL-4, IL-5, IL-9 and IL-10 using multiplex ELISA. Bars show the mean (±SEM) cytokine levels. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test



Figure 4.18 Serum Th17 cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP and in aged-matched healthy donors. Serum from healthy neonates, neonates with NE, healthy school-age children and school-age children with NE and CP (n=10 in each group) were assayed for levels IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22, and IL-23 using multiplex ELISA. Bars show the mean (±SEM) cytokine levels. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test. No significant differences were observed between the cytokine's levels from patient-matched groups.



Figure 4.19 Proinflammatory cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP and in aged-matched healthy donors. Serum from healthy neonates, neonates with NE, healthy school-age children and school-age children with NE and CP (n=10 in each group) were assayed for levels of IL-6 and IL-8 using multiplex ELISA. Bars show the mean (±SEM) cytokine levels. Data were compared using Mann-Whitney U test.

4.4.7 Ex vivo cytokine and granzyme B production by T cells from healthy neonates and neonates with NE

Since V δ 2 cells were found to be significantly expanded in neonates with NE compared to healthy neonates, we next investigated cytokine and cytotoxic mediator production by these cells taken from 7 healthy neonates and 10 neonates with NE following activation *ex vivo*. We also measured these functional readouts in total T cells and NK cells.

Whole blood was stimulated with medium alone, PMA/I, IL-12 + IL-18 (for T cells and V δ 2 T cells), IL-12 + IL-15 (for NK cells) or HMB-PP (for V δ 2 T cells) in the presence of brefeldin A. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface CD3, CD56 and the V δ 2 TCR and intracellular IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17A and granzyme B and analysed by flow cytometry (Figure. 4.20A). Figure 4.20B demonstrates that IFN- γ was produced by significantly higher numbers of total T cells from neonates with NE in response to stimulation with PMA/I or IL-12 and IL-18, compared to T cells from their age matched healthy controls. Similar results were observed for TNF- α and IL-17A (Figure. 4.20B), which were produced by higher frequencies of T cells from neonates with NE than from healthy neonates after stimulation with PMA/I. Stimulation with PMA/I or IL-12 with IL-18 also resulted in significantly higher frequencies of granzyme B production by total T cells from babies with NE (Figure 4.20C). Thus, although the numbers of T cells are similar in babies with NE and healthy neonates, the babies with NE patients had significantly higher numbers of effector T cells capable of producing inflammatory cytokines and cytotoxic mediators.

152



Figure 4.20 Cytokine and granzyme B production by T cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE). A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD3 and IFN- γ expression by gated lymphocytes in whole blood after stimulation with medium PMA/I, or IL-12 + IL-18. B, Mean (± SEM) percentages of T cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines upon stimulation ex vivo. C, Mean (±SEM) fluorescence intensity staining for granzyme B in T cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) upon stimulation ex vivo. Cell frequencies in subject groups were compared using the Mann Whitney U statistical test.

4.4.8 Ex vivo cytokine and granzyme B production by NK cells from healthy neonates and neonates with NE

Since the percentages but not absolute numbers of NK cells, were significantly lower in neonates with NE compared to healthy neonates (Figure 4.3B) and the expression of CD69 expression on NK cells was significantly higher in NE patients compared to NK cells from controls in both groups (Figure 4.12C). we investigated the ability of NK cells to produce-cytokines and granzyme B *ex vivo* by intracellular flow cytometry. Fresh blood samples were stimulated for 18 hours with medium alone PMA/I or IL-12 and IL-15 in the presence of brefeldin A. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface CD3, CD56 and intracellular IFN- γ , TNF- α , and granzyme B and analysed by flow cytometry (Figure 4.21A).

Upon stimulation with IL-12 + IL-15, but not with PMA/I, NK cells produced IFN- γ and TNF- α and this occurred more frequently in NK cells from neonates with NE compared to healthy neonates (Figure 4.21B). NK cells from neonates with NE also stained more powerfully for granzyme B in response to either stimulus compared to NK cells from healthy neonates (Figure 4.21C).

These data suggest that, although the frequencies of NK cells are significantly lower in babies with NE and healthy neonates, the babies with NE patients had significantly higher numbers of effector T cells capable of producing inflammatory cytokines and cytotoxic mediators.

154



Figure 4.21 Cytokine and granzyme B production by NK cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE). A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD56 and IFN- γ expression by gated CD3-negative cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium or IL-12 + IL-15. B, mean (±SEM) percentages of NK cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines upon stimulation ex vivo. C, mean (±SEM) fluorescence intensity staining for granzyme B in NK cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce granzyme B upon stimulation ex vivo. Samples were compared using a non-parametric Mann-Whitney test analysis, P < 0.001.

4.4.9 Activation of Vδ2 T cells from patients with NE and healthy controls

In section 4.4.3.2, we showed that the frequencies and absolute numbers of circulating V δ 2 T cells are significantly higher in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP compared to age matched control subjects (Figure. 4.9). We next investigated activation, cytokine and cytotoxic mediator production by these cells taken from 7 healthy term babies and 10 neonates with NE following activation *ex vivo*.

Fresh whole blood samples were stimulated with PMA/I, IL-12 and IL-18 or HMB-PP for 18 hours and expression of the activation marker CD69 by gated V δ 2 T cells was analysed by flow cytometry (Figure. 4.22 A and B). CD69 was induced on some V δ 2 T cells following activation by PMA/I, the cytokines, or HMB-PP. Higher frequencies of V δ 2 T cells from neonates with NE expressed this activation marker than V δ 2 T cells from healthy neonates (Figure. 4.22C).

Significantly higher frequencies of V δ 2 T cells from babies with NE produced IFN- γ and TNF- α compared to V δ 2 T cells from healthy neonates (Figure 4.23). This was found after stimulation with PMA/ionomycin, IL-12 + IL-18, or the V δ 2 T cell antigen HMB-PP. V δ 2 T cells from babies with NE also more frequently produced IL-17 in response to stimulation with PMA/I. Interestingly, activation of V δ 2 T cells with IL-12 with IL-18 or HMB-PP, but not with PMA/I, resulted in granzyme B production and this was significantly higher among V δ 2 T cells from babies with NE compared to control neonates. Collectively, these results show that V δ 2 T cells are both expanded and activated in babies with NE.


Figure 4.22 Mean (\pm SEM) percentages of V $\delta 2$ T cells from healthy neonates (n=7) and neonates with NE (n=10) that express CD69 upon stimulation ex vivo. A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing gated V $\delta 2^+$ CD3⁺ positive cells in whole blood. B, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD69 expression by gated V $\delta 2^+$ CD3⁺ positive cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium or IL-12 with IL-18, PMA/I, or HMB-PP for 24 hours at 37°C. Brefeldin A was added for the last 4 hours. Cells were then stained for cell surface CD3, V $\delta 2$ TCR and CD69 and analysed by flow cytometry. C, Bar charts showing mean (\pm SEM) percentages of V $\delta 2$ T cells that express CD69 upon stimulation. Samples were compared using Mann-Whitney statistical analysis.



Figure 4.23 Cytokine and granzyme B production by V $\delta 2$ T cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE). A Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing V $\delta 2$ TCR and IFN- γ expression by gated CD3⁺ positive cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium or PMA with ionomycin (PMA/I) B, mean (±SEM) percentages of V $\delta 2$ T cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines upon stimulation ex vivo. C, mean (±SEM) fluorescence intensity staining for granzyme B in V $\delta 2$ cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) upon stimulation ex vivo. Samples were compared using the Mann-Whitney test.

4.5 Discussion

Inflammation plays a major role in brain injury associated with NE. It is characterised by astrocyte and microglial cell activation and the release of inflammatory cytokines which result in the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to the brain [427, 447, 448]. Circulating immune cell activation is also associated with poor outcome in brain injury. Neonates with NE have increased numbers of monocytes and neutrophils with dysregulated functions [92, 449] and elevated serum levels of inflammatory cytokines, which are associated with poor developmental outcomes and mortality [450, 451]. The importance of neutrophils in brain injury following hypoxia ischemia is clear from animal studies, where neutrophil depletion can reduce brain injury [452, 453]. The serum cytokine levels in the subjects in the present study are consistent with a role for neutrophils in NE. We found that IL-8, which promotes neutrophil recruitment and activation, was present at higher levels in neonates and children with NE compared to healthy age-matched controls. Cytokine dysregulation by neutrophils in neonates with NE is long-lasting and persists into childhood [86, 448, 454].

While effector cells of the innate immune system clearly contribute to the pathogenesis of NE, little is known about the role of lymphocytes, the central controllers of innate and adaptive immune responses. In view of the persistent nature of inflammation in NE and CP [86, 448, 454, 455], it is likely that conventional T cells and B cells of the adaptive immune system control the actions of neutrophils and monocytes through cytokine and antibody production. Activated CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells infiltrate the brain in the tertiary phase of injury following hypoxia-ischemia in mice [248, 295] Depletion studies have demonstrated pathological [378] and protective [456] roles for T cells, suggesting distinct roles for different T cell subsets [457]. B cells also infiltrate the brains of mice following

hypoxia ischemia [295] and regulatory B cells may contribute to protection against brain injury via the release of IL-10 [458].

In the present study, we measured the absolute numbers and percentage frequencies of circulating B cells and T cells in neonates with NE, healthy neonates, school-age children with NE, school-age children with CP, and healthy school-age children. We found that B cell frequencies and numbers were significantly higher in neonates and school-age children with NE compared to healthy age-matched children. The numbers and frequencies of total T cells were higher in children with CP but similar in the other subject groups. Analysis of CD4 and CD8 expression by these T cells revealed that CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell frequencies were similar in the five subject groups, but CD4⁻CD8⁻ and CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells were present in greater numbers in school-age who had NE compared to healthy school-age children and CD4⁻CD8⁻ T cells were also expanded in children with CP. These data suggest a role for unconventional T cells, such as iNKT cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which frequently are negative for CD4 and CD8, in the pathogenesis of NE.

To further analyse functional subsets of T cells in neonates with NE and healthy neonates, we treated whole blood samples with T cell activators and compared the production of transcription factors, cytokines and cytotoxic mediators.

Functional studies showed that, upon stimulation *ex vivo*, T cells from neonates with NE also more frequently produced IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17 and granzyme B than T cells from healthy neonates, suggesting that they have previously been primed or activated. IFN- γ and TNF- α are T helper type 1 (Th1) cytokines which promote monocyte, macrophage and CD8⁺ T cell activation and cytotoxicity, whereas IL-17 is the signature Th17 cytokine, which promotes the recruitment and activation of neutrophils. The enhanced ability of T cells from patients with NE to produce Th1 and Th17 cytokines and the cytotoxic mediator granzyme B is consistent with a role for T cells in the maintenance

of the inflammatory responses seen in NE. However, we did not observe increases in the levels of Th1 or Th17 cytokines in the serum of NE patients, suggesting that T cell activation may be restricted to the brain. Future studies are required to determine if the numerical changes reflect movement of B cells and T cells to the brain or whether particular subsets of these cells, such as regulatory B cells [458] or Th1, Th2, Th17 or regulatory T cells [459] are numerically altered.

Future studies are also required to determine if the increased numbers of B cells in patients with NE are associated with higher serum immunoglobulin levels. However, the changes in B and T cell numbers and their altered state of activation suggest roles for the adaptive immune system in the pathogenesis of NE.

Our data also show that innate lymphocytes, such as NK cells, $\gamma\delta$ T cells, MAIT cells and iNKT cells, may also contribute to neuroinflammation in NE and CP. Innate T cells initiate, regulate and maintain innate and adaptive immune responses [112, 287, 436]. They recognise and respond to changes in the levels of metabolites, including lipids, pyrophosphates, riboflavin precursors and proteins, that are synthesised in response to cell stress, such as hypoxia, infection or tumour transformation. They respond by rapid cytotoxicity, potent cytokine release, and contact-dependent interactions with neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells and B cells. The innate lymphocytes, NK cells [244], $\gamma\delta$ T cells [294, 295] and iNKT cells [460] infiltrate the brains of mice following experimental hypoxia ischemia and contribute to brain injury.

We found that the frequencies of circulating NK cells were significantly lower in neonates with NE. Furthermore, NK cells from neonates with NE more readily expressed the activation marker CD69 and more readily produced IFN- γ , TNF- α and granzyme B in response to stimulation *ex vivo* than NK cells from healthy neonates.

As previously reported [461], we found that MAIT cells were found in very low numbers in neonates. These cells expanded in childhood and their frequencies and numbers were similar in healthy children and in children with NE but were less frequent in children with CP. The frequencies and absolute numbers of V δ 1 T cells were also lower in children with CP compared to age-matched healthy children. Future studies are required to determine if the depletions of these cells from blood are due to their trafficking from the blood to the brain.

A striking observation in the present study was significant increases in the frequencies and absolute numbers of iNKT cells and V δ 2 T cells in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP, compared to healthy children. These increases may account for the observed increases in CD4⁻CD8⁻ T cells in NE patients and may promote neuroinflammation via their well-documented abilities to produce early bursts of inflammatory cytokines, which lead to downstream activation of other cells of the immune system [112, 287, 436]. iNKT cells and V δ 2 T cells typically expand in response to glycolipids and pyrophosphates, respectively, produced by bacteria or by host cells responding to bacterial or viral infection, however future studies are required to determine if infection underlies the inflammation found in NE.

Whereas iNKT cells are found in insufficient numbers for functional studies using blood samples, we found that after stimulation *ex vivo*, significantly higher frequencies of V δ 2 T cells from neonates with NE produced IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17 and granzyme B compared to V δ 2 T cells from healthy neonates. Neonates have reduced capacity for mounting conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell responses, but V δ 2 T cells are functionally competent during early development and are important in early-life immunity [462]. V δ 2 T cell numbers and functions are altered in several neurological diseases, including infectious meningitis, ischemic stroke and multiple sclerosis [463-466]. V δ 2 T cells are also capable of producing IL-9 [467], which was found at higher levels in the serum of NE patients, but future work is required to determine if V δ 2 T cells are the source of this inflammatory cytokine. Invariant NKT cells are thought to play essential roles in the pathogenesis of ischemic stroke, neurodegenerative disease and autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis and myasthenia gravis [460, 468, 469]. Multiple clinical trials involving *in vivo* activation or adoptive transfer of *ex vivo* activated V δ 2 T cells and iNKT cells are ongoing [470-473] and may in future be applied as a novel treatment of NE.

4.6 Conclusions

Our data suggest that both innate and conventional lymphocytes are numerically and functionally altered in neonates with NE and that these changes may persist into school age. iNKT cells and V δ 2 T cell numbers and frequencies were higher in neonates and children with NE and CP compared to healthy children, while MAIT cells and V δ 1 T cells were depleted from children with CP. Upon stimulation *ex vivo*, T cells, NK cells and V δ 2 T cells from neonates with NE more readily produced inflammatory cytokines than their counterparts from healthy neonates, suggesting that they were previously primed or activated. In view of their limited diversity, multifunctionality and ease of activation, expansion and manipulation, innate T cells make attractive potential targets for therapeutic modulation and may ultimately prove amenable for the treatment of NE and the subsequent inflammatory processes.

163

CHAPTER 5

An investigation into the reciprocal interactions between B cells and mucosal associated invariant T cells

5.1 Introduction

In chapter 3, we found that MAIT cells are rare in CB and in peripheral blood from neonates, but they expand significantly in early age (Figure. 3.3) until reaching the highest frequencies during adulthood. These findings are in accordance with previous studies [380, 474-476], which reported similar findings. We also found that the frequencies of B cells were low in neonatal blood but they increased during childhood and then decreased again during adulthood and in older adult people (Figure 3.1).

We report in chapter 4 that B cell frequencies are higher in NE samples at neonatal and school age compared to their age-matched healthy counterparts (Figure 4.2), but are lower in children with CP. While MAIT cells were rarely present in neonates, their numbers and frequencies were lower in school-age children with NE and CP compared to healthy age matched children.

As other innate T cells, such as iNKT and gd T cells, have been shown to have follicular helper activity for B cells [477, 478], we hypothesised that MAIT cells might also influence B cell numbers and function [479].

B cells are generated from lymphoid progenitor cells in the bone marrow, where they undergo differentiation into mature lymphocytes. They subsequently move to the spleen and secondary lymphoid organs, where they develop and differentiate into distinct cell types [202]. Activation of naive B cells is dependent on antigen identification by the Ig receptor and the presence of additional signals, which usually originate from a CD4⁺ T cell. In order for B cells to respond, both B cells and T cells must recognize the same antigen. B cells detect surface antigens on microorganisms that enter the lymph nodes via the lymphatic system. This leads to internalisation and digestion of the microorganism and presentation of antigenic peptides bound to MHC class II molecules to Tfh cells. The Tfh cells then provide signals that reciprocally induce B cell differentiation into memory cells and long-lived plasma cells (LLPC). LLPCs produce long-lived, high affinity antibodies. Memory B cells rapidly mature into plasmablasts, which produce protective antibodies, but do not undergo affinity maturation and are short-lived [207]. Within the GC, B cells undergo proliferation and somatic hypermutation of Ig genes, followed by a process in which the "fittest" B cells - those best able to capture antigen via surface Ig and present it on MHC class II molecules, are selected by Tfh cells [480]. The strength of interaction between Tfh cells and GC B cells, which is proportional to the amount of antigen presented by GC B cells, determines the cell cycle speed and number of divisions of GC B cell clones [209-211].

B cells are considered professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) for CD4⁺ T cells because they are capable of selectively recognizing low amounts of antigens with their cell-surface immunoglobulin and constitutively express MHC class II and co-stimulatory molecules. This allows B cells to prime T cells, which then in turn stimulate the maturation of B cells into memory cells and plasma cells that produce antibodies [481].

B cells can be categorised into subsets based on their differentiation stage and on the cytokines they secrete [482]. The functional B cell subsets are divided into effector B (Be) cells that activate immunity and regulatory B (B reg) cells that inhibit immunity. Be cells are further classified into Be-1 cells, which generate T helper (Th)1-type cytokines, and Be-2 cells, which produce T helper (Th)2-type cytokines.

B cells are also divided into B1 cells and B2 cells, which are distinguished by their developmental origin and location [483]. B1 cells have self-renewing ability and live longer. These cells are the primary source of natural antibodies that mediate innate-like immunity. B2 cells which represent the majority of B cells, recirculate and have a short life span. These cells are metabolically quiescent and can be triggered to produce

antibodies in secondary lymphoid organs with the assistance of T cells [483, 484]. B2 cells can be classified into two types depending on their distribution in lymphoid tissues: marginal zone B cells and follicular B cells. Immature B cells in the marginal zone play a vital role in innate immunity, whereas follicular B cells are essential for antigen-specific acquired immunity [485, 486]. Breg cells are believed to have an immunological suppressive effect, as evidenced by their production of suppressive cytokines such as interleukin-10, interleukin-35, and transforming growth factor- β [487-489].

Follicular helper T (Tfh) cells are a unique subtype of CD4⁺ T cells, which are found in the GCs of secondary lymphoid organs (SLOs), including the tonsil, spleen, and lymph nodes. Tfh cells are unique in that they are concentrated in the B cell zone and interact with B cells. Tfh cells can also be detected in the circulation [192].

Tfh cells play a critical function in the development of germinal centres in the body. Naïve T cells interact with antigen-presenting DCs in the T cell zones of the SLOs, leading to Tfh cell development [9, 193, 194, 196, 490]. They then move to the B cell zones, where they promote B cell maturation and the establishment of long-lasting serological memory through affinity maturation and class-switch recombination to generate high-affinity antibodies [193-195]. This is mediated in part by interaction of the co-stimulatory molecule CD40 with the CD40-ligand (CD40-L) on the B cell and by the production of IL-21 which leads to B cells proliferation.

TCR signalling is required for activation, proliferation, differentiation, migration, survival, and effector functions in Tfh cells. As a result of a discrepancy between stimulatory and inhibitory costimulation signals, an increase in the number of Tfh cells is sometimes created, resulting in Tfh-driven autoimmunity [491, 492]. Understanding the development and function of Tfh cells is important for generating new vaccine strategies

against pathogens as well as targeted approaches to abrogate the inappropriate activity of these cells in patients with various autoimmune diseases.

MAIT cells are a subgroup of unconventional innate-like T cells that recognize highly conserved metabolites produced by bacteria and yeasts, giving them a broad range of microbe specificities [310, 493, 494]. Many bacteria, but not humans nor other mammals, generate riboflavin precursors, which are capable of activating MAIT cells [494]. These products are presented to the MAIT cell TCR by the major histocompatibility complex class-I related protein, MR1. MAIT cells represent 1-15% of peripheral blood T cells and reside mainly at mucosal sites [495]. MAIT cell TCRs consist of an invariant V α 7.2-J α 33 TCR α chain combined with a limited number of TCR β chains [496]. In addition to TCR-mediated activation, MAIT cells can be activated by cytokines, such as IL-12, IL-18 and IL-23 [497]. Upon activation, MAIT cells respond rapidly and release a host of pro-inflammatory cytokines and cytolytic products, which aid in clearing bacterial infections [498]. MAIT cells can also kill tumour cells and stressed target cells, enhance inflammation and tissue repair, enhance wound healing, augment monocyte, neutrophil, and dendritic cell survival, and activate and prime CD8⁺ T lymphocytes [499-503]

B cells are required for MAIT cell accumulation in the periphery [504]. In the human gut, MAIT cells were discovered in high numbers, and investigations in mice have revealed that their expansion in the periphery depends on B lymphocytes and a microbiota [505]. In support of this notion, one study investigated the role of *Enterobacteriaceae* bacteria to trigger MAIT cell activation and cytokine production, and confirmed that B cells acted as APCs [303, 306, 307, 481, 506-508]. MAIT cells are activated when exposed to bacterially infected B cells in an MR1-dependent manner. MAIT cell activation resulted in expression of CD69 and the production of IL-17A, IFN- γ , and TNF- α [505].

168

Although B cells have been shown to modify and influence MAIT cell activity, the first research indicating that MAIT cells may be B cell helpers were published in 2017 [9, 495]. Leung et al., (2014) had discovered that MAIT cell frequencies in humans with acute *Vibrio cholerae* infection and correlated with the presence of lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-specific IgA and IgG antibody responses [509]. Bennett and co-workers observed that MAIT cells activated with *Vibrio cholerae* upregulate CD40L, a crucial factor in the activation of B cells by T cells . This research team also showed that human MAIT cells can induce B cell antibody production *in vitro*. They did so by stimulating MAIT cells with bacteria and cytokines then applying the supernatants to autologous B cells and testing for B cell stimulatory cytokines. This gave the first direct evidence that MAIT cells can influence plasmablast differentiation and antibody production, implying that MAIT cells play a role in B cell maturation [510].

5.2 Hypothesis, aims & objectives

5.2.1 Hypothesis

MAIT cells are innate T cells with functional similarities to other innate T cells, such as iNKT cells and Vδ2 T cells, which are capable of promoting B cell maturation into antibody-producing plasma cells [477, 511]. Thus, iNKT cells and Vδ2 T cells have potential therapeutic value as vaccine adjuvants. We investigated if MAIT cells also have similar B cell stimulatory or costimulatory activities.

5.2.2 Aims

In order to determine whether MAIT cells have the capacity to activate B cells, human MAIT and B cell co-culture experiments were performed. Preliminary experiments using PBMCs were carried out to determine optimal conditions for activating B cells and MAIT cells. Subsequent studies utilised sorted lines of MAIT cells and B cells, investigating the effects of resting and activated MAIT cells on activation, cytokine and antibody

production by B cells, and killing of B cells. A cartoon figure depicting these objectives is shown in Figure 5.1.

5.2.3 The specific aims were:

1. To generate MAIT cell lines and purified B cells from human blood samples.

2. To optimise conditions to stimulate MAIT cells to produce IL-17 and IFN- γ .

3. To optimise conditions to activate B cells to express activation markers CD38 and CD69.

4. To compare co-stimulatory marker expression and cytokine production by B cells following culture with resting or activated MAIT cells or with control stimuli.

5. To examine antibody class switching and antibody release by B cells cultured with resting or activated MAIT cells.

6. To determine if MAIT cells can kill B cells in vitro.



Figure 5.1. Schematic representation of MR1-dependent and MR1-independent MAIT cell activation and their possible influence on B cell activation. The functions shown on the right are the objectives being addressed in the present chapter.

5.3 Methods

The methods employed in the present investigation are summarised in Figure 5.2.

5.3.1 Analysis of MAIT cells by flow cytometry

PBMC or expanded MAIT cells were surface stained with the following mAbs: anti-CD3 PacBlue, anti-CD161 FITC and anti-V α 7.2 PE. Cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. MAIT cells were defined as CD3⁺ CD161⁺ V α 7.2⁺ cells. Full methods are described in section 2.4.5.

5.3.2 Generation of MAIT cell lines

Protocols developed by Dr Andrew Hogan and colleagues at Maynooth University were used to expand MAIT cells from PBMCs from healthy donors. Full methods are described in section 2.6.1.

5.3.3 Generation of B cell cultures

PBMC were extracted from blood samples obtained from healthy donors or buffy coat packs (kindly donated by the Irish Blood Transfusion Service). B cells were purified using CD19 Microbeads as described in section 2.5.1 and cultured for up to 7 days in complete RPMI medium. Flow cytometric examination of CD20 expression revealed that the purity of B cells was >99%.

5.3.4 Activation of B cells

0.5x10⁶ PBMCs or sorted B cells were transferred to wells of a microtiter plate in cRPMI and stimulated with BAFF, LPS, Pam3Csk4, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, IL-21, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells it is described in section 2.7.

5.3.5 Activation of MAIT cells

Nawal Taher

172

Sorted MAIT cells or MAIT cells within PBMCs were stimulated with medium alone (unstimulated), IL-12 with IL-18 (IL-12/IL-18), anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAbs (anti-CD3 & CD28), 5-A-RU or phorbol myristate acetate with ionomycin (PMA/Ionomycin), as described in section 2.6.3.

5.3.6 Analysis the expression of markers of antigen presentation by B cells

B cells were stimulated as described above or cultured with equal numbers of MAIT cells for 24 h, 72 h and 7 days in cRPMI. The cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD20, CD161 and V α 7.2 and markers of antigen presentation CD40, CD86 and HLA-DR and analysed by flow cytometry. Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) values of CD40, CD86 and HLA-DR expression by CD3⁻CD20⁺ cells (B cells) were measured. CD20 was used to detect B cells, rather than CD19 because this marker was frequently blocked by the anti-CD19 antibody used to purify B cells. The results were interpreted as a fold change in the co-culture compared to B cells alone.

5.3.7 Analysis of cytokine production

PBMC, MAIT cells, B cells or co-cultures of MAIT cells and B cells, were stimulated as described above for 24 or 72 h. The cells were then cultured with monensin overnight and then stained for cell surface expression of CD3, CD161 and V α 7.2, CD19. The cells were then fixed and permeabilised and stained for intracellular expression of IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p40, IL-13 and TNF- α for analysis by flow cytometry (see section 2.4.6).

5.3.8 Analysis of cytokine release By ELISA

MAIT cells were stimulated as described above for 24 h. The supernatants were then harvested and assayed for levels of IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-12p70, and TNF- α by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) multiplex ELISA kits (MesoScaleDiagnostics, USA). Full details of the methods are described in section 2.8.4.

5.3.9 Analysis of MAIT cell degranulation

Anti-CD107a PerCP-Cy5.5 labeled mAb was added to cultures of MAIT cells or cocultures of MAIT cells and B cells. The cells were then incubated for 1 hour at 37°C and 5% CO₂. After 1 hour, monensin (2 mM) was added to prevent the mAb conjugate from being proteolytically digested when CD107a was reinternalized. CD107a expression by CD3⁺ CD161⁺ V α 7.2⁺ cells (MAIT cells) was analyzed by flow cytometry. Full details of the methods are described in section 2.8.2.

5.3.10 Measurement of antibody production by B cells

MAIT cells were cultured with B cells at various ratios in the presence or absence of B stimulators, as described above, for 7 days. The supernatants were harvested and analysed using immunoglobulin Cytometric Bead Array kits for IgA, IgM, IgE and total IgG levels (see section 2.8.3).

5.3.11 Examination of immunoglobulin class switching after treatment with various stimuli

Total B cells were cultured in medium alone or with equal numbers of expanded MAIT cells for 3 days. Cells were then stained for cell surface expression of CD19, CD27, and IgD. Flow cytometry was used to examine changes in the percentages of naive (CD27⁻IgD⁺), unswitched memory (CD27⁺IgD⁺), switched memory (CD27⁺IgD⁻), and CD27 memory (CD27⁻IgD⁻) B cells.

5.3.12 Analysis of cell death

Direct killing of B cells by MAIT cells was measured using a Total Cytotoxicity and Apoptosis Detection Kit from Immunochemistry Technologies and flow cytometry as described in section 2.9.

Lytic ability of MAIT cells against B cells was also tested by staining the cells with annexin V and propidium iodide (PI) to measure apoptosis and necrosis respectively by flow cytometry. Full details of these methods are described in section 2.10.

5.3.13 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was done using GraphPad Prism Version 9.0 (GraphPad Prism, San Diego, California). Treatments of cells were compared using a paired t test or all statistical tests, a p value ≤ 0.05 was considered significant.



Summary methods

Figure 5.2. Summary of investigations carried out in the present chapter. *B cells* were isolated from using CD19 microbeads. More PBMCs from the same donor were treated with 5-ARU as described in section 2.6.1 for 10-13 days, Purified CD19 B cells were stimulated under different conditions or co-cultured with MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. The readout from each experiment was shown in the figure. Figure created with BioRender.com

5.4 Results

5.4.1 Activation of MAIT cells within PBMC

To optimise conditions for the analysis of cytokine production by MAIT cells, PBMCs from 6 healthy donors were stimulated for 24 hours with PMA/ionomycin, IL-12/IL-18, anti-CD3/anti-CD28 or 5-A-RU with methylglyoxal. We used flow cytometry to examine which of these MAIT cell stimulators could optimally induce the expression of the early activation marker CD69 by MAIT cells within PBMC (Figure 5.3).

The unstimulated control shows baseline expression of CD69 on the MAIT cells in PBMCs. IL-12/IL-18 stimulation resulted in a mean 30% increase in the number of MAIT cells expressing CD69 after 24h, ($p \le 0.01$). Anti-CD3/anti-CD28 induced a ~60% increase in the number of MAIT cells expressing CD69 ($p \le 0.0001$). 5-ARU also increased the percentage of activated MAIT cells to >60% ($p \le 0.0001$). PMA/ionomycin was responsible for an 85% increase in CD69 expression by MAIT cells ($p \le 0.0001$). All the stimulants successfully activated MAIT cells within the PBMC sample with IL-12/IL-18 being the least effective and PMA/ionomycin being the most effective for inducing CD69 expression.



Figure 5.3 Activation of MAIT cells within PBMC. PBMC were stimulated for 24 hours with medium alone, PMA and ionomycin (PMA/I), mAbs specific for CD3 and CD28, IL-12 with IL-18 or 5-A-RU. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD161, Va7.2 and CD69 and the percentages of MAIT cells that expressed CD69 were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing CD69 expression by gated MAIT cells, defined by positivity for CD3, CD161 and Va7.2, within PBMC after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM percentages of MAIT cells from 6 donors that expressed CD69 after each treatment. **, P<0.01; ****, P<0.0001 using the paired t test.

5.4.2 IFN-γ production by MAIT cells

We next sought to examine the production of IFN- γ by MAIT cells within PBMC in response to TCR-dependent and TCR-independent stimulation. PBMC were stimulated with medium alone, IL-12 and IL-18, PMA and ionomycin, anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAbs, or 5-A-RU with methylglyoxal for 24 h (Figure 5.4). The frequencies of MAIT cells that expressed IFN- γ were determined by flow cytometry (Figure 5.4A). Unstimulated T cells showed little IFN- γ production. When PBMCs were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin, a mean of 18% of MAIT cells produced IFN- γ . 5-ARU stimulation caused a significant increase in the frequencies of MAIT cells that produced IFN- γ (27%) compared to unstimulated cells. Anti-CD3/anti-CD28 mAbs and IL-12/IL-18 were less stimulatory, inducing IFN- γ production by means of 9% and 14% of MAIT cells, respectively (Figure 5.4B).



Figure 5.4 Induction of IFN- γ **production by MAIT cells within PBMC**. PBMCs were treated for 48 hours with medium alone, PMA and ionomycin (PMA/I), mAbs specific for CD3 and CD28 (anti-CD3/anti-CD28), IL-12 with IL-18, or 5-ARU. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell surface CD3, CD161 and Va7.2 and intracellular IFN- γ and analysed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of IFN- γ by Va7.2⁺ cells after gating on CD3⁺CD161⁺ cells (MAIT cells). B, Bar graph showing frequencies of MAIT cells that expressed IFN- γ after each treatment. Data are expressed as mean (±SEM) of MAIT cells from 15 donors that expressed IFN- γ . ****p \leq 0.0001 using the paired t test.

5.4.3 IL-17 production by MAIT cells

Both IFN-γ and IL-17 are characteristically secreted by activated MAIT cells [343, 502, 512]. PBMCs were stimulated with PMA and ionomycin, anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAbs, IL-12 and IL-18, 5-ARU or medium alone as an unstimulated control for 24 h and the frequencies of MAIT cells that produced IL-17 were determined by flow cytometry (Fig. 5.5A). Unstimulated MAIT cells showed almost no IL-17 production. When MAIT were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin, ~7 % of MAIT cells produced IL-17. About 8% of MAIT cells produced IL-17 when stimulated with 5-ARU. Again, anti-CD3/anti-CD28 mAbs were the least stimulatory, inducing IL-17 production by a mean of 3% of MAIT cells.



Figure 5.5 Induction of IL-17 production by MAIT cells within PBMC. PBMCs were treated for 24 hours with medium alone, PMA and ionomycin (PMA/I), mAbs specific for CD3 and CD28 (anti-CD3/anti-CD28), IL-12 with IL-18, or 5-ARU. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell surface CD3, CD161 and Va7.2 and intracellular IL-17 and analyzed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of IL-17 by Va7.2⁺ cells after gating on CD3⁺CD161⁺ cells (MAIT cells). B, Bar graph showing frequencies of MAIT cells that expressed IL-17 after each treatment. Data are expressed as mean (±SEM) of MAIT cells from 15 donors that expressed IL-17. ** $p \le 0.01$, *** $p \le 0.001$ using the paired t test.

5.4.2 Expansion of MAIT cells from PBMCs using 5-A-RU

In order to optimise MAIT cell expansion from PBMCs *in vitro*, PBMCs were treated with 5-ARU as described in section 2.6.1. Figure 5.6A shows that MAIT cells expanded potently in response to 5-AR-U in the presence of methylglyoxal. This method of expansion resulted in a high purity of MAIT cells, with the starting purity of about 3-4% increasing to about 75% on day 13 and 90% on day 15 (Figure 5.6B). Over 200x10⁶ MAIT cells of high purity could routinely be generated in 2 weeks using this method (Figure 5.6C).



Figure 5.6. In vitro expansion of MAIT cells. MAIT cell lines were generated by stimulating PBMC with 5-ARU and culturing them with IL-2 as described in section 2.6.1. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing $V\alpha7.2$ and CD161 expression by gated CD3+ cells within PBMC after stimulation with 5-ARU for 5, 10, 13 and 15 days. B and C, Bar graphs showing percentage frequencies (B) and absolute numbers (C) of MAIT cells generated after 5, 10, 13 and 15 days post stimulation of PBMC. Data are expressed as means (±SEM) of 12 MAIT cell expansions . ** $p \leq 0.01$, *** $p \leq 0.001$, *** $p \leq 0.001$ using the paired t test.

5.4.2.1 Optimisation of IFN-y production by MAIT cells lines

MAIT cells naturally secrete IFN- γ upon activation (Figure 5.4). To establish optimal conditions for inducing IFN- γ production by MAIT cell lines, MAIT cell lines from 12 healthy donors were generated as described in section 2.6.1. The cells were cultured for 24 h with either medium, 10 ng/ml IL-7 or 50 ng/ml each of IL-1 β and IL-23 [244]. The cells were then stimulated with either PMA and ionomycin, anti-CD3/CD28 mAb, IL-12 with IL-18 or 5-ARU or left untreated for 4 h or 96 h. The cells were then stained using mAb specific for cell surface CD3, CD161 and V α 7.2 to detect MAIT cells and intracellular IFN- γ and analysed by flow cytometry. For each culture condition, the highest percentage of IFN- γ production by MAIT cells occurred when the cells were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin. Little IFN-y was detected in MAIT cells stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 mAb or IL-12+IL-18, however, after culture with IL-7, MAIT cells stimulated under these conditions produced IFN- γ in both after 4 h and 96 hrs. This study shows that PMA/I was the most potent stimulator of IFN- γ by MAIT cells. However, because of the non-physiological nature of PMA/I as a T cell stimulant, routine activation of MAIT cells was carried out IL-12/IL-18. Similarly, at 96 h, PMA/I was the most potent stimulator of IFN-y production by MAIT cells, but interestingly, 5-ARU also induced IFN- γ secretion by similar frequencies of MAIT cells when IL-7 was added to the preculture. Conversely, IL-12/IL-18 was the most potent stimulator of IFN- γ by MAIT cells when we precultured them with IL-1 β + IL-23 (p<0.001; figure 5.7). Again, because of the non-physiological nature of PMA/I as T cell stimulant, routine activation of MAIT cells was carried out using IL-12/IL-18.

5.4.2.2 IL-17 production by MAIT cells

We also investigated if MAIT cells can produce IL-17 in response to different modes of culture and stimulation. MAIT cell lines from healthy donors (n=12) were cultured for 24 h with either medium alone IL-7, or IL-1 β + IL-23. The cells were then stimulated with either PMA and ionomycin, anti-CD3/anti-CD28, IL-12 with IL-18 or 5-ARU or left untreated for 4 h or 96 h. Then the cells were stained using mAb specific for cell surface CD3, CD161 and V α 72 to detect MAIT cells and intracellular IL-17 and analysed by flow cytometry. As for IFN- γ , we found that there was significant increase in the frequencies of IL-17 production by MAIT cells at 4 hours under stimulation with PMA/I and this trend also has been seen when we precultured the MAIT cells with IL-7 or IL-1 β + IL-23 (Figure 5.8). Similarly, at 96 h PMA/I induced IL-17 production by <15% of MAIT cells but IL-12/IL-18 also induced IL-17 secretion precultured with IL-1 β + IL-23 (Figure 5.8).

These data show that MAIT cells can be stimulated undervarious conditions to produce $IFN-\gamma$ and IL-17.



Figure 5.7 Induction of IFN- γ **production by expanded MAIT cells**. Expanded MAIT cells from 12 healthy donors were cultured for 4 or 96 h with either medium, IL-7, or IL-1 β + IL-23. The cells were then stimulated with medium alone, PMA and ionomycin (PMA/I), anti-CD3/CD28 mAb, IL-12 + IL-18, or 5-ARU for 4 h or 96 h. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD161 and Va.72 to detect MAIT cells and intracellular IFN- γ and analysed by flow cytometry. Bars represent means ±*SEM* percentages of MAIT cells that produced IFN- γ after each treatment. *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001; ****P<0.0001 using the paired t test.



Figure 5.8 Induction of IL-17A production by expanded MAIT cells. Expanded MAIT cells from 12 healthy donors were cultured for 4 or 96 h with either medium, IL-7, or IL- 1β + IL-23. The cells were then stimulated with medium alone, PMA and ionomycin (PMA/I), anti-CD3/anti-CD28 mAb, IL-12 + IL-18, or 5-ARU for 4 h or 96 h. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD161 and Va72 to detect MAIT cells and intracellular IL-17 and analysed by flow cytometry. Bars represent means ±SEM percentages of MAIT cells that produced IFN- γ after each treatment. *P<0.05; **P<0.01; ***P<0.001, ****P<0.0001 using the paired t test.

5.4.3 MAIT cells secrete pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines

While the flow cytometric cytokine assay revealed the percentage of cells expressing cytokines, we also quantified the levels of cytokine production in cell supernatants. Expanded MAIT cells from 10 donors were stimulated with PMA/I, anti-CD3/anti-CD28 and IL-12/IL-18 or left unstimulated for 24 h, and then supernatants were analysed for levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17a, IL-21, IL-22, IL-23, by multiplex ELISA. We found that MAIT cells stimulated with PMA/I produced significant amounts of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17a, IL-21 (Figures 5.9 and 5.10) but not IL-23, after 42 h. In contrast, MAIT cells stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 produced significant amounts of IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-8, or IL-9, IL-13, IL-17, IL-22 or IL-23 (Figures 5.7 and 5.8) production compared with MAIT cells cultured with medium alone. IL-12/IL-18 induced significant secretion of IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-13, IL-21 and IL-22 but not IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-4, IL-10, IL-17a, nor IL-21 after 72h (Figures 5.9 and 5.10). These data indicate that many factors are released by activated MAIT cell that may influence B cell differentiation and antibody production.



Figure 5.9 Cytokine production by expanded MAIT cell lines. Expanded MAIT cells were stimulated with PMA/I, Anti-CD3/CD28 and IL-12/IL-18 or left unstimulated for 24 h, then cell supernatants assayed for cytokine levels by multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean (\pm SEM) levels of IFN- γ (A) TNF- α , (B) IL-2, (C) IL-4, (D) IL-5, (E) and IL-6 (F). Data shown are mean (\pm SEM) cytokine levels measured in supernatants of 10 MAIT cell lines. Groups were compared using the paired t test. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Data from 10 separate experiments (n = 10).



Figure 5.10 *Cytokine production by expanded MAIT cell lines induce distinct cytokine. Expanded MAIT cells were stimulated with PMA/I, Anti-CD3/CD28 and IL-12/IL-18 or left unstimulated for 24 h, then cell supernatants assayed for cytokine levels by multiplex ELISA. Graphs show mean* (\pm SEM) levels of IL-8 (*A*) IL-9 (*B*) IL-10 (*C*) IL-13, (*D*) IL-17a, (*E*), IL-21 (*F*), IL-22 (*G*), and IL-23(*H*). Data shown are mean (\pm SEM) cytokine levels measured in supernatants of 10 MAIT cell lines. Groups were compared using the paired t test. **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, ***p < 0.001. Data pulled from 10 separate experiments (n = 10).

5.4.3 Co-culture experiments investigating MAIT and B cell synergistic actions

Recent studies have shown that some innate T cells, including iNKT cells, Vδ2 T cells and Vδ3 T cells can provide B cell help for antibody production [477, 478, 511]. We aimed to determine if MAIT cells also are capable of inducing B cell maturation, antibody isotype switching and antibody production. We also investigated if MAIT cells have the potential to promote maturation of B cells into APC and if MAIT cells can kill autologous B cells. These experiments were carried out by co-culturing lines of 5-ARU-expanded MAIT cells and sorted B cells. The effects of MAIT cells, either resting or activated with IL-12 and IL-18, on B cell functions were compared with those of a number of stimulants known to activate B cells, including medium alone (unstimulated), LPS, BAFF, Pam3Cysk4 the TLR3 agonist Poly:IC, PamCysk with poly:IC (PolyIC/PamCysk), and anti-CD40 mAb with IL-4 and IL-21 (CD40/IL-4/IL-21).

5.4.3.2 Activation of B cells by MAIT cells

B cells were sorted from PBMC by magnetic selection of CD19⁺ cells (Figure. 5.11). Sorted B cells were cultured for 1, 3 or 7 days with resting or activated autologous MAIT cells and as controls, a variety of B cell stimulators. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20, CD69 and CD38 and the percentages of B cells that expressed CD69 were determined (Figure 5.12A).

Figure. 5.10B shows the mean (\pm SEM) percentages of B cells that expressed CD69 over time for all B cell stimulations. Unstimulated B cells showed baseline expression of CD69, which is approximately 10% and this increased gradually up to a maximum of 90% with BAFF, LPS, PolyI:C/Pam3Csk4, IL-21, and anti-CD40/IL-4/IL-2, by 7 days (p = 0.0001). Up to 30% of B cells expressed CD69 expression after stimulation for 1 day. Co-culture of B cells with MAIT cells, either resting or activated with IL-12 and IL-

18 also induced significant CD69 expression ($p \le 0.0001$). Thus, MAIT cells are capable of activating B cells.

Figure 5.11A shows that B cell activation also led to the expression of CD38. Similar to CD69, unstimulated B cells showed baseline expression of CD38, which was approximately 10% of the cells, and this increased slowly from this baseline to a maximum of 80%, when stimulated with BAFF, PolyI:C/Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40/IL-4/IL-21 after 7 days. In contrast, LPS and IL-21 on its own did not significantly increase CD38 expression at any time point. Lastly, resting or IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells induced a significant ~60% increase in CD38 expression ($p \le 0.0001$). Thus, both resting and activated MAIT cells are capable of activating autologous B cells *in vitro*.


Figure 5.11 Isolation of B cells. PBMC were labelled with mAbs specific for CD3 and CD19 and the CD3⁻CD19⁺ cells were isolated using a CD19 magnetic beads. Flow cytometry dot plots show the expression of CD3 and CD19 by unsorted PBMC (A) and sorted B cells (B).



Figure 5.12 Activation of sorted B cells in vitro. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 1, 3 or 7 days with medium alone, BAFF, LPS, Pam3Csk4, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, IL-21, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20 and CD69 and the percentages of B cells that expressed CD69 were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing CD69 expression by gated B cells, defined by positivity for CD20. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM percentages of B cells from 15 donors that expressed CD69 after each treatment. ****P<0.0001 using a paired t test.



Figure 5.13 Activation of sorted B cells in vitro. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 1, 3 or 7 days with medium alone, with medium alone, BAFF, LPS, Pam3Csk4, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, IL-21, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20 and CD38 and the percentages of B cells that expressed CD38 were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing gating of B cells defined by positivity for CD20and CD38 expression by gated B cells after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM percentages of B cells from 15 donors that expressed CD38 after each treatment. ** P < 0.01; ****P < 0.0001 using a paired t test.

5.4.3.2 MAIT cells induce the expression of markers of antigen presentation by B cells

We next investigated if MAIT cells can induce differentiation of B cells into cells with phenotypes of APC. Purified CD19 B cells were stimulated for 1, 3 or 7 days with medium alone, LPS, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, or co-cultured with MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20, HLA-DR, CD40 and CD86 and the MFI of HLA-DR, CD40 and CD86 on B cells was determined by flow cytometry. Figure 5.14 shows that HLA-DR expression on B cells was significantly upregulated by each of these conditions in comparison to medium alone except for anti-CD40 mAb which showed no difference when compared to the control. HLA-DR expression on B cells peaked at 3 days post incubation for each condition apart from Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4 which saw a significant increase in expression by day 7. The most potent inducer of HLA-DR expression on B cells was unactivated MAIT cells. These data suggest that resting and IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells are capable of inducing HLA-DR on B cells.

Figure 5.15 shows that CD86 expression on B cells was significantly upregulated by stimulation with LPS 3 or 7 days, compared with unstimulated B cells. No CD86 upregulation was induced by poly I:C + Pam3Csk4 treatment. The most potent inducer of CD86 expression on B cells was unactivated MAIT cells, which induced significant CD86 expression by day 3. IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells also induced CD86 expression by B cells, but to a lesser degree than resting MAIT cells.

CD40 expression was not induced on B cells after stimulation with LPS or poly I:C + Pam3Csk4. However, co-culture of B cells with MAIT cells led to induction of CD40

expression on the B cells. CD40 expression peaked at 3 days post incubation resting MAIT cells and with MAIT cells activated with IL-12/IL-18 (Figure 5.16).



Figure 5.14 Induction of HLA-DR on B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 1, 3 or 7 days with medium alone, LPS, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20 and HLA-DR and the MFI of HLA-DR expression on B were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry histograms showing expression of HLA-DR by gated CD20⁺ cells after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM MFI of HLA-DR expression on B cells from 15 donors after each treatment. **P<0.01; ****P<0.0001 compared to unstimulated sample at the same time point, using a paired t test.



Figure 5.15 Induction of CD86 on B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 1, 3 or 7 days with medium alone, LPS, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20 and CD86 and the MFI of CD86 expression was determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of CD86 by CD20⁺ cells after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM MFI of CD86 expression by B cells from 15 donors after each treatment. *p<0.05, **p< 0.01, ****p< 0.001, ****p< 0.0001 compared to unstimulated sample at the same time point, using a paired t test



Figure 5.16 Induction of CD40 on B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 1, 3 or 7 days with medium alone, BAFF, LPS, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD20 and CD40 and the MFI of CD40 expression was determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of CD40 by gated CD20⁺ cells after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM MFI of CD40 expression on B cells from 15 donors after each treatment. ****P<0.0001 compared to unstimulated sample at the same time point, using a paired t test

5.4.3.3 MAIT cells promote cytokine production by B cells

Magnetic bead sorted B cells were subjected to stimulation for 24 hours with medium alone, BAFF, LPS, polyI:C with Pam3Cysk4, anti-CD40 mAb with IL-4 and IL-21, or co-cultured with equal numbers of resting or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. The production of IFN- γ , IL-4, IL-10, and TNF-a by gated B cells was analysed by flow cytometry. Figure 5.17 shows that less than 10% of unstimulated B cells produced IFN- γ , but this number increased significantly when the B cells were treated with LPS or anti-CD40 mAb with IL-4 and IL-21, but not BAFF or polyI:C with Pam3Cysk4. Co-culture of B cells with resting MAIT cells did not lead to significant IFN- γ production, but coculture with IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells resulted in IFN- γ production by about 40% of B cells.

In order to investigate whether MAIT cells can induce IL-4 production by B cells, B cells were treated with the above-mentioned stimuli over a 24-hour period and IL-4 production by B cells was examined by flow cytometry (Figure 5.18). Figure 5.18B shows that none of the stimuli, except for LPS were capable of inducing IL-4 and little change from the unstimulated control was observed. Baseline percentage of B cells expressing IL-4, was 1% and LPS stimulation resulted in an approximate 6-fold increase in IL-4 production. Stimulation with resting or IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells induced a significant increase in IL-4 production with up to 7% of B cells producing this cytokine ($p \le 0.001$; Figure 5.18).

Collectively, these data show that MAIT cells can induce cytokine production by B cells, but while activated MAIT cells are required to induce IFN-γ production, both resting and activated MAIT cells can induce IL-4 production.



Figure 5.17 Induction of IFN- γ production by B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 24 hours with medium alone, LPS, BAFF, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface CD20 and intracellular IFN- γ and the percentages of B cells that expressed IFN- γ were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of IFN- γ by CD20⁺ cells after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM percentages of B cells from 6 donors that expressed IFN- γ after each treatment. Data were compared using a paired t test.



Figure 5.18 Induction of IL-4 production by B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 24 hours with medium alone, LPS, BAFF, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, IL-21, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface CD20 and intracellular IL-4 and the percentages of B cells that expressed IL-4 were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of IL-4 by CD20⁺ cells after stimulation. B, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM percentages of B cells from 6 donors that expressed IL-4 after each treatment. Data were compared using a paired t test.

5.4.4 MAIT cells promote immunoglobulin class switching by B cells

As section 5.5.2 and 5.5.3 suggest, resting MAIT cells and MAIT cells activated with IL-12 and IL-18 are capable of activating B cells. Therefore, further investigations were carried out to gain insight into if MAIT cells may induce immunoglobulin class switching in B cells and antibody secretion. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 7 days with medium alone, LPS, BAFF, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface IgD and CD27 and the percentages of B cells that expressed CD27-IgD⁺ (naïve B cells), CD27⁺IgD⁺ (unswitched memory), CD27⁺IgD⁻ (switched memory) and CD27⁻IgD⁻ ('CD27⁻ memory B cells') phenotypes were determined by flow cytometry. Figure 5.19 shows that about 70% of unstimulated B cells expressed the CD27-IgD⁺ phenotype (naïve B cells). Stimulation with LPS, BAFF, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21 resulted in a significant induction of CD27 expression, giving the B cells unswitched memory phenotypes. These changes were not associated with downregulation of IgD, indicating that the stimuli did not induce immunoglobulin class switching. Upon co-culture with resting MAIT cells, the majority of B cells acquired CD27+IgD- or CD27-IgD- phenotypes, indicating that MAIT cells induce immunoglobulin class switching. Interestingly, co-culture of B cells with IL-12/IL-18activated MAIT cells resulted in immunoglobulin class switching but progression to the CD27-IgD- phenotype did not occur, as seen when the B cells were co-cultured with resting MAIT cells. Thus, MAIT cells can activate B cells to induce immunoglobulin class-switching.



Figure 5.19 Induction of antibody isotype switching in B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 7 days with medium alone, LPS, BAFF, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface IgD and CD27 and the percentages of B cells that expressed CD27⁻IgD⁺ (naïve B cells), CD27⁺IgD⁺ (unswitched memory), CD27⁺IgD⁻ (switched memory) and CD27⁻IgD⁻ ('CD27⁻ memory B cells') phenotypes were determined by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing expression of IgD and CD27 by gated CD20⁺ cells after stimulation. B - E, Bar graph showing mean \pm SEM percentages of B cells from 15 donors that expressed CD27⁻IgD⁺, CD27⁺IgD⁺, CD27⁺IgD⁻ and CD27⁻IgD⁻ phenotypes after each treatment. Data were compared using a paired t test (not significant). ****P<0.0001.

5.4.4. MAIT cells induce antibody production by B cells

During infection, the first antibodies to be produced by B cells are IgD and IgM. In order to monitor the production of antibodies in response to various stimuli, a CBA immunoglobulin multiplex assay was used to quantify IgM, IgA, IgE and IgG in supernatants of B cells. No IgE was detected in any of the B cell supernatants (data not shown). Stimulation of B cells with LPS, polyI:C + Pam4Cysk3 and resting MAIT cells resulted in a significant increase in IgM. Stimulation with LPS and either resting or activated MAIT cells led to increased production of IgG, while stimulation with LPS, BAFF, Pam4Cysk3, and either resting or activated MAIT cells resulted in increased production of IgA. Interestingly, co-culture of B cells with IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells resulted in the highest increases in IgG and IgA, which were increased 30-fold and 40-fold, respectively. These data suggest that while the soluble B cell stimulators can induce antibody secretion, they do not induce isotype switching by B cells. MAIT cells are capable of inducing both immunoglobulin class switching and antibody secretion (Figure 5.20).



Figure 5.20 Induction of IgM, IgG and IgA release from B cells by MAIT cells. Sorted B cells were stimulated for 7 days with medium alone, LPS, BAFF, Pam3Csk4, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4, anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21, resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Supernatants from B cell cultures were harvested, stored at -80°C, and later assayed for IgM, IgG and IgA using the CBA Immunoglobulin Assay. Results show mean \pm SEM fold increases in antibody production. *P<0.05; ****P<0.0001 using a paired t test.

5.4.5 MAIT cells degranulate in the presence of B cells

To evaluate if MAIT cells degranulate when co-cultured with B cells, we measured the expression of lysosomal protein marker CD107a, which is externalised during which the cells release perforin, granzyme B and various other cytolytic effector molecules. B cells were co-cultured with resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18 activated MAIT cells at various ratios (1:1, 0.5:1, 0.2:1 and 0.05:1) for 24, 48 and 72 hours. The percentage of MAIT cells expressing CD107a was examined by flow cytometry (Figure 5.21 A). After 24h, exposure to B cells resulted in an increase in CD107a expression on resting MAIT cells. As expected, the frequency of CD107a expression by MAIT cells did not increase with increasing MAIT/B cell ratio but increased over time up to 72 hours (Figure 5.21 B). Interestingly, IL-12 and IL-18 activated MAIT cells, CD107a expression was significantly increased demonstrating that, within this cohort of donors, MAIT cells underwent degranulation in the presence of B cells but not when activated using cytokines (Figure 5.21 B).

A B C

Resting MAIT cells Resting MAIT cells+ B cells IL-12/IL-18-stimulated MAIT cells+ B (



Figure 5.21 MAIT cells degranulate in the presence of autologous B cells. Lines of expanded MAIT cells were incubated with medium alone or activated with IL-12 and IL-18 and cultured for 24 h, 48 h, and 72h with medium alone or with sorted autologous B cells at various MAIT:B cell ratios. A, Flow cytometry dot plot showing CD107a expression on MAIT cells incubated in the absence (A) and presence of B cells or B cells in the presence of IL-12 and IL-18 activated MAIT cells (C). D, Graphs shows mean (±SEM) percentage of MAIT cells from 12 donors that express CD107a under each condition. Each data point represents an individual blood donor. (*P<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

5.4.6 MAIT cells upregulate granzyme B and perforin expression in the presence of B cells

In a continued attempt to understand these cytolytic interactions between MAIT cells and B cells another coculture experiment was performed. In this experiment B cells were co cultured with resting MAIT cells or IL-12 + IL-18 activated MAIT cells at various ratios (1:1, 0.5:1, 0.2:1 and 0.05:1) for 24, 48 and 72 hours. Gated MAIT cell populations were then examined for granzyme B expression by flow cytometry (Figure 5.22 B).

At 24 hours the percentage of resting MAIT cells expressing granzyme B was increased at all ratios, with a 0.05:1 ratio of resting MAIT cells:B cells demonstrating the largest increase (roughly 20%). The percentage of MAIT cells that expressed granzyme B was found to be similar at the 48 and 72 hr time points.

Activated MAIT cells demonstrated a similar pattern with higher levels of Granzyme B expression when co cultured with B cells at the same timepoints and ratios. At 24 hrs, the highest expression of granzyme B was seen at a ratio of 0.05:1. At 48 hrs, the highest increase in GzmB expression was seen at a ratio of 0.2:1 (roughly 35% increase) and at 72 hrs the highest increase was seen at a 1:1 ratio with an increase in 30%. These significant results combined with that of the CD107a assay (Fig. 5.22) suggest that MAIT cells have cytolytic tendencies towards B cells and achieve this via release of GzmB.

Analysis of perforin expression by MAIT cells exposed to B cells demonstrated a similar pattern to that of granzyme B expression with higher levels of perforin expression when cocultured with B cells at the same timepoints and ratios (Figure 5.23). When resting MAIT cells were co-cultured with B cells, at 24 hrs, high expression of perforin was seen at ratios of 1:1, 0.5, and 0.2:1, before it dropped down to the lowest expression at a ratio of 0.05:1. At 48 and 72 hrs increased expression of perforin was seen at all MAIT cell:B cell ratios, with up to 60% of MAIT cells expressing perforin. Similar

results were observed when IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells were co-cultured with the B cells (Figure 5.21B). The presence of IL-12 and IL-15 was not sufficient to induce perforin expression by MAIT cells – B cells were also required. These significant results combined with those of the CD107a assay (Fig. 5.20) and granzyme B (Fig. 5.22) suggest that MAIT cells have cytolytic capacities towards B cells and achieve this via release of lytic granules as granzyme B and perforin. A B

Resting MAIT cells Resting MAIT cells+ B cells IL-12/IL-18-stimulated MAIT cells+ B cells

С



Figure 5.22 B cells induce granzyme B expression by MAIT cells. Lines of expanded MAIT cells were incubated with medium alone or activated with IL-12 and IL-18 and cultured for 24 h, 48 h, and 72h with medium alone or with sorted autologous B cells at various MAIT:B cell ratios. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD161, Va7.2 and granzyme B and analysed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plot showing granzyme B expression on MAIT cells incubated in the absence (A) and presence of B cells (B, and B cells plus IL-12/IL-18 activated MAIT cells (C). D, Graphs shows mean (\pm SEM) percentage of MAIT cells from 12 donors that express granzyme B under each condition. Each data point represents an individual blood donor. (*P<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

A B C





Figure 5.23 B cells induce perforin expression by MAIT cells. Lines of expanded MAIT cells were incubated with medium alone or activated with IL-12 and IL-18 and cultured for 24 h, 48 h, and 72h with medium alone or with sorted autologous B cells at various MAIT:B cell ratios. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3, CD161, Va7.2 and perforin and analysed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plot showing perforin expression on MAIT cells incubated in the absence (A) and presence of B cells(B, and B cells plus IL-12/IL-18 activated MAIT cells (C). D, Graphs shows mean (±SEM) percentage of MAIT cells from 12 donors that express granzyme B under each condition. Each data point represents an individual blood donor. *P<0.05; **p<0.01, ***p<0.001 using one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

5.4.7 MAIT kill autologous B cells

The above results indicate that MAIT cells upregulate expression of the degranulation marker CD107a and the cytotoxic effector molecules GzmB and perforin, when exposed to autologous B cells, suggesting that MAIT cells can kill B cells. To determine if MAIT cells can actually kill B cells, we carried out an apoptosis assay, by staining the cells with annexin V and propidium iodide (PI), which stain apoptotic and necrotic cells, respectively.

Sorted B cells from six donors were co-cultured for 24 hours, 48 hours, and 72 hours with medium alone or equivalent numbers of autologous resting or IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific to CD3 and CD20, propidium iodide (PI), and annexin V and analysed by flow cytometry. The frequencies of apoptotic or dead cells increased from less than 10% when B cells were cultured alone, to almost 40% when B cells were cultured for 48 h with equal numbers of resting MAIT cells. This number increased to 50% when IL-12/IL-18 activated MAIT cells were used. Cytotoxicity was not enhanced by co-culturing B cells with MAIT cells for 72 h (Figure 5.24). To confirm that this B cells death was MAIT cell-dependant, we also tested the viability of cells after coculture with total PBMCs. Figure 5.25 shows that addition of total PBMCs had little effect on B cell viability, with less than 6% of B cells expressing markers of apoptosis or death even after treatment IL-12/IL-18.



Figure 5.24 MAIT cells induce apoptosis in autologous B cells. Sorted B cells from 6 donors were cultured for 24 h, 48 h, and 72h with medium alone or with equal numbers of autologous resting or IL-12/IL-18-activaterd MAIT cells. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3 and CD20 and propidium iodide (PI) and annexin V and analysed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing annexin V and PI staining of gated B cells incubated in the absence (left) and presence of resting (centre) and activated (right) MAIT cells. B, Graphs shows mean (\pm SEM) percentage of MAIT cells from 6 donors that express annexin V under each condition. **p<0.01, ****p<0.0001 using using a paired t test.



Figure 5.25 Total PBMC do not induce apoptosis in autologous B cells. Sorted B cells from 6 donors were cultured for 24 h, 48 h, and 72h with medium alone or with equal numbers of autologous resting or IL-12/IL-18-treated PBMC. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for CD3 and CD20 and propidium iodide (PI) and annexin V and analysed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing annexin V and PI staining of gated B cells incubated in the absence (left) and presence of resting (centre) and IL-12/IL-18-treated (right) PBMC. B, Graphs shows mean (\pm SEM) percentage of MAIT cells from 12 donors that express annexin V under each condition. Differences were not significant using a paired t test.

5.4.8 MAIT cells kill autologous B cells

Sorted B cells from 6 donors were cultured for 5h with medium alone or with autologous resting or IL-12/IL-18-treatred MAIT at various ratios. Cells were then tested for direct cytotoxicity by MAIT cells using the total cytotoxicity and apoptosis detection kit by flow cytometry (Figure 5.26A). Using this method, apoptotic cells stain positive for annexin-V and necrotic cells stain positive for 7-AAD.

An approximate 55% of B cells showed specific lysis when co-cultured with similar numbers of unstimulated MAIT cells (Figure 5.26B). This specific lysis was higher at MAIT:B cell ratios of 0.5 but lower at E/T ratios of 0.02:1. Unexpectedly, when MAIT cells were activated with IL-12 and IL-18, a the % specific lysis was not increased over the specific lysis observed with resting MAIT cells. This further suggests that MAIT cells have the ability to kill B cells.



Figure 5.26 MAIT cells <u>with autologous B cells</u>. Sorted B cells from 6 donors were cultured for 5h with medium alone or with autologous resting or IL-12/IL-18-treatred MAIT cells at various ratios. Cells were then tested for direct cytotoxicity by MAIT cells using the total cytotoxicity and apoptosis detection kit analysed by flow cytometry. A, Flow cytometry dot plots showing an exercise V and 7-AAD staining of gated B cells incubated in the absence (left) and presence of resting (centre) and IL-12/IL-18-treated (right) MAIT cells. B, Graph shows mean (\pm SEM) specific lysis of B cells from 6 donors under each condition.

5.5 Discussion

MAIT cells are innate-like lymphoid cells that play roles in early stages of immune responses within the tissues. MAIT cells are abundant in humans and can be found throughout the body, including the bloodstream and mucosal areas [513]. MAIT cells can perform a variety of effector functions. They can kill bacterially and virally infected cells such as cells infected by Dengue virus, hepatitis C, and influenza A [305], and human immunodeficiency virus [514, 515].

MAIT cells can link innate and adaptive immune responses by promoting differentiation of different types of cells into APC that are capable of initiating antigenspecific T cell responses and long-term immunological memory [436]. These findings implicate MAIT cells as candidate targets for development of novel therapies and vaccines. Previous studies demonstrate that MAIT cells can aid B cells by boosting plasmablasts and promoting Ig production in an MR1-dependent manner, most likely through increasing memory B cell development [510], suggesting that they can promote humoral immune responses in vivo. Thus, we sought to further investigate the role of MAIT cells in providing B cell helper activity and the mechanisms involved in this.

According to more recent research, B cell maturation and immunoglobulin class switching can both be promoted by MAIT cells . In this chapter we examined the synergistic activities of MAIT cells and B cells to determine whether and how they may be manipulated and harnessed to contribute to the prevention and treatment of infectious diseases in a clinical setting. We postulated that MAIT cells would stimulate the maturation and activation of B lymphocytes. We therefore investigated if MAIT cells can induce B cell activation and maturation into cells capable of secreting cytokines, presenting antigen, undergoing antibody class-switching and releasing antibody.

MAIT cells can be triggered by either their TCR or cytokines. In this section, we have described their reactions to these two types of activation. TCR activation of MAIT cells resulted in a robust activation with the generation of several proinflammatory cytokines; in contrast, cytokine-mediated activation was slower and less polyfunctional. First, a study was conducted in order to determine the ideal parameters for MAIT cell activation. MAIT cells that have been activated typically release inflammatory cytokines such as IL-17 and IFN-y [516, 517]. Therefore, measuring the percentage of MAIT cells producing IL-17 and IFN- γ in PBMCs, after stimulation with different agents revealed the best conditions for MAIT cell activation. Very few unstimulated MAIT cells secreted IL-17 and IFN-y and the optimal stimulation occurred when MAIT cells were stimulated with the 5-A-RU for both IL-17 and IFN-y production, as also reported [512, 518]. MAIT cells were also potently activated with PMA/I. PMA activates protein kinase C, while ionomycin is a calcium ionophore [188, 313, 497, 519-521], so stimulation with these compounds circumvents the cell membrane receptor complex and initiates intracellular signalling pathways [188, 313, 497, 519-521]. Anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 mAbs were the least effective stimulant for MAIT cell activation, in terms of cytokine production. Anti-CD3 and anti-CD28 stimulate lymphocytes by partially mimicking stimulation by APCs [523]. IL-12 and IL-18 also provided little stimulation for MAIT cells to produce IL-17 and IFN-y, leaving 5-A-RU as the optimum stimulatory condition for activating cytokine production by MAIT cells.

We also examined MAIT cell activation by flow cytometric analysis of their expression of the activation markers CD69 and CD38 [516]. The optimal conditions for MAIT cell stimulation was PMA and ionomycin, followed by anti-CD3/anti-CD28 and 5-A-RU.

We next looked at the role of MAIT cells in secreting pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines. From our results we can conclude that MAIT cells, when stimulated with PMA/I produced significant amounts of IFN- γ , TNF- α IL-2, IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-13, IL-17a, IL-21 and IL-22, but not IL-23. In contrast, MAIT cells when stimulated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 produced IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-5 and IL-6 but did not augment TNF- α , IL-8, or IL-9, IL-13, IL-17, IL-22 or IL-23 production compared with MAIT cells cultured alone. This is in line with a previous study which showed that activated MAIT cells from healthy people produce IL-21, which promotes B cell development into plasmablasts PB and antibody production in vitro [9]. Therefore, from our data we can show that many factors are released by activated MAIT cell that may influence B cell differentiation and antibody production.

We analysed the effects of several B cell and MAIT cell stimulators, tracked cytokine release, and investigated antibody production and immunoglobulin class switching in order to better understand how to optimise and characterise B cell activation.

All stimulants including MAIT cells and IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells resulted in significant B cell activation. These results demonstrated that the B cell population present in PBMCs can be successfully stimulated with the above B cell ligands. These results are in line with those of other studies [524, 525].

Previous studies have demonstrated that $\gamma\delta$ T cells can induce maturation of B cells into antibody-secreting plasma cells [511, 526, 527], suggesting that they can promote humoral immune responses *in vivo*. Thus, we sought to further investigate if MAIT cells also have a Tfh-like function capable of inducing B cell maturation, antibody isotype switching and antibody production.

B cells were co-cultured with either resting or IL-12/IL-18-stimulated MAIT cells and the results showed that both treatments induced expression of HLA-DR, CD86 and CD40

on B cells, suggesting that MAIT cells can drive maturation of B cells to acquire markers of APC function and possibly boost adaptive immunity.

Analysis of cytokine production by ELISA revealed that stimulation of MAIT cells with IL-12/IL-18 drove production of IFN- γ , IL-2, IL-6, TNF- α , IL-8, IL-21 and IL-23 but not IL-4., IL-6 has been shown to result in significantly increased IgG levels, and IL-10 has been shown to promote B cell survival, proliferation, and antibody production [510]. IL-21 is well known for its capacity to stimulate B cell proliferation, plasma cell differentiation, and antibody production, among other functions [528]. We also found that MAIT cells can induce cytokine production by B cells. Interestingly, activated MAIT cells were required to induce IFN- γ production but resting and activated MAIT cells could induce IL-4 production.

Next, we investigated the effects of MAIT cells on antibody class switching and antibody release by B cells. Over seven days, B cells were stimulated with resting or IL-12 + IL-18-activated MAIT cells and as controls, LPS, BAFF, Poly I:C + Pam3Csk4 and anti-CD40 mAb + IL-4 + IL-21. Interestingly, when B cells were co-cultured with resting MAIT cells, the majority of B cells expressed class-switched switched phenotypes and acquired CD27, indicating that MAIT cells can induce immunoglobulin class switching. Co-culture with IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells resulted in even more potent immunoglobulin class switching to memory type at about 90%. Thus, this is the first report that MAIT cells can activate B cells to acquire memory phenotypes and induce immunoglobulin class-switching.

We also investigated if MAIT cells could promote antibody release by B cells. We found that B cells co-cultured with MAIT cells did not produce IgE but they released copious amounts of IgG, IgA and IgM. One of the most significant outcomes observed was the 30-fold and 40-fold increase of IgG and IgA when B cells were co-cultured with

IL-12/IL-18-activated MAIT cells. Hence from our data, we can conclude that, whereas soluble B cell stimulators can induce antibody secretion but not isotype switching by B cells, MAIT cells are capable of inducing both immunoglobulin class switching and antibody secretion. These findings all support the hypothesis that MAIT cells provide help to B cells.

Much previous research has documented that infected epithelial cells [529] monocytes [530], and embryonic renal cell lines [531] are susceptible to cytotoxicity by MAIT cells. This activity was dependent on both MR1 and cytolytic mediators such as perforin and granzymes [530]. We therefore investigated if MAIT cells can kill B cells. We analysed if MAIT cells degranulate in the presence of B cells by examining the cell-surface expression of lysosomal protein marker CD107a after culturing MAIT cells with B cells. Interestingly, when B cells were co-cultured with IL-12 and IL-18 activated MAIT cells, CD107a was significantly increased on the MAIT cell population demonstrating that within this cohort of donors, MAIT cells underwent degranulation in the presence of B cells.

To understand the cytolytic activity in more detail, we evaluated if MAIT cells produce granzyme B and perforin in the presence of B cells. We found that when cultured with B cells, MAIT cells expressed granzyme B and perforin. These findings confirm previous data [530], that MAIT cells can rapidly transition to a more classical cytotoxic cell type, displaying high levels of GrzB and perforin.

Having shown that MAIT cells upregulate expression of the degranulation marker CD107a and the cytotoxic effector molecules GzmB and perforin, when exposed to autologous B cells, we next carried out an apoptosis assay to determine if MAIT cells can kill B cells. We observed that the frequency of dead cells increased to 50% when IL-

12/IL-18 activated MAIT cells were co-cultured with B cells. In contrast, total PBMC cocultured with B cells did not lead to B cell death.

Our data suggest that MAIT cells may have the ability to both activate and kill B cells. As a result of these findings, there may be therapeutic opportunities to use MAIT cells to augment or control B cell responses in patients with B cell immunodeficiencies and in vaccination. This study lends credence to the idea that MAIT cells can be used therapeutically to target B cells. B cells are essential for the development of protective immunity against infections, and the generation of antibodies by these cells is vital. The role of T cells, particularly Tfh cells, in regulating the processes of affinity maturation and isotyping switching has been demonstrated in a significant number of studies [532]. iNKT cells have also emerged as a source of both cognate and noncognate support for B cells in recent studies [533, 534]. This chapter demonstrates the potential of MAIT cells, a family of innate-like T cells, to differentially promote or regulate B cell and antibody responses through selective interactions with B cells. MAIT cells are relatively abundant in humans (5% of circulating T cells) compared to other immune cells such as iNKT or Th cells, which account for less than 1% of circulating T cells. Our data signify that MAIT cells may be a possible candidate for improving B cell responses in humans and may be beneficial for reactivation and differentiation of memory B cells.



Figure 5.27 Diagram depicting the summary of this chapter. MAIT cells can promote *B cell activation, maturation, the expression of markers of antigen presentation, cytokine production, antibody isotype switching and antibody release.* MAIT cells can also kill *B cells.* Figure created with BioRender.com

Chapter 6 General summary and conclusions NE affects 3 in 1000 live births leading to more than half a million infant deaths worldwide every year [490, 535]. Although there has been remarkable improvement in the management of NE, over 50% of affected infants will suffer moderate to severe disabilities [536]. Therapeutic hypothermia for moderate-to-severe NE will only save one out of seven infants from major neuro-developmental delay or death by age of 18 months old [35, 448, 451]. Therefore, there is a great need for new therapies and novel medical management approaches. Advances in these areas require a knowledge of the neonatal immune system.

Infectious diseases are the leading cause of death among children under five globally [537]. Each year, infections are linked to around 40% of the 3 million neonatal global deaths [538]. The vulnerability of neonates and infants to infectious diseases is believed to be due to the immaturity of the immune system [9]. In comparison to adults with primary infections, adaptive immune responses specific for HSV and CMV in newborns and infants are delayed and diminished [539-542]. Infection of young children with *Bordetella pertussis*, respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), enterovirus 71, or influenza is more likely to lead to hospitalization or death than infection of adults with the same pathogens [481, 543, 544].

In older adults, there is a decline in the ability of the innate and adaptive immune systems to combat new infections as well as persistent inflammation, a process known as inflammaging [545]. These modifications to the immune system result in higher incidence of infectious, malignant, and autoimmune disorders that have all been linked to agerelated morbidity [546]. Additionally, it has been found that there are elevated plasma levels of IL-6, IL-1, and TNF in the older adults [547]. These factors lead to constant

activation of the innate immune response, leading to continued inflammation and impaired adaptive immune responses.

As lymphopoiesis diminishes, the number of naive T cells declines, causing an increase in the number of memory cell subsets in elderly subjects. The accumulation of CD4 and CD8 T cells that have lost the ability to express the costimulatory surface protein CD28, is thought to be a fundamental trait of senescent T cells [548]. Chronic low-grade inflammation is enhanced by IL-6, IL-1, TNF, acute phase proteins and antioxidants [549, 550]. However, inflammaging is also associated with down-regulated innate immune responses, driven by regulatory subtypes of T and B cells as well as regulatory subtypes of macrophages, dendritic cells, NK cells, and type II NKT cells [551]. The hyperinflammatory response seen in COVID-19 patients is likely triggered by loss or impaired function of CD4⁺ T cells, CD8⁺ T cells, and B cells. However few studies have compared these immune features directly in cohorts from younger age ranges to older age ranges.

In chapter 3 of this thesis, we explored the functional effectiveness of the innate and adaptive immune systems in 5 healthy cohorts from different age groups. Flow cytometry was employed to profile the frequencies of conventional T cells, B cells and NK cells, and subpopulations of innate T cells in cord blood samples and peripheral blood samples from neonates, school-aged children, young adults and older adults. We found that the frequencies of T cells were lower in cord blood than in peripheral blood from subjects at all ages and that overall T cell frequencies remained relatively constant throughout life. We did not observe any significant changes in their expression of CD4 and CD8 from the neonatal to older age ranges. These findings are in agreement with Santagostino and coworkers (2003), but others have reported decreases in the numbers of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells with age [385, 386]. Similar to previous reports [387-390], there were significant
expansions of B cells from birth to childhood and reaching peak levels at school age and then decreasing gradually throughout adulthood. Thus, B cell numbers are reduced in neonates and the older adults and these changes may predispose these age groups to more severe infections [552].

We found that NK cell numbers were low in cord blood and in neonatal blood, but they steadily expanded throughout middle age. This increase in NK cells with age has also been reported by others [391, 393]. The expansions in the frequencies of NK cells seen in elderly patients are mostly attributable to expansions of the CD56^{dim} subset and reductions of the CD56^{bright} subset. These results show that T, B and NK cell frequencies fluctuate with age, and are likely to lead to age-related changes in immunocompetence which can contribute to inflammaging and development of diseases and cancer in elderly populations.

Analysis of four innate T cell populations – $V\delta1$ T cells, $V\delta2$ T cell, MAIT cells and iNKT cells – revealed that all of these cell types are found at very low frequencies in cord blood and in peripheral blood of neonates, but they all expand after birth and throughout childhood and adulthood. Innate T cells have important influences on adaptive immune responses to infection via their ability to rapidly release Th1, Th2, Th17 and Treg cytokines and to mediate contact-dependent maturation and activation of dendritic cells, macrophages and B cells. The paucity of innate T cells in infants may contribute to their increased susceptibility to infection, whereas their increased numbers in elderly subjects may contribute to inflammation and the development of illnesses and cancer. Phenotypic and functional changes to innate T cell populations may also underlie the altered immunocompetence seen in infants and elderly subjects. In this regard, we found that the proportions of MAIT cells that expressed CD8 expanded from the neonatal stage to

229

adulthood, and CD8⁺ MAIT cells were the majority of MAIT cells in adults. On the other hand, the fraction of MAIT cells that displayed double negative CD4⁻CD8⁻ phenotypes reduced with age.

As expected, the levels of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 were found to be high in adults compared to yougner cohorts. These data are in line with other publications reporting an enhancement of Th1 and proinflammatory cytokines activity with age [413, 414]. A prevalent issue in the world of global public health is the cooccurrence of chronic illnesses among the seniors [553]. According to one study, more than half of all senior people in developed nations have more than three chronic diseases, which are illnesses with distinct pathologies and no interdependence on one another [554, 555]. Indeed, the older adults studied in the present investigation suffered from a number of comorbidities, as described in chapter 3. Another study has indicated that more than 70% of the senior population in China's major cities, such as Beijing and Shanghai, suffer two or more chronic conditions [556, 557]. Those with comorbidities had greater hospitalization and death rates and considerably worse clinical prognoses when compared to patients with a single condition. Comorbidities commonly entail several medications, and interactions between medications and disorders frequently result in lower ultimate effectiveness, poorer prognosis, more unpleasant responses, and higher health care costs [558].

Our data suggest that innate T cell function should be investigated in the context of inflamanging in future studies. Their numbers increase into old age and they express markers of maturation and activation. Since chronic inflammation and associated immune dysregulation is a major risk factor for diseases that commonly affect older people, such as atherosclerosis, cancer and type 2 diabetes, manipulation of innate T cell functions

may have the rapeutic value. Clinical trials targeting iNKT cells and V δ 2 T cells are ongoing in cancer patients and these strategies may in future be used to treat inflammatory disease.

Inflammation plays a vital role in the evolution of brain injury associated with NE. Inflammatory cytokines are released by activated astrocytes and microglial cells, which leads to the recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to the brain **[427, 447, 448]**. The activation of immune cells in the circulation is also associated with a poor outcome following brain injury **[450, 559]**. Although it is evident that innate effector cells, such as monocytes and neutrophils, play important roles in the pathophysiology of NE less is known about T cells, which are the master controllers of both innate and adaptive immune responses. In chapter 4 of this thesis, we explored the roles of lymphocyte in neonatal encephalopathy. In this study, children with NE, CP, and healthy age-matched neonates and children were examined for circulating conventional and innate lymphocytes counts and percentage frequencies. We found a significant increase in B cell frequencies and numbers in neonates and school-age children with NE compared to their healthy counterparts. However, we did not detect any changes in frequencies of total T cells in all groups except that they were higher in children with CP.

Analysis of CD4 and CD8 expression by these T cells revealed that CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell frequencies were similar in the five subject groups. However, we found higher numbers of both CD4⁻CD8⁻ and CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells in school-age who had NE compared to healthy school-age children, and higher numbers of CD4⁻CD8⁻ T cells in children with CP. In light of these findings, it is possible that unconventional T cells, such as iNKT cells, MAIT cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells, which are frequently negative for CD4 and CD8, play an important role in the pathophysiology of NE.

We also reported changes in the frequencies and numbers of innate T cells in neonates and children with NE. As previously reported [461], we found that MAIT cells were found in very low numbers in neonates but they expanded in childhood and their frequencies and numbers were similar in healthy children and in children with NE but were less frequent in children with CP. The frequencies and absolute numbers of V δ 1 T cells were also lower in children with CP compared to age-matched healthy children. Analysis of V δ 2 T cells and iNKT cells revealed for the first time a significant increase in the frequencies and absolute numbers of both cell types in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP, compared to healthy age-matched neonates and children. These striking increases in V δ 2 and iNKT cell numbers in patients with NE and CP provide compelling evidence for a role for these cells in the neuroinflammatory events that lead to NE and CP. In support of this notion, $\gamma\delta$ T infiltrate the brains of mice following experimental hypoxia ischemia and contribute to brain injury [246, 330].

In the present study, we also investigated functional readouts of key cell types from neonates with NE and healthy neonates. Whole blood samples taken from neonates with NE and healthy neonates were stimulated with pharmacological stimulators and T cell activators and the expression of transcription factors, cytokines, and cytotoxic mediators by total T cells, NK cells and V δ 2 T cells was examined in order to further characterize effector subsets in both groups. Insufficient numbers of iNKT cells were available for similar functional studies using blood samples. We found that stimulated NK cells from neonates with NE produced IFN- γ , TNF- α , and granzyme B at higher frequencies than stimulated NK cells from healthy age-matched donors. Although the frequencies of circulating NK cells were significantly lower in neonates with NE, they were primed and expressed higher levels of CD69 comparing to healthy infants. We also found a significant increase in the production of Th1 and Th17 cytokines by total T cells from neonates with NE. These cells generated more IFN- γ , TNF- α , granzyme B and IL-17 when stimulated *ex vivo* than T cells from healthy neonates. Th1 cytokines promote monocyte, macrophage and CD8⁺ T cell activation and cytotoxicity, whereas Th17 cytokines promotes the recruitment and activation of neutrophils. The serum levels of Th1 and Th17 cytokines were not increased in NE patients, suggesting that T cell activation may be limited to the brain. Future research will be necessary to understand whether the numerical changes represent the transfer of B cells and T cells to the brain or whether specific subsets of these cells, such as regulatory B cells, are responsible for the numerical changes [458].

Although neonates have a limited potential for establishing typical T cell responses, V\delta2 T cells are functionally competent during early development and have a role in earlylife immunity [462]. V δ 2 T cell numbers and functions are altered in several other neurological diseases, including infectious meningitis, ischemic stroke and multiple sclerosis [294, 463, 465]. Although there are several distinct T cell subsets and types, the majority of studies have focused on Th1, Th2, Th17, and Treg cells, there is limited research on these cells in neonatal encephalopathy. We detected that V δ 2 T cells from neonates with NE generated significantly higher amounts of proinflammatory cytokines such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17 and GnzB upon stimulation ex vivo, when compared to V δ 2 T cells from their healthy counterparts. These T cells with varied phenotypes may also have an impact on neuroinflammation through a variety of mechanisms, including controlling the immune response, interacting with CNS resident immune cells, and influencing neurogenesis and angiogenesis at various stages after brain injury.

A further understanding of the functionality of these key immune cell subsets may offer the possibility that altering the ratio of proinflammatory to anti-inflammatory cytokines produced by innate T cells with different phenotypes may develop into a possible therapeutic strategy in future studies that lowers mortality and enhances functional outcomes and prognosis in patients with neonatal encephalopathy.

We also found iNKT cell frequencies were significantly higher in neonates and school age children with NE and CP when compared with age-matched healthy controls and the absolute numbers of circulating iNKT cells in NE and CP patients were also significantly higher than in age-matched control subjects. Collectively, these data suggest that iNKT cells may have roles in the inflammatory processes that lead to NE and CP. Invariant NKT cells are thought to play essential roles in the pathogenesis of ischemic stroke, neurodegenerative disease and autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis and myasthenia gravis [460, 468]. Multiple clinical trials involving in vivo activation or adoptive transfer of ex vivo activated V82 T cells and iNKT cells are ongoing [472, 560] and may in future be applied as a novel treatment of NE. It has recently been shown that iNKT cells and V82 T cells can enhance adaptive immunity in vitro and in vivo. They drive maturation of B cell into plasma cells capable of secreting antibodies. [561-563] and DC maturation into antigen presenting cells. Our group has demonstrated that V $\delta 2$ T cells and iNKT cells can increase the production of IgG, IgM and IgA, but not IgE, by B cells in vitro. They also induced HLA-DR, CD40, and CD86 expression by DC and B cells, indicating that V82 T cells and iNKT cells can influence the development of APCs [477].

In chapter 5 of this thesis, we examined the synergistic activities of MAIT cells and B cells We postulated that MAIT cells, like V δ 2 T cells and iNKT cells, would stimulate the maturation and activation of B lymphocytes. We investigated if MAIT cells can induce B cell activation and maturation into cells capable of secreting cytokines,

presenting antigen, undergoing antibody class-switching and releasing antibodies. We found that MAIT cells are capable of activating B cell maturation, cytokine production, immunoglobulin class switching and antibody secretion. We also found that MAIT cells can kill B cells. These results show that MAIT cells can control several aspects of B cell biology and that they may contribute to the B cell abnormalities found in neonates and children with NE. The results identify a potential place for MAIT cells, along with V82 T cells and iNKT cells, as targets for immunotherapy for infectious and immune-mediated disease. As demonstrated in chapter 5, MAIT cells can be easily isolated from blood, being found in relatively high numbers compared to V82 T cells and iNKT cells and can be cultured for up to 2 months while retaining their viability and functionality. However, future studies are required to determine how their functions may be exploited for the treatment or prevention of NE.

A major limitation of the present study is the use of peripheral blood to attempt to assess the immunological basis of an inflammatory process that occurs in the brain. Future studies are required to determine if the depletions of these cells from blood are due to their trafficking to the brain. To directly investigate the roles of lymphocyte subsets in neuroinflammation requires the use of animal models or postmortem brain tissue. Some excellent animal models of neuroinflammation and NE have been developed and these could be exploited for a more detailed analysis of the roles of innate T cells. However, caution must be exercised because humans and mice display major differences in their innate T cell repertoires. For example, mice do not have counterparts for human V82 T cells. Therefore, humanised mice are required to study these cells *in vivo*. Murine studies are also required to determine if infection underlies the inflammation found in NE. There are several limitations to the present study that need to be addressed in future studies. Further investigation of larger cohorts of patients and control subjects is required to confirm the findings of chapters 3 and 4. Interpretation of the results is confounded by the multiplicity of actiologies and manifestations thought to underlie NE, which could involve different components of the immune system, therefore detailed stratification of patients according to clinical features is required. Because of the restricted numbers of tests that can be carried out on the 100-250 µl blood samples obtained from neonates, future studies could employ transcriptomic analysis of selected immune cell populations, in order to probe more deeply the changes in gene expression. In this regard, single cell mRNA sequence analysis of innate T cell populations from cohorts grouped according to age or from patients with NE, CP and age-matched controls might identify biological pathways associated with the immunological changes observed. Longitudinal studies utilising samples taken from subjects at different time points are also required to measure fluctuations in lymphocyte numbers and functions from birth into childhood and to correlate these with developmental changes.

Conclusion

These studies revealed novel roles for innate T cells in humans and in particular, in neonatal encephalopathy. The ultimate impact of this research would be to translate the observations of the present thesis into novel therapies that will benefit patients with NE and CP. Although much can be learned from the observational studies in the present thesis, therapeutic strategies that target individual lymphocyte subsets require the use of animal models in which expression of specific genes can be disrupted leading to 'knockout mice' lacking individual cell types, cytokines or other factors, which can then

be replaced to confirm the findings of our observations. Experimental immunotherapies could then be tested in humans in clinical trials.

7. Bibliography

- Pediatrics, A.A.o., Neonatal Encephalopathy and Neurologic Outcome, Second EditionReport of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Neonatal Encephalopathy. Pediatrics, 2014. 133(5): p. e1482e1488.
- 2. Molloy, E.J. and C. Bearer, *Neonatal encephalopathy versus hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy*. 2018, Nature Publishing Group.
- Chalak, L., et al., A 20 years conundrum of neonatal encephalopathy and hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: are we closer to a consensus guideline? 2019, Nature Publishing Group.
- Dammann, O., D. Ferriero, and P. Gressens, Neonatal Encephalopathy or Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy? Appropriate Terminology Matters. Pediatric Research, 2011. 70(1): p. 1-2.
- 5. Nelson, K.B., et al., *Antecedents of neonatal encephalopathy in the Vermont* Oxford Network Encephalopathy Registry. Pediatrics, 2012. **130**(5): p. 878-86.
- Martín-Ancel, A., et al., *Multiple organ involvement in perinatal asphyxia*. The Journal of pediatrics, 1995. 127(5): p. 786-793.
- Shah, P., et al., Multiorgan dysfunction in infants with post-asphyxial hypoxicischaemic encephalopathy. Archives of Disease in Childhood-Fetal and Neonatal Edition, 2004. 89(2): p. F152-F155.
- Sarnat, H.B. and M.S. Sarnat, *Neonatal encephalopathy following fetal distress: a clinical and electroencephalographic study*. Archives of neurology, 1976.
 33(10): p. 696-705.

- Naghavi, M., et al., Global, regional, and national age-sex specific mortality for 264 causes of death, 1980–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. The Lancet, 2017. 390(10100): p. 1151-1210.
- 10. Black, R.E., et al., *Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality in 2008: a systematic analysis.* The lancet, 2010. **375**(9730): p. 1969-1987.
- Edwards, A.D., et al., Neurological outcomes at 18 months of age after moderate hypothermia for perinatal hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy: synthesis and meta-analysis of trial data. Bmj, 2010. 340.
- 12. Lee, J., et al., *Maternal and Infant Characteristics Associated With Perinatal Arterial Stroke in the Infant.* JAMA, 2005. **293**(6): p. 723-729.
- 13. Shalak, L. and J.M. Perlman, *Hypoxic–ischemic brain injury in the term infantcurrent concepts*. Early human development, 2004. **80**(2): p. 125-141.
- Hanrahan, J.D., et al., *Cerebral metabolism within 18 hours of birth asphyxia: a proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy study*. Pediatric research, 1996. **39**(4):
 p. 584-590.
- Johnston, M.V., et al., *Plasticity and injury in the developing brain*. Brain and Development, 2009. **31**(1): p. 1-10.
- Nair, J. and V.H.S. Kumar, *Current and Emerging Therapies in the* Management of Hypoxic Ischemic Encephalopathy in Neonates. Children, 2018.
 5(7): p. 99.
- Cotten, C.M. and S. Shankaran, *Hypothermia for hypoxic-ischemic* encephalopathy. Expert review of obstetrics & gynecology, 2010. 5(2): p. 227-239.
- 18. Volpe, J.J., *Neurology of the newborn E-book.* 2008.
- 19. Alvarez-Diaz, A., et al., *Hypoxic-ischemic injury in the immature brain–key vascular and cellular players*. Neonatology, 2007. **92**(4): p. 227-235.

- 20. Iwata, O., et al., "Therapeutic time window" duration decreases with increasing severity of cerebral hypoxia–ischaemia under normothermia and delayed hypothermia in newborn piglets. Brain research, 2007. **1154**: p. 173-180.
- 21. Laptook, A.R., Use of therapeutic hypothermia for term infants with hypoxicischemic encephalopathy. Pediatric Clinics, 2009. **56**(3): p. 601-616.
- 22. Buonocore, G. and F. Groenendaal. *Anti-oxidant strategies*. in *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*. 2007. Elsevier.
- 23. Ferriero, D.M., *Neonatal brain injury*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2004.
 351(19): p. 1985-1995.
- 24. Fatemi, A., M.A. Wilson, and M.V. Johnston, *Hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy in the term infant*. Clinics in perinatology, 2009. **36**(4): p. 835-858.
- 25. Palmer, C., R.L. Roberts, and P.I. Young, *Timing of neutrophil depletion influences long-term neuroprotection in neonatal rat hypoxic-ischemic brain injury*. Pediatric research, 2004. **55**(4): p. 549-556.
- 26. Gunn, A.J. and T.R. Gunn, *Thepharmacology'of neuronal rescue with cerebral hypothermia*. Early human development, 1998. **53**(1): p. 19-35.
- 27. Van Leeuwen, G.M., et al., *Numerical modeling of temperature distributions* within the neonatal head. Pediatric Research, 2000. **48**(3): p. 351-356.
- Globus, M.Y.T., et al., *Glutamate release and free radical production following brain injury: effects of posttraumatic hypothermia*. Journal of neurochemistry, 1995. 65(4): p. 1704-1711.
- Tagin, M.A., et al., *Hypothermia for neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy:* an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Archives of pediatrics & adolescent medicine, 2012. 166(6): p. 558-566.
- Gunn, A. and M. Thoresen, *Hypothermic neuroprotection*. NeuroRx, 2006. 3(2): p. 154-169.

- 31. Shankaran, S., et al., *Effect of depth and duration of cooling on deaths in the NICU among neonates with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: a randomized clinical trial.* Jama, 2014. **312**(24): p. 2629-39.
- 32. Papile, L.A., et al., *Hypothermia and neonatal encephalopathy*. Pediatrics, 2014.
 133(6): p. 1146-50.
- Azzopardi, D.V., et al., *Moderate hypothermia to treat perinatal asphyxial encephalopathy*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2009. 361(14): p. 1349-1358.
- Rutherford, M., et al., Assessment of brain tissue injury after moderate hypothermia in neonates with hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy: a nested substudy of a randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Neurology, 2010. 9(1): p. 39-45.
- 35. Jacobs, S.E., et al., *Cooling for newborns with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy.* Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2013(1).
- 36. Jary, S., et al., *Less severe cerebral palsy outcomes in infants treated with therapeutic hypothermia.* Acta Paediatrica, 2015. **104**(12): p. 1241-1247.
- Azzopardi, D., et al., *Effects of hypothermia for perinatal asphyxia on childhood outcomes*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2014. 371(2): p. 140-149.
- Dibble, M., et al., *Diffusion tensor imaging in neonatal encephalopathy: a* systematic review. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2020. 105(5): p. 480-488.
- Jary, S., et al., Motor performance and cognitive correlates in children cooled for neonatal encephalopathy without cerebral palsy at school age. Acta Paediatrica, 2019. 108(10): p. 1773-1780.
- Tonks, J., et al., Attention and visuo-spatial function in children without cerebral palsy who were cooled for neonatal encephalopathy: a case-control study. Brain injury, 2019. 33(7): p. 894-898.

- 41. Cai, Z., et al., *Cytokine induction in fetal rat brains and brain injury in neonatal rats after maternal lipopolysaccharide administration*. Pediatric research, 2000.
 47(1): p. 64-64.
- 42. Meyer, U., et al., *Immunological stress at the maternal–foetal interface: a link between neurodevelopment and adult psychopathology*. Brain, behavior, and immunity, 2006. **20**(4): p. 378-388.
- 43. Nelson, K.B. and R.E. Willoughby, *Infection, inflammation and the risk of cerebral palsy*. Current opinion in neurology, 2000. **13**(2): p. 133-139.
- 44. Bilbo, S.D. and J.M. Schwarz, *Early-life programming of later-life brain and behavior: a critical role for the immune system*. Front Behav Neurosci, 2009. 3: p. 14.
- 45. Moynagh, P.N., *The interleukin-1 signalling pathway in astrocytes: a key contributor to inflammation in the brain.* J Anat, 2005. **207**(3): p. 265-9.
- 46. Dumbuya, J.S., et al., *G-CSF attenuates neuroinflammation and neuronal* apoptosis via the mTOR/p70SK6 signaling pathway in neonatal Hypoxia-Ischemia rat model. Brain Res, 2020. **1739**: p. 146817.
- 47. Schmitz, T. and L.J. Chew, *Cytokines and myelination in the central nervous system*. ScientificWorldJournal, 2008. **8**: p. 1119-47.
- 48. Cunningham, E. and E. de Souza, *Interleukin-1 receptors in the brain and endocrine system*. Immunol. Today, 1992. **14**: p. 171-173.
- 49. Schneider, H., et al., *A neuromodulatory role of interleukin-1β in the hippocampus*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 1998. 95(13):
 p. 7778-7783.
- 50. Takemiya, T., et al., *Brain interleukin-1 facilitates learning of a water maze spatial memory task in young mice*. Frontiers in behavioral neuroscience, 2017.
 11: p. 202.

- 51. Eliwan, H.O., et al., Neonatal brain injury and systemic inflammation: modulation by activated protein C ex vivo. Clin Exp Immunol, 2015. 179(3): p. 477-84.
- 52. Netea, M.G., et al., *Defining trained immunity and its role in health and disease*.Nature reviews. Immunology, 2020. 20(6): p. 375-388.
- Kleinnijenhuis, J., et al., Bacille Calmette-Guérin induces NOD2-dependent nonspecific protection from reinfection via epigenetic reprogramming of monocytes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2012. 109(43): p. 17537.
- 54. Valk, F.M.v.d., et al., Oxidized Phospholipids on Lipoprotein(a) Elicit Arterial Wall Inflammation and an Inflammatory Monocyte Response in Humans. Circulation, 2016. 134(8): p. 611-624.
- Veerhuis, R., H.M. Nielsen, and A.J. Tenner, *Complement in the brain*. Molecular immunology, 2011. 48(14): p. 1592-1603.
- 56. Bajic, G., et al., *Complement activation, regulation, and molecular basis for complement-related diseases.* The EMBO journal, 2015. **34**(22): p. 2735-2757.
- 57. Ricklin, D., et al., *Complement: a key system for immune surveillance and homeostasis.* Nature immunology, 2010. **11**(9): p. 785-797.
- Simon, A.K., G.A. Hollander, and A. McMichael, *Evolution of the immune* system in humans from infancy to old age. Proc Biol Sci, 2015. 282(1821): p. 20143085.
- Teng, T.-S., et al., Neutrophils and Immunity: From Bactericidal Action to Being Conquered. Journal of immunology research, 2017. 2017: p. 9671604-9671604.
- Moxon-Emre, I. and L.C. Schlichter, *Neutrophil Depletion Reduces Blood-Brain Barrier Breakdown, Axon Injury, and Inflammation After Intracerebral Hemorrhage*. Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology, 2011.
 70(3): p. 218-235.

- Shortman, K. and Y.-J. Liu, *Mouse and human dendritic cell subtypes*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2002. 2(3): p. 151-161.
- 62. Fitzgerald-Bocarsly, P. and D. Feng, *The role of type I interferon production by dendritic cells in host defense*. Biochimie, 2007. **89**(6-7): p. 843-855.
- 63. Panda, A., et al., Age-associated decrease in TLR function in primary human dendritic cells predicts influenza vaccine response. The Journal of Immunology, 2010. 184(5): p. 2518-2527.
- 64. Canaday, D.H., et al., *Influenza-induced production of interferon-alpha is defective in geriatric individuals*. Journal of clinical immunology, 2010. 30(3): p. 373-383.
- 65. Jing, Y., et al., *Aging is associated with a numerical and functional decline in plasmacytoid dendritic cells, whereas myeloid dendritic cells are relatively unaltered in human peripheral blood.* Human immunology, 2009. **70**(10): p. 777-784.
- 66. Qian, B.-Z. and J.W. Pollard, *Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis*. Cell, 2010. **141**(1): p. 39-51.
- 67. Vitale, I., et al., *Macrophages and metabolism in the tumor microenvironment*. Cell metabolism, 2019. **30**(1): p. 36-50.
- 68. Mills, C.D., L.L. Lenz, and R.A. Harris, *A breakthrough: macrophage-directed cancer immunotherapy*. Cancer research, 2016. **76**(3): p. 513-516.
- 69. Mills, C.D., *Anatomy of a discovery: m1 and m2 macrophages*. Frontiers in immunology, 2015. **6**: p. 212.
- Tawrence, T. and G. Natoli, *Transcriptional regulation of macrophage polarization: enabling diversity with identity.* Nature reviews immunology, 2011. 11(11): p. 750-761.
- 71. Noy, R. and J.W. Pollard, *Tumor-associated macrophages: from mechanisms to therapy*. Immunity, 2014. **41**(1): p. 49-61.

- Mills, C., *M1 and M2 macrophages: oracles of health and disease*. Critical Reviews[™] in Immunology, 2012. **32**(6).
- 73. Mills, C.D. and K. Ley, *M1 and M2 macrophages: the chicken and the egg of immunity*. Journal of innate immunity, 2014. **6**(6): p. 716-726.
- Lawson, L., V. Perry, and S. Gordon, *Turnover of resident microglia in the normal adult mouse brain*. Neuroscience, 1992. 48(2): p. 405-415.
- 75. Hoeffel, G., et al., Adult Langerhans cells derive predominantly from embryonic fetal liver monocytes with a minor contribution of yolk sac–derived macrophages. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2012. 209(6): p. 1167-1181.
- Tay, T.L., et al., *Microglia across the lifespan: from origin to function in brain development, plasticity and cognition*. The Journal of physiology, 2017. 595(6): p. 1929-1945.
- Li, Q. and B.A. Barres, *Microglia and macrophages in brain homeostasis and disease*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2018. 18(4): p. 225.
- Tawson, L.J., et al., *Heterogeneity in the distribution and morphology of microglia in the normal adult mouse brain*. Neuroscience, 1990. **39**(1): p. 151-170.
- Olah, M., et al., *Microglia phenotype diversity*. CNS & Neurological Disorders-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-CNS & Neurological Disorders), 2011. 10(1): p. 108-118.
- 80. Stowell, R.D., et al., *Cerebellar microglia are dynamically unique and survey Purkinje neurons in vivo*. Developmental neurobiology, 2018. **78**(6): p. 627-644.
- 81. Filias, A., et al., *Phagocytic ability of neutrophils and monocytes in neonates*.
 BMC Pediatrics, 2011. 11(1): p. 29.
- 82. Nussbaum, J.C., et al., *Type 2 innate lymphoid cells control eosinophil homeostasis*. Nature, 2013. **502**(7470): p. 245-248.

- 83. O'Hare, F.M., et al., *Persistent systemic monocyte and neutrophil activation in neonatal encephalopathy*. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med, 2016. **29**(2): p. 309-16.
- 84. Dammann, O., et al., *Immaturity, perinatal inflammation, and retinopathy of prematurity: a multi-hit hypothesis.* Early Hum Dev, 2009. **85**(5): p. 325-9.
- 85. O'Hare, F.M., et al., *Serial cytokine alterations and abnormal neuroimaging in newborn infants with encephalopathy.* Acta Paediatr, 2017. **106**(4): p. 561-567.
- Zareen, Z., et al., *Cytokine dysregulation persists in childhood post Neonatal Encephalopathy*. BMC Neurol, 2020. 20(1): p. 115.
- Zhang, C.C. and H.A. Sadek, *Hypoxia and metabolic properties of hematopoietic stem cells*. Antioxidants & redox signaling, 2014. 20(12): p. 1891-1901.
- Palmer, C., R.L. Roberts, and P.I. Young, *Timing of neutrophil depletion influences long-term neuroprotection in neonatal rat hypoxic-ischemic brain injury*. Pediatr Res, 2004. 55(4): p. 549-56.
- 89. Doycheva, D.M., et al., *Anti-neutrophil antibody enhances the neuroprotective effects of G-CSF by decreasing number of neutrophils in hypoxic ischemic neonatal rat model.* Neurobiol Dis, 2014. **69**: p. 192-9.
- 90. Yao, H.W. and C.Y. Kuan, Early neutrophil infiltration is critical for inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in newborns. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2019: p. 271678x19891839.
- 91. Morkos, A.A., et al., *Elevated total peripheral leukocyte count may identify risk for neurological disability in asphyxiated term neonates*. J Perinatol, 2007.
 27(6): p. 365-70.
- 92. Morkos, A.A., et al., *Elevated total peripheral leukocyte count may identify risk for neurological disability in asphyxiated term neonates*. Journal of Perinatology, 2007. 27(6): p. 365-370.

- 93. Hudome, S., et al., *The Role of Neutrophils in the Production of Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury in the Neonatal Rat.* Pediatric Research, 1997. 41(5): p. 607-616.
- 94. Hermann, D.M. and M. Gunzer, *Polymorphonuclear neutrophils play a decisive role for brain injury and neurological recovery poststroke*. Stroke, 2019. 50(3):
 p. e40-e41.
- 95. Neumann, J., et al., Very-late-antigen-4 (VLA-4)-mediated brain invasion by neutrophils leads to interactions with microglia, increased ischemic injury and impaired behavior in experimental stroke. Acta Neuropathologica, 2015. 129(2): p. 259-277.
- 96. Zhang, J., et al., *Prognostic role of neutrophil–lymphocyte ratio in patients with acute ischemic stroke*. Medicine, 2017. **96**(45).
- 97. Ducroux, C., et al., *Thrombus neutrophil extracellular traps content impair tPA-induced thrombolysis in acute ischemic stroke*. Stroke, 2018. **49**(3): p. 754-757.
- 98. Fridlender, Z.G., et al., *Polarization of tumor-associated neutrophil phenotype* by TGF-β: "N1" versus "N2" TAN. Cancer cell, 2009. 16(3): p. 183-194.
- 99. Jablonska, J. and Z. Granot, *Neutrophil, quo vadis?* Journal of leukocyte biology, 2017. **102**(3): p. 685-688.
- Cuartero, M.I., et al., N2 neutrophils, novel players in brain inflammation after stroke: modulation by the PPARy agonist rosiglitazone. Stroke, 2013. 44(12): p. 3498-3508.
- 101. Coffelt, S.B., M.D. Wellenstein, and K.E. de Visser, *Neutrophils in cancer: neutral no more.* Nature Reviews Cancer, 2016. **16**(7): p. 431-446.
- 102. Bona, E., et al., *Chemokine and inflammatory cell response to hypoxia-ischemia in immature rats.* Pediatr Res, 1999. **45**(4 Pt 1): p. 500-9.
- 103. Smith, P.L., et al., *Peripheral myeloid cells contribute to brain injury in male neonatal mice*. Journal of neuroinflammation, 2018. **15**(1): p. 1-14.

- Morkos, A., et al., *Elevated total peripheral leukocyte count may identify risk for neurological disability in asphyxiated term neonates*. Journal of perinatology, 2007. 27(6): p. 365-370.
- 105. Denes, A., et al., Experimental stroke-induced changes in the bone marrow reveal complex regulation of leukocyte responses. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 2011. 31(4): p. 1036-1050.
- 106. Mülling, K., et al., Neutrophil dynamics, plasticity and function in acute neurodegeneration following neonatal hypoxia–ischemia. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2021. 92: p. 232-242.
- 107. Haynes, B.F. and C.S. Heinly, *Early human T cell development: analysis of the human thymus at the time of initial entry of hematopoietic stem cells into the fetal thymic microenvironment*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1995. 181(4): p. 1445-1458.
- Timens, W., T. Rozeboom, and S. Poppema, *Fetal and neonatal development of human spleen: an immunohistological study*. Immunology, 1987. 60(4): p. 603-609.
- Asma, G.E., R. Langlois van den Bergh, and J.M. Vossen, *Development of pre-B* and B lymphocytes in the human fetus. Clinical and experimental immunology, 1984. 56(2): p. 407-414.
- 110. Lewis, D.B., Developmental immunology and role of host defenses in fetal and neonatal susceptibility. Infectious disease of the fetus and newborn infant, 2011: p. 80-190.
- 111. Kronenberg, M. and O. Lantz, *Mucosal-Resident T Lymphocytes with Invariant Antigen Receptors*, in *Mucosal Immunology*. 2015, Elsevier. p. 749-764.
- 112. Godfrey, D.I., et al., *The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells*. Nature Immunology, 2015. 16(11): p. 1114-1123.

- 113. Gaudino, S.J. and P. Kumar, Cross-Talk Between Antigen Presenting Cells and T Cells Impacts Intestinal Homeostasis, Bacterial Infections, and Tumorigenesis. Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. 10(360).
- 114. Godfrey, D.I., et al., *The burgeoning family of unconventional T cells*. Nat Immunol, 2015. 16(11): p. 1114-23.
- Rossjohn, J., et al., *T cell antigen receptor recognition of antigen-presenting molecules*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2015. 33: p. 169-200.
- Van Rhijn, I., et al., *Lipid and small-molecule display by CD1 and MR1*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2015. 15(10): p. 643-654.
- Mansilla-Soto , J. and P. Cortes VDJ Recombination : Artemis and Its In Vivo Role in Hairpin Opening. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2003. 197(5): p. 543-547.
- 118. Chaplin, D.D., *Overview of the immune response*. The Journal of allergy and clinical immunology, 2010. **125**(2 Suppl 2): p. S3-S23.
- 119. Sun, H., et al., *Tissue-resident lymphocytes: from adaptive to innate immunity*. Cellular & molecular immunology, 2019. 16(3): p. 205-215.
- Kumar, B.V., T.J. Connors, and D.L. Farber, *Human T Cell Development,* Localization, and Function throughout Life. Immunity, 2018. 48(2): p. 202-213.
- 121. Fang, D. and J. Zhu, Dynamic balance between master transcription factors determines the fates and functions of CD4 T cell and innate lymphoid cell subsets. The Journal of experimental medicine, 2017. 214(7): p. 1861-1876.
- 122. Chen, Y., et al., *Regulatory T cell clones induced by oral tolerance: suppression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis.* Science, 1994. **265**(5176): p. 1237-1240.
- 123. Groux, H., et al., *A CD4+ T-cell subset inhibits antigen-specific T-cell responses* and prevents colitis. Nature, 1997. **389**(6652): p. 737-742.

- 124. Dardalhon, V., et al., *IL-4 inhibits TGF-β-induced Foxp3+ T cells and, together with TGF-β, generates IL-9+ IL-10+ Foxp3- effector T cells.* Nature immunology, 2008. 9(12): p. 1347-1355.
- 125. Veldhoen, M., et al., Transforming growth factor-β'reprograms' the differentiation of T helper 2 cells and promotes an interleukin 9–producing subset. Nature immunology, 2008. 9(12): p. 1341-1346.
- 126. Eyerich, S., et al., *Th22 cells represent a distinct human T cell subset involved in epidermal immunity and remodeling*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2009.
 119(12): p. 3573-3585.
- Ma, X., et al., *The interleukin 12 p40 gene promoter is primed by interferon gamma in monocytic cells*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1996. 183(1): p. 147-157.
- 128. Szabo, S.J., et al., *Regulation of the Interleukin (IL)-12R β2 Subunit Expression in Developing T Helper 1 (Th1) and Th2 Cells*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1997. 185(5): p. 817-824.
- 129. <Weksler-Szabo2000_Article_TheEffectOfAgeOnTheB-CellReper.pdf>.
- Szabo, S.J., et al., A Novel Transcription Factor, T-bet, Directs Th1 Lineage Commitment. Cell, 2000. 100(6): p. 655-669.
- 131. Lighvani, A.A., et al., *T-bet is rapidly induced by interferon-gamma in lymphoid and myeloid cells*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2001. 98(26): p. 15137-15142.
- Kaplan, M.H., et al., Impaired IL-12 responses and enhanced development of Th2 cells in Stat4-deficient mice. Nature, 1996. 382(6587): p. 174-7.
- 133. Thierfelder, W.E., et al., *Requirement for Stat4 in interleukin-12-mediated responses of natural killer and T cells*. Nature, 1996. **382**(6587): p. 171-4.
- 134. Bonecchi, R., et al., Differential expression of chemokine receptors and chemotactic responsiveness of type 1 T helper cells (Th1s) and Th2s. The Journal of experimental medicine, 1998. 187(1): p. 129-134.

- 135. Hess, J., et al., Salmonella typhimurium aroA- infection in gene-targeted immunodeficient mice: major role of CD4+ TCR-alpha beta cells and IFNgamma in bacterial clearance independent of intracellular location. J Immunol, 1996. 156(9): p. 3321-6.
- Annunziato, F., C. Romagnani, and S. Romagnani, *The 3 major types of innate and adaptive cell-mediated effector immunity*. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2015. 135(3): p. 626-635.
- 137. Sacks, D. and N. Noben-Trauth, *The immunology of susceptibility and resistance to Leishmania major in mice*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2002. 2(11): p. 845-58.
- 138. Zhu, J., et al., *The transcription factor T-bet is induced by multiple pathways* and prevents an endogenous *Th2 cell program during Th1 cell responses*. Immunity, 2012. **37**(4): p. 660-673.
- 139. Lazarevic, V., et al., *T-bet represses TH 17 differentiation by preventing Runx1-mediated activation of the gene encoding RORyt.* Nature immunology, 2011.
 12(1): p. 96-104.
- Yagi, R., et al., *The transcription factor GATA3 actively represses RUNX3* protein-regulated production of interferon-gamma. Immunity, 2010. 32(4): p. 507-517.
- 141. Romagnani, S., The Th1/Th2 paradigm. Immunol Today, 1997. 18(6): p. 263-6.
- 142. Colin, S., G. Chinetti-Gbaguidi, and B. Staels, *Macrophage phenotypes in atherosclerosis*. Immunological Reviews, 2014. **262**(1): p. 153-166.
- 143. Gurram, R.K. and J. Zhu, Orchestration between ILC2s and Th2 cells in shaping type 2 immune responses. Cellular & molecular immunology, 2019. 16(3): p. 225-235.
- 144. Panina-Bordignon, P., et al., *The CC chemokine receptors CCR4 and CCR8 identify airway T cells of allergen-challenged atopic asthmatics*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2001. **107**(11): p. 1357-1364.

- 145. Zheng, W. and R.A. Flavell, *The transcription factor GATA-3 is necessary and sufficient for Th2 cytokine gene expression in CD4 T cells*. Cell, 1997. **89**(4): p. 587-96.
- 146. Hammad, H. and B.N. Lambrecht, *Barrier epithelial cells and the control of type 2 immunity*. Immunity, 2015. 43(1): p. 29-40.
- Zhu, J., Seventeen-Year Journey Working with a Master. Frontiers in immunology, 2018. 9: p. 960.
- 148. Pulendran, B. and D. Artis, *New paradigms in type 2 immunity*. Science, 2012.
 337(6093): p. 431-435.
- 149. Sicherer, S.H. and H.A. Sampson, Food allergy: a review and update on epidemiology, pathogenesis, diagnosis, prevention, and management. Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 2018. 141(1): p. 41-58.
- Sweeney, A., V. Sampath, and K.C. Nadeau, *Early intervention of atopic dermatitis as a preventive strategy for progression of food allergy*. Allergy, Asthma & Clinical Immunology, 2021. 17(1): p. 30.
- Helm, R.M. and A.W. Burks, *Mechanisms of food allergy*. Current Opinion in Immunology, 2000. 12(6): p. 647-653.
- Palm, N.W., R.K. Rosenstein, and R. Medzhitov, *Allergic host defences*. Nature, 2012. 484(7395): p. 465-472.
- Thomas, W.R. and B.J. Hales, *T and B cell responses to HDM allergens and antigens*. Immunologic research, 2007. **37**(3): p. 187-199.
- 154. Mariani, V., et al., Immunomodulatory mediators from pollen enhance the migratory capacity of dendritic cells and license them for Th2 attraction. The Journal of Immunology, 2007. 178(12): p. 7623-7631.
- Coffman, R.L., A. Sher, and R.A. Seder, *Vaccine adjuvants: putting innate immunity to work*. Immunity, 2010. 33(4): p. 492-503.

- 156. Gaffen, S.L., et al., *The IL-23-IL-17 immune axis: from mechanisms to therapeutic testing*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2014. **14**(9): p. 585-600.
- 157. Wei, L., et al., *IL-21 is produced by Th17 cells and drives IL-17 production in a STAT3-dependent manner.* J Biol Chem, 2007. **282**(48): p. 34605-10.
- 158. Medvedev, A., et al., *Genomic structure and chromosomal mapping of the nuclear orphan receptor ROR gamma (RORC) gene*. Genomics, 1997. 46(1): p. 93-102.
- 159. Crome, S.Q., et al., *The role of retinoic acid-related orphan receptor variant 2 and IL-17 in the development and function of human CD4+ T cells*. European journal of immunology, 2009. **39**(6): p. 1480-1493.
- Acosta-Rodriguez, E.V., et al., Surface phenotype and antigenic specificity of human interleukin 17–producing T helper memory cells. Nature immunology, 2007. 8(6): p. 639-646.
- 161. Cosmi, L., et al., *Human interleukin 17–producing cells originate from a CD161+ CD4+ T cell precursor*. The Journal of experimental medicine, 2008.
 205(8): p. 1903-1916.
- Harris, K.M., et al., *The IL-23/Th17 axis is involved in the adaptive immune response to Bacillus anthracis in humans*. Eur J Immunol, 2014. 44(3): p. 752-62.
- 163. Lin, L., et al., *Th1-Th17 cells mediate protective adaptive immunity against* Staphylococcus aureus and Candida albicans infection in mice. PLoS Pathog, 2009. 5(12): p. e1000703.
- 164. Huang, W., et al., *Requirement of interleukin-17A for systemic anti-Candida albicans host defense in mice.* J Infect Dis, 2004. **190**(3): p. 624-31.
- 165. Annunziato, F., C. Romagnani, and S. Romagnani, *The 3 major types of innate and adaptive cell-mediated effector immunity*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2015.
 135(3): p. 626-35.

- 166. Park, H., et al., *A distinct lineage of CD4 T cells regulates tissue inflammation by producing interleukin 17.* Nat Immunol, 2005. **6**(11): p. 1133-41.
- 167. Harrington, L.E., et al., *Interleukin 17-producing CD4+ effector T cells develop via a lineage distinct from the T helper type 1 and 2 lineages*. Nat Immunol, 2005. 6(11): p. 1123-32.
- 168. Veldhoen, M., et al., *TGFbeta in the context of an inflammatory cytokine milieu supports de novo differentiation of IL-17-producing T cells*. Immunity, 2006.
 24(2): p. 179-89.
- 169. Li, J., et al., *Expression of Th17 cytokines in skin lesions of patients with psoriasis*. Journal of Huazhong University of Science and Technology, 2007.
 27(3): p. 330-332.
- 170. Crome, S.Q., A.Y. Wang, and M.K. Levings, *Translational mini-review series* on *Th17 cells: function and regulation of human T helper 17 cells in health and disease*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2010. **159**(2): p. 109-19.
- 171. Zheng, L., P. Ye, and C. Liu, *The role of the IL-23/IL-17 axis in the pathogenesis of Graves' disease*. Endocr J, 2013. **60**(5): p. 591-7.
- 172. Jandus, C., et al., *Increased numbers of circulating polyfunctional Th17 memory cells in patients with seronegative spondylarthritides*. Arthritis Rheum, 2008.
 58(8): p. 2307-17.
- 173. Werner, K., et al., *The Co-inhibitor BTLA Is Functional in ANCA-Associated Vasculitis and Suppresses Th17 Cells.* Front Immunol, 2019. **10**: p. 2843.
- Annunziato, F., et al., *Phenotypic and functional features of human Th17 cells*. J
 Exp Med, 2007. 204(8): p. 1849-61.
- 175. Debnath, M. and M. Berk, *Th17 pathway-mediated immunopathogenesis of schizophrenia: mechanisms and implications*. Schizophr Bull, 2014. 40(6): p. 1412-21.
- 176. Abdolahi, M., et al., Molecular Mechanisms of the Action of Vitamin A in Th17/Treg Axis in Multiple Sclerosis. J Mol Neurosci, 2015. 57(4): p. 605-13.

```
Nawal Taher
```

- 177. Huh, J.R. and D.R. Littman, *Small molecule inhibitors of RORyt: targeting Th17 cells and other applications*. Eur J Immunol, 2012. **42**(9): p. 2232-7.
- Shevach, E.M., *Mechanisms of Foxp3+ T Regulatory Cell-Mediated* Suppression. Immunity, 2009. 30(5): p. 636-645.
- 179. Sakaguchi, S., et al., FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the human immune system.
 Nature Reviews Immunology, 2010. 10(7): p. 490-500.
- 180. Abbas, A.K., et al., *Regulatory T cells: recommendations to simplify the nomenclature*. Nature Immunology, 2013. **14**(4): p. 307-308.
- Raffin, C., L.T. Vo, and J.A. Bluestone, *Treg cell-based therapies: challenges and perspectives*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2020. 20(3): p. 158-172.
- 182. Kanamori, M., et al., *Induced Regulatory T Cells: Their Development, Stability, and Applications.* Trends in Immunology, 2016. **37**(11): p. 803-811.
- 183. Chen, W., et al., Conversion of Peripheral CD4+CD25- Naive T Cells to CD4+CD25+ Regulatory T Cells by TGF-β Induction of Transcription Factor Foxp3. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2003. 198(12): p. 1875-1886.
- Shevach, E.M. and A.M. Thornton, *tTregs*, *pTregs*, and *iTregs*: similarities and differences. Immunological Reviews, 2014. 259(1): p. 88-102.
- 185. Fuchs, A., et al., Minimum Information about T Regulatory Cells: A Step toward Reproducibility and Standardization. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. 8(1844).
- 186. Fontenot, J.D., M.A. Gavin, and A.Y. Rudensky, *Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells*. Nature Immunology, 2003. 4(4): p. 330-336.
- 187. Brunkow, M.E., et al., Disruption of a new forkhead/winged-helix protein, scurfin, results in the fatal lymphoproliferative disorder of the scurfy mouse. Nature Genetics, 2001. 27(1): p. 68-73.

- 188. Wu, D.C., et al., *Ex vivo expanded human regulatory T cells can prolong survival of a human islet allograft in a humanized mouse model.*Transplantation, 2013. 96(8): p. 707-716.
- 189. Nadig, S.N., et al., *In vivo prevention of transplant arteriosclerosis by ex vivo– expanded human regulatory T cells*. Nature Medicine, 2010. **16**(7): p. 809-813.
- 190. Sagoo, P., et al., Human Regulatory T Cells with Alloantigen Specificity Are More Potent Inhibitors of Alloimmune Skin Graft Damage than Polyclonal Regulatory T Cells. Science Translational Medicine, 2011. 3(83): p. 83ra42-83ra42.
- 191. Sawitzki, B., et al., Regulatory cell therapy in kidney transplantation (The ONE Study): a harmonised design and analysis of seven non-randomised, single-arm, phase 1/2A trials. The Lancet, 2020. 395(10237): p. 1627-1639.
- 192. Cannons, J.L., K.T. Lu, and P.L. Schwartzberg, *T follicular helper cell diversity and plasticity*. Trends in immunology, 2013. **34**(5): p. 200-207.
- 193. Wali, S., et al., *Insights into the development and regulation of T follicular* helper cells. Cytokine, 2016. 87: p. 9-19.
- 194. Vinuesa, C.G., et al., *Follicular helper T cells*. Annual review of immunology, 2016. 34: p. 335-368.
- 195. Crotty, S., *Follicular helper CD4 T cells (Tfh)*. Annual review of immunology, 2011. 29: p. 621-663.
- Ballesteros-Tato, A. and T.D. Randall, *Priming of T follicular helper cells by dendritic cells*. Immunology and cell biology, 2014. **92**(1): p. 22-27.
- 197. Karnowski, A., et al., B and T cells collaborate in antiviral responses via IL-6, IL-21, and transcriptional activator and coactivator, Oct2 and OBF-1. The Journal of experimental medicine, 2012. 209(11): p. 2049-2064.
- 198. Choi, Y.S., et al., *Bcl6 expressing follicular helper CD4 T cells are fate committed early and have the capacity to form memory*. J Immunol, 2013.
 190(8): p. 4014-26.

Nawal Taher

- Ballesteros-Tato, A., et al., *Interleukin-2 inhibits germinal center formation by limiting T follicular helper cell differentiation*. Immunity, 2012. 36(5): p. 847-56.
- 200. Locci, M., et al., *Activin A programs the differentiation of human TFH cells*. Nat Immunol, 2016. **17**(8): p. 976-84.
- 201. Fazilleau, N., et al., *Follicular helper T cells: lineage and location*. Immunity, 2009. 30(3): p. 324-35.
- 202. Janeway, C.A., *How the immune system works to protect the host from infection: A personal view.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2001. **98**(13): p. 7461-7468.
- 203. Odendahl, M., et al., Generation of migratory antigen-specific plasma blasts and mobilization of resident plasma cells in a secondary immune response. Blood, 2005. 105(4): p. 1614-21.
- 204. McHeyzer-Williams, L.J. and M.G. McHeyzer-Williams, *ANTIGEN-SPECIFIC MEMORY B CELL DEVELOPMENT*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2005.
 23(1): p. 487-513.
- Crotty, S., *Follicular Helper CD4 T Cells (TFH)*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2011. 29(1): p. 621-663.
- 206. Nutt, S.L., et al., *The generation of antibody-secreting plasma cells*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(3): p. 160-71.
- 207. De Silva, N.S. and U. Klein, *Dynamics of B cells in germinal centres*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2015. **15**(3): p. 137-48.
- 208. Eisen, H.N., Affinity enhancement of antibodies: how low-affinity antibodies produced early in immune responses are followed by high-affinity antibodies later and in memory B-cell responses. Cancer Immunol Res, 2014. 2(5): p. 381-92.

- 209. Victora, G.D., et al., Germinal center dynamics revealed by multiphoton microscopy with a photoactivatable fluorescent reporter. Cell, 2010. 143(4): p. 592-605.
- 210. Gitlin, A.D., Z. Shulman, and M.C. Nussenzweig, *Clonal selection in the germinal centre by regulated proliferation and hypermutation*. Nature, 2014. 509(7502): p. 637-40.
- Shulman, Z., et al., *Dynamic signaling by T follicular helper cells during germinal center B cell selection*. Science, 2014. 345(6200): p. 1058-62.
- 212. Baumgarth, N., *The double life of a B-1 cell: self-reactivity selects for protective effector functions*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2011. **11**(1): p. 34-46.
- 213. Bonilla, F.A. and H.C. Oettgen, *Adaptive immunity*. J Allergy Clin Immunol, 2010. 125(2 Suppl 2): p. S33-40.
- 214. Hoffman, W., F.G. Lakkis, and G. Chalasani, *B Cells, Antibodies, and More.* Clinical journal of the American Society of Nephrology : CJASN, 2016. 11(1): p. 137-154.
- 215. Coutinho, A., M.D. Kazatchkine, and S. Avrameas, *Natural autoantibodies*.Current opinion in immunology, 1995. 7(6): p. 812-818.
- 216. Holodick, N.E., N. Rodríguez-Zhurbenko, and A.M. Hernández, *Defining natural antibodies*. Frontiers in immunology, 2017. **8**: p. 872.
- 217. Binder, C.J., *Naturally occurring IgM antibodies to oxidation-specific epitopes*, in *Naturally Occurring Antibodies (NAbs)*. 2012, Springer. p. 2-13.
- 218. Zorn, E. and S.B. See, *Is there a role for natural antibodies in rejection following transplantation?* Transplantation, 2019. **103**(8): p. 1612.
- 219. Zabel, F., T.M. Kündig, and M.F. Bachmann, *Virus-induced humoral immunity:* on how B cell responses are initiated. Current opinion in virology, 2013. 3(3): p. 357-362.

- 220. Zhou, Z.-h., et al., *Polyreactive antibodies plus complement enhance the phagocytosis of cells made apoptotic by UV-light or HIV*. Scientific reports, 2013. 3(1): p. 1-11.
- 221. Panda, S., et al., *Natural IgG antibodies provide innate protection against ficolin-opsonized bacteria*. The EMBO journal, 2013. **32**(22): p. 2905-2919.
- 222. Benatuil, L., et al., *The influence of natural antibody specificity on antigen immunogenicity*. European journal of immunology, 2005. **35**(9): p. 2638-2647.
- Matter, M.S. and A.F. Ochsenbein, *Natural antibodies target virus–antibody* complexes to organized lymphoid tissue. Autoimmunity reviews, 2008. 7(6): p. 480-486.
- Stäger, S., et al., Natural antibodies and complement are endogenous adjuvants for vaccine-induced CD8+ T-cell responses. Nature medicine, 2003. 9(10): p. 1287-1292.
- 225. Suurmond, J. and B. Diamond, *Autoantibodies in systemic autoimmune diseases: specificity and pathogenicity*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2015. 125(6): p. 2194-2202.
- 226. Yanaba, K., et al., A regulatory B cell subset with a unique CD1dhiCD5+ phenotype controls T cell-dependent inflammatory responses. Immunity, 2008.
 28(5): p. 639-650.
- 227. Qing, Z., et al., *Antigen-specific T cell trafficking into the central nervous system*. Journal of neuroimmunology, 2000. **105**(2): p. 169-178.
- 228. Kivisäkk, P., et al., *Human cerebrospinal fluid central memory CD4+ T cells:* evidence for trafficking through choroid plexus and meninges via P-selectin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2003. 100(14): p. 8389-8394.
- 229. McGowan, P.O., et al., *Impaired social recognition memory in recombination activating gene 1-deficient mice*. Brain research, 2011. **1383**: p. 187-195.
- Filiano, A.J., et al., Unexpected role of interferon-γ in regulating neuronal connectivity and social behaviour. Nature, 2016. 535(7612): p. 425-429.

- 231. Derecki, N.C., et al., *Regulation of learning and memory by meningeal immunity: a key role for IL-4*. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2010. 207(5): p. 1067-1080.
- 232. Ziv, Y., et al., *Immune cells contribute to the maintenance of neurogenesis and spatial learning abilities in adulthood*. Nature neuroscience, 2006. 9(2): p. 268-275.
- 233. Stubbe, T., et al., *Regulatory T cells accumulate and proliferate in the ischemic hemisphere for up to 30 days after MCAO*. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 2013. 33(1): p. 37-47.
- 234. Jayaraj, R.L., et al., *Neuroinflammation: friend and foe for ischemic stroke*. J Neuroinflammation, 2019. **16**(1): p. 142.
- 235. Fleiss, B. and P. Gressens, *Tertiary mechanisms of brain damage: a new hope for treatment of cerebral palsy?* Lancet Neurol, 2012. **11**(6): p. 556-66.
- 236. Liu, F. and L.D. McCullough, *Inflammatory responses in hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy*. Acta Pharmacol Sin, 2013. **34**(9): p. 1121-30.
- 237. Phelan, J.P., et al., Neonatal nucleated red blood cell and lymphocyte counts in fetal brain injury. Obstet Gynecol, 1998. 91(4): p. 485-9.
- Shah, V., et al., Association between hematologic findings and brain injury due to neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Am J Perinatol, 2009. 26(4): p. 295-302.
- Hum, P.D., et al., *T-and B-cell-deficient mice with experimental stroke have reduced lesion size and inflammation*. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 2007. 27(11): p. 1798-1805.
- 240. Yang, D., et al., Blocking lymphocyte trafficking with FTY720 prevents inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in newborns. J Neurosci, 2014. 34(49): p. 16467-81.
- 241. Albertsson, A.-M., et al., $\gamma\delta$ *T cells contribute to injury in the developing brain.* The American journal of pathology, 2018. **188**(3): p. 757-767.

```
Nawal Taher
```

- 242. Iadecola, C. and J. Anrather, *The immunology of stroke: from mechanisms to translation*. Nature medicine, 2011. **17**(7): p. 796-808.
- Chamorro, A., et al., *The immunology of acute stroke*. Nature Reviews Neurology, 2012. 8(7): p. 401.
- 244. Fathali, N., et al., *Splenic Immune Cells in Experimental Neonatal Hypoxia–Ischemia*. Translational Stroke Research, 2013. **4**(2): p. 208-219.
- 245. Ostrowski, R.P., et al., *Acute splenic irradiation reduces brain injury in the rat focal ischemic stroke model.* Translational stroke research, 2012. 3(4): p. 473-481.
- 246. Nazmi, A., et al., *Lymphocytes contribute to the pathophysiology of neonatal brain injury*. Frontiers in neurology, 2018. **9**: p. 159.
- 247. Yilmaz, G., et al., *Role of T lymphocytes and interferon-gamma in ischemic stroke*. Circulation, 2006. **113**(17): p. 2105-12.
- 248. Winerdal, M., et al., *Long lasting local and systemic inflammation after cerebral hypoxic ischemia in newborn mice*. PLoS One, 2012. **7**(5): p. e36422.
- 249. Benjelloun, N., et al., *Inflammatory responses in the cerebral cortex after ischemia in the P7 neonatal Rat.* Stroke, 1999. 30(9): p. 1916-23; discussion 1923-4.
- Giuliani, F., et al., Vulnerability of human neurons to T cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Immunol, 2003. 171(1): p. 368-79.
- 251. Medana, I., et al., Fas Ligand (CD95L) Protects Neurons Against Perforin-Mediated T Lymphocyte Cytotoxicity. The Journal of Immunology, 2001.
 167(2): p. 674-681.
- 252. Kumar, S.K.M. and B.V. Bhat, *Distinct mechanisms of the newborn innate immunity*. Immunology letters, 2016. **173**: p. 42-54.
- 253. Price, S., et al., Differential distribution of $WC1 + \gamma\delta$ TCR+ T lymphocyte subsets within lymphoid tissues of the head and respiratory tract and effects of

Nawal Taher

intranasal M. bovis BCG vaccination. Veterinary immunology and immunopathology, 2010. **136**(1-2): p. 133-137.

- 254. Tregoning, J.S., et al., Neonatal antibody responses are attenuated by interferon-γ produced by NK and T cells during RSV infection. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2013. 110(14): p. 5576-5581.
- 255. Lee, Y.C. and S.J. Lin, *Neonatal natural killer cell function: relevance to antiviral immune defense*. Clinical and Developmental Immunology, 2013.
 2013.
- Yu, J.C., et al., *Innate Immunity of Neonates and Infants*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. 9(1759).
- Moffett-King, A., *Natural killer cells and pregnancy*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2002. 2(9): p. 656-663.
- 258. Fukui, A., et al., Uterine and circulating natural killer cells and their roles in women with recurrent pregnancy loss, implantation failure and preeclampsia. Journal of reproductive immunology, 2011. 90(1): p. 105-110.
- 259. Dosiou, C. and L.C. Giudice, *Natural killer cells in pregnancy and recurrent pregnancy loss: endocrine and immunologic perspectives*. Endocrine reviews, 2005. 26(1): p. 44-62.
- 260. LaMarca, B., D. Cornelius, and K. Wallace, *Elucidating immune mechanisms causing hypertension during pregnancy*. Physiology, 2013. **28**(4): p. 225-233.
- 261. Hanna, J., et al., *Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the human fetal-maternal interface*. Nat Med, 2006. **12**(9): p. 1065-74.
- 262. Naruse, K., et al., *Localization of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2, MMP-9* and tissue inhibitors for MMPs (TIMPs) in uterine natural killer cells in early human pregnancy. Hum Reprod, 2009. **24**(3): p. 553-61.
- 263. Adkins, B., C. Leclerc, and S. Marshall-Clarke, *Neonatal adaptive immunity comes of age*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2004. **4**(7): p. 553-564.

- Allison, T.J., et al., *Structure of a human gammadelta T-cell antigen receptor*. Nature, 2001. 411(6839): p. 820-4.
- Chien, Y.H., C. Meyer, and M. Bonneville, gammadelta T cells: first line of defense and beyond. Annu Rev Immunol, 2014. 32: p. 121-55.
- Wu, Y.-L., et al., γδ T cells and their potential for immunotherapy. International journal of biological sciences, 2014. 10(2): p. 119.
- 267. Kabelitz, D., et al., *Epithelial defence by* $\gamma\delta$ *T cells*. International archives of allergy and immunology, 2005. **137**(1): p. 73-81.
- 268. Willcox, C.R., et al., Cytomegalovirus and tumor stress surveillance by binding of a human γδ T cell antigen receptor to endothelial protein C receptor. Nature immunology, 2012. 13(9): p. 872-879.
- 269. Carding, S., et al., *Developmentally regulated fetal thymic and extrathymic T-cell receptor gamma delta gene expression*. Genes & development, 1990. 4(8):
 p. 1304-1315.
- 270. Kallemeijn, M.J., et al., Next-generation sequencing analysis of the human TCRyδ+ T-cell repertoire reveals shifts in Vy-and Vδ-usage in memory populations upon aging. Frontiers in immunology, 2018. 9: p. 448.
- McVay, L.D. and S.R. Carding, *Generation of human gammadelta T-cell repertoires*. Critical reviews in immunology, 1999. 19(5-6): p. 431-460.
- 272. Xu, W., et al., *The Aging of γδ T Cells*. Cells, 2020. **9**(5): p. 1181.
- 273. McVay, L.D., et al., *The generation of human γδ T cell repertoires during fetal development*. The Journal of Immunology, 1998. 160(12): p. 5851-5860.
- Willcox, C.R., M.S. Davey, and B.E. Willcox, *Development and Selection of the Human Vγ9Vδ2(+) T-Cell Repertoire*. Frontiers in immunology, 2018. 9: p. 1501-1501.

- 275. Dimova, T., et al., *Effector Vγ9Vδ2 T cells dominate the human fetal γδ T-cell repertoire*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2015. 112(6): p. E556-E565.
- 276. Kozbor, D., et al., Human TCR-gamma+/delta+, CD8+ T lymphocytes recognize tetanus toxoid in an MHC-restricted fashion. The Journal of experimental medicine, 1989. 169(5): p. 1847-1851.
- 277. Colonna-Romano, G., et al., *Impairment of gamma/delta T lymphocytes in elderly: implications for immunosenescence*. Experimental gerontology, 2004. **39**(10): p. 1439-1446.
- 278. Mayassi, T. and B. Jabri, *Human intraepithelial lymphocytes*. Mucosal immunology, 2018. **11**(5): p. 1281-1289.
- 279. Garcillán, B., et al., *gd T lymphocytes in the diagnosis of human T cell receptor immunodeficiencies.* Frontiers in immunology, 2015. **6**: p. 20.
- 280. Siegers, G.M. and L.S. Lamb Jr, *Cytotoxic and regulatory properties of circulating Vδ1+ γδ T cells: a new player on the cell therapy field?* Molecular Therapy, 2014. 22(8): p. 1416-1422.
- Venturi, V., et al., *The molecular basis for public T-cell responses?* Nat Rev Immunol, 2008. 8(3): p. 231-8.
- 282. Davey, M.S., et al., *The human Vδ2+ T-cell compartment comprises distinct innate-like Vγ9+ and adaptive Vγ9- subsets*. Nature Communications, 2018.
 9(1): p. 1760.
- 283. Hintz, M., et al., Identification of (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate as a major activator for human γδ T cells in Escherichia coli. FEBS letters, 2001. 509(2): p. 317-322.
- 284. Sandstrom, A., et al., *The intracellular B30. 2 domain of butyrophilin 3A1 binds phosphoantigens to mediate activation of human Vγ9Vδ2 T cells.* Immunity, 2014. 40(4): p. 490-500.
- 285. Gu, S., W. Nawrocka, and E.J. Adams, Sensing of pyrophosphate metabolites by Vγ9Vδ2 T cells. Frontiers in immunology, 2015. 5: p. 688.
- 286. Morita, C.T., et al., Nonpeptide antigens, presentation mechanisms, and immunological memory of human Vγ2Vδ2 T cells: discriminating friend from foe through the recognition of prenyl pyrophosphate antigens. Immunological reviews, 2007. 215(1): p. 59-76.
- 287. Tyler, C.J., et al., *Human Vγ9/Vδ2 T cells: Innate adaptors of the immune system*. Cellular Immunology, 2015. 296(1): p. 10-21.
- 288. Kenna, T., et al., Distinct subpopulations of γδ T cells are present in normal and tumor-bearing human liver. Clinical Immunology, 2004. 113(1): p. 56-63.
- 289. Dunne, M.R., et al., Persistent changes in circulating and intestinal $\gamma\delta$ T cell subsets, invariant natural killer T cells and mucosal-associated invariant T cells in children and adults with coeliac disease. PloS one, 2013. **8**(10): p. e76008.
- 290. Déchanet, J., et al., Major expansion of γδ T lymphocytes following cytomegalovirus infection in kidney allograft recipients. The Journal of infectious diseases, 1999. 179(1): p. 1-8.
- 291. Bartkowiak, J., et al., Molecular diversity of gammadelta T cells in peripheral blood from patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia. Neoplasma, 2002. 49(2): p. 86-90.
- 292. Petrasca, A., et al., *Human V* δ 3+ $\gamma\delta$ *T cells induce maturation and IgM secretion by B cells*. Immunology letters, 2018. **196**: p. 126-134.
- 293. Mangan, B.A., et al., *Cutting edge: CD1d restriction and Th1/Th2/Th17 cytokine secretion by human Vδ3 T cells*. The Journal of Immunology, 2013.
 191(1): p. 30-34.
- 294. Albertsson, A.M., et al., *gammadelta T Cells Contribute to Injury in the Developing Brain.* Am J Pathol, 2018. **188**(3): p. 757-767.
- Nazmi, A., et al., Lymphocytes Contribute to the Pathophysiology of Neonatal Brain Injury. Front Neurol, 2018. 9: p. 159.

- 296. Shichita, T., et al., *Pivotal role of cerebral interleukin-17–producing γδT cells in the delayed phase of ischemic brain injury*. Nature medicine, 2009. 15(8): p. 946-950.
- 297. Kostulas, N., et al., Increased IL-1β, IL-8, and IL-17 mRNA Expression in Blood Mononuclear Cells Observed in a Prospective Ischemic Stroke Study. Stroke, 1999. 30(10): p. 2174-2179.
- 298. Porcelli, S., et al., Analysis ofT cell antigen receptor (TCK) expression by human peripheral blood CD4-8-o~/3 T cells demonstrates preferential use of several V~ genes and an invariant TCR, c~ chain. J. Exp. Med, 1993. 178(1).
- 299. Xiao, X. and J. Cai, *Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells: New Insights into Antigen Recognition and Activation.* Front Immunol, 2017. **8**: p. 1540.
- 300. Garner, L.C., P. Klenerman, and N.M. Provine, Insights Into Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cell Biology From Studies of Invariant Natural Killer T Cells. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. 9(1478).
- 301. Arduini, S., et al., Mucosal-associated invariant T cells are depleted and functionally altered in patients with common variable immunodeficiency. Clin Immunol, 2017. 176: p. 23-30.
- 302. Lee, O.J., et al., *Circulating mucosal-associated invariant T cell levels and their cytokine levels in healthy adults.* Exp Gerontol, 2014. **49**: p. 47-54.
- 303. Martin, E., et al., Stepwise development of MAIT cells in mouse and human.PLoS Biol, 2009. 7(3): p. e1000054.
- 304. Downey, A.M., P. Kapłonek, and P.H. Seeberger, *MAIT cells as attractive vaccine targets*. FEBS Letters, 2019. **593**(13): p. 1627-1640.
- 305. van Wilgenburg, B., et al., *MAIT cells are activated during human viral infections*. Nature Communications, 2016. **7**(1): p. 11653.
- 306. Huang, S., et al., *MR1 antigen presentation to mucosal-associated invariant T cells was highly conserved in evolution*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2009.
 106(20): p. 8290-5.

- 307. Huang, S., et al., MR1 antigen presentation to mucosal-associated invariant T cells was highly conserved in evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2009. 106(20): p. 8290-8295.
- 308. Corbett, A.J., et al., *T-cell activation by transitory neo-antigens derived from distinct microbial pathways*. Nature, 2014. **509**(7500): p. 361-5.
- 309. Tastan, C., et al., *Tuning of human MAIT cell activation by commensal bacteria* species and MR1-dependent T-cell presentation. Mucosal Immunol, 2018. 11(6): p. 1591-1605.
- Le Bourhis, L., et al., *Antimicrobial activity of mucosal-associated invariant T cells*. Nat Immunol, 2010. 11(8): p. 701-8.
- Ben Youssef, G., et al., Ontogeny of human mucosal-associated invariant T cells and related T cell subsets. J Exp Med, 2018. 215(2): p. 459-479.
- 312. Chen, P., et al., Circulating Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells in a Large Cohort of Healthy Chinese Individuals From Newborn to Elderly. Front Immunol, 2019. 10: p. 260.
- Willing, A., et al., CD8(+) MAIT cells infiltrate into the CNS and alterations in their blood frequencies correlate with IL-18 serum levels in multiple sclerosis.
 Eur J Immunol, 2014. 44(10): p. 3119-28.
- Sugimoto, C., et al., *The dynamics of mucosal-associated invariant T cells in multiple sclerosis*. Springerplus, 2016. 5(1): p. 1259.
- 315. Mexhitaj, I., et al., Abnormal Frequency and Function of MR1-defined MAIT cells in Pediatric Multiple Sclerosis (S55.007). Neurology, 2019. 92(15 Supplement): p. S55.007.
- 316. Hegde, P., et al., *Mucosal-associated invariant T cells are a profibrogenic immune cell population in the liver*. Nat Commun, 2018. 9(1): p. 2146.
- Van Rhijn, I. and D.B. Moody, *Donor unrestricted T cells: a shared human T cell response*. The Journal of Immunology, 2015. 195(5): p. 1927-1932.

- Kronenberg, M., When Less Is More: T Lymphocyte Populations with Restricted Antigen Receptor Diversity. The Journal of Immunology, 2014. 193(3): p. 975-976.
- 319. Carreno, L.J., N.A. Saavedra-Avila, and S.A. Porcelli, Synthetic glycolipid activators of natural killer T cells as immunotherapeutic agents. Clin Transl Immunology, 2016. 5(4): p. e69.
- 320. Matsuda, J.L., et al., *CD1d-restricted iNKT cells, the 'Swiss-Army knife' of the immune system*. Curr Opin Immunol, 2008. **20**(3): p. 358-68.
- Tard, C., O. Rouxel, and A. Lehuen, *Regulatory role of natural killer T cells in diabetes*. Biomed J, 2015. 38(6): p. 484-95.
- Singh, A.K., P. Tripathi, and S.L. Cardell, *Type II NKT Cells: An Elusive Population With Immunoregulatory Properties*. Front Immunol, 2018. 9: p. 1969.
- 323. Lynch, L., *Adipose invariant natural killer T cells*. Immunology, 2014. 142(3): p. 337-46.
- 324. Marrero, I., R. Ware, and V. Kumar, *Type II NKT Cells in Inflammation, Autoimmunity, Microbial Immunity, and Cancer.* Front Immunol, 2015. 6: p. 316.
- 325. Hirabayashi, Y., A world of sphingolipids and glycolipids in the brain--novel functions of simple lipids modified with glucose. Proc Jpn Acad Ser B Phys Biol Sci, 2012. 88(4): p. 129-43.
- 326. Cui, Y. and Q. Wan, *NKT Cells in Neurological Diseases*. Front Cell Neurosci, 2019. 13: p. 245.
- 327. Araki, M., et al., *Th2 bias of CD4+ NKT cells derived from multiple sclerosis in remission*. Int Immunol, 2003. **15**(2): p. 279-88.
- 328. De Biasi, S., et al., *iNKT Cells in Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis Patients Display Pro-inflammatory Profiles.* Front Immunol, 2016. 7: p. 555.

- 329. Finkelstein, A., et al., *Abnormal changes in NKT cells, the IGF-1 axis, and liver pathology in an animal model of ALS.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(8): p. e22374.
- 330. Wang, Z.-K., et al., Infiltration of invariant natural killer T cells occur and accelerate brain infarction in permanent ischemic stroke in mice. Neuroscience Letters, 2016. 633: p. 62-68.
- 331. Yang, S.H., et al., *Sulfatide-reactive natural killer T cells abrogate ischemiareperfusion injury*. J Am Soc Nephrol, 2011. **22**(7): p. 1305-14.
- Wong, C.H.Y., et al., Prolonged Activation of Invariant Natural Killer T Cells and T(H)2-Skewed Immunity in Stroke Patients. Frontiers in neurology, 2017. 8: p. 6-6.
- Wong, C.H., et al., Prolonged Activation of Invariant Natural Killer T Cells and TH2-Skewed Immunity in Stroke Patients. Front Neurol, 2017. 8: p. 6.
- 334. Huang, C.C., et al., Measurement of the urinary lactate:creatinine ratio for the early identification of newborn infants at risk for hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. N Engl J Med, 1999. 341(5): p. 328-35.
- 335. Alter, G., J.M. Malenfant, and M. Altfeld, *CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity*. J Immunol Methods, 2004.
 294(1-2): p. 15-22.
- Betts, M.R. and R.A. Koup, *Detection of T-cell degranulation: CD107a and b.* Methods Cell Biol, 2004. 75: p. 497-512.
- 337. Leng, S.X., et al., *ELISA and multiplex technologies for cytokine measurement in inflammation and aging research*. The journals of gerontology. Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences, 2008. 63(8): p. 879-884.
- 338. Falzone, N., C. Huyser, and D.R. Franken, Comparison between propidium iodide and 7-amino-actinomycin-D for viability assessment during flow cytometric analyses of the human sperm acrosome. Andrologia, 2010. 42(1): p. 20-6.

- Schutte, B., et al., Annexin V binding assay as a tool to measure apoptosis in differentiated neuronal cells. J Neurosci Methods, 1998. 86(1): p. 63-9.
- 340. Liu, L., et al., Global, regional, and national causes of child mortality: an updated systematic analysis for 2010 with time trends since 2000. The Lancet, 2012. 379(9832): p. 2151-2161.
- 341. Alpert, A., et al., *A clinically meaningful metric of immune age derived from high-dimensional longitudinal monitoring*. Nat Med, 2019. **25**(3): p. 487-495.
- 342. Graham, J.E., L.M. Christian, and J.K. Kiecolt-Glaser, *Stress, age, and immune function: toward a lifespan approach.* Journal of behavioral medicine, 2006.
 29(4): p. 389-400.
- Besedovsky, L., T. Lange, and M. Haack, *The Sleep-Immune Crosstalk in Health and Disease*. Physiol Rev, 2019. **99**(3): p. 1325-1380.
- 344. Tourkochristou, E., C. Triantos, and A. Mouzaki, *The Influence of Nutritional Factors on Immunological Outcomes*. Front Immunol, 2021. **12**: p. 665968.
- 345. Jain, N., *The early life education of the immune system: Moms, microbes and (missed) opportunities.* Gut Microbes, 2020. **12**(1): p. 1824564.
- 346. Montecino-Rodriguez, E., B. Berent-Maoz, and K. Dorshkind, *Causes, consequences, and reversal of immune system aging*. J Clin Invest, 2013. 123(3):
 p. 958-65.
- 347. Pawelec, G., *Age and immunity: What is "immunosenescence"*? Exp Gerontol, 2018. 105: p. 4-9.
- 348. Zhang, H., C.M. Weyand, and J.J. Goronzy, *Hallmarks of the aging T-cell system*. The FEBS Journal, 2021. **288**(24): p. 7123-7142.
- Georgountzou, A. and N.G. Papadopoulos, *Postnatal Innate Immune* Development: From Birth to Adulthood. Frontiers in Immunology, 2017. 8(957).

- Ferrucci, L. and E. Fabbri, *Inflammageing: chronic inflammation in ageing, cardiovascular disease, and frailty.* Nature reviews. Cardiology, 2018. 15(9): p. 505-522.
- 351. Gibson, K.L., et al., *B-cell diversity decreases in old age and is correlated with poor health status*. Aging cell, 2009. **8**(1): p. 18-25.
- 352. López-Otín, C., et al., The hallmarks of aging. Cell, 2013. 153(6): p. 1194-217.
- Pangrazzi, L. and B. Weinberger, *T cells, aging and senescence*. Exp Gerontol, 2020. 134: p. 110887.
- 354. Mold, J.E., et al., *Fetal and adult hematopoietic stem cells give rise to distinct T cell lineages in humans.* Science, 2010. **330**(6011): p. 1695-9.
- 355. Takahata, Y., et al., CD25+CD4+ T cells in human cord blood: an immunoregulatory subset with naive phenotype and specific expression of forkhead box p3 (Foxp3) gene. Exp Hematol, 2004. 32(7): p. 622-9.
- Haddad, R., et al., Dynamics of thymus-colonizing cells during human development. Immunity, 2006. 24(2): p. 217-30.
- 357. Zlotoff, D.A., B.A. Schwarz, and A. Bhandoola, *The long road to the thymus: the generation, mobilization, and circulation of T-cell progenitors in mouse and man.* Semin Immunopathol, 2008. **30**(4): p. 371-82.
- Clark, B.L. and P.G. Thomas, A Cell for the Ages: Human γδ T Cells across the Lifespan. Int J Mol Sci, 2020. 21(23).
- 359. Leeansyah, E., et al., Acquisition of innate-like microbial reactivity in mucosal tissues during human fetal MAIT-cell development. Nature Communications, 2014. 5(1): p. 3143.
- 360. Gibbons, D.L., et al., *Neonates harbour highly active γδ T cells with selective impairments in preterm infants*. European Journal of Immunology, 2009. 39(7):
 p. 1794-1806.

- 361. Hannet, I., et al., *Developmental and maturational changes in human blood lymphocyte subpopulations*. Immunol Today, 1992. **13**(6): p. 215, 218.
- 362. Kaur, K., et al., Decreased expression of tumor necrosis factor family receptors involved in humoral immune responses in preterm neonates. Blood, 2007.
 110(8): p. 2948-54.
- 363. Ridings, J., et al., *Somatic mutation of immunoglobulin V(H)6 genes in human infants*. Clin Exp Immunol, 1998. **114**(1): p. 33-9.
- 364. Pihlgren, M., et al., *Reduced ability of neonatal and early-life bone marrow* stromal cells to support plasmablast survival. J Immunol, 2006. 176(1): p. 165-72.
- 365. Walker, J.M. and M.K. Slifka, *Longevity of T-cell memory following acute viral infection*. Adv Exp Med Biol, 2010. **684**: p. 96-107.
- Zinkernagel, R.M., *On immunological memory*. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci, 2000. 355(1395): p. 369-71.
- 367. Booth, J.S. and F.R. Toapanta, *B and T Cell Immunity in Tissues and Across the Ages*. Vaccines (Basel), 2021. **9**(1).
- 368. Tercan, H., et al., Trained Immunity: Long-Term Adaptation in Innate Immune Responses. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol, 2021. 41(1): p. 55-61.
- 369. Newell, E., et al., Cerebrospinal Fluid Markers of Macrophage and Lymphocyte Activation After Traumatic Brain Injury in Children. Pediatr Crit Care Med, 2015. 16(6): p. 549-57.
- 370. Hayward, A.C., et al., Comparative community burden and severity of seasonal and pandemic influenza: results of the Flu Watch cohort study. Lancet Respir Med, 2014. 2(6): p. 445-54.
- 371. Virgin, H.W., E.J. Wherry, and R. Ahmed, *Redefining chronic viral infection*. Cell, 2009. 138(1): p. 30-50.

- 372. Franceschi, C., et al., Inflamm-aging. An evolutionary perspective on immunosenescence. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 2000. 908: p. 244-54.
- 373. Naylor, K., et al., *The influence of age on T cell generation and TCR diversity*. J Immunol, 2005. **174**(11): p. 7446-52.
- 374. Bektas, A., et al., Age-associated changes in basal NF-κB function in human CD4+ T lymphocytes via dysregulation of PI3 kinase. Aging (Albany NY), 2014. 6(11): p. 957-74.
- Bektas, A., et al., Age-associated alterations in inducible gene transcription in human CD4+ T lymphocytes. Aging (Albany NY), 2013. 5(1): p. 18-36.
- Mocchegiani, E. and M. Malavolta, NK and NKT cell functions in immunosenescence. Aging Cell, 2004. 3(4): p. 177-84.
- 377. Koay, H.F., et al., A three-stage intrathymic development pathway for the mucosal-associated invariant T cell lineage. Nat Immunol, 2016. 17(11): p. 1300-1311.
- Yang, D., et al., Blocking Lymphocyte Trafficking with FTY720 Prevents Inflammation-Sensitized Hypoxic–Ischemic Brain Injury in Newborns. The Journal of Neuroscience, 2014. 34(49): p. 16467-16481.
- 379. Qi, Q., et al., *Diversity and clonal selection in the human T-cell repertoire*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2014. 111(36): p. 13139-44.
- 380. Lee, O.J., et al., *Circulating mucosal-associated invariant T cell levels and their cytokine levels in healthy adults.* Experimental Gerontology, 2014. **49**: p. 47-54.
- Raghupathy, R., *Th 1-type immunity is incompatible with successful pregnancy*. Immunology today, 1997. 18(10): p. 478-482.
- 382. Joachim, R., et al., Murine stress-triggered abortion is mediated by increase of CD8+ TNF-α+ decidual cells via substance P. American Journal of Reproductive Immunology, 2001. 45(5): p. 303-309.

- 383. Krishnan, L., et al., T helper 1 response against Leishmania major in pregnant C57BL/6 mice increases implantation failure and fetal resorptions. Correlation with increased IFN-gamma and TNF and reduced IL-10 production by placental cells. The Journal of Immunology, 1996. 156(2): p. 653-662.
- Ygberg, S. and A. Nilsson, *The developing immune system from foetus to toddler*. Acta Paediatr, 2012. 101(2): p. 120-7.
- 385. Sansoni, P., et al., Lymphocyte subsets and natural killer cell activity in healthy old people and centenarians [see comments]. 1993.
- 386. Jentsch-Ullrich, K., et al., Lymphocyte subsets' reference ranges in an age-and gender-balanced population of 100 healthy adults—a monocentric German study. Clinical immunology, 2005. 116(2): p. 192-197.
- Ademokun, A., Y.-C. Wu, and D. Dunn-Walters, *The ageing B cell population:* composition and function. Biogerontology, 2010. 11(2): p. 125-137.
- 388. Chong, Y., et al., CD27(+) (memory) B cell decrease and apoptosis-resistant CD27(-) (naive) B cell increase in aged humans: implications for age-related peripheral B cell developmental disturbances. Int Immunol, 2005. 17(4): p. 383-90.
- 389. Frasca, D., et al., *Age effects on B cells and humoral immunity in humans*.Ageing research reviews, 2011. 10(3): p. 330-335.
- 390. Frasca, D., et al., Aging down-regulates the transcription factor E2A, activationinduced cytidine deaminase, and Ig class switch in human B cells. The Journal of Immunology, 2008. 180(8): p. 5283-5290.
- Borrego, F., et al., *NK phenotypic markers and IL2 response in NK cells from elderly people*. Experimental gerontology, 1999. 34(2): p. 253-265.
- 392. Faccini, A., et al., Increased number of circulating Leu-11+(CD16) large granular lymphocytes and decreased NK activity during human aging. Clinical Exp Immunol, 1987. 68: p. 340-347.

- Lutz, C.T., et al., *Reciprocal age related change in natural killer cell receptors for MHC class I.* Mechanisms of ageing and development, 2005. 126(6-7): p. 722-731.
- 394. Vitale, M., et al., *The impairment of natural killer function in the healthy aged is due to a postbinding deficient mechanism*. Cellular immunology, 1992. 145(1):
 p. 1-10.
- 395. Chidrawar, S.M., et al., Ageing is associated with a decline in peripheral blood CD56 bright NK cells. Immunity & Ageing, 2006. 3(1): p. 1-8.
- 396. Krishnaraj, R., Senescence and cytokines modulate the NK cell expression.
 Mechanisms of ageing and development, 1997. 96(1-3): p. 89-101.
- 397. Le Garff-Tavernier, M., et al., *Human NK cells display major phenotypic and functional changes over the life span.* Aging cell, 2010. **9**(4): p. 527-535.
- 398. Parker, C.M., et al., Evidence for extrathymic changes in the T cell receptor gamma/delta repertoire. The Journal of experimental medicine, 1990. 171(5): p. 1597-1612.
- 399. Papadopoulou, M., et al., *Fetal public Vγ9Vδ2 T cells expand and gain potent cytotoxic functions early after birth*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2020. **117**(31): p. 18638-18648.
- 400. Cairo, C., et al., Vδ2 T-lymphocyte responses in cord blood samples from Italy and Côte d'Ivoire. Immunology, 2008. 124(3): p. 380-387.
- 401. Moens, E., et al., *IL-23R and TCR signaling drives the generation of neonatal* Vγ9Vδ2 T cells expressing high levels of cytotoxic mediators and producing *IFN-γ and IL-17*. Journal of Leukocyte Biology, 2011. **89**(5): p. 743-752.
- 402. Morita, C.T., et al., *TCR usage and functional capabilities of human gamma delta T cells at birth*. J Immunol, 1994. **153**(9): p. 3979-88.
- 403. Hsu, H., et al., Age-related changes in PD-1 expression coincide with increased cytotoxic potential in Vδ2 T cells during infancy. Cell Immunol, 2021. 359: p. 104244.

- 404. Gomez-Lopez, N., et al., *In vivo activation of invariant natural killer T cells induces systemic and local alterations in T-cell subsets prior to preterm birth.* Clinical & Experimental Immunology, 2017. 189(2): p. 211-225.
- 405. Taher, N.A.B., et al., Altered distributions and functions of natural killer T cells and γδ T cells in neonates with neonatal encephalopathy, in school-age children at follow-up, and in children with cerebral palsy. Journal of Neuroimmunology, 2021. 356: p. 577597.
- 406. Olszak, T., et al., *Microbial exposure during early life has persistent effects on natural killer T cell function*. Science, 2012. **336**(6080): p. 489-93.
- 407. Chen, P., et al., Circulating Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells in a Large Cohort of Healthy Chinese Individuals From Newborn to Elderly. Frontiers in Immunology, 2019. 10(260).
- 408. Buck, R.H., et al., *Longitudinal study of intracellular T cell cytokine production in infants compared to adults*. Clin Exp Immunol, 2002. **128**(3): p. 490-7.
- 409. Gasparoni, A., et al., Age-related changes in intracellular TH1/TH2 cytokine production, immunoproliferative T lymphocyte response and natural killer cell activity in newborns, children and adults. Biol Neonate, 2003. 84(4): p. 297-303.
- 410. Sack, U., et al., *Age-dependent levels of select immunological mediators in sera of healthy children*. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol, 1998. **5**(1): p. 28-32.
- Wilson, C.B., et al., Decreased production of interferon-gamma by human neonatal cells. Intrinsic and regulatory deficiencies. J Clin Invest, 1986. 77(3): p. 860-7.
- 412. Kotiranta-Ainamo, A., J. Rautonen, and N. Rautonen, *Imbalanced cytokine secretion in newborns*. Biol Neonate, 2004. **85**(1): p. 55-60.
- 413. Berdat, P.A., et al., *Age-specific analysis of normal cytokine levels in healthy infants*. Clin Chem Lab Med, 2003. **41**(10): p. 1335-9.

- 414. Decker, M.L., M.P. Grobusch, and N. Ritz, *Influence of Age and Other Factors* on Cytokine Expression Profiles in Healthy Children-A Systematic Review. Front Pediatr, 2017. 5: p. 255.
- 415. Franceschi, C. and J. Campisi, *Chronic inflammation (inflammaging) and its potential contribution to age-associated diseases.* J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci, 2014. 69 Suppl 1: p. S4-9.
- 416. Wang, Y.J., et al., *The association of gammadelta-T cells with bronchopulmonary dysplasia in premature infants*. Hum Immunol, 2020.
- 417. Collaborative, T.O., et al., *OpenSAFELY: factors associated with COVID-19*related hospital death in the linked electronic health records of 17 million adult *NHS patients.* medRxiv, 2020: p. 2020.05.06.20092999.
- 418. Pawelec, G., et al., *Human immunosenescence: is it infectious?* Immunological Reviews, 2005. 205(1): p. 257-268.
- 419. Martinello, K., et al., *Management and investigation of neonatal encephalopathy: 2017 update*. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2017. 102(4): p. F346-F358.
- 420. Executive summary: Neonatal encephalopathy and neurologic outcome, second edition. Report of the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Neonatal Encephalopathy. Obstet Gynecol, 2014. 123(4): p. 896-901.
- 421. Kurinczuk, J.J., M. White-Koning, and N. Badawi, *Epidemiology of neonatal encephalopathy and hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy*. Early Hum Dev, 2010.
 86(6): p. 329-38.
- 422. Lee, A.C., et al., *Intrapartum-related neonatal encephalopathy incidence and impairment at regional and global levels for 2010 with trends from 1990.*Pediatr Res, 2013. 74 Suppl 1: p. 50-72.
- 423. Ramaswamy, V., et al., *Systematic review of biomarkers of brain injury in term neonatal encephalopathy*. Pediatr Neurol, 2009. **40**(3): p. 215-26.

- 424. Nelson, K.B., et al., *Antecedents of neonatal encephalopathy in the Vermont* Oxford Network Encephalopathy Registry. Pediatrics, 2012. **130**(5): p. 878-886.
- 425. de Vries, L.S. and M.J. Jongmans, *Long-term outcome after neonatal hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy*. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2010. 95(3): p. F220-4.
- 426. Hagberg, H., A. David Edwards, and F. Groenendaal, *Perinatal brain damage: The term infant*. Neurobiol Dis, 2016. **92**(Pt A): p. 102-12.
- 427. Hagberg, H., et al., *The role of inflammation in perinatal brain injury*. Nature Reviews Neurology, 2015. 11(4): p. 192-208.
- Bhalala, U.S., R.C. Koehler, and S. Kannan, *Neuroinflammation and neuroimmune dysregulation after acute hypoxic-ischemic injury of developing brain*. Frontiers in pediatrics, 2015. 2: p. 144-144.
- 429. Thornton, C., et al., *Molecular Mechanisms of Neonatal Brain Injury*. Neurology Research International, 2012. **2012**: p. 506320.
- 430. Sweetman, D.U., et al., Perinatal Asphyxia and Erythropoietin and VEGF: Serial Serum and Cerebrospinal Fluid Responses. Neonatology, 2017. 111(3): p. 253-259.
- 431. Chevin, M., et al., Neuroprotective effects of hypothermia in inflammatorysensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience, 2016. 55(1): p. 1-8.
- 432. Lai, J.C.Y., et al., *Immune responses in perinatal brain injury*. Brain, Behavior, and Immunity, 2017. **63**: p. 210-223.
- 433. Martín-Ancel, A., et al., *Cerebrospinal fluid leucocyte counts in healthy neonates*. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed, 2006. **91**(5): p. F357-8.
- 434. Mallard, C., et al., *White Matter Injury Following Systemic Endotoxemia or Asphyxia in the Fetal Sheep.* Neurochemical Research, 2003. **28**(2): p. 215-223.

- 435. Shi, C. and E.G. Pamer, *Monocyte recruitment during infection and inflammation*. Nat Rev Immunol, 2011. **11**(11): p. 762-74.
- 436. Salio, M., et al., *Biology of CD1- and MR1-Restricted T Cells*. Annual Review of Immunology, 2014. **32**(1): p. 323-366.
- 437. Albertsson, A.M., et al., *The immune response after hypoxia-ischemia in a mouse model of preterm brain injury*. J Neuroinflammation, 2014. **11**: p. 153.
- 438. Oppenheim, J.J., *Cytokines: past, present, and future*. Int J Hematol, 2001.74(1): p. 3-8.
- 439. Baumann, H., et al., *Multiple regions within the cytoplasmic domains of the leukemia inhibitory factor receptor and gp130 cooperate in signal transduction in hepatic and neuronal cells.* Mol Cell Biol, 1994. **14**(1): p. 138-46.
- 440. Toledo-Pereyra, L.H., F. Lopez-Neblina, and A.H. Toledo, *Reactive oxygen species and molecular biology of ischemia/reperfusion*. Annals of transplantation, 2004. **9**(1): p. 81-83.
- 441. Fellman, V. and K.O. Raivio, *Reperfusion injury as the mechanism of brain damage after perinatal asphyxia*. Pediatr Res, 1997. **41**(5): p. 599-606.
- 442. Dammann, O. and T.M. O'Shea, *Cytokines and perinatal brain damage*. Clin Perinatol, 2008. 35(4): p. 643-63, v.
- 443. Jenkins, D.D., et al., Serum cytokines in a clinical trial of hypothermia for neonatal hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab, 2012.
 32(10): p. 1888-96.
- 444. Chalak, L.F., et al., *Biomarkers for severity of neonatal hypoxic-ischemic* encephalopathy and outcomes in newborns receiving hypothermia therapy. The Journal of pediatrics, 2014. 164(3): p. 468-74.e1.
- 445. Arvin, B., et al., *The role of inflammation and cytokines in brain injury*. Neurosci Biobehav Rev, 1996. **20**(3): p. 445-52.

- 446. Maussion, G., et al., *Investigation of genes important in neurodevelopment disorders in adult human brain*. Human Genetics, 2015. **134**(10): p. 1037-1053.
- Chew, L.-J., A. Takanohashi, and M. Bell, *Microglia and inflammation: Impact on developmental brain injuries*. Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews, 2006. 12(2): p. 105-112.
- 448. Li, B., et al., *Brain-immune interactions in perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury*. Progress in Neurobiology, 2017. **159**: p. 50-68.
- 449. O'Hare, F.M., et al., *Persistent systemic monocyte and neutrophil activation in neonatal encephalopathy*. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine, 2016. 29(4): p. 582-589.
- 450. Bajnok, A., et al., *Distinct cytokine patterns may regulate the severity of neonatal asphyxia—an observational study*. Journal of Neuroinflammation, 2017. 14(1): p. 244.
- 451. O'Hare, F.M., et al., Serial cytokine alterations and abnormal neuroimaging in newborn infants with encephalopathy. Acta Paediatrica, 2017. 106(4): p. 561-567.
- 452. Doycheva, D.M., et al., *Anti-neutrophil antibody enhances the neuroprotective effects of G-CSF by decreasing number of neutrophils in hypoxic ischemic neonatal rat model.* Neurobiology of Disease, 2014. **69**: p. 192-199.
- 453. Yao, H.-W. and C.-Y. Kuan, *Early neutrophil infiltration is critical for inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in newborns*. Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism, 2020. 40(11): p. 2188-2200.
- 454. Zareen, Z., et al., *Cytokine dysregulation in children with cerebral palsy*. Developmental Medicine & Child Neurology, 2021. **63**(4): p. 407-412.
- 455. Fleiss, B. and P. Gressens, *Tertiary mechanisms of brain damage: a new hope for treatment of cerebral palsy?* The Lancet Neurology, 2012. **11**(6): p. 556-566.

- 456. Herz, J., et al., *Peripheral T Cell Depletion by FTY720 Exacerbates Hypoxic-Ischemic Brain Injury in Neonatal Mice*. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018.
 9(1696).
- 457. Liesz, A., et al., *Regulatory T cells are key cerebroprotective immunomodulators in acute experimental stroke*. Nature Medicine, 2009. 15(2): p. 192-199.
- 458. Bodhankar, S., et al., *IL-10-producing B-cells limit CNS inflammation and infarct volume in experimental stroke*. Metabolic Brain Disease, 2013. 28(3): p. 375-386.
- 459. Su, X., et al., *Effect of T helper cell 1/T helper cell 2 balance and nuclear factor*κB on white matter injury in premature neonates. Mol Med Rep, 2018. 17(4): p. 5552-5556.
- Wang, J., et al., Fetal and adult progenitors give rise to unique populations of CD8+ T cells. Blood, 2016. 128(26): p. 3073-3082.
- 461. Ben Youssef, G., et al., Ontogeny of human mucosal-associated invariant T cells and related T cell subsets. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2018. 215(2): p. 459-479.
- 462. Albertsson, A.-M., et al., γδ T Cells Contribute to Injury in the Developing Brain. The American Journal of Pathology, 2018. 188(3): p. 757-767.
- 463. Dieli, F., et al., Predominance of Vγ9/Vδ2 T Lymphocytes in the Cerebrospinal Fluid of Children with Tuberculous Meningitis: Reversal after Chemotherapy. Molecular Medicine, 1999. 5(5): p. 301-312.
- 464. Pfister, R.H., et al., *The Vermont oxford neonatal encephalopathy registry: rationale, methods, and initial results.* BMC Pediatrics, 2012. **12**(1): p. 84.
- 465. Maimaitijiang, G., et al., Association of Decreased Percentage of $V\delta 2+V\gamma 9+\gamma\delta$ T Cells With Disease Severity in Multiple Sclerosis. Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. **9**(748).

- 466. Wo, J., et al., *The Role of Gamma-Delta T Cells in Diseases of the Central Nervous System.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2020. **11**(2740).
- 467. Peters, C., et al., *Human Vδ2 T cells are a major source of interleukin-9*.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2016. 113(44): p. 12520.
- 468. De Biasi, S., et al., *iNKT Cells in Secondary Progressive Multiple Sclerosis* Patients Display Pro-inflammatory Profiles. Frontiers in Immunology, 2016. 7(555).
- Cui, Y. and Q. Wan, *NKT Cells in Neurological Diseases*. Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience, 2019. 13(245).
- 470. Exley, M.A. and T. Nakayama, *NKT-cell-based immunotherapies in clinical trials*. Clinical Immunology, 2011. **140**(2): p. 117-118.
- 471. Richter, J., et al., *Clinical regressions and broad immune activation following combination therapy targeting human NKT cells in myeloma*. Blood, 2013.
 121(3): p. 423-430.
- 472. Pauza, C.D., et al., *Gamma Delta T Cell Therapy for Cancer: It Is Good to be Local.* Frontiers in Immunology, 2018. **9**(1305).
- 473. Kabelitz, D., et al., *Cancer immunotherapy with γδ T cells: many paths ahead of us*. Cellular & Molecular Immunology, 2020. 17(9): p. 925-939.
- 474. Miyazaki, Y., et al., *Mucosal-associated invariant T cells regulate Th1 response in multiple sclerosis.* International immunology, 2011. **23**(9): p. 529-535.
- 475. Walker, L.J., et al., *Human MAIT and CD8aa cells develop from a pool of type-*17 precommitted CD8+ T cells. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology, 2012. 119(2): p. 422-433.
- 476. Leeansyah, E., et al., Activation, exhaustion, and persistent decline of the antimicrobial MR1-restricted MAIT-cell population in chronic HIV-1 infection. Blood, The Journal of the American Society of Hematology, 2013. 121(7): p. 1124-1135.

- 477. Zeng, S.G., et al., *Human Invariant NKT Cell Subsets Differentially Promote* Differentiation, Antibody Production, and T Cell Stimulation by B Cells In Vitro. The Journal of Immunology, 2013. 191(4): p. 1666.
- 478. Petrasca, A. and D.G. Doherty, Human Vδ2(+) γδ T Cells Differentially Induce Maturation, Cytokine Production, and Alloreactive T Cell Stimulation by Dendritic Cells and B Cells. Frontiers in immunology, 2014. 5: p. 650-650.
- 479. Rahman, M.A., et al., *Mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells provide B-cell help in vaccinated and subsequently SIV-infected Rhesus Macaques*.
 Scientific Reports, 2020. 10(1): p. 10060.
- 480. Victora, G.D., et al., *Identification of human germinal center light and dark zone cells and their relationship to human B-cell lymphomas*. Blood, 2012. 120(11): p. 2240-8.
- 481. Nair, H., et al., Global burden of acute lower respiratory infections due to respiratory syncytial virus in young children: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet, 2010. **375**(9725): p. 1545-55.
- 482. Tesmer, L.A., et al., *Th17 cells in human disease*. Immunol Rev, 2008. **223**: p. 87-113.
- 483. Hardy, R.R. and K. Hayakawa, *Perspectives on fetal derived CD5+ B1 B cells*.
 European Journal of Immunology, 2015. 45(11): p. 2978-2984.
- 484. Montecino-Rodriguez, E., et al., Distinct Genetic Networks Orchestrate the Emergence of Specific Waves of Fetal and Adult B-1 and B-2 Development. Immunity, 2016. 45(3): p. 527-539.
- 485. Cariappa, A., et al., *The Recirculating B Cell Pool Contains Two Functionally Distinct, Long-Lived, Posttransitional, Follicular B Cell Populations.* The Journal of Immunology, 2007. **179**(4): p. 2270-2281.
- 486. Harris, D.P., et al., *Reciprocal regulation of polarized cytokine production by effector B and T cells*. Nature Immunology, 2000. **1**(6): p. 475-482.

- 487. Rosser, E.C. and C. Mauri, *Regulatory B cells: origin, phenotype, and function*. Immunity, 2015. 42(4): p. 607-12.
- 488. Yanaba, K., et al., A regulatory B cell subset with a unique CD1dhiCD5+ phenotype controls T cell-dependent inflammatory responses. Immunity, 2008.
 28(5): p. 639-50.
- 489. Mauri, C. and A. Bosma, *Immune regulatory function of B cells*. Annu Rev Immunol, 2012. **30**: p. 221-41.
- 490. Roth, G.A., et al., Global, regional, and national age-sex-specific mortality for 282 causes of death in 195 countries and territories, 1980–2017: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet, 2018.
 392(10159): p. 1736-1788.
- 491. Yang, J.-H., et al., *Expression and function of inducible costimulator on peripheral blood T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus*. Rheumatology, 2005. 44(10): p. 1245-1254.
- 492. Gong, F., et al. Circulating follicular T-helper cell subset distribution in patients with asthma. in Allergy and asthma proceedings. 2016. OceanSide Publications, Inc.
- 493. Gold, M.C., et al., *Human mucosal associated invariant T cells detect bacterially infected cells.* PLoS Biol, 2010. **8**(6): p. e1000407.
- 494. Kjer-Nielsen, L., et al., *MR1 presents microbial vitamin B metabolites to MAIT cells*. Nature, 2012. **491**(7426): p. 717-23.
- 495. Treiner, E., et al., Selection of evolutionarily conserved mucosal-associated invariant T cells by MR1. Nature, 2003. **422**(6928): p. 164-9.
- 496. Porcelli, S., et al., Analysis of T cell antigen receptor (TCR) expression by human peripheral blood CD4-8- alpha/beta T cells demonstrates preferential use of several V beta genes and an invariant TCR alpha chain. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 1993. 178(1): p. 1-16.

- 497. Ussher, J.E., et al., CD161++CD8+ T cells, including the MAIT cell subset, are specifically activated by IL-12+IL-18 in a TCR-independent manner. European Journal of Immunology, 2014. 44(1): p. 195-203.
- Wong, E.B., et al., TRAV1-2+ CD8+ T-cells including oligoconal expansions of MAIT cells are enriched in the airways in human tuberculosis. Communications Biology, 2019. 2(1): p. 203.
- 499. Wang, H., et al., *MAIT cells protect against pulmonary Legionella longbeachae infection*. Nat Commun, 2018. 9(1): p. 3350.
- 500. Meierovics, A.I. and S.C. Cowley, *MAIT cells promote inflammatory monocyte differentiation into dendritic cells during pulmonary intracellular infection.* Journal of Experimental Medicine, 2016. 213(12): p. 2793-2809.
- 501. Davey, M.S., et al., Microbe-Specific Unconventional T Cells Induce Human Neutrophil Differentiation into Antigen Cross-Presenting Cells. The Journal of Immunology, 2014. 193(7): p. 3704-3716.
- 502. Leng, T., et al., TCR and Inflammatory Signals Tune Human MAIT Cells to Exert Specific Tissue Repair and Effector Functions. Cell Rep, 2019. 28(12): p. 3077-3091.e5.
- Flemming, A., *MAIT cells boost adenovirus-induced CD8+ T cells*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2021. 21(3): p. 134-135.
- 504. Le Bourhis, L., et al., *Mucosal-associated invariant T cells: unconventional development and function*. Trends in immunology, 2011. **32**(5): p. 212-218.
- 505. Salerno-Goncalves, R., T. Rezwan, and M.B. Sztein, *B cells modulate mucosal associated invariant T cell immune responses*. Frontiers in immunology, 2014.
 4: p. 511-511.
- 506. Sauce, D., et al., *Evidence of premature immune aging in patients thymectomized during early childhood.* J Clin Invest, 2009. **119**(10): p. 3070-8.
- 507. Martin, E., et al., Stepwise Development of MAIT Cells in Mouse and Human.PLOS Biology, 2009. 7(3): p. e1000054.

- 508. Chung, Y., et al., *Critical regulation of early Th17 cell differentiation by interleukin-1 signaling*. Immunity, 2009. **30**(4): p. 576-87.
- 509. Leung, D.T., et al., *Circulating mucosal associated invariant T cells are activated in Vibrio cholerae O1 infection and associated with lipopolysaccharide antibody responses*. PLoS neglected tropical diseases, 2014.
 8(8): p. e3076-e3076.
- 510. Bennett, M.S., et al., *Human mucosal-associated invariant T (MAIT) cells possess capacity for B cell help.* J Leukoc Biol, 2017. **102**(5): p. 1261-1269.
- 511. Petrasca, A. and D.G. Doherty, Human Vdelta2(+) gammadelta T Cells
 Differentially Induce Maturation, Cytokine Production, and Alloreactive T Cell
 Stimulation by Dendritic Cells and B Cells. Front Immunol, 2014. 5: p. 650.
- 512. Leng, T., et al., TCR and Inflammatory Signals Tune Human MAIT Cells to Exert Specific Tissue Repair and Effector Functions. Cell Reports, 2019. 28(12): p. 3077-3091.e5.
- 513. Napier, R.J., et al., *The Role of Mucosal Associated Invariant T Cells in Antimicrobial Immunity*. Front Immunol, 2015. **6**: p. 344.
- 514. Lal, K.G., et al., *Dynamic MAIT cell response with progressively enhanced innateness during acute HIV-1 infection*. Nat Commun, 2020. **11**(1): p. 272.
- 515. Kutuk, M.O., et al., *Cytokine expression profiles in Autism spectrum disorder: A multi-center study from Turkey.* Cytokine, 2020. **133**: p. 155152.
- 516. Chiba, A., et al., Activation status of mucosal-associated invariant T cells reflects disease activity and pathology of systemic lupus erythematosus. Arthritis Res Ther, 2017. 19(1): p. 58.
- U. Boehm, et al., CELLULAR RESPONSES TO INTERFERON-γ. Annual Review of Immunology, 1997. 15(1): p. 749-795.
- 518. Lamichhane, R., et al., TCR- or Cytokine-Activated CD8(+) Mucosal-Associated Invariant T Cells Are Rapid Polyfunctional Effectors That Can Coordinate Immune Responses. Cell Rep, 2019. 28(12): p. 3061-3076 e5.

```
Nawal Taher
```

- 519. Ussher, J.E., et al., CD161++ CD8+ T cells, including the MAIT cell subset, are specifically activated by IL-12+IL-18 in a TCR-independent manner. Eur J Immunol, 2014. 44(1): p. 195-203.
- 520. Traudt, C.M., et al., Concurrent erythropoietin and hypothermia treatment improve outcomes in a term nonhuman primate model of perinatal asphyxia. Dev Neurosci, 2013. 35(6): p. 491-503.
- 521. Song, W., et al., Ischemic postconditioning protects the spinal cord from ischemia-reperfusion injury via modulation of redox signaling. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg, 2013. 146(3): p. 688-95.
- 522. Thayyil, S., et al., *Hypothermia for encephalopathy in low and middle-income countries (HELIX): study protocol for a randomised controlled trial.* Trials, 2017. 18(1): p. 432.
- Trickett, A. and Y.L. Kwan, *T cell stimulation and expansion using anti-CD3/CD28 beads*. Journal of Immunological Methods, 2003. 275(1): p. 251-255.
- 524. Parekh, V.V., et al., *B Cells Activated by Lipopolysaccharide, But Not By Anti-Ig and Anti-CD40 Antibody, Induce Anergy in CD8*<*sup*>+</*sup*> *T Cells: Role of TGF-β1.* The Journal of Immunology, 2003. 170(12): p. 5897-5911.
- 525. Weir, G.M., et al., Combination of poly I:C and Pam3CSK4 enhances activation of B cells in vitro and boosts antibody responses to protein vaccines in vivo.
 PLOS ONE, 2017. 12(6): p. e0180073.
- 526. Bansal, R.R., et al., *IL-21 enhances the potential of human γδ T cells to provide B-cell help*. Eur J Immunol, 2012. 42(1): p. 110-9.
- 527. Caccamo, N., et al., Phenotypical and Functional Analysis of Memory and Effector Human CD8 T Cells Specific for Mycobacterial Antigens. The Journal of Immunology, 2006. 177(3): p. 1780.

- 528. Kuchen, S., et al., Essential Role of IL-21 in B Cell Activation, Expansion, and Plasma Cell Generation during CD4⁺ T Cell-B Cell Collaboration. The Journal of Immunology, 2007. 179(9): p. 5886-5896.
- 529. Le Bourhis, L., et al., *MAIT cells detect and efficiently lyse bacterially-infected epithelial cells*. PLoS Pathog, 2013. **9**(10): p. e1003681.
- 530. Kurioka, A., et al., *MAIT cells are licensed through granzyme exchange to kill bacterially sensitized targets*. Mucosal Immunol, 2015. **8**(2): p. 429-40.
- 531. Boulouis, C., et al., Human MAIT cell cytolytic effector proteins synergize to overcome carbapenem resistance in Escherichia coli. PLoS Biol, 2020. 18(6): p. e3000644.
- 532. Crotty, S., *A brief history of T cell help to B cells*. Nature Reviews Immunology, 2015. 15(3): p. 185-189.
- 533. Doherty, D.G., et al., Activation and Regulation of B Cell Responses by Invariant Natural Killer T Cells. Frontiers in immunology, 2018. 9: p. 1360-1360.
- 534. Dellabona, P., S. Abrignani, and G. Casorati, *iNKT-cell help to B cells: A cooperative job between innate and adaptive immune responses*. European Journal of Immunology, 2014. 44(8): p. 2230-2237.
- 535. Natarajan, G., A. Laptook, and S. Shankaran, *Therapeutic Hypothermia: How Can We Optimize This Therapy to Further Improve Outcomes?* Clin Perinatol, 2018. 45(2): p. 241-255.
- 536. Packer, C.H., et al., *Therapeutic hypothermia in severe hypoxic-ischemic* encephalopathy: a cost-effectiveness analysis. The Journal of Maternal-Fetal & Neonatal Medicine, 2020: p. 1-8.
- 537. Elahi, S., New Insight into an Old Concept: Role of Immature Erythroid Cells in Immune Pathogenesis of Neonatal Infection. Frontiers in Immunology, 2014.
 5(376).

- 538. Who. *Newborns: improving survival and well-being*. 19 September 2020; Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/newborns-reducing-mortality</u>.
- 539. Tu, W., et al., Persistent and selective deficiency of CD4+ T cell immunity to cytomegalovirus in immunocompetent young children. J Immunol, 2004. 172(5): p. 3260-7.
- 540. Gantt, S. and W.J. Muller, *The immunologic basis for severe neonatal herpes disease and potential strategies for therapeutic intervention*. Clin Dev Immunol, 2013. 2013: p. 369172.
- 541. Lidehäll, A.K., et al., *Cytomegalovirus-specific CD4 and CD8 T cell responses in infants and children.* Scand J Immunol, 2013. 77(2): p. 135-43.
- 542. Sullender, W.M., et al., *Humoral and cell-mediated immunity in neonates with herpes simplex virus infection.* J Infect Dis, 1987. **155**(1): p. 28-37.
- 543. Neuzil, K.M., et al., *The effect of influenza on hospitalizations, outpatient visits, and courses of antibiotics in children.* N Engl J Med, 2000. **342**(4): p. 225-31.
- 544. Ploin, D., et al., Complications and factors associated with severity of influenza in hospitalized children and adults during the pandemic wave of *A(H1N1)pdm2009 infections--the Fluco French cohort.* J Clin Virol, 2013.
 58(1): p. 114-9.
- 545. Stahl, E.C. and B.N. Brown, *Cell Therapy Strategies to Combat Immunosenescence*. Organogenesis, 2015. **11**(4): p. 159-72.
- 546. Alves, A.S. and V. Bueno, *Immunosenescence: participation of T lymphocytes* and myeloid-derived suppressor cells in aging-related immune response changes. einstein (São Paulo), 2019. **17**(2): p. -.
- 547. Martín, S., A. Pérez, and C. Aldecoa, *Sepsis and Immunosenescence in the Elderly Patient: A Review.* Front Med (Lausanne), 2017. **4**: p. 20.

- 548. Weyand, C.M. and J.J. Goronzy, *Aging of the Immune System. Mechanisms and Therapeutic Targets.* Ann Am Thorac Soc, 2016. **13 Suppl 5**(Suppl 5): p. S422-s428.
- 549. Salminen, A., K. Kaarniranta, and A. Kauppinen, *The role of myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC) in the inflammaging process*. Ageing Res Rev, 2018.
 48: p. 1-10.
- 550. Aiello, A., et al., Immunosenescence and Its Hallmarks: How to Oppose Aging Strategically? A Review of Potential Options for Therapeutic Intervention. Front Immunol, 2019. 10: p. 2247.
- 551. Salminen, A., Activation of immunosuppressive network in the aging process. Ageing Res Rev, 2020. 57: p. 100998.
- 552. Felsenstein, S., et al., *COVID-19: Immunology and treatment options*. Clinical Immunology, 2020. **215**: p. 108448.
- 553. Dai, S.P., X. Zhao, and J.H. Wu, Effects of Comorbidities on the Elderly Patients with COVID-19: Clinical Characteristics of Elderly Patients Infected with COVID-19 from Sichuan, China. J Nutr Health Aging, 2021. 25(1): p. 18-24.
- 554. Boyd, C.M. and M. Fortin, *Future of multimorbidity research: how should understanding of multimorbidity inform health system design?* Public health reviews, 2010. **32**(2): p. 451-474.
- 555. Guiding principles for the care of older adults with multimorbidity: an approach for clinicians: American Geriatrics Society Expert Panel on the Care of Older Adults with Multimorbidity. J Am Geriatr Soc, 2012. **60**(10): p. E1-e25.
- 556. ZHU, M. and X. LIU, Investigation of multimorbidityandgeriatricsyndromesintheelderpeopleinBeijing communities. ChineseJournalofPracticeInternationMedicine, 2016. 36(5): p. 419r421.

- 557. Wang, J., Y. Wang, and Z. Bao, *Epidemiological analysis on chronic disease* and multi-morbidity in middle and elderly health-examination population in Shanghai City. Geriatr&Health Care, 2016. **22**(2): p. 116-120.
- 558. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 301 acute and chronic diseases and injuries in 188 countries, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013. Lancet, 2015. 386(9995): p. 743-800.
- 559. Perrone, S., et al., Identification of a panel of cytokines in neonates with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy treated with hypothermia. Cytokine, 2018. 111: p. 119-124.
- 560. Kabelitz, D., Gamma Delta T Cells (gammadelta T Cells) in Health and Disease: In Memory of Professor Wendy Havran. Cells, 2020. 9(12).
- 561. Brandes, M., et al., *Flexible migration program regulates gamma delta T-cell involvement in humoral immunity*. Blood, 2003. **102**(10): p. 3693-701.
- 562. Caccamo, N., et al., *IL-21 regulates the differentiation of a human γδ T cell subset equipped with B cell helper activity*. PLoS One, 2012. 7(7): p. e41940.
- 563. Leadbetter, E.A., et al., NK T cells provide lipid antigen-specific cognate help for B cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2008. 105(24): p. 8339-44.
- 564. Veltkamp, R. and D. Gill, *Clinical trials of immunomodulation in ischemic stroke*. Neurotherapeutics, 2016. **13**(4): p. 791-800.

8. Appendix 1

Journal of Neuroimmunology 356 (2021) 577597

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect



Journal of Neuroimmunology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jneuroim



Altered distributions and functions of natural killer T cells and $\gamma\delta$ T cells in neonates with neonatal encephalopathy, in school-age children at follow-up, and in children with cerebral palsy

Nawal A.B. Taher^{a,b,c}, Lynne A. Kelly^{b,c}, Alhanouf I. Al-Harbi^{a,c,1}, Mary I. O'Dea^{b,c,d,e,f,g}, Zunera Zareen^{b,c,d}, Emer Ryan^{b,c,d,e}, Eleanor J. Molloy^{b,c,d,e,f,g}, Derek G. Doherty^{a,c,*}

^a Discipline of Immunology, School of Medicine, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland
^b Discipline of Paediatrics, School of Medicine, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

^c Trinity Translational Medicine Institute, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

^d Trinity Research in Childhood Centre, Trinity College Dublin, Ireland

^e Paediatrics, Children's Health Ireland at Tallaght & Crumlin, Dublin, Ireland

^f Paediatrics, Coombe Women and Infants University Hospital, Dublin, Ireland

⁸ National Children's Research Centre, Crumlin, Dublin, Ireland

ARTICLE INFO

ABSTRACT

Keywords: Neonatal encephalopathy Cerebral palsy Lymphocytes γδ T cells Natural killer T cells Cytokines

We enumerated conventional and innate lymphocyte populations in neonates with neonatal encephalopathy (NE), school-age children post-NE, children with cerebral palsy and age-matched controls. Using flow cytometry, we demonstrate alterations in circulating T, B and natural killer cell numbers. Invariant natural killer T cell and V82⁺ $\gamma\delta$ T cell numbers and frequencies were strikingly higher in neonates with NE, children post-NE and children with cerebral palsy compared to age-matched controls, whereas mucosal-associated invariant T cells and V81 T cells were depleted from children with cerebral palsy. Upon stimulation *ex vivo*, T cells, natural killer cells and V82 T cells from neonates with NE more readily produced inflammatory cytokines than their counterparts from healthy neonates, suggesting that they were previously primed or activated. Thus, innate and conventional lymphocytes are numerically and functionally altered in neonates with NE and these changes may persist into school-age.

1. Introduction

Neonatal encephalopathy (NE) is a neurological syndrome in term babies characterised by altered levels of consciousness, seizures, abnormal tone and reflexes, and/or failure to initiate or maintain respiration (Pfister et al., 2012; D'Alton et al., 2014). The incidence of NE ranges from 2 to 5 per 1000 live term births in advanced countries and up to 26 per 1000 live births in less developed countries (Kurinczuk et al., 2010). NE carries an overall mortality during postnatal period of 28% and approximately a third of surviving infants exhibit permanent neurodevelopmental delay in the form of cerebral palsy (CP), cognitive disabilities, or epilepsy (Kurinczuk et al., 2010; Korzeniewski et al., 2018; O'Dea et al., 2020). Affected new-borns may exhibit multiorgan dysfunction (Shah et al., 2004; O'Dea et al., 2020). during the perinatal period, placental abnormalities, metabolic disorders, coagulopathies and neonatal vascular stroke, however, the cause is unidentified in more than half of cases and is likely to be a combination of factors (MacDonald et al., 1980; Shankaran et al., 1991). The only standard of care available is therapeutic hypothermia, the maintenance of the infant at 33.5–34.5 °C for 72 h, which regardless of aetiology gives a maximal effect if started within 6 h from delivery (Tagin et al., 2012; Jacobs et al., 2013). However, therapeutic hypothermia is effective only in a proportion of patients, therefore, there is an urgent need to discover new adjunctive therapies for NE.

Inflammation is a complex outcome of immune defence that can occur in any tissue in response to damage, infection or ischemia (Nathan, 2002). It is initiated by the detection of products of pathogens or damaged tissues by cells of the innate immune system and results in the recruitment and activation of multiple immune cell types and the release of soluble factors. If it is not followed by an anti-inflammatory

NE has multiple aetiologies including hypoxia-ischemia, infection

E-mail address: derek.doherty@tcd.ie (D.G. Doherty).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577597

Received 17 January 2021; Received in revised form 16 April 2021; Accepted 26 April 2021

Available online 29 April 2021

^{*} Corresponding author at: Trinity Translational Medicine Institute, St. James's Hospital, Dublin 8, Ireland.

¹ Present address: College of Applied Medical Sciences, Taibah University (Yanbu campus), Almadinah Almunwarah, Saudi Arabia.

^{0165-5728/© 2021} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

N.A.B. Taher et al.

CP

γδ HMB-PP

IL

IFN-γ

iNKT

mAb MAIT

NE

NK

NKT

PBA

PBS

PMA/I

TCR

TNF-α

Abbreviations

cerebral palsy

gamma/delta

interferon-y

interleukin

invariant NK T

natural killer

natural killer T

T cell receptor

monoclonal antibody

neonatal encephalopathy

phosphate buffered saline

tumour necrosis factor-a

mucosal-associated invariant T

Journa	l of	Neuroimmunology	356	(2021)	577597
--------	------	-----------------	-----	--------	--------

post NE, 10 children with CP and 23 healthy school-age control children (Zareen et al., 2020a, 2020b; Dietrick et al., 2020).

2.3. Blood sampling

Blood samples were collected in sodium citrate anticoagulated blood tubes and processed within 2 h of sample acquisition. Serum samples were centrifugated at 450 g for 5 min and the supernatants were stored at -80 °C until batch cytokine analysis was carried out.

2.4. Lymphocyte subset enumeration and phenotyping

50–100 μL of whole blood was stained for 15 min in the dark at room temperature with a live/dead cell stain (Fixable Viability Dye eFlour 506, Invitrogen, California, USA) diluted 1/1000 with phosphate buffered saline (PBS). Cells were then stained for 15 min at room temperature with monoclonal antibodies (mAb) specific for CD3 (clones UCHT1 or BW264/56), CD4 (OKT4), CD8 (SK1), CD19 (HIB19), CD56 (HCD56), CD69 (FN50), CD161 (HP-3G10), and the Va7.2 (clone REA179), Va24Ja18 (6B11), Vo1 (REA173) and Vo2 (B6) T cell receptors (TCR) found on MAIT cells, invariant NKT (iNKT) cells and the two most common subsets of human $\gamma\delta$ cells, respectively. MAbs were purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, USA and Miltenyi Biotec, Bergische Gladbach, Germany) and were diluted to pre-determined concentrations in PBA buffer (PBS containing 2% fetal calf serum and 0.02% sodium azide). After staining, cells were washed twice in PBA buffer and red cells were lysed in 1 mL FACS lysis buffer (BD Biosciences, Oxford, UK). Finally, the cells were washed with PBA buffer, fixed with 1% paraformaldehyde and analysed on a Becton Dickinson FACSCanto II flow cytometer. Gate limits were determined using unstained and fluorescence-minus-one controls and analysed with FlowJo software (Tree Star, Ashland, USA). T cells were defined as CD3⁺ cells. NK cells were defined as CD3⁻ CD56⁺ cells, B cells were defined as CD3⁻ CD19⁺ cells. MAIT cells were defined as CD3^+ Va7.2^+ CD161^+ cells and iNKT cells were defined as CD3 $^+$ Va24Ja18 $^+$ cells. Vb1 and Vb2 T cells were defined as cells expressing CD3 and the V81 or V82 TCRs, respectively. Circulating cell frequencies (%) were determined by flow cytometry and absolute numbers (per litre of blood) were calculated from viable cell counts as determined by fluorescence microscopy. The gating strategy for identification of T cells and the V\delta2 T cell subset by flow cytometry is shown in Fig. 1 and representative flow cytometry dot plots showing each lymphocyte subset are shown in Figs. 2-5 and 7-9. The minimum information about the flow cytometry experiments, as required by Lee et al. (2008) are shown in the supplementary information.

2.5. Measurement of serum cytokine levels

Serum cytokine levels were analysed using the U Plex biomarker group 1 multiplex assay for human interferon- γ (IFN- γ), tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), interleukin-2 (IL-2), IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23, purchased from Mesoscale Discovery (Rockville, USA), according to the manufacturers' instructions. This method employs a 96-well sandwich immunoassay which can quantify up to 10 analytes in 25 µL samples. Non-specific binding between assays was typically <0.1%. U-plex sample recovery was within the acceptable range (70–130%) with samples diluting linearly from 2 to 16-fold. The limits of detection for the individual assays were within expected ranges.

2.6. Analysis of intracellular cytokine production

Whole blood (50 μ L) was plated in wells of a 96-well flat bottom microtiter plates and stimulated for 18 h at 37 °C, 5% CO₂ with either medium alone, 50 ng/mL phorbol myristate acetate with 1 μ g/mL ionomycin (PMA/I), recombinant human IL-12 (50 ng/ml, R&D Systems) and IL-18 (50 ng/mL, R&D Systems), IL-12 (30 ng/mL) and IL-15 (100 ng/mL), or the ligand recognised by the Vδ2 TCR (E)-4-hydroxy-3-

F,
inflammation can lead to persistent tissue damage. The inflammatory
reaction in NE and CP can be provoked by hypoxia-ischemia or infection
in the brain and is mediated by numerous effectors, such as phagocytes,
cytotoxic cells, chemokines and cytokines (Chew et al., 2006; Morkos
et al., 2007; Hagberg et al., 2015; O'Hare et al., 2016; Bajnok et al.,
2017; Li et al., 2017; O'Hare et al., 2017; Perrone et al., 2018; Zareen
et al., 2020a; Zareen et al., 2020b). An understanding of the causes and
mechanisms of inflammation in infants with NE and CP may facilitate
the discovery of adjunctive therapies and preventative strategies.
Blocking of persistent inflammation may boost neuroprotection by
treating the tertiary mechanisms of brain damage which prevent
endogenous repair and regeneration and predispose patients to further
cognitive dysfunction and sensitisation to further injury (Fleiss and
Gressens, 2012; Chevin et al., 2016).

(E)-4-hydroxy-3-methyl-but-2-enyl pyrophosphate

PBS containing bovine serum albumin and sodium azide

phorbol myristate acetate with ionomycin

phase, with immune cell inactivation and death and tissue repair

Central to the maintenance of the inflammatory response are lymphocytes, which include B cells and conventional T cells of the adaptive immune system and natural killer (NK), natural killer T (NKT), mucosalassociated invariant T (MAIT) and gamma/delta (γ 8) T cells of the innate immune system. These lymphocyte subsets play essential roles in the inflammatory process by activating other immune cells through contactdependent or cytokine-mediated interactions and they are currently being tested for the treatment of several inflammatory and autoimmune disorders (Salio et al., 2014; Godfrey et al., 2015; Tyler et al., 2015). However, little is known about the relative roles of lymphocyte subsets in inflammation associated with NE.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Ethical approval

Ethical committee approval for this study was granted from four tertiary referral, university-affiliated children's and maternity hospitals in Dublin, Ireland – the Coombe Women & Infants University Hospital; National Maternity Hospital; Children's Health Ireland at Tallaght and the Rotunda Hospital. Written informed consent was obtained from all parents of children who took part in the study.

2.2. Study participants

Blood samples were obtained within the first 3 days of life from 30 neonates with NE and 17 healthy neonates. New-born babies with congenital anomalies or evidence of maternal substance abuse were excluded. Blood samples were also obtained from 10 school-age children



Fig. 2. Frequencies and absolute numbers of circulating T cells, B cells and NK cells in 30 neonates with neonatal encephalopathy (NE), 17 healthy neonates, 10 school-age children post NE, 10 children with cerebral palsy (CP) and 23 healthy school-age children. A and B, Flow cytometry dot plots showing the enumeration of T cells and B cells (A) and NK cells (B) within peripheral blood mononuclear cells. C-E, Scatter plots showing the frequencies (left) and absolute numbers (right) of T cells (C), B cells (D) and NK cells (E) in the five subject groups.



Fig. 3. Frequencies of circulating $CD4^+$, $CD8^+$, $CD4^-CD8^-$ double negative and $CD4^+CD8^+$ double positive T cells in 30 neonates with neonatal encephalopathy (NE), 17 healthy neonates, 10 school-age children post NE, 10 children with cerebral palsy (CP) and 23 healthy school-age children. A, Flow cytometry dot plot showing CD4 and CD8 expression by gated T cells. B-E, Scatter plots showing the frequencies of T cells that expressed $CD4^+$ (B), $CD8^+$ (C), $CD4^-CD8^-$ (D) and $CD4^+CD8^+$ (E) phenotypes in the five subject groups.

subject groups (Fig. 3C). However, the frequencies of double-negative CD4⁻CD8⁻ and double-positive CD4⁺CD8⁺ T cells were higher in school-age children post NE compared to healthy children. Additionally, CD4⁻CD8⁻ T cell frequencies were raised in children with CP (Fig. 3 A, D and E).

3.3. Innate T cells in neonates and school-age children with NE

Whole blood from the neonates with NE, healthy neonates, schoolage children with NE and CP and healthy school-age children was stained with mAbs specific for CD3 and the two most common TCR δ -chains and analysed by flow cytometry (Fig. 4 A and B). The frequencies and absolute numbers of V\delta1 T cells were lower in children with CP compared to age matched healthy children (Fig. 4C). Strikingly, the frequencies and absolute numbers of V\delta2 T cells were significantly higher in neonates with NE, in school-age children post NE and in children with CP compared to age-matched controls (Fig. 4D).

Whole blood from the subject groups was also stained with mAbs specific for the Va7.2 TCR, which together with CD161 identifies MAIT cells (Fig. 5A), and the Va24Ja18 TCR which identifies iNKT cells (Fig. 5B) using flow cytometry. Fig. 5C shows that MAIT cells were found in very low numbers in neonates and that the frequencies and numbers



Fig. 4. Frequencies and absolute numbers of circulating $V\delta1^+$ and $V\delta2^+$ $\gamma\delta$ T cells in 30 neonates with neonatal encephalopathy (NE), 17 healthy neonates, 10 school-age children post NE, 10 children with cerebral palsy (CP) and 23 healthy school-age children. A and B, Flow cytometry dot plots showing the expression of CD3 and the V $\delta1$ (A) and V $\delta2$ (B) T cell receptors by peripheral blood mononuclear cells. C and D, Scatter plots showing the frequencies (left) and absolute numbers (right) of V $\delta1$ (C) and V $\delta2$ T cells (D) in the five subject groups.

of MAIT cells were similar in healthy school-age children and in schoolage children who were previously diagnosed with NE. However, the frequencies, but not absolute numbers of MAIT cells were lower in children with CP. The frequencies and absolute numbers of iNKT cells were significantly higher in neonates with NE, in school-age children post NE and in children with CP compared to age-matched controls (Fig. 5D).

3.4. Serum cytokine levels in neonates and school-age children with NE

The levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-5, IL-6, IL-8, IL-9, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 in serum samples from all subjects were measured by multiplex immunoassay. Fig. 6 shows that the serum levels of IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-5, IL-6, IL-10, IL-15, IL-17A, IL-21, IL-22 and IL-23 were similar in all subject groups. The levels of IL-8 were found to be significantly higher in both neonates and school-age children with NE

N.A.B. Taher et al.



Fig. 5. Frequencies and absolute numbers of circulating MAIT cells and iNKT cells in 30 neonates with neonatal encephalopathy (NE), 17 healthy neonates, 10 school-age children post NE, 10 children with cerebral palsy (CP) and 23 healthy school-age children. A and B, Flow cytometry dot plots showing the detection of MAIT cells (A) and iNKT (B) within peripheral blood mononuclear cells. C and D, Scatter plots showing the frequencies (left) and absolute numbers (right) of MAIT cells (CP) and INKT (CP) an

in children with CP. The levels of IL-9 were also higher in the patients with NE, but this difference was only significant in the school-age children.

3.5. Ex vivo cytokine and granzyme B production by T cells, NK cells and V&2 T cells from healthy neonates and neonates with NE

neonates and 10 neonates with NE following activation *ex vivo*. We also measured these functional readouts in total T cells and NK cells. Whole blood was stimulated with medium alone, PMA/I, IL-12 + IL-18, IL-12 + IL-15, or HMB-PP in the presence of brefeldin A. Cells were then stained with mAbs specific for cell-surface CD3, CD56 and the V62 TCR and intracellular IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17A and granzyme B and analysed by flow cytometry. Fig. 7 (A and B) shows that significantly higher numbers of total T cells from neonates with NE produced IFN- γ in response to

N.A.B. Taher et al.

Journal of Neuroimmunology 356 (2021) 577597



Fig. 6. Serum cytokine concentrations in neonates and school-age children with neonatal encephalopathy (NE) and cerebral palsy (CP) and in aged-matched healthy donors.

and B cells. The innate lymphocytes, NK cells (Fathali et al., 2013), $\gamma\delta$ T cells (Nazmi et al., 2018; Albertsson et al., 2018) and iNKT cells (Wang et al., 2016) infiltrate the brains of mice following experimental hypoxia ischemia and contribute to brain injury.

Neonates Children

We found that the frequencies of circulating NK cells were significantly lower in neonates with NE. Furthermore, NK cells from neonates with NE more readily expressed the activation marker CD69 and produced IFN- γ , TNF- α and granzyme B in response to stimulation *ex vivo* than NK cells from healthy neonates.

As previously reported (Ben Youssef et al., 2018), we found that MAIT cells were found in very low numbers in neonates. These cells expanded in childhood and their frequencies and numbers were similar in healthy children and in children with NE but were less frequent in children with CP. The frequencies and absolute numbers of V&I T cells were also lower in children with CP compared to age-matched healthy children. Future studies are required to determine if the depletions of these cells from blood are due to their trafficking to the brain.

A striking observation in the present study was significant increases in the frequencies and absolute numbers of iNKT cells and V&2 T cells in neonates and school-age children with NE and CP, compared to healthy children. These increases may account for the observed increases in CD4⁻CD8⁻ T cells in NE patients and may promote neuroinflammation



Fig. 7. Cytokine and granzyme B production by T cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE). A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD3 and IFN- γ expression by gated lymphocytes in whole blood after stimulation with medium, PMA/I or IL-12 + IL-18. B, Mean (±SEM) percentages of T cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines or granzyme B upon stimulation *ex vivo*.

via their well-documented abilities to produce early bursts of inflammatory cytokines, which lead to downstream activation of other cells of the immune system (Salio et al., 2014; Godfrey et al., 2015; Tyler et al., 2015). iNKT cells and V&2 T cells typically expand in response to glycolipids and pyrophosphates, respectively, produced by bacteria or by host cells responding to bacterial or viral infection, however future studies are required to determine if infection underlies the inflammation found in NE.

Whereas iNKT cells are found in insufficient numbers for functional studies using blood samples, we found that after stimulation *ex vivo*, significantly higher frequencies of V δ 2 T cells from neonates with NE

produced IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-17 and granzyme B compared to V\delta2 T cells from healthy neonates. Neonates have reduced capacity for mounting conventional $\alpha\beta$ T cell responses, but V\delta2 T cells are functionally competent during early development and are important in early-life immunity. V\delta2 T cell numbers and functions are altered in several neurological diseases, including infectious meningitis, ischemic stroke and multiple sclerosis (Dieli et al., 1999; Peterfalvi et al., 2009; Albertsson et al., 2018; Maimaitijiang et al., 2018; Wo et al., 2020). V\delta2 T cells are also capable of producing IL-9 (Peters et al., 2016), which was found at higher levels in the serum of NE patients, but future work is required to determine if V\delta2 T cells are the source of this inflammatory

10


Fig. 8. Cytokine and granzyme B production by NK cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE). A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing CD56 and IFN- γ expression by gated CD3-negative cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium or IL-12 + IL-18. B, Mean (\pm SEM) percentages of NK cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines upon stimulation *ex vivo*. C, Mean (\pm SEM) fluorescence intensity staining for granzyme B in NK cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines upon stimulation *ex vivo*.

cytokine. Invariant NKT cells are thought to play essential roles in the pathogenesis of ischemic stroke, neurodegenerative disease and autoimmune diseases such as multiple sclerosis and myasthenia gravis (Wang et al., 2016; De Biasi et al., 2016; Cui and Wan, 2019). Multiple clinical trials involving *in vivo* activation or adoptive transfer of *ex vivo* activated V&2 T cells and iNKT cells are ongoing (Exley and Nakayama, 2011; Richter et al., 2013; Pauza et al., 2018; Kabelitz et al., 2020) and may in future be applied as a novel treatment of NE.

Limitations to this study include the small sample sizes and the restricted numbers of tests that could be carried out on the $50-100 \ \mu\text{L}$ blood samples obtained. Interpretation of the results is further confounded by the multiplicity of aetiologies and manifestations of thought to underlie NE, which could involve different components of the

immune system. A further limitation is the use of peripheral blood to attempt to assess the immunological basis of an inflammatory process that occurs in the brain. Furthermore, while innate T cells display semiinvariant TCRs, the present study has not investigated TCR clonality or antigen fine-specificity. Future longitudinal studies are also required to measure fluctuations in lymphocyte numbers and functions from birth into childhood and to correlate these with developmental changes.

5. Conclusions

Our data suggest that both innate and conventional lymphocytes are numerically and functionally altered in neonates with NE and that these changes may persist into school age. iNKT cells and V δ 2 T cell numbers

11

N.A.B. Taher et al.

Journal of Neuroimmunology 356 (2021) 577597



Fig. 9. Cytokine and granzyme B production by V82 T cells from patients with neonatal encephalopathy (NE). A, Representative flow cytometry dot plots showing V82 and IFN- γ expression by gated CD3-positive cells in whole blood after stimulation with medium or PMA/I. B, Mean (±SEM) percentages of V82 T cells from healthy neonates (n = 7) and neonates with NE (n = 10) that produce cytokines or granzyme B upon stimulation *ex vivo*.

and frequencies were higher in neonates and children with NE and CP compared to healthy children, while MAIT cells and V&I T cells were depleted from children with CP. Upon stimulation *ex vivo*, T cells, NK cells and V&Z T cells from neonates with NE more readily produced in-flammatory cytokines than their counterparts from healthy neonates, suggesting that they were previously primed or activated. In view of their limited diversity, multifunctionality and ease of activation, expansion and manipulation, innate T cells make attractive potential targets for therapeutic modulation and may ultimately prove amenable for the treatment of NE and the subsequent inflammatory processes.

Conflict of interest statement

All authors declare that there are no conflicts of interest.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a scholarship from the Libyan Embassy -London Academic Attaché, reference no. IA8-483-45807 to N.A.B.T. We thank Eamon Breen for assistance with flow cytometry and Ashanty Melo and Gráinne Jameson for helpful discussions.

12

N.A.B. Taher et al.

Appendix. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2021.577597.

References

- Albertsson, A.M., Zhang, X., Vontell, R., Bi, D., Bronson, R.T., Supramaniam, V., Baburamani, A.A., Hua, S., Nazmi, A., Cardell, S., Zhu, C., Cantor, H., Mallard, C., Hagberg, H., Leavenworth, J.W., Wang, X., 2018, y8 T cells contribute to injury in the developing brain. Am. J. Pathol. 188, 757–767. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.
- Bajnok, A., Berta, L., Orbán, C., Veres, G., Zádori, D., Barta, H., Méder, Ü., Vécsei, L., Tulassay, T., Szabó, M., Toldi, G., 2017. Distinct cytokine patterns may regulate the severity of neonatal asphyxia-an observational study. J. Neuroinflammation 14, 244. 4-017-1023-2 org/10 11
- Ben Youssef, G., Tourret, M., Salou, M., Ghazarian, L., Houdouin, V., Mondot, S., Mouru, Y., Lambert, M., Azaroush, S., Diana, J.S., Virlouvet, A.L., Peuchmaur, M., Schmitz, T., Dalle, J.H., Lantz, O., Biran, V., Gaillat-Zueman, S., 2018. Ontogeny of human mucosal-associated invariant T cells and related T cell subsets. J. Exp. Med. 215, 459-479. http /doi.org/10.10 m.20171739
- Bodhankar, S., Chen, Y., Vandenbark, A.A., Murphy, S.J., Offner, H., 2013. IL-10-producing B-cells limit CNS inflammation and infarct volume in experimental str Metab. Brain Dis. 28, 375–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s1101-103-9413-3. Chevin, M., Guiraut, C., Maurice-Gelinas, C., Deslauriers, J., Grignon, S., Sébire, G., al stroke
- 2016. Neuroprotective effects of hypothermia in inflammatory-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. Int. J. Dev. Neurosci. 55, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/ .1016/j Chew, L.J., Takanohashi, A., Bell, M., 2006. Microglia and inflammation: im
- developmental brain injuries, Ment. Retard, Dev. Disabil, Res. Rev. 12, 105-112. dd.20102
- Cui, Y., Wan, Q., 2019. NKT cells in neurological diseases. Front. Cell. Neurosci. 13, 245
- D'Alton, M.E., Hankins, G.D.V., Berkowitz, R.L., Bienstock, J., Ghidini, A., Goldsmith, J., Higgins, R., Moore, T.R., Natale, R., Nelson, K.B., Papile, L.-A., Peebles, D., Hagmas, R., Mobris, H., Hallack, A., Nelson, K.D., Fabris, E.A., Freedes, D., Romero, R.J., Schendel, D., Spong, K.Y., Waldman, R.N., Wu, Y., Joseph Jr., G.F., Hawks, D., Politzer, A., Emig, C., Thomas, K., 2014. Executive summary: neonata encephalopathy and neurologic outcome, second edition. Report of the American of the American Science and Scien College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists' Task Force on Neonatal Encephalopathy. Obstet, Gynecol, 123, 896-901, https://doi.org/10.1097/01.
- AOC.0000445580.65983.d2.
 De Biasi, S., Simone, A.M., Nasi, M., Bianchini, E., Ferraro, D., Vitetta, F., Gibellini, L., Pinti, M., Del Giovane, C., Sola, P., Cossarizza, A., 2016. INKT cells in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis patients display pro-inflammatory profiles. Front. Immunol. 7, 555. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2016.00555.
 Dieli, F., Sireci, G., Di Sano, C., Champagne, E., Fourniè, J.J., Salerno, J.I., 1999. Predominance of V99/V82 T lymphocytes in the cerebrospinal fluid of children with tuberculous meningitis: reversal after chemotherapy. Mol. Med. 5, 301–312. PMID: 1000E67.
- Dietrick, B., Molloy, E., Massaro, A.N., Strickland, T., Zhu, J., Slevin, M., Donoghue, V., Sweetman, D., Kelly, L., O'Dea, M., McGowan, M., Vezina, G., Glass, P., Vaidya, D., Brooks, S., Northington, F., Everett, A.D., 2020. Plasma and cerebrospinal fluid candidate biomarkers of neonatal encephalopathy severity and neurodevelopmental outcomes, J. Pediatr. 28 https://doi.or 2/10
- Exley, M.A., Nakayama, T., 2011. NRT-cell-based immunotherapies in clinical trials. Clin. Immunol. 140, 117–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clim.2011.04.015. Fathali, N., Ostrowski, R.P., Hasegawa, Y., Lekic, T., Tang, J., Zhang, J.H., 2013. Splenic immune cells in experimental neonatal hypoxia-ischemia. Transl. Stroke Res. 4,
- 208-219, http org/10.1007/s12975-012-0239-9 ss, B., Gressens, P., 2012. Tertiary mechanisms of brain damage: a new hope fo treatment of cerebral palsy? Lancet Neurol. 11, 556–566. https://doi.org/10.10 Flei
- Godfrey, D.I., Uldrich, A.P., McCluskey, J., Rossjohn, J., Moody, D.B., 2015, The ng family of unconventional T cells. Nat. Immunol. 16, 1114-1123. https://
- Hagberg, H., Mallard, C., Ferriero, D.M., Vannucci, S.J., Levison, S.W., Vexler, Z. Gressens, P., 2015. The role of inflammation in perinatal brain injury. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 11, 192-208. https://doi.org/10.1038
- .016
- Jacobs, S.E., Berg, M., Hunt, R., Tarnow-Mordi, W.O., Inder, T.E., Davis, P.G., 2013. Cooling for newborns with hypoxic ischaemic encephalopathy. Cochr. Syst. Rev. 2013, CD003311 https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD00 ne Datab 1.pub3
- Kabelitz, D., Serrano, R., Kouakanou, L., Peters, C., Kalyan, S., 2020. Cancer immunotherapy with γδ T cells: many paths ahead of us. Cell. Mol. Immunol. 17, 925–939. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41423-020-0504-x.

Journal of Neuroimmunology 356 (2021) 577597

- zeniewski, S.J., Slaughter, J., Lenski, M., Haak, P., Paneth, N., 2018. The complex aetiology of cerebral palsy. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 14, 528–543. https://doi.org/10.103
- Kurinczuk, J.J., White-Koning, M., Badawi, N., 2010. Epidemiology of neonatal encephalopathy and hypoxic-ischaemic encephalopathy. Early Hum. Dev. 86, 329-338 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2010.05.010
- Lee, J.A., Spidlen, J., Boyce, K., Cai, J., Crosbie, N., Dalphin, M., Furlong, J., Gasparetto, M., Goldberg, M., Goralczyk, E.M., Hyun, B., Jansen, K., Koll Kong, M., Leif, R., McWeeney, S., Moloshok, T.D., Moore, W., Nolan, G., Nolan, J., Nikolich-Zugich, J., Parrick, J. O., Purcell, B., Qian, Y., Selvaraj, B., Smith, C., Tchuvatkina, O., Wertheimer, A., Wilkinson, P., Wilson, C., Wood, J., Zigon, R., International Society for Advancement of Cytometry Data Standards Task Force, Scheuermann, R.H., Brinkman, R.R, 2008. MIFlowCyt: the minimum information about a flow cytometry experiment. Cytometr. A. 73, 926-930. https://doi.org.
- Li, B., Concepcion, K., Meng, X., Zhang, L., 2017. Brain-immune interactions in perinatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Prog. Neurobiol. 159, 50–68. https://doi.org/ io 2017 10 00
- dulators
- MacDonald, H.M., Mulligan, J.C., Allen, A.C., Taylor, P.M., 1980. Neonatal asphyxia. I. Relationship of obstetric and neonatal complications to neonatal mortality in 38,405 consecutive deliveries. J. Pediatr. 96, 898–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0022-3476(60)80574-9. PMID: 7365599.
- Maimaitijiang, G., Shinoda, K., Nakamura, Y., Masaki, K., Matsushita, T., Isobe, N., Yamasaki, R., Yoshikai, Y., Kira, J.I., 2018. Association of decreased percentage of V82⁺Vγ9⁺ γδ T cells with disease severity in multiple sclerosis. Front. Immur 748. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00748. ol. 9.
- Morkos, A.A., Hopper, A.O., Deming, D.D., Yellon, S.M., Wycliffe, N., Ashwal, S. Sowers, L.C., Peverini, R.L., Angeles, D.M., 2007, Elevated total peripheral leukocyte Sources, E.C., Feverini, K.L., Angeres, D.M., 2007. Idevated total peripheral relation count may identify risk for neurological disability in asphyxiated term neonates J. Perinatol. 27, 365–370. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jp.7211750.
 Nathan, C., 2002. Points of control in inflammation. Nature 420, 846–852. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.jp.7211750.
- 038/nature01320 p.846. Nazmi, A., Albertsson, A.M., Rocha-Ferreira, E., Zhang, X., Vontell, R., Zelco, A.
- Rutherford, M., Zhu, C., Nilsson, G., Mallard, C., Hagberg, H., Lai, J.C.Y., Leavenworth, J.W., Wang, X., 2018. Lymphocytes contribute to the pathophysiology of neonatal brain injury. Front. Neurol. 9, 159. https://doi.org/10.3389/ 18.00159
- O'Dea, M., Sweetman, D., Bonifacio, S.L., El-Dib, M., Austin, T., Mollov, E.J., 2020. nent of multi organ dysfunction in neonatal encephalopathy. Front. Pediatr 3.4 Manago 8, 239.
- O'Hare, F.M., Watson, R.W., O'Neill, A., Blanco, A., Donoghue, V., Molloy, E.J., 2016. Persistent systemic monocyte and neutrophil activation in neonatal encephalopathy J. Matern. Fetal Neonatal Med. 29, 582-589. https://doi.org/10.3109
- O'Hare, F.M., Watson, R.W., O'Neill, A., Segurado, R., Sweetman, D., Downey, P., Mooney, E., Murphy, J., Donoghue, V., Molloy, E.J., 2017. Serial cytokine alterations and abnormal neuroimaging in newborn infants with encephalopathy. Acta Paediatr. 106, 561–567. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.13745. 28097694.
- and absorbation and a straining in the word material with circular presented in the straining of the str ro/10 3 1 2018 01
- orgy 10:30599 Hinitia 2018/01/00.1 rone, S., Weiss, M.D., Proietti, F., Rossignol, C., Cornacchione, S., Bazzini, F., Calderisi, M., Buonocore, G., Longini, M., 2018. Identification of a panel of cytte in neonates with hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy treated with hypothermia. nel of cytokines Cytokine 111, 119-124. http 0.2018.0
- Peterfalvi, A., Molnar, T., Banati, M., Pusch, G., Miko, E., Bogar, L., Pal, J., Szereday, L., Illes, Z., 2009. Impaired function of innate T lymphocytes and NK cells in the a phase of ischemic stroke. Cerebrovasc. Dis. 28, 490–498. https://doi.org/10.11
- Peters, C., Häsler, R., Wesch, D., Kabelitz, D., 2016. Human Vo2 T cells are a major rce of interleukin-9. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 113, 12520-12525. https:// 16071
- Pfister, R.H., Bingham, P., Edwards, E.M., Horbar, J.D., Kenny, M.J., Inder, T., Nelson, K. B., Raju, T., Soll, R.F., 2012. The Vermont Oxford Neonatal Encephalopathy Registry: rationale, methods, and initial results, BMC Pediatr, 12, 84, https://doi. 186/1471 -2431-12-84
- Richter, J., Neparidze, N., Zhang, L., Nair, S., Monesmith, T., Sundaram, R., Miesowicz, F., Dhodapkar, K.M., Dhodapkar, M.V., 2013. Clinical regressions and broad immune activation following combination therapy targeting human NKT cells in myeloma. Blood 121, 423-430. https://doi.org/ rg/10.1182
- M., Silk, J.D., Jones, E.Y., Cerundolo, V., 2014. Biology of CD1- and MR1-restricted T cells. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 32, 323–366. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-Salio, M
- Shah, P., Riphagen, S., Beyene, J., Perlman, M., 2004. Multiorgan dysfunction in infants iii, i. i. polacy, o. by the s. i. termin, in solver mattering an operation in with post-septy vial hypotic-ischaemic encephalopathy. Arch. Dis. Child. Fetal Neonatal Ed. 89, F152-F155. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.2002.023093. nkaran, S., Woldt, E., Koepke, T., Bedard, M.P., Nandyal, R., 1991. Acute neona and the second second
- morbidity and long-term central nervous system sequelae of perinatal asphyxia in term infants. Early Hum, Dev. 25, 135-148, https://doi.org/10.1016/03
- Su, X., Yuan, H., Cui, H., Zhu, H., Yun, X., Tang, W., Chen, J., Luan, Z., 2018. Effect of T helper cell 1/T helper cell 2 balance and nuclear factor-xB on white matter injury in

10

N.A.B. Taher et al.

Journal of Neuroimmunology 356 (2021) 577597

premature neonates. Mol. Med. Rep. 17, 5552-5556. https://doi.org/10.3892/ 2018.8511.

- Tagin, M.A., Woolcott, C.G., Vincer, M.J., Whyte, R.K., Stinson, D.A., 2012. Hypothermia for neonatal hypoxic ischemic encephalopathy: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch. Pediatr. Adolesc. Med. 166, 558–566. https://doi.org/10.1001/ rics.2011.1772.
- Tyler, C.J., Doherty, D.G., Moser, B., Eberl, M., 2015. Human Vy9/V82 T cells: innate adaptors of the immune system. Cell. Immunol. 296, 10-21. https: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.01.008.
- Wang, Z.K., Xue, L., Wang, T., Wang, X.J., Su, Z.Q., 2016. Infiltration of invariant natural
- Wang, Z.K., Xue, L., Wang, T., Wang, X.J., Su, Z.Q., 2016. Infiltration of invariant natural killer T cells occur and accelerate brain infarction in permanent ischemic stroke in mice. Neurosci. Lett. 633, 62-68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2016.09.010.
 Winerdal, M., Winerdal, M.E., Kinn, J., Urmaliya, V., Winqvist, O., Aden, U., 2012. Long lasting local and systemic inflammation after cerebral hypoxic ischemia in newborn mice. PLoS One 7, e36422. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0036422.
 Wo, J., Zhang, F., Li, Z., Sun, C., Zhang, W., Sun, G., 2020. The role of y8 T cells in diseases of the central nervous system. Front. Immunol. 11, 580304. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2020.580304.
- Yang, D., Sun, Y.Y., Bhaumik, S.K., Li, Y., Baumann, J.M., Lin, X., Zhang, Y., Lin, S.H., Dunn, R.S., Liu, C.Y., Shie, F.S., Lee, Y.H., Wills-Karp, M., Chougnet, C.A., Kallapur, S.G., Lewkowich, I.P., Lindquist, D.M., Murali-Krishna, K., Kuan, C.Y., 2014. Blocking lymphocyte trafficking with FTY720 prevents inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in newborns. J. Neurosci. 34, 16467–16481. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.2582.14.2014.
- 16467–16481. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCL2582-14.2014.
 Yao, H.W., Kuan, C.Y., 2020. Early neutrophil infiltration is critical for inflammation-sensitized hypoxic-ischemic brain injury in newborns. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 40, 2188–2200. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X19891839.
 Zareen, Z., Strickland, T., Eneaney, V.M., Kelly, L.A., McDonald, D., Sweetman, D., Molloy, E.J., 2020a. Cytokine dysregulation persists in childhood post neonatal encephalopathy. BMC Neurol. 20, 115. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12883-020-01656-tw
- W. Zareen, Z., Strickland, T., Fallah, L., McEneaney, V., Kelly, L., McDonald, D., Molloy, E.J., 2020b. Cytokine dysregulation in children with cerebral palsy. Dev. Med. Child Neurol. https://doi.org/10.1111/dmcn.14724.